# Immune Control of Hepatitis B Virus infection by innate lymphocytes

Mellissa Conroy, B.Sc. Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy February 2010





Research carried out at the Institute of Immunology, National University of Ireland Maynooth, Co. Kildare.

Department head: Professor Kay Ohlendieck Under supervision of Dr. Derek Doherty

# **Table of Contents**

( <b>ii</b> )
( <b>v</b> )
(vi)
(ix)
(xiii)

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 An Introduction to Hepatitis B virus	2
1.2 Immunology of HBV infection	18
1.3 Rationale of this study	37
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	39
2.1 Materials and equipment	42
2.2 Subjects	52
2.3 General tissue culture procedure	53
2.4 Flow cytometry	56
2.5 Analysis of cytokine production	65
2.6 Measurement of cell cytotoxicity	79
2.7 Functional studies on $\gamma\delta$ T cells	81
2.8 Statistical calculations	84
Chapter 3: Phenotypic analysis of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection	85
3.1 Introduction	88
3.2 Innate lymphocytes in HBV infection	93

3.3 NK, NT, $\gamma\delta$ T, iNKT and CD1 <sup>+</sup> cells in HBV patient groups	103
3.4 NK, NT and iNKT cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy	
controls	118
3.5 Cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection	126
3.6 Bonferroni correction method	131
3.7 Discussion	133

Chapter 4: Cytokine production by innate lymphocytes in HBV infection	136
4.1 Introduction	140
4.2 IFN- $\gamma$ expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from	
HBV patients and healthy controls	143
4.3 IL-10 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from	
HBV patients and healthy controls	152
4.4 IL-13 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from	
HBV patients and healthy controls	159
4.5 IL-17 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from	
HBV patients and healthy controls	165
4.6 Cytokine RNA levels in whole PBMC from HBV patients and healthy	
controls	171
4.7 IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes in HBV patient groups	177
4.8 Higher frequencies of IFN-γ-producing NK and NT cells following	
incubation with serum from HBV patients or HBV surface antigen	189
4.9 Bonferroni correction method	192
4.10 Discussion	196

# Chapter 5: Phenotypic and functional analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in HBV

infection	201
5.1 Introduction	204
5.2 γδ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection	209
5.3 Memory phenotypes of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection	217
5.4 $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV patient groups	221
5.5 V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy	
controls	234
5.6 IFN- $\gamma$ production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV infection	236
5.7 NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV	242
5.8 Bonferroni correction method	245
5.9 Discussion	247

Chapter 6: Reciprocal interactions between V $\delta 2$ T cells and epithelial	
cells	250
6.1 Introduction	253
6.2 The effects of epithelial cells on V $\delta$ 2 T cell surface marker expression	256
6.3 The effects of V $\delta$ 2 T cells on epithelial cell surface marker expression	266
6.4 The effects of epithelial cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-incubation on cytokine	
expression	280
6.5 Discussion	292
Chapter 7: Final Discussion	297
7.1 Immune control	299
7.2 Immunomodulation by HBV-associated HCC	306
Chapter 8: Bibliography	313

## 

#### Declaration

I, Mellissa Conroy, declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for another qualification at any university or other institute of education, with the exception of the cytotoxicity assays which were performed by Ross McNicholas as part of his MD.

Information derived from the work of others has been acknowledged and cited in the text.

Signed: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### Acknowledgements

This thesis is dedicated to my late auntie Betty. I have the fondest, funniest memories of you and so many things remind me of you; from a song on the radio to a good old Dublin proverb. I miss you and you will forever be in my heart. You were 'Simply the Best'.

To my father Pat, the most caring and selfless man on the planet. Thank you so much for the years of hard work and the sacrifices you have made to provide for us. Thank you for the endless supply of lifts and money and, the chats on the way in the car. Big big thank you for introducing me to good music and for teaching me to never take anything for granted with your 'lino on the soles of your feet' tales. Thank you for showing me the world from a young age – you broadened my horizons and showed me that there was much much more to life. I have only come this far because of you and your love. You're one in a billion and I love you daddy!

To my mother Catherine; my best friend and the funniest and most beautiful lady I know. Thank you for the years and years you have dedicated to my upbringing, and for all the tasty cremated dinners haha!! Thank you for supporting me through thick and thin in my life, for being there when it felt like nobody else was and for making me laugh when I thought I could only cry. You are the reason I am here and my achievements are your achievements. I'm just sorry that I'm not rich enough to buy you that beach house haha, will a tent do? Love you more than words can say, my marmalade!

To my only sister Jennifer – where do I start?? Thank you for being an inspiration – your ambition led to my ambition. Cheers for all the love and support over the years, the laughs (some with you and some at your super-hilarious ways), the lends, the listening ear, the 'putting me in my place' when I needed it and of course, the lifts to the gym. Thank you also, for giving me the most beautiful god daughter in the world, my minime pinkie girlie girl Katie – she is fabulous and I love you both!!

To my older brother Patrick – thank you for never ever ever letting me take myself too seriously. Your company has always been a welcome release from the seriousness of my thesis, even if the jokes were at my expense haha. Thank you for being so understanding and for always looking out for me, especially when I was younger. Cheers for all the ciggies, lifts, drinks, cinema dates and chats. I love ya lots like jellytots. Karen is a lucky girl!!

To my younger brother Jemmers, thanks for being so supportive and for telling me how brainy you think I am LOL. You're a gas gas man and make me laugh constantly (except when your team loses haha). I know the next few years are going to be really interesting for you. Thanks for teaching me about soccer and thanks in advance for all the lifts you're going to give me when you start driving the starlet. I love you soooo much.

To the Conroy and McGarry families, thank you for all your love and support.

My beautiful best pel and Sister Legs Kimmie, thanks so much for listening to me and my science rants for the past 11 years. Particularly in the last year, your advice has

always been so encouraging and motivating and has picked me up when I was at a low. Oh and let's not forget your 2 day typing stint – you are worth your weight in gold pelser. More importantly thanks for the fun nites out & in, smoking and drinking 'til the early morn (you're bad for my health pel), the 'absolutely fabulous' holidays and the many experiences we've shared over the years. I love you and I wouldn't have wanted it any other way. I will never forget your support over the past few months and I know we'll still be sister ledges and chatting the ears off each other when we're 90!!

To my chum Joe, no more excuses for me to opt out of our drinking excursions, I've missed ya sooooo much. Cheers for the many distractions you've provided during my PhD - the hilarious nights out, the abbers chronicles, the nite bus experiences, the wonderfully animated e-mails and texts, the 'whats up with your roots mel' jibes (no wonder I've had to stay away from you haha). Also big thank you for the endless lifts and accommodations you've provided, you're a real friend.

Oh me oh my, my person Dini. What can I say?? It's been a rollercoaster 4 years and I'm so glad I've gotten to know you so well and become your Bellini companion. Thank you so much for listening and listening and listening to me – well it is ALL about me haha! I promise I will pay the counselling fees I owe you one day citizen. Big thanks for all the brill nights and holidays we've had, the afterwork tapas convo's, the disturbia eves, the looonnng hungover working days full of hilarious flashbacks. I am so glad you are on the mend as that means we are going to have many, many more of those nights. Love ya lots my person!!!

To my friends who have been a great support and who I've shared some seriously fun and unwinding times with, thank you Corinna, Paula, John, Anita, Miranda and Katie.

To my lunch dates Angela and Eileen – thanks for listening and sharing your own states of confusion and panic during the tough times and for all your support over the last few months, it has meant a lot. Also thanks for all the laughs, gossip and fun over the 4 years, I miss you ladies. Angela darling thanks so much for the supportive messages and answers to my often ridiculous late night questions, you had my back baby!

To Joe and Mary and all of the Lambert family, thank you for your consistent interest, encouragement, love and support. To Mary, my pal, I've always come away from our chats feeling so positive and like a weight had been lifted from me. Thank you so much for all the words of wisdom, you really are a diamond!! Joe, I'm sorry for all the smoke pollution I've caused in your kitchen, thanks for always being so welcoming to me and for all the breakfasts. To Anthony, my third brother and fellow chatterbox, cheers for the interesting late night convo's and for making me laugh so much. You are always great fun to be around but more importantly, you are a very loyal and honest friend. To Lorraine and Lizzy, thank you for your company, love, chats and laughs. I love you all.

To my supervisor Dr. Derek Doherty, thank you for giving me the opportunity to pursue a PhD and for providing such a pleasant working environment. I will be forever grateful for your ideas, support, guidance, encouragement and endless enthusiasm. You have been an inspiration throughout my entire PhD and a huge help in the writing of this thesis.

To Laura, you are a fount of knowledge and experience that is truly missed in the lab, thank you for all the assistance. I truly wish you, Derek and the girls all the best in life!!

To Margaret, Andy, Tony, Grace, Vinny, Louise, Bo and everyone else who has passed through the lab, thanks for sharing my phases of panic, grief, denial and joy and for making it an enjoyable 4 years. I wish you all the best in your scientific careers.

To Ann O'Brien, a woman I respect and admire, and all in the Access Office, thank you for believing in me when I was a struggling first year undergrad and for helping me to progress through 3<sup>rd</sup> level education and beyond. I will forever be grateful.

To Professor Suzanne Norris and Dr. Ross McNicholas, thank you so much for making this study possible through the provision of samples and clinical data. Ross, thank you for the cytotoxicity data you have provided for inclusion in this thesis and the company during my many hours in the flow cytometry 'dungeon'.

To Margaret Taylor, Louise, Sarah and everybody in Hepatology, thank you for collecting the samples and providing the clinical data. It was such a joy to meet and work with you all.

To Robert, thanks a million for the help with the PCR, your expertise was a lifesaver.

To Greg, thank you so much for giving up your time to be that extra set of expert eyes. I really appreciated your feedback, advice and contribution to the final draft of this thesis.

To everybody in St James Hospital; Con, John, Jacinta, Niall, Ross, Tanya, and everyone in CPL, thank you for making our move so pleasant, for all the interesting meetings and for the invaluable feedback.

Thank you to The Institute of Immunology, NUI Maynooth and The Trinity Centre for Health Sciences and Central Pathology Laboratory, St. James Hospital for provision of equipment.

Thank you to HRB, SFI, NUI Maynooth and Trinity College Dublin for funding this project.

To everybody mentioned above, sometimes we do not realise the impact we have had on the lives of others but personally, I feel that the affected individual will always realise it and when such an impact is positive, that individual will never forget it and in turn, will pay it forward!!! Thank you all for your love, respect, kindness, good deeds and positivity. I have been very lucky in life and I wish the same to you all.

And finally, to my other half, my rock, my mentor, my soulmate and the most interesting and gifted person I've ever met, Jonathan. Thank you, thank you – you have instilled the self-belief I needed to make it this far. Your drive and 'can do it, just do it' mentality has really rubbed off on me. You have witnessed all the moods, tears and outbursts that came with this process and you always knew the right thing to say. Thank you for putting up with me for the past few months, for pushing me to keep going, for providing me with love everyday and for supporting me and my shopping

addiction.

I love you Jonathan Lambert. This is for us and our life together.

Abbreviations

<sup>51</sup> Cr	Chromium
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
APC	Allophycocyanin
BFA	Brefeldin A
BSA	Bovine serum albumen
СВА	Cytometric Bead Array
cccDNA	Covalently closed circular DNA
CCN	Corrected copy number
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CN	Copy number
CRC	Colorectal carcinoma
Ct	Threshold cycle
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DC	Dendritic cell
dH <sub>2</sub> O	Distilled water
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EBV	Epstein Barr virus
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FSC	Forward Scatter
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage-colony
	stimulating factor
HAV	Hepatitis A virus
HBcAg	Hepatitis core antigen

HBeAg	Hepatitis B 'e' antigen
HBsAg	Hepatitis B surface antigen
HBSS	Hanks Balanced Salt Solution
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
НСС	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HDV	Hepatitis D virus
HEV	Hepatitis E virus
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency virus
HLA-DR	Human leukocyte antigen DR
HLA-E	Human leukocyte antigen E
HMBPP	(E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl
	pyrophosphate
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
iNKT cell	Invariant natural killer T cell
IPP	Isopentenyl pyrophosphate
IU	International units
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MFI	Mean Fluorescence Intensity
mg	Milligram
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MICA / B	Major histocompability complex class I-
	related chain A/B
ml	Millilitre
MMLV reverse transcriptase	Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse
	transcriptase
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NEAA	Non-essential amino acids

NK cell	Natural Killer cell
NKG2A	Natural killer group 2A
NKG2C	Natural killer group 2C
NKG2D	Natural killer group 2D
NKR	Natural killer receptor
NKT cell	Natural Killer T cell
nm	Nanometre
NT cell	Natural T cell
OD	Optical density
РВМС	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PE	Phycoerythrin
PE-Cy5	Phycoerythrin-Cyanine 5
PEG-IFN	Pegylated interferon
PerCP	Peridinin-chlorophyll protein
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
pg	Picogram
РНА	Phytohaemagglutinin
PMA/I	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and
	Ionomycin
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain
	reaction
rcDNA	Relaxed circular DNA
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPM	Revolutions per minute
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
SEM	Standard Error
SSC	Side scatter
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-Beta
Th cell	T helper cell
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
Treg cell	Regulatory T cell

ULBP	UL16-binding protein
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus

#### Summary

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infects over 300 million people worldwide and despite the availability of a vaccine, it remains the second biggest carcinogen in the world and a serious global health problem. The majority of adult infections are resolved while 90% of neonates fail to clear infection. Persistently-infected individuals harbour a risk of developing liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Treatment of HBV is met with several problems including poor tolerance and antiviral resistance and therefore, novel well-tolerated and effective therapies are required.

Innate lymphocytes include NK, NT, NKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and comprise a group of MHC-unrestricted lymphocytes that can elicit potent cytokine production and cytotoxicity at a very early stage of virus infection. We proposed that a better understanding of the role of innate lymphocytes in the control of HBV infection might eventually facilitate the development of new cell-based immunotherapies.

We have quantified the frequencies and cytokine profiles of natural killer (NK), natural T (NT), natural killer T (NKT) and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in a group of HBV patients with relatively low viral load and little evidence of liver disease in order to ascertain the role of these cells in controlled HBV infection. We found expansions in the frequencies of circulating NK and NT cells and the V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in these patients, compared to uninfected control subjects. Furthermore, expansions of interferon-y (IFN- $\gamma$ )-producing NT, V $\delta$ 2 T and conventional T cells were significantly higher in this group as were the frequencies of total IFN- $\gamma$ -producing lymphocytes. Higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$ expression in HBV were confirmed using qRT-PCR and we, therefore, propose that such expansions are indicative of an active antiviral immune response and that IFN-y plays an important role in the control of HBV replication. Higher frequencies of IL-10producing NK cells observed in the HBV patients may indicate a possible regulatory role of these cells in asymptomatic HBV infection. IL-17-producing NT and T cells exhibit enhanced responses to in vitro stimulation in HBV suggesting that IL-17 plays a supporting role in the control of HBV infection and that such Th17-biased cells can expand rapidly following sufficient stimulation. Since IL-10 and IL-17 can elicit inhibitory effects on IFN- $\gamma$  production, we propose that the increased potential of IL-10 and IL-17 production in these patients might represent a regulatory mechanism that limits the antiviral immune response to prevent liver injury. We have also found reduced expression of the cytotoxicity-associated receptor NKG2D by V82 T cells

which may be another mechanism by which immune-mediated damage is limited in these HBV patients. Furthermore, we have found that HBV proteins have negative effects on IFN- $\gamma$ -production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells suggesting that HBV can inhibit the effector mechanisms of these cells.

HCC is a serious endpoint of chronic HBV infection for which there are few curative options. We performed a preliminary study to survey the potential of HMBPP/IL-2 expanded  $\gamma\delta$  T cells as an immunotherapy against HCC by investigating the interactions between V $\delta$ 2 T cells and the HCC-derived Hep3B cells. We found that the expression of NKG2D by V $\delta$ 2 T cells and its ligand MICA/B on Hep3B cells was downregulated following co-culture. We propose that the shedding of MICA/B by the carcinoma-derived cells might be the mechanism by which NKG2D is downregulated and the effector functions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells are subverted. Quantification of cytokine expression in Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-culture supernatants revealed higher IL-10 expression and reduced IFN- $\gamma$  and TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression. From our analysis of these findings, we suggest that Hep3B cell-derived IL-10 might inhibit IFN- $\gamma$  production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells as an immune evasion strategy while the V $\delta$ 2 T cells may suppress TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression by the epithelial cells to avoid the immunosuppressive effects of the growth factor.

From this study, we propose that we have identified a new model of the noncytolytical control of HBV replication in which NT and V $\delta$ 2 T cells minimise viral load without causing significant liver pathology via mechanisms that involve enhanced but regulated IFN- $\gamma$  production. These results place HBV infection as a candidate disease that might benefit from cellular therapies involving innate T cells.

# Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1	An Introduction to Hepatitis B Virus	3
1.1.1	The discovery of Hepatitis B virus	3
1.1.2	The prevalence and prognosis of HBV	3
1.1.3	The biology of HBV	5
1.1.3.1	The structure of HBV	5
1.1.3.2	The life cycle of HBV	5
1.1.3.3	Genetic variation of HBV	9
1.1.4	The course of HBV infection	9
1.1.5	Treatment of HBV infection and antiviral resistance	13
1.1.6	Other Hepatitis viruses	15
1.1.7	Hepatocellular carcinoma	16
1.1.7.1	Problem, disease and treatment	16
1.1.7.2	HBV association	17
1.2	Immunology of HBV infection	18
1.2.1	The antiviral immune response	18
1.2.2	CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection	20
1.2.3	CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection	22
1.2.4	Antigen presentation cells in HBV infection	24
1.2.5	Humoral response in HBV infection	26
1.2.6	Innate lymphocytes in HBV infection	27
1.2.6.1	Natural Killer cells in HBV infection	27
1.2.6.2	Natural T cells in HBV infection	29
1.2.6.3	Invariant Natural Killer T cells and CD1 in HBV infection	30
1.2.6.4	γδ T cells in HBV infection	32
1.2.6.5	Activation of innate lymphocytes – NKRs	34
1.2.7	Cytokines in HBV infection	35
1.2.7.1	Type 1 Interferons in HBV infection	35
1.2.7.2	IFN- $\gamma$ and TNF- $\alpha$ in HBV infection	35
1.2.7.3	Other cytokines in HBV infection	36
1.3	Rationale of this study	37

1.3	Rationale of this study	
-----	-------------------------	--

#### **1.1 An Introduction to Hepatitis B Virus**

#### **1.1.1** The discovery of Hepatitis B virus

The discovery of hepatitis B virus (HBV) is owed to the work of Dr. Baruch Blumberg; a physician, clinical research scientist and ex-navy officer. In 1967, Blumberg and his colleagues were researching the genetics of disease susceptibility when an unusual finding arose. An antibody in a New York haemophiliac was specific to an antigen in an Australian aborigine (Blumberg *et al.* 1967). This antigen was called the 'Australia antigen' and was later shown to be the Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) (Millmann *et al.* 1970). After discovering the virus, Blumberg and his colleagues at the Fox Chase Cancer Centre went on to develop sensitive tests to screen for hepatitis B in donated blood. They also, developed a vaccine based on inoculation with a viral subunit (Millman & Blumberg 1978). This was a novel form of vaccination at the time and HBsAg is now the viral subunit used to vaccinate against hepatitis B virus with over 90% efficacy. Blumberg went on to win the Nobel Prize in 1976 for his contribution to human health.

#### 1.1.2 The prevalence and prognosis of HBV

HBV along with Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is one of the major causes of liver disease worldwide (Lok & McMahon 2001; Lauer & Walker 2001). It is estimated that 2 billion people have been exposed to HBV and over 300 million of these are persistent carriers of HBsAg (Takano *et al.* 1995; Evans & Landon 1998; Christina & Page 2001; Kao & Chen 2002). Furthermore, over 1 million deaths per year are attributed to HBV infection (Pisani *et al.* 1990; Evans & Landon 1998; Christina & Page 2001). The majority of adult HBV infections are acquired horizontally (intravenous drug use, sexual transmission, blood transfusions, accidental needle stick injuries) and are resolved while, most neonates acquire infection vertically (perinatally) and an alarming 95% develop persistent infection (Chisari & Ferrari 1975; Stevens *et al.* 1975; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006).

Infection with HBV is followed by a 6-24 week incubation phase during which patients may experience a range of symptoms including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, anorexia, fever, skin rash, headaches and jaundice (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2008). This acute illness can be followed by clearance of infection or life-long infection. Persistent infection may be asymptomatic or can lead to the development of chronic hepatitis. Progression to liver cirrhosis occurs in 2-5% of HBV patients each year and the rate of progression is augmented by co-infection with hepatitis C virus (HCV), hepatitis delta virus (HDV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or a high hepatitis B viral titre (Poynard *et al.* 1997; Mathurin et al 1998; De Franchis *et al.* 2003; Iloeje *et al.* 2006; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). Cirrhosis is a serious disease which can lead to the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and often leads to liver failure. HCC is a common endpoint of chronic HBV infection with a 100-fold increased risk in chronically infected persons compared to age-matched uninfected controls. Approximately 5% of chronically infected patients who develop liver cirrhosis are diagnosed with HCC while only 0.2% of asymptomatic carriers develop this malignancy (Beasley *et al.* 1981; Beasley 1988; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). While the majority of infected adults recover from HBV infection and others develop lifelong infection, 0.5% of subjects succumb to fulminant hepatitis – an acute illness marked by liver inflammation which can lead to death (Stevens *et al.* 1975). Individuals aged below 11 or above 40 years have poor prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure and would often be considered for liver transplant (Grady *et al.* 1991).

The highest prevalence of HBsAg carriers exists in developing countries with limited healthcare. Many infected individuals in Africa and Asia contract HBV in childhood and in some parts, HBsAg carrier rates can be 10-15%. Countries with the highest living standards have the lowest prevalence, for example, UK, USA and Scandinavia (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2008).

Although a vaccine is available for HBV, new accessible and effective therapeutics are needed to treat the vast number of people already infected worldwide. Such therapies could limit the spread of infection, reduce the overall incidence of HBV and associated illnesses and contribute to a possible eradication of the virus. The prevalence of the disease among children in developing countries is of major concern and with limited curative options, such individuals are burdened with a life-long infection and a high risk of liver disease. A better understanding of the immune responses in HBV infection may facilitate the development of an effective immunotherapy for HBV.

#### **1.1.3** The biology of HBV

#### **1.1.3.1** The structure of HBV

HBV is a 42 nm enveloped non-cytopathic, hepatotropic DNA virus which belongs to the hepadnaviridae family of viruses (Tiollais et al. 1985; Seeger & Mason 2000; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). The structure of the virion is shown in Figure 1.1. It consists of an outer envelope made up of 3 proteins; S, M and L. Each of these proteins contain the S domain called HBV surface antigen i.e. HBsAg which, by itself or together with other envelope proteins forms a filamentous and spherical antigen that is secreted from infected cells in 100-fold excess to complete virions (Kim & Tilles 1973; Stibbe & Gerlich 1983a; Stibbe & Gerlich 1983b; Heermann et al. 1984). The nucleocapsid (core protein HBcAg) lies within the viral envelope and contains the partially double stranded DNA viral genome. The genome consists of ~3200 nucleotides with a full-length negative strand and a shorter positive strand. The viral reverse transcriptase is covalently linked to the 5' end of the negative strand where as an oligoribonucleotide is linked to the 5' end of the positive strand. The nucleocapsid open reading frame contains two start codons therefore, encoding 2 proteins - the nucleocapsid (HBcAg) and a longer protein called pre-core. Pre-core is translocated to the endoplasmic reticulum where removal of its amino-terminal 29 amino acids and trimming of the carboxyl terminus gives a polypeptide that is secreted as HBeAg (Ou et al. 1986; Roossinck et al. 1986; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006).

#### 1.1.3.2 The life cycle of HBV

HBV primarily infects hepatocytes but it has also been shown to infect peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), spleen, kidney, pancreas, skin and bone marrow cells (Chemin *et al.* 1994; Seeger & Mason 2000; Zoulim 2004; Ganem & Prince 2004).

HBV interacts with a cellular receptor on the hepatocyte, fuses with the cell membrane and then releases its nucleocapsid into the cytoplasm. The nucleocapsid translocates to the nucleus where the viral DNA is transformed from a relaxed circular DNA molecule (rcDNA) into a covalently closed circular proviral DNA molecule (cccDNA) (Zoulim 2004; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). The cccDNA is supercoiled in the host chromatin and has a long half-life. It is the template from which 4 viral RNAs are transcribed using the host polymerase. These RNAs are exported to the cytoplasm and translated to form the nuclecapsid, envelope, reverse transcriptase and polymerase proteins. The reverse transcriptase binds its own mRNA (the pregenome RNA) and is subsequently packaged into the nucleocapsid where new partially doublestranded viral genomes are reverse-transcribed from the pregenome RNA (Zoulim 2004; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006).

The nucleocapsid matures via a dephosphorylation process that increases its affinity to bind DNA. It then becomes enveloped within the envelope proteins as it passes through the endoplasmic reticulum and/or Golgi apparatus to form a complete virion that can be released (Zoulim 2004; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006).

Sometimes the mature nucleocapsid is not released. This occurs when the large L envelope protein accumulates in excess of the other two envelope proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum and disrupts trafficking through the Golgi and normal shedding of the viral particles. This can sometimes lead to oxidative stress and cytopathy so to overcome this, the DNA-containing nucleocapsid can be recycled back to the nucleus where its DNA is transformed into cccDNA. This is believed to maintain the cccDNA pool and as many as 30-50 copies of cccDNA can be found in the nucleus of an infected hepatocyte. It is believed to serve as a reservoir for viral replication and spread of infection. These reservoirs of cccDNA are important in the maintenance of chronic HBV infection and are believed to be a major hindrance in the durability of antiviral treatment (Zoulim 2004; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). The formation of cccDNA is not fully understood but it is believed that the removal of the RNA transcriptase from the relaxed circular DNA (rcDNA) is crucial (Gao & Hu 2007). Further investigation into the biology of HBV may have to be performed before the complete elimination of cccDNA and successful eradication of HBV can be achieved.

Viral DNA can be integrated into the host genome but not as a means of viral replication. This together with the oxidative stress can lead to the development of HCC via genetic alterations that may result in uncontrolled hepatocyte proliferation (Zoulim 2004; Farazi & DePinho 2006). The life cycle of HBV is illustrated in Figure 1.2.

FIGURE 1.1

FIGURE 1.2

#### 1.1.3.3 Genetic variation of HBV

It is estimated that  $10^{10}$  incorrect nucleotides are incorporated into viral DNA everyday in a HBV-infected individual due to the absent proofreading capability of reverse transcriptase (Summers *et al.*1982). This leads to genetic variation and some variants may be selected based on their replication fitness, immune escape potential and susceptibility to antiviral medication. Such variants are known as quasispecies (Zoulim 2004).

HBV is divided into 8 groups based on its genetic heterogeneity i.e. genotypes A - H (Stuyver et al. 2000; Arauz-Ruiz et al. 2002; Fung & Lok 2004). Genotypes A and D are most prevalent in Europe and North America while genotypes B and C occur mostly in Asia. Compared with genotype C, B is associated with spontaneous, less active liver disease, a slower rate of progression to cirrhosis and less frequent development of HCC (Kao et al. 2000; Chu et al. 2002; Sumi et al. 2003). Differences in responses to treatment have also been observed between different HBV genotypes, however, the findings are conflicting among different studies. Most reports show no differences in responses to antiviral therapy (Pichoud et al. 1999; Nafa et al. 2000; Seigneres et al. 2000; Westland et al. 2003). However, Kao et al. (2002) found that lamivudine treatment is more effective in patients with genotype B, compared to those with genotype C. In addition, patients with genotype A and B have higher responses to pegylated interferon treatment than those with genotype C and D (Wai et al. 2002; Erhardt et al. 2005). The reduced efficacy of treatment in patients with genotype C is not surprising, since this genotype is associated with higher HBV titers and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels (Gu et al. 2009). However the emergence of genetic variants during treatment is the most troublesome problem and this problem is discussed in section 1.1.5 below.

#### **1.1.4 The course of HBV infection**

The different stages of HBV infection can be distinguished by the presence or absence of particular HBV antigens and/or antibodies specific for them. A combination of biochemical, serological and virological tests, and histological features can be used to diagnose and classify HBV infection (de Franchis *et al.* 2002). Assays for serum aminotransferases, HBV antigens (HBsAg and HBeAg) and antibodies (anti-HBs, anti-HBc [total and IgM] and anti-HBe), are widely available. It should be noted that

individuals that have received the HBV vaccine will also be positive for anti-HBs. Serum HBV DNA may be detected by DNA hybridisation, with or without signal amplification, while PCR-based assays for HBV RNA in serum are highly sensitive tools for the diagnosis of HBV infection. The assessment of a liver biopsy is an integral part of the diagnosis and management of patients with HBV infection, and in grading the severity of inflammation and the stage of fibrosis.

HBV infection is defined by the presence of HBsAg or HBV DNA in serum. Persistently undetectable or low serum HBV-DNA levels are associated with inactive disease, but high serum HBV-DNA levels may or may not be associated with active disease. Because of the fluctuating course of chronic HBV infection, serial determinations are necessary to ascertain HBV replication status of individual patients. Occult HBV infection is characterised by undetectable serum HBsAg but detectable HBV-DNA in serum or liver.

Diagnosis of acute hepatitis B is based on the history, raised serum aminotransferase levels and the presence of serum HBsAg and anti-HBc IgM. In chronic hepatitis B there is persistent hepatic inflammatory injury. In mild chronic hepatitis B aminotransferase levels are normal or minimally elevated and biopsy reveals minimal inflammation and absent fibrosis. In moderate to severe chronic hepatitis B aminotransferase levels are raised and there is moderate to severe inflammation and fibrosis. The presence of HBeAg in serum indicates that viral replication is taking place and anti-HBe is undetectable. In HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis B infection, anti-HBe is present and HBeAg is absent in serum. In the inactive HBsAg carrier state, HBsAg and anti-HBe are present in serum, but serum aminotransferase levels are persistently normal and there is little or no necro-inflammatory activity on liver biopsy. Such patients have either low or undetectable levels of HBV-DNA in serum (de Franchis *et al.* 2002). Table 1.1 lists these serological markers and the clinical relevance of their presence or absence in HBV infection and therefore, provides a good overview of their importance in the understanding of the course of HBV infection.

A quiescent 4-7 week phase follows HBV infection. Then, in acute HBV infection, the virus begins to replicate aggressively causing viral load to increase rapidly, reaching levels of  $10^9$  copies /ml within 1-2 weeks and infecting most hepatocytes in the process (Jilbert *et al.* 1992; Kajino *et al.* 1994; Guidotti *et al.* 1999; Webster *et al.* 2000;

Thimme *et al.* 2003; Chang & Lewin 2007). This is followed by the generation of virusspecific T cells and antibodies causing the viral load to decrease. The decrease in viral load marks the immunoactive phase which is usually characterized by an increase in the level of ALT. ALT is an enzyme which is released into the blood stream upon hepatocyte damage or death and it is widely used as an indicator of hepatocyte injury in hepatitis. However, in some cases no elevation of ALT levels is detected. Seroconversion to HBsAg and HBeAg both occur soon after the decline in HBV viral load and HBV-specific T-cell responses are also detected conferring protective immunity against HBV (Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006; Chang & Lewin 2007, Figure 1.3a).

Spontaneous HBeAg seroconversion occurs in 8-15% of patients in western countries (de Franchis *et al.* 2002). HBeAg seroconversion is usually associated with improved long term outcome because the expression of the 'e' antigen is associated with active viral replication (De Jongh *et al.* 1992; Bonino & Brunetto 2003). However, mutations (commonly G-A transition at position 1896 of the pre-core region) can give rise to hepatitis B variants with defective HBeAg production and this can lead to HBeAg, negative chronic hepatitis. HBeAg-negative HBV can manifest as a recurrent form with exacerbations and periods of remission (45%), an unremitting form (36%) or an unremitting form with acute exacerbations (20%) (Brunetto *et al.* 2002; Bonino & Brunetto 2003). Fulminant hepatitis due to HBV has been linked to mutations in the genes encoding HBeAg and often occurs in HBeAg-negative patients (Omata *et al.* 1991).

In chronic HBV infection, the virus can persist for many years during what is known as an immune tolerant phase during which HBsAg and HBeAg are present and HBV DNA levels are usually greater than 10<sup>5</sup> copies/ml. At this time hepatic inflammation is mild and ALT levels are normal or mildly elevated. After several years of chronic HBV infection, a spontaneous or therapy-induced switch from an immune tolerant to an immune active phase can occur. HBeAg seroconversion may occur during this phase and the HBV-infected individual enters a low replicative phase where there is both reduced HBV viral load as well as normal ALT. If infection is not cleared or a genetic variant of HBV emerges, HBV DNA and ALT can rise and fall again over the course of a life-long infection (Chang & Lewin 2007, Figure 1.3b).

### **Table 1.1**

#### The serological markers of HBV infection:

The markers described below are routinely used to distinguish between the different stages of HBV infection.

HBV antigen	Antibody
HBsAg (Hepatitis B surface antigen)	Anti-HBs
The earliest indicator of acute infection. Indicates chronic infection if its presence persists for more than 6 months	The specific antibody to hepatitis B surface antigen. Its appearance 1-4 months after onset of symptoms indicates clinical recovery and subsequent immunity to HBV
HBcAg (Hepatitis B core antigen)	Anti-HBc
Not detectable in the bloodstream but HBcAg peptides can be expressed on the surface of hepatocytes. A marker of the infectious viral material and the most accurate index of viral replication. <b>HBeAg (Hepatitis B e antigen)</b>	The specific antibody to hepatitis B core antigen. Class IgM and IgG antibodies which do not neutralize the virus. IgM identifies an early acute infection. In the absence of HBsAg and anti-HBs, it shows recent infection. IgG with no IgM is present in chronic and resolved infections. Used to identify all previously infected persons, including HBV carriers, but does not differentiate carriers and non- carriers. <b>Anti-HBe</b>
Appears during weeks 3 - 6 and indicates an acute active infection at its most infectious period. Its presence means that the patient is infectious. Its persistence beyond 10 weeks shows progression to chronic infection and infectiousness. Secreted into the serum. Mutant strains of HBV exist that replicate without producing HBeAg i.e. HBeAg-negative HBV.*	The specific antibody to hepatitis B e antigen. During the acute stage of infection the seroconversion from HBeAg to anti-HBe indicates resolution of infection. Its presence in the patients blood along with anti-HBc and in the absence of HBsAg, anti-HBs and core HBV mutants indicates low contagiousness.

<sup>\*</sup> HBV DNA is routinely used to test for HBV infection when mutant strains escape detection by other methods. The loss of HBV DNA usually indicates the loss of HBV's replication capabilities. Data obtained from WHO (2008).

# FIGURE 1.3

#### 1.1.5 Treatment of HBV infection and antiviral resistance

The easiest way to control HBV and viral transmission is through vaccination with HBsAg (Purcell & Gerin 1975; Mahony 1999). Vaccination with HBV envelope antigens can also prevent liver disease when administered post-exposure to the virus. (Iwarson *et al.* 1988). Efficacy of the HBsAg vaccine is over 90% with 5-10% of infected vaccinees failing to mount an adequate immune response after immunization. This can be marked by the absence of detectable specific antibodies and such individuals remain at risk to HBV infection (Coates *et al.* 2001; Dienstag *et al.* 1984). HBsAg-specific B and T cells, NK and NT cells are involved in the immune responses to HBV vaccine and T cells from individuals who fail to respond to the vaccine (non-responders) exhibit inadequate proliferation in response to HBsAg (Chang *et al.* 1984; Chedid *et al.* 1997; Albarran *et al.* 2005). However, immunomodulatory and antiviral therapies are also available.

Interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN- $\alpha$ ) is a naturally occurring cytokine with immunomodulatory antiviral properties and was licensed for treatment of HBV infection in the early 1990s (Haria & Benfield 1995). The addition of a polyethylene glycol (PEG) moiety to IFN gave rise to the pegylated form of interferon which has an extended half-life and therefore, a more sustained antiviral response (Craxi & Cooksley 2003). Pegylated IFN (PEG-IFN) leads to loss of HBeAg in 35% of treated patients and seroconversion to anti-HBe in 29-32% of patients (Cooksley et al. 2003; Chan et al. 2005; Lau et al. 2005). In HBeAg negative patients, trials have shown that 36% of patients show a reduction of HBV DNA to levels below  $10^4$  copies / ml and exhibit normal ALT at the end of the follow-up, while 10-20% of HBeAg negative virological responders lose HBsAg and seroconvert to anti-HBsAg (Janssen et al. 1993; Marcellin et al. 2004; Lau et al. 2005). While effective in many subjects, the side effects of PEG-IFN can be quite harsh and include; headache, fatigue, nausea, anorexia, weight loss, influenza-like symptoms, alopecia, neuropsychiatric symptoms such as irritability, insomnia and depression, neurological symptoms and thyroid dysfunction (Janssen et al. 1990; van Zonneveld et al. 2005). Therefore, PEG-IFN is not always a preferential choice of treatment.

Lamivudine triphosphate was the first nucleotide analogue licensed for the treatment of chronic HBV. It is a cytosine analogue and it competes with this nucleoside for incorporation into growing DNA chains thus causing termination of DNA chain elongation and therefore, inhibiting reverse transcriptase culminating in inhibition of

viral replication. Lamivudine has been shown to reduce progression to liver disease and HCC in patients with advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis (Liaw et al. 2004). After 1 year of therapy HBeAg seroconversion and a reduction of HBV DNA to levels below  $10^5$ copies / ml occur in 16-22% of treated patients compared to 4-13% in untreated patients. After 2 years, HBeAg seroconversion increases to 29% and further increases of 40% and 47% are seen after 3 and 4 years of therapy, respectively. Decreases in HBV DNA occur in 98% of patients. Once HBV DNA is below a detectable level and HBeAg seroconversion has occurred, lamivudine treatment can be discontinued (Lai et al. 1998; Dienstag et al. 1999; Liaw et al. 2000; Schalm et al. 2000; Leung et al. 2001; Schiff et al. 2003; Chang et al. 2004). However, HBeAg seroconversion is less durable than that observed following PEG-IFN treatment and relapse rates are considerably high. Furthermore, response rates in HBeAg negative patients decline over a treatment period of 4 years. (Hadziyannis et al. 2000; Buti et al. 2001; Perrillo et al. 2002; van Nunen et al. 2003; Gaia et al. 2004). Therefore, other antivirals have become available over the years and are often administered to HBV patients who have not been treated previously for HBV or to those who have received lamivudine but have developed resistance. Adefovir dipivoxil, entecavir, emtricitabine, telbivudine and tenofovir disoproxil are all nucleot(s)ide analogues that are used with varying rates of responsiveness and resistance. The highest incidence of antiviral resistance is still associated with lamivudine treatment while resistance to adefovir and entecavir is less common (Buster & Janssen 2006; Zhang & Wang 2009).

Long term off-treatment control has not been achieved in many patients. PEG-IFN-based therapies have the highest chance of sustained off treatment response. On the other hand, prolonged treatment with nucleoside analogues is feasible and even considered indefinitely. Therefore, in many cases PEG-IFN is the drug of choice due to the durable response associated with it and the removed risk of antiviral resistance. However, the harsh side effects of the therapy and a response rate of less than 50% means that a new immunomodulatory therapy with fewer side-effects and improved efficacy would be desirable for the treatment of HBV infection. For now, strategies are being employed to maximize the durability of antiviral treatment, for example, using more than one antiviral at a given time to reduce the risk of complete resistance to treatment. In addition, cloning of HBV genomes isolated from patients into vectors to design assays for detecting HBV drug sensitivity *in vitro* is taking place. This would facilitate prescription of existing antivirals or development of new antivirals to be used against circulating strains (Durantel et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2004).

#### 1.1.6 Other Hepatitis viruses

The development of hepatitis is the dominant common trait of the hepatitis viruses A-E. The viruses belong to different virus families, have different modes of transmission and the associated symptoms vary along with their ability to cause hepatitis.

Hepatitis A virus (HAV) is a non-enveloped RNA picornavirus that infects hepatocytes and usually causes an acute asymptomatic infection. However, in some cases a fulminant course of infection can occur and may result in morbidity; age over 40 and a pre-existing liver disease (often HBV or HCV infection) can lead to this (Lemon 2000). HAV is transmitted via the fecal-oral route and can be spread through contaminated food, with overcrowding and poor personal hygiene contributing to its transmission (Hutin *et al.* 1999). A vaccine against HAV exists and has contributed to the worldwide decline in the incidence of infection.

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a non-cytopathic RNA flavivirus that infects hepatocytes and has infected approximately 170 million people worldwide. Like HBV, it is a blood born pathogen acquired through intravenous drug use, sexual transmission, blood transfusions, accidental needle stick injuries and perinatally. The clinical endpoints of HCV are similar to HBV but the prognosis is less favourable with 70% of infected individuals developing persistent infection (Chisari 2005). Of these chronically infected HCV patients, 10-20% will develop cirrhosis and subsequent liver failure while, 1-5% will develop HCC (WHO 2008). There is no vaccine for HCV and treatment is effective in only 55% of patients. Therefore, HCV is a major cause of death worldwide and the most common cause of liver failure in the United States (Chisari 2005). Impaired innate and adaptive immune responses have been associated with the persistence of HCV infection (Cooper et al. 1999; Lechner et al. 2000; Deignan et al. 2002; Golden-Mason et al. 2008). Furthermore, its genetic heterogeneity and multiple immune evasion strategies pose serious problems for the clearance and treatment of HCV infection (Chisari 2005). The findings of the vast amount of HCV research led to many of our hypotheses in HBV infection and inspired numerous experiments in the current study.

Hepatitis D virus or hepatitis delta agent can only form an infectious particle when the cell it has infected is co-infected with HBV. Its RNA genome encodes a single protein known as the delta antigen and HDV must acquire the HBsAg of HBV in order to enter / infect another cell. HDV infection of a chronically infected HBV carrier usually causes an acute and self-limiting infection but in 5% of co-infection cases, chronic HDV infection occurs (Hadziyannis 1997). Progression to liver cirrhosis occurs in 60-80% of individuals with chronic HDV while the incidence of HCC is the same as that in HBV infection. The mortality rate for HDV infections are 2-20%, which are significantly higher than for hepatitis B (Purcell & Gerin 1996; Hadziyannis 1997). At the present time, treatment of HDV is only effective via interferon- $\alpha$  treatment of HBV and prophylactic measures via HBV vaccination are probably the best option (WHO 2008).

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is a non-enveloped RNA virus which was previously classified as a calcivirus but is unclassified at present. Like, HAV, HEV is transmitted via the fecal-oral and is prevalent in areas with poor sanitation. It usually manifests as an acute illness which is characterised by jaundice, nausea, fever, vomiting, anorexia and abdominal pains. No cases of chronic infection with HEV or a chronic carrier state have yet been reported. Fulminant hepatitis is perhaps, the most serious outcome with a mortality rate of 0.5-4% and highest risk of death in the third trimester of pregnancy. Furthermore, co-infection of young children with HEV and HAV can cause acute liver failure (Purcell & Ticehurst 1988; Purcell 1996; Mast *et al.* 1998; WHO 2008).

#### **1.1.7 Hepatocellular carcinoma**

#### 1.1.7.1 Problem, disease and treatment

As the third most frequent oncological cause of death in the world, HCC is a major global health problem and its incidence is increasing (Bruix & Llovet 2003; Stefaniuk *et al.* 2010). Viral hepatitis is a major cause of HCC and 80 - 90% of HCC patients have underlying cirrhosis (Fattovich *et al.* 2004; Paraskevi *et al.* 2006). The annual incidence of HCC is approximately 2% in European patients with cirrhosis, with a 5 year cumulative incidence of ~10%. This is increased to ~3% in Asian patients with cirrhosis, with a 5 year cumulative incidence of ~15% (Fattovich *et al.* 2004). Older age, male sex, active liver disease, high HBV DNA level, HBeAg positivity, co-infection with HCV or HIV, or alcohol abuse are all factors which increase the chances of HCC (Yang *et al.* 2002; Fattovich *et al.* 2004; Iloeje *et al.* 2005; Chen *et al.* 2006).

HCC often recurs after successful surgical or non-surgical treatment and progresses to an advanced stage, and its survival rate of only 5 years is mostly due to tumour invasion and metastasis (Sun *et al.* 1999; Jinushi *et al.* 2005; Toutirais *et al.* 

2009). There are limited curative options for HCC and surgical resection is really only possible for small HCC malignancies (Jinushi *et al.* 2005; Stefaniuk *et al.* 2010). Liver transplantation is often the best option because it removes the tumour and in many cases, the underlying cirrhosis. Living donor liver transplantations account for over 96% of liver transplants in Asia where HCC is the leading cause of cancer death (De Villa & Lo 2007). Due to the limitations of treatment for HCC, careful monitoring of high risk groups is performed so that the malignancy can be treated in time. Alpha-fetoprotein levels and radiographic examinations are used to monitor for HCC in high risk HBV patients but new biomarkers are warranted due to the low sensitivity of alpha-fetoprotein (Lok & McMahon 2001; Stefaniuk *et al.* 2010). TGF- $\beta$ 1 has been implicated as a more sensitive indicator of small HCCs (Elliott & Blobe 2005). These data show that new immunotherapies are also required for the successful treatment of liver cancer.

#### 1.1.7.2 HBV association with HCC

There is a strong association between the development of HCC and viral hepatitis with a reported 100-fold increased risk of HCC development in HBV-infected persons (Beasley *et al.* 1981). There are several mechanisms whereby HBV or HCV could contribute to HCC development and they are as follows;

1) HBV or HCV infection may lead to an inflammatory response that in turn leads to hepatocyte necrosis. The resulting cycle of hepatocyte necrosis and regeneration increases the possibility of genetic alterations which may lead to the development of tumour cells and HCC.

2) HBV- or HCV-infected hepatocytes may also be subjected to oxidative stress under which mutagens may activate cancer-relevant signalling pathways leading to genetic alterations and the development of HCC.

3) HBV- or HCV-associated cirrhosis can cause micro-environmental changes that can favour tumour development

4) HBV or HCV viral factors and/or host factors may inactivate the tumour suppressor gene p53 resulting in uncontrolled hepatocyte proliferation, genetic alterations and HCC (Farazi & DePinho 2006).

#### **1.2 Immunology of HBV infection**

#### **1.2.1** The antiviral immune response

The antiviral immune response requires the recognition of the virus and activation of effector cells which can kill the virus-infected cells and inhibit viral replication via noncytolytic mechanisms. A brief overview of this response is described here and the process is also illustrated in Figure 1.4.

In viral infection, a virus enters a cell, is uncoated and starts to synthesise viral RNA and proteins. The double-stranded RNA can trigger the production and the secretion of type 1 interferons i.e IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ , and the production of various IFN-stimulated gene-encoded proteins that can inhibit viral replication. While viral replication is controlled within the infected cell, the secreted IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  can signal to other cells to amplify the antiviral immune response (Sen 2001). For example, macrophages can be activated to produce cytokines that recruit natural killer (NK) cells to the site of infection. The IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  produced by the infected cells also activates the NK cells and once they home to the site of infection, they can directly recognise virus-infected cells and kill them through the induction of apoptosis. NK cells may also produce cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  which can have direct antiviral effects, or IL-2 which enhances T cell proliferation (Guidotti & Chisari 2001).

IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  also induces upregulation of MHC Class 1 molecules and increases antigen presentation capabilities thus making virus infected cells more visible to T cells and antigen presentation cells. Dendritic cells can recognise double stranded RNA and viral antigens presented on the surface of the infected cells and once activated, they can produce cytokines (IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ ) and present antigen to T cells thus stimulating T cell differentiation and proliferation. The recruitment of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and helper T cells takes significantly longer than the activation and appearance of NK cells. The CTLs can then induce apoptosis of the target cells while the helper T cells produce cytokines (IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ ) that serve to sustain and amplify the immune response as well as exerting direct antiviral effects (Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Barry & Bleackley 2002).

# FIGURE 1.4

#### **1.2.2 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection**

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells or cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are crucial to immune responses against intracellular pathogens, most notably viruses. CTLs are primed by professional antigen presentation cells (APC) in the lymphoid organs and require processed antigens that have been endogenously produced within or phagocytosed by the APC. When viruses, for instance, do not infect APCs, tissue-derived dendritic cells (DC) can internalise apoptotic virally-infected cells and debris and migrate to the regional lymph nodes to prime CTLs (Steinman et al. 1999; Sallusto & Lanzavecchia 1999). Upon recognition of their specific antigen, MHC-restricted T cells can induce apoptosis of virus-infected cells and can also elicit non-cytolytic effector functions via cytokine production.  $CD8^+$  T cells predominantly produce IFN- $\gamma$  which can block viral replication and 'purge' viruses from cells without inducing cell death (Guidotti & Chisari 1999). TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-2 are also produced by the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells which facilitates amplification of the antiviral response. Once a CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell has encountered its specific antigen, a pool of memory  $CD8^+$  T cells specific to that antigen are generated and these long-lived cells confer immunity against subsequent challenge with that antigen (Weninger et al. 2002; Santana & Rosenstein 2003). The cytolytic effector functions of  $CD8^+$  T cells can be mediated through perform and granzyme, Fas ligand or TNF- $\alpha$ . Perforin and granzyme are contained in specialised lysosomes known as cytotoxic granules which are released by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells following antigen priming. The perform serves to deliver the granzyme into the cytoplasm of the infected cell where the granzyme can activate apoptosis via its protease capabilities (Smyth et al. 2001). Fas ligand and TNF- $\alpha$  bind to the receptors Fas (CD95) and TNFR-I, respectively, which are expressed on the surface of the target cells. Both receptors contain cytoplasmic death domains which initiate a signalling cascade upon ligand binding and ultimately recruit caspases that promote cell death (Aggarwal 2003).

Resolution of HBV infection is associated with strong, polyclonal and multispecific CTL responses directed against epitopes within the polymerase, envelope and core and pre-core proteins of HBV (Bertoletti *et al.* 1991; Penna *et al.* 1991; Missale *et al.* 1992; Nayersina *et al.* 1993; Rehermann *et al.* 1995; Maini *et al.* 1999; Thimme *et al.* 2003). CTLs usually appear in infected tissues 5-7 days after viral exposure where they elicit their cytolytic and non-cytolytic activity. CTLs often employ non-cytolytic mechanisms of viral clearance in large vital organs such as the liver (Harty *et al.* 2000). This was shown in the HBV transgenic mice where HBV-specific CTLs secreted IFN- $\gamma$  and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) which helped to evict the virus from cells noncytopathically, as well as carrying out some killing activity (Guidotti *et al.* 1994; *et al.* 1996; Guidotti & Chisari 1999). This non-cytolytic mechanism of viral eradication was not surprising as inhibition of HBV gene expression in the liver of transgenic mice by TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  had already been observed (Gilles *et al.* 1992; Guidotti *et al.* 1994). Furthermore, HBV replication could be inhibited following transfer of HBV-specific CTLs from perforin-deficient & Fas ligand-deficient mice thus suggesting that both cytolytic pathways are needed for control of HBV (Guidotti *et al.* 1996; Nakamoto *et al.* 1997). However, recent work by Yang *et al.* (2009) has revealed that Fas and TNFR1, but not perforin, are required for clearance of HBV DNA from liver in transgenic mice.

The antiviral T cell responses are maintained for decades after spontaneous resolution of HBV infection. Trace amounts of HBV DNA and virus specific CTLs often persist in the blood suggesting that viral replication is minimized but the virus is never completely eradicated (Michalak *et al.* 1994; Penna *et al.* 1996). Further work has revealed that HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have memory T cell phenotypes suggesting that HBV-specific memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are vital in the clearance of HBV from patients with acute HBV infection (Sobao *et al.* 2002).

HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers are significantly lower in those individuals who develop chronic HBV infection (Maini *et al.* 2000; Sobao *et al.* 2002, Yang *et al.* 2009). Chronic HBV patients have lower numbers of virus specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as impaired IL-2 production and proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Chisari 1997, Maini *et al.* 2000; Reignat *et al.* 2002; Das *et al.* 2008). However, one study found that the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with impaired proliferative capacity and IL-2 production still produced IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in chronic HBV and the authors proposed that these cells contribute to liver inflammation but do not facilitate viral clearance (Das *et al.* 2008). This theory is supported by earlier work which found large numbers of non-antigen specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the livers of patients with uncontrolled HBV infections (Bertoletti & Maini 2000; Reignat *et al.* 2002).

CTLs are also involved in the immune responses that result from vaccination and therapy. CTLs specific for HBsAg are present post-vaccination (Hohn *et al.* 2002) while the strength of the CTL response differs between responders and non-responders to IFN- $\alpha$  treatment (Rehermann *et al.* 1996).
Viral parameters such as viral load and the genotype of the virus are believed to influence CTL responses. It was found that adequate stimulation of HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can be achieved in chronic HBV carriers with low levels of serum HBV-DNA but not in those with high levels of serum HBV-DNA (Sobao et al. 2002). Also, lower HBV-specific CTL responses were observed in patients infected with genotypes C, compared to those infected with HBV genotype B (Gu et al. 2009). Most research, however, has focused on the influence of host parameters on CTL responses. Defective T cell priming by DC has been reported but this impairment could be restored using a cytokine cocktail of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE2) that induced DC maturation, thus suggesting that the cause of impaired T cell responses in chronic HBV may be due to defects in DC maturation. These data are conflicting with other reports which indicate that DC maturation and functions are in intact in HBV-infected individuals (Duan et al. 2006). Regulatory T (Treg) cells have also been implicated in the inadequate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in HBV. An accumulation of Treg cells in HCC patients was concurrent with a significantly decreased infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in tumour regions compared with non-tumour regions. Other studies have shown that Treg cells from HCC patients could inhibit anti-CD3/CD28 mAb-induced proliferation, activation, degranulation, and production of granzyme-B and perforin by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Increased frequencies of Treg cells were also associated with high mortality and reduced survival time of HCC patients. This suggests that Tregs may promote disease progression in HCC patients by inhibiting CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell functions (Fu et al. 2007). HBV variants carrying mutations in cytotoxic T cell epitopes have also been detected in chronic HBV thus showing that the evolution of the virus faciliates immune evasion and contributes to its persistence (Bertoletti et al. 1994; Rehermann et al. 1995).

There is significant evidence implicating the importance of CTLs in the resolution of HBV infection, however, there is no correlation between ALT, viral load and the frequencies of HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in chronic HBV infection thus suggesting that they are not the main determinant in immunity against HBV or the main cause of immunopathogenesis (Yang *et al.* 2009).

## **1.2.3** CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection

Whereas  $CD8^+$  T lymphocytes are committed to becoming CTLs upon recognition of their specific antigen,  $CD4^+$  T cells can differentiate into a number of different effector T cells. Their differentiation is mostly determined by the signals provided by the APC at

the time of antigen presentation. These signals are transduced via co-stimulatory molecules expressed on the surface of the APC and via the secretion of cytokines and while, they promote the differentiation of one type of effector  $CD4^+$  T cell they can also inhibit the differentiation of another. Effector  $CD4^+$  T cells are classified into 4 main groups based on their cytokine profiles; T-helper 1, 2 and 17 (Th1, Th2, Th17) cells and the regulatory T (Treg) cells (Abbas *et al.* 1996; Glimcher & Murphy 2000; Ansel *et al.* 2003).

Th1 cells produce IL-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  and are involved in immune responses against intracellular pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and viruses. Through the expression of cytokines and co-stimulatory signals, Th1 cells can promote activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as part of the antiviral response and activation of macrophages as part of the anti-mycobacterial immune responses. They can also stimulate antibody production by B cells in immune responses against extracellular pathogens. Through cytokine production, Th1 cells can also promote further Th1 differentiation while suppressing Th2 responses (Mosmann & Coffman 1989; Abbas *et al.* 1996).

Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13. They stimulate antibody production facilitating the elimination of extracellular pathogens and can suppress Th1 immune responses and promote further generation of Th2 cells via cytokine production (Mosmann & Coffman 1989).

Th17 cells have been identified more recently than the other T-helper cells. They are distinguished based on their production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17. These cells are involved in immune responses against bacterial, fungal, parasitic and viral infections and have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune diseases (Mills 2008; McGeachy & Cua 2008; McKinstry *et al.* 2009; Gutkowski & Hartleb 2009; Zhang *et al.* 2010).

Treg cells produce the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and/or the immunomodulatory growth factor TGF- $\beta$  and are said to be the modulators of cellular immune responses. These CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are often further characterized by the intracellular expression of the transcription factor FOXP3 and the surface marker CD25. Their abundance can determine the course of immune responses to infections and they are crucial in the prevention of immune-mediated damage (Sakaguchi 2005; Bi 2009).

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-deficient mice have impaired HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers and elicit severely weakened antiviral responses thus suggesting that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are a crucial to the induction of the  $CD8^+$  T cell response in HBV infection (Yang *et al.* 2009). A direct, cytokine-dependent antiviral role of Th1 cells has also been shown in HBV transgenic mice (Franco et al. 1997). Furthermore, HBV appears to subvert Th1 responses via the over-production of noninfectious subviral particles such as the nucleocapsid hepatitis B e antigen. This has been shown to induce a preferential Th2 cytokine profile by deleting Th1 cells (Milich et al. 1997; 1998). Th17 cells are expanded in the blood and livers of chronic hepatitis B patients and furthermore, their frequencies correlate with viral load levels and the severity of liver damage thus, implicating them in the immune responses against HBV and the pathogenesis of disease (Zhang et al. 2010). The frequencies of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs are similar in controls and asymptomatic HBsAg carriers but they are significantly higher in chronic hepatitis B patients. They are thought to modulate antiviral responses in HBV and therefore, aid viral persistence (Peng et al. 2007). Fu et al (2007) showed that Treg cells can suppress CTL responses and that their expansions in HCC patients correlate with the reduced infiltration of CTLs in tumour regions and high mortality and reduced survival time of HCC patients.

## 1.2.4 Antigen presentation cells in HBV infection

"Professional" antigen presentation cells comprise the MHC-class II-expressing B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells (DC). It can be hypothesised that the deficient T cell responses associated with HBV infection may be linked with deficiencies in the APC and impaired T cell priming.

DC are the most important APC and these cells take up and process antigen and then, migrate to the lymphoid organs where they present the antigen to the T cell (Steinman & Cohn 1973; Steinman 1991). DC are generated from precursor cells e.g. monocytes or macrophages, via signals involving cytokines such as IL-4 and granulocyte-macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). Upon their generation, DC are said to be immature and serve a phagocytic function until they receive the correct signal which stimulates their differentiation into a mature phenotype. For instance, in viral infection, the recognition of viral double stranded RNA can trigger the differentiation of DC. Once mature, DC upregulate numerous adhesion and antigen presentation molecules and then migrate to the lymph node where their primary function is antigen presentation. They also produce numerous cytokines to recruit other arms of the immune response (Banchereau *et al.* 2000). The findings concerning dendritic cells (DC) in HBV are conflicting. Defective function and immature phenotype of DC has been observed in HBV infection (Wang et al. 2001). However, Tavkioli et al. (2004) studied monocyte derived DC (MDDC) and found that while there were a few minor phenotypical alterations and slightly reduced IL-12 production by MDDC in HBV, their T cell stimulatory capacity was unaffected. Another study found that the expression of co-stimulatory molecules on DC and their capacity to stimulate T cells was impaired in chronic HBV infection (CHB) but could be restored using a cytokine cocktail (Duan et al. 2006). In 2007, Tavakioli et al. published their research on myeloid DC and plasmacytoid DC in which they found no quantitative, phenotypic or functional defects in chronic HBV carriers, compared to uninfected control subjects. The role of DC has not yet been elucidated in the clearance or persistence of HBV infection, however, IFN- $\alpha$  treatment has been shown to increase frequencies of circulating DC and increase the expression of HLA-DR, CD80 and CD54 (ICAM-1) by such cells (Yu et al. 2006). One interesting report found that plasmacytoid DC from patients chronically infected with HBV induced the generation of a higher proportion of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg cells compared to those from uninfected controls or HBV resolvers (Hong et al. 2009).

Macrophages are a second type of "professional" APC. They are long-lived, phagocytic cells that circulate in blood as monocytes & reside in organs & tissues. These phagocytic cells engulf microorganisms, red cells, immune complexes and endotoxins and present the processed antigens to T cells (Laskin & Pendino 1995). Once activated by infected viruses or by NK, NKT or T cell derived cytokines, macrophages can produce cytokines that have direct (IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , nitric oxide) or indirect (IL-1, 6, 8, 10, 12, 08, GM-CSF) antiviral effects (Laskin & Pendino 1995; Dinarello 1999). Macrophage-derived IFN  $\alpha/\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12 and nitric oxide can inhibit HBV gene expression and replication in HBV transgenic mice (Cavanaugh *et al.* 1997; Guidotti *et al.* 2000; Pasquetto *et al.* 2000).

B cells are the third type of "professional" APC. They internalize specific antigen by receptor-mediated endocytosis and subsequently present the antigen to helper T cells which can then stimulate antibody production by the B cells. The central role of B cells is in the antibody response which is discussed below. B-cell mediated immune responses are crucial to the elimination of HBV (Klenerman *et al.* 2008).

## **1.2.5** Humoral response in HBV infection

By coating viruses with antibodies (neutralizing and non-neutralizing) the physical interactions of many viruses with their receptors can be blocked and complement can be activated to destroy viruses (Cooper & Nemerow 1983; 1984). The Fc portion of virus-bound antibodies can interact with the Fc receptors on the surface of macrophages and NK cells and accelerate the removal of virions from circulation (Cooper & Nemerow 1983; 1984; Backmann & Zinkernagel 1997; Burton *et al.* 2000).

In general, following primary infection, the IgM response occurs (usually within the first few days). Neutralizing IgM responses significantly reduce the blood titer of several viruses such as vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) and Friend virus (Brundler *et al.* 1996; Seiler *et al.* 1998; Super *et al.* 1998). As IgM levels drop, a T-cell dependent isotype switch to IgG occurs (including neutralizing IgG). This can occur as soon as 1 week after infection in infections such as VSV but peaks at a later time in HBV infection (Chisari & Ferrari 1995; Bachmann & Zinkernagel 1997). The neutralizing IgG helps remove extracellular virus and is considered to be very important in controlling long term infections that are not completely cleared such as HBV infections (Michalak *et al.* 1994). HBV may never be completely cleared and small traces may persist indefinitely but the antibodies are believed to serve to inhibit re-emergence of the virus by blocking extracellular spread (Rehermann *et al.* 1996).

Clearance of HBV is associated with production of anti-envelope antibodies and sera containing high levels of such antibodies can prevent chronic HBV infections (Alberti *et al.* 1978; Grady *et al.* 1978). Activation of the virus-specific cellular immune response is followed by the humoral response at least 10-12 weeks after HBV infection (Fong *et al.* 1994). In HBV infection, anti-HBc is the first antibody to appear. This is an antibody against the core antigen and its presence is used as a marker for HBV infection (past or present). IgM anti-HBc is present in high titer during acute infection and usually disappears within 6 months whereas IgG anti-HBc generally remains detectable for a lifetime. Anti-HBe antibody appears after anti-HBc antibody and its presence indicates a decrease in viral replication and therefore, in infectivity. Anti-HBe completely replaces HBeAg in the resolution of disease. Anti-HBs replaces HBsAg as the acute HBV infection is resolving and anti-HBs persists for a lifetime in over 80% of patients and indicates immunity (WHO 2008). However in 1 - 5% of HBeAg negative patients, biochemical and histological activity persists with high serum HBV DNA

41

levels. In such patients, HBeAg is undetectable because of the predominance of HBV strains that cannot express HBeAg. These patients constitute a group with HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis in which HBsAg and anti-HBe are present in serum (de Franchis *et al.* 2002).

### **1.2.6** Innate lymphocytes in HBV infection

Innate lymphocytes are early responding lymphocytes that are not MHC-restricted and unlike B and T lymphocytes, they are activated in the absence of prior priming with an antigen. This is due to the expression of invariant receptors that recognize conserved antigens or 'danger'-associated molecules on the surface of infected or tumour cells. Once activated, innate lymphocytes can carry out cytotoxic activity or can produce cytokines which can contribute to the elimination of the pathogen / tumour and modulate adaptive immune responses.

## 1.2.6.1 Natural Killer cells in HBV infection

Natural Killer (NK) cells display powerful cytotoxic activities and are potent producers of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN-y. They constitute 10-15% of peripheral blood lymphocytes and are characterized by the presence of the immunoglobulin superfamily molecule CD56 and the absence of CD3 (Robertson & Ritz 1990). The two main subsets of NK cells are distinguished based on the density of their CD56 expression. CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells make up ~10% of the NK cell population. They express high levels of CD56 and are the main producers of IFN- $\gamma$  while the majority of NK cells are CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and they are primarily responsible for natural cytotoxicity (Robertson & Ritz 1990; Cooper et al. 2001). NK cells also express a set of invariant stimulatory, co-stimulatory and inhibitory receptors (NKRs) and it is the combination of signals transmitted through these receptors that determines whether an NK cell is activated or not. Such receptors bind components of pathogens, host cells or cytokines. For example, virus-infected cells and activated resident macrophages produce chemoattractant factors which recruit NK cells to infected tissues (Biron et al. 1999). A variety of signals can then activate the NK cell to induce apoptosis of the virallyinfected cell via perforin release. Activated NK cells also produce antiviral cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  which can have direct antiviral effects and influence subsequent adaptive immune responses. However, in the absence of infection or

malignancy, the inhibitory receptors will have more bound ligand than the activating receptors and therefore, the NK cell is not inappropriately activated (Kos & Engleman 1995; 1996; Biron *et al.* 1999; Cooper *et al.* 2001; Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Picciolo *et al.* 2002; McQueen & Parham 2002; Lanier 2005).

NK cells are involved in immune responses against a wide variety of viruses including; cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus, adenovirus, influenza virus, vaccinia virus and coxsackie virus (Quinnan *et al.* 1982; Bukowski *et al.* 1983; 1984; Sheil *et al.* 1984; Stein-Streilein & Guffee 1986; Godeny & Gauntt 1987; Biron *et al.* 1989; Orange *et al.* 1995; Orange & Biron 1996; Durantel *et al.* 2004; Yang *et al.* 2004). Several studies have investigated NK cell responses in HBV infection but their role is still not fully understood.

It is thought that NK cells may play an important role in the early defence against HBV (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). They have been implicated in the inhibition of HBV replication and resolution of acute infection (Echevarria *et al.* 1991; Pasquetto *et al.* 2000; Kakimi *et al.* 2000; Kimura *et al.* 2002). However, their involvement in the immunopathogensis of the disease is also well documented with evidence suggesting that they play a central role in liver injury in both chronic HBV infection and in fulminant hepatic failure (Kakimi *et al.* 2001; Sitia *et al.* 2002; Dunn *et al.* 2007; Zou *et al.* 2010). The role of NK cells in HBV immunity and immunopathogenesis is believed to be mediated by the activating receptor NKG2D and the cytokines IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (Echevarria *et al.* 1991; Dunn *et al.* 2007; Zou *et al.* 2010). IFN- $\alpha$  levels in CHB patients with liver inflammation have been shown to be sufficiently high to induce cytotoxic activity of NK cells and such IFN- $\alpha$  is presumably secreted by the infected hepatocytes (Dunn *et al.* 2007). The importance of NK cells in immunity against HBV is further evident in their enhanced activation status and IFN- $\gamma$  production in responders to HBsAg vaccination, when compared to non-responders (Albarran *et al.* 2005).

From the evidence above, one may hypothesise that NK cells are important in early defense against HBV and that deficiencies in such cells may lead to the subsequent impairment of adaptive responses that are characteristic of chronic HBV infection. The findings of Zeng *et al.* (2009) support this hypothesis. They found that cytotoxicity and NKG2D expression by NK cells was reduced in HCC patients. It was also lower in HBV patients compared to controls. Our recent work in HCV infection also supports this hypothesis; it was found that frequencies of circulating NK cells are reduced in individuals chronically infected with HCV, compared to those who resolve infection. Depletions and expansions of specific subsets of NK cells observed in the chronic HCV patients suggested that antibody-dependent cytotoxicity was impaired and inhibitory signals to the NK cells were amplified. From this, it was concluded that the alteration in NK cell frequencies may lead to further impairment in the overall cellular immune responses (Golden-Mason *et al.* 2008). Other studies have elucidated a mechanism by which HCV inhibits NK cell functions (Tseng *et al.* 2002; Crotta *et al.* 2002). In this study, the importance of NK cells in the control of HBV infection was assessed. This was achieved by investigating the frequencies and cytokine profiles of NK cells in a group of asymptomatic HBsAg carriers who, as a model of immune control, would help to inform us of the role of NK cells in HBV immunity.

## 1.2.6.2 Natural T cells in HBV infection

A proportion of human T cells, known as CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells or natural T (NT) cells, express the NK cell surface molecule CD56, and can be classified as innate T cells because their cytolytic activity is not MHC-restricted, meaning that they are much earlier responders than their CD56<sup>-</sup> counterparts (Schmidt et al. 1986; Kelly-Rogers et al. 2006). Such cells usually constitute 5% of PBMC but can account for up to 50% of T cells in the liver, thus making them of particular interest in the study of liver disease (Norris et al. 1999; Ishihara et al. 1999). Although NT cells are said to be innate lymphocytes and are classified as such in this study, at least some NT cells differentiate from classical CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Kelly-Rogers et al. 2006). Furthermore, their activation sometimes requires the ligation of both the stimulatory NKRs and the TCR. Therefore, it is important to distinguish between the true innate nature of NK cells and the dual capacity of NT cells to respond in both an innate and adaptive manner. NT cells can respond to a diverse array of cytokines including IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-2, IL-12, IL-15 and IL-18 and are potent producers of IFN-γ, TNF-α and IL-4 (Lu & Negrin 1994; Satoh et al. 1996; Jin et al. 1998; Zoll et al. 1998; Dunne et al. 2001; Loza et al. 2002; Kelly et al. 2004). The rapid production of cytokines and cytolytic activity by NT cells in response to infection and malignancy poises them as ideal therapeutic candidates. As well as their own antiviral activities, the cytokine profiles of NT cells enables their modulation of subsequent adaptive responses -a concept that is of particular interest in chronic HBV infection where adaptive responses are weakened.

NT cells have been implicated in the immune response to HBV infection and the liver pathology associated with it, while their depletion has been associated with the persistence of HCV infection and hepatic malignancies (Barnaba *et al.* 1994, Deignan *et al.* 2002; Albarran *et al.* 2005; Norris *et al.* 2003). It was hypothesized that NT cells play a role in immunity to HBV and therefore, studied a group of HBsAg carriers without or with mild liver disease and low viral load, to determine if such cells were involved in HBV immune control.

## 1.2.6.3 Invariant Natural Killer T cells and CD1 in HBV infection

Another subset of innate T lymphocytes that respond rapidly and elicit potent IFN- $\gamma$  production and cytotoxic activity are the classical or invariant NKT (iNKT) cells. They express a restricted TCR repertoire consisting of a V $\alpha$ 14J $\alpha$ 18  $\alpha$ -chain in mice and a V $\alpha$ 24J $\alpha$ 18  $\alpha$ -chain in humans, paired with a limited number of  $\beta$ -chains (Bendelac *et al.* 1997). Such cells also express a number of cell-surface markers typically expressed on NK cells, hence the name NKT cell, and recognize lipid antigen presented by the MHC-like glycoprotein, CD1d (Bendelac *et al.* 1997; Exley *et al.* 1997; Brigl & Brenner 2004; Gumperz 2006). These cells are therefore, referred to as CD1d-restricted T cells.

CD1d is one of 5 isoforms of CD1; CD1a-e. All CD1 proteins possess a sequence of hydrophobic amino acids in their antigen-binding groove which facilitate the binding and presentation of lipid antigens. They are expressed on a variety of specialized APC including monocytes, B cells and dendritic cells (Porcelli *et al.* 1998).

Although several endogenous and bacterial lipid antigens have found to be presented by CD1, the most potent activator of iNKT cells isolated to date is the marine sponge-derived glycolipid  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ -galcer), which is presented by the CD1d molecule. Therapeutic activation of iNKT cells with  $\alpha$ -galcer in mice results in potent anti-tumour cytotoxic activity and the rapid release of cytokines leading to the inhibition of tumour growth and the elimination of a wide variety of viruses (Kawano *et al.* 1997; Lynch *et al.* 2009). However, the glycolipid was much less effective in humans due to the difference in the numbers of iNKT cells between humans and the transgenic mouse models used in these studies. While, iNKT cells account for 5% of circulating and 30% of hepatic T cells in mice, they only constitute 0.02-0.8% of circulating T lymphocytes and less than 1% of liver T lymphocytes in humans (Kenna *et al.* 2004). The human omentum is the only organ reported to have a high proportion

of such cells with numbers in healthy subjects averaging 10% (Lynch *et al.* 2009). Therefore, although the studies in mice appear promising, the elucidation of new antigenic lipids and novel subsets of NKT cells may be the key to finding a lymphocyte subset with equivocal potency in humans.

There is more evidence showing the role of iNKT cells in intracellular bacteria, parasitic infections and tumours than in viral infection but their potent cytotoxic activity, production of IFN- $\gamma$ , rapid activation of NK cells and modulation of subsequent adaptive responses, suggests that they have an important role to play in antiviral immune responses (Sieling *et al.* 1995; Denkers *et al.* 1996; Cui *et al.* 1997; Bendelac *et al.* 1997; Schofield *et al.* 1999; Apostolou *et al.* 1999; Carnaud *et al.* 1999).

Studies in mouse and chimpanzee models have shown that invariant NKT cells are important in the inhibition of HBV replication and viral clearance (Guidotti *et al.* 1999; Kakimi *et al.* 2000). Baron *et al.* (2002), however, showed that non-invariant NKT cells which are still CD1d-restricted responded to hepatocytes expressing HBV antigens in a mouse model and led to liver injury in such animals. They hypothesized that such non-classical NKT cells are important early responders in HBV infection and may be responsible for the significant decline in HBV DNA that preceded the CTL influx in HBV infection (Guidotti *et al.* 1999; Baron *et al.* 2002). *Baron et al.* (2002) also concluded that NKT cells may modulate subsequent adaptive responses and/or play a role in the development of liver disease in HBV patients. However, the differences in cell frequencies cited above mean that the antiviral mechanism of such cells in humans may not be as effective as those in mice and further work is needed to evaluate the need and potential of such cells in HBV infection in humans.

From the findings documented above, one may hypothesise that NKT cells are important in the control of HBV infection and that deficiencies in such cells may lead to inadequate adaptive immune responses and unfavourable outcomes of HBV infection. Depleted numbers of iNKTs have already been reported in the livers of chronic HCV patients and in HIV type 1 infection and such deficiencies could pre-dispose HBVinfected individuals to persistent infection (Deignan *et al.* 2002; van der Vliet 2002). Alternatively, HBV may interfere with iNKT functions to permit development of persistent infection. Such interference could be mediated through the CD1d molecule as in herpes simplex virus (HSV) and HIV infections (Yuan *et al.* 2006; Chen *et al.* 2006). Therefore, it was decided to investigate the frequencies of circulating iNKT cells and CD1a, b, c and d<sup>+</sup> cells in a group of chronic HBV patients with mild liver disease and low viral load.

## 1.2.6.4 $\gamma\delta$ T cells in HBV infection

Another group of unconventional early responding T cells are the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells which express a TCR consisting of a  $\gamma$ - and  $\delta$ -chain, unlike the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -chain of the classical T cell receptor. There are a multitude of differences between  $\gamma\delta$  and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells;  $\alpha\beta$  T cells take 4-96 hours to respond to antigen while  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can respond in under an hour,  $\alpha\beta$  T cells recognise peptide antigens complexed with MHC molecules while  $\gamma\delta$  T cells recognise non-peptide antigens in a MHC-unrestricted manner. Furthermore, while  $\alpha\beta$  T cells possess receptors for chemokines that promote their homing to the spleen and lymph nodes,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are rarely found at these locations (Groh *et al.* 1998; Hayday 2000). While  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are potent producers of pro-inflammatory cytokines and elicit a strong cytotoxic effector function, their functions appear to exceed the normal constraints of T cells with reports of antigen presentation and cellular repair functions (Brandes 2005; Jameson and Havran 2007; Brandes 2009). It must be noted that many studies performed on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are done in murine models but one must note the differences that exist between  $\gamma\delta$  T cell repertoires in humans and mice. In humans,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are divided into 3 main groups based on their  $\delta$  chain usage i.e. V $\delta$ 1, V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 3 T cells. V $\delta$ 2 T cells being the most prevalent in circulation while V $\delta$ 1 subsets are more abundant in the tissues and mucosal surfaces (e.g. intestine) and V83 subsets appearing to be confined to the liver (Kenna et al. 2004).

One striking difference is the absence of  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells in mice, which as the main circulating subset in humans and the centre of a number of therapeutic studies, is of great importance. Circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in mice are predominantly  $V\gamma 1V\delta 5/6$  or  $V\gamma 2V\delta 5$  T cells. Therefore, it is advisable to take these differences on board when considering studies performed in murine models.

The exact mechanisms of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell antigen recognition is not fully understood but their rapid reaction time has always indicated that the classical antigen presentation process whereby  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are activated is not true for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. Furthermore, studies have revealed the activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the absence of MHC Class I and II and CD1 (Morita *et al.* 2001; Wei *et al.* 2008). This is due to the expression of several activating and inhibitory receptors called Natural Killer Receptors (NKRs) that facilitate the recognition of conserved antigens and danger-associated molecules (Constant *et al.* 1994; Tanaka *et al.* 1995; Morita *et al.* 1995; Battistini *et al.* 1997; Jomaa *et al.* 1999; von Lilienfeld-Toal *et al.* 2006; Toutirais *et al.* 2009). The NKR NKG2D, for instance, facilitates the recognition of MICA and MICB and mediates activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell cytotoxicity while NKG2A binds to HLA-E and induces inhibitory signals that prevent unnecessary killing.

Recognition of phosphoantigens such as the the pyrophosphate HMBPP ((E)-4hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate) is believed to be mediated through the V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2-TCR and it induces potent activation of the cells, so much so that several phosphoantigens are being evaluated for cell-based therapies against malignancy (Eberl *et al.* 2002; Allison *et al.* 2001; Bennouna *et al.* 2008). Aminobisphosphonates and alkylamines have also been shown to be effective stimulators of V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells and are also in clinical trials for the treatment of cancer. They stimulate V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells indirectly by causing the accumulation of pyrophosphates in antigen presentation cells (Kunzmann *et al.* 1999; Scotet *et al.* 2005; Thompson *et al.* 2006; Dieli *et al.* 2007; Abe *et al.* 2009).

The importance of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in immune responses against a wide range of bacteria, fungi, parasites and viruses is well documented (Bukowski *et al.* 1998; Morita *et al.* 2007). Their role in antiviral immunity has been evident in various studies, with elevated frequencies observed in EBV, HIV and HSV infections (De Paolo *et al.* 1990; Maccario *et al.* 1995; Poccia *et al.* 1999). However, of particular relevance to this study, is the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in hepatitis. Studies have revealed that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may actually play a role in the liver injury associated with HCV infection (Nikolopoulou *et al.* 1995; Tseng *et al.* 2001). There is also evidence that the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells are depleted in chronic HBV infection, along with lower IFN- $\gamma$  secretion and  $\gamma\delta$  T cell cytotoxicity (Chen *et al.* 2008). Moreover, increases in the frequencies of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells expressing the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR have been observed in HBV patients who seroconverted (Sing *et al.* 1998). Another study found no differences between controls and HBV patients when frequencies of V $\delta$ 1<sup>+</sup> T cells were investigated where as the

frequencies of such cells were said to be higher in the liver of HCV patients (Rossol *et al.* 1998; Agrati *et al.* 2001).

Since  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can modulate adaptive immune responses via cytokine production and have even been implicated in an antigen presentation role, it was hypothesised that a depletion of such innate lymphocytes could lead to an impairment in subsequent adaptive immune responses in chronic HBV. Therefore, the frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were studied in a group of asymptomatic HBsAg carriers and a group of uninfected control subjects to examine the role of such cells in a model of immune control. Furthermore, as the V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell subset are already the centre of several clinical trials, their potential against HBV-associated HCC was investigated by assessing whether a human HCC cell line could modulate V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell responses *in vitro*.

## 1.2.6.5 Activation of innate lymphocytes - NKRs

Innate lymphocytes express a set of invariant stimulatory, co-stimulatory and inhibitory receptors known as NKRs and it is the combination of signals transmitted through these receptors than can determine whether an innate lymphocyte cell elicits an effector function or not (Biron *et al.* 1999).

NKG2D is an activating receptor found on the surface of NK, NKT, CD8<sup>+</sup> and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells whose loss often has detrimental effects in cancer (Clayton *et al.* 2008). The receptor is a type II transmembrane glycoprotein that binds stress-inducible molecules such as MICA and MICB and ULBP1-5 and triggers cytotoxic effector functions by NK cells but acts as a costimulatory molecule on CD8+ T cells. The NKG2D ligands are over-expressed in tumor cells and virally-infected cells and their expression is induced by numerous cellular stresses (Gonzalez *et al.* 2008). Many studies have highlighted the importance of NKG2D in tumor recognition and its tumor-mediated suppression on NK cells is well documented. Furthermore, the frequencies of circulating NKG2D-expressing NK cells are depleted in HCC, HBV and cervical cancer (Arreygue-Garcia *et al.* 2008; Zeng *et al.* 2009).

NKG2A (CD94) is an inhibitory NKR often expressed by NK cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and upon recognition and binding to its ligand, the non-classical MHC class I molecule human leucocyte antigen (HLA)-E, inhibits lysis of an un-infected, non-tumor cell (Mistry & O'Callaghan 2007). The loss of HLA-E would abolish the inhibitory signal to the effector cells and according to the 'missing self' hypothesis would allow

the dominance of the activating signal and thus induce lysis of the target cell (Mistry & O'Callaghan 2007). NKG2A has even been implicated in  $\gamma\delta^+$ T cell-mediated regulation of  $\alpha\beta^+$ T cells in the intestine (Bhagat *et al.* 2008).

In this study, NKG2D expression by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was investigated in HBVinfected patients as part of the elucidation of the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the immune control of the virus. NKG2D and NKG2A surface expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells after co-culture with HCC-derived cells was also investigated to determine if there were any changes that would indicate tumor cell-mediated immune suppression in HBV-associated HCC.

#### **1.2.7** Cytokines in HBV infection

## 1.2.7.1 Type 1 Interferons in HBV infection

Recognition of dsRNA by most cell types (a product of the replication process of RNA and DNA viruses) is a common trigger of type 1 IFNs (IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ ) (Vilcek & Sen 1996). IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  is usually produced within a few hours of viral infection and can inhibit viral entry or inhibit transcription, translation, assembly and secretion of several DNA and RNA viruses (Vilcek & Sen 1996; Stark *et al.* 1998; Thomson 1998). IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  can also inhibit cell division, stimulate effector functions of NK cells, CTLs and macrophages upregulate MHC class I and II expression and induce antibody synthesis in B cells (Thomson, 1998).

It is suspected that HBV clearance is due to the direct antiviral mechanism of IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  (Guidotti *et al.* 1995; Shimize *et al.* 1998). IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  has been shown to inhibit the formation of RNA-containing capsids in HBV infection thus abrogating HBV replication without affecting transcription, translation, capsid maturation or secretion (Wieland *et al.* 2000). Studies in HBV-transgenic mice have shown that IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  is needed to control HBV infection. (Kamijo *et al.* 1994; McClary *et al.* 2000; Deonarain *et al.* 2000). IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  can stimulate the proliferation of memory-phenotype T cells and those HBV-specific CTLs found in acute HBV infection are of an effector memory phenotype (Tough *et al.* 1999, Sobao *et al.* 2002).

## 1.2.7.2 IFN-γ and TNF-α in HBV infection

In animal models where infection is self-limited, an increase in viral replication is accompanied by IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production which leads to an adaptive immune

response sufficient to resolve infection (Guidotti *et al.* 1999; Thimme *et al.* 2003). IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  can recruit and activate macrophages, NK cells and T cells, polarise T cell responses to ensure that the antiviral response occurs and upregulate antigen processing, transport and MHC expression in infected cells (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). These cytokines can also exert direct antiviral activity by disrupting viral replication or by purging the virus from the infected cell, for example, 2'5' oligoadenylate synthethaseinduced RNase L degrades viral RNA and double standard RNA activated protein RNase (PKR) inhibits viral protein synthesis (Guidotti & Chisari 2001).

The relevance of these mechanisms in HBV were revealed when the intrahepatic induction of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  was shown to trigger the degradation of pre-formed HBV RNA in the nucleus of hepatocytes (Tsui *et al.* 1995). The importance of IFN- $\gamma$  in immunity against HBV has been shown in the findings of several studies (Guidotti *et al.* 1999, Guidotti & Chisari 1999; Albarran *et al.* 2005).

## 1.2.7.3 Other cytokines in HBV infection

IL-2 has been implicated in the clearance of acute HBV infection (Echevarria S 1991, Biron 1991, Das et al. 2008). More recently IL-10 and IL-12 have been implicated in spontaneous HBeAg seroconversion in HBeAg-positive patients and furthermore, polymorphisms in the genes encoding IL-10, IL-12, IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  have been associated with spontaneous resolution or persistence of HBV infection (Wu et al. 2009; Gao et al. 2009). The early stage of acute HBV infection is marked by a transient inhibition of NK and T cell responses that coincide with an increase in IL-10 accompanying HBV viremia. This suggests that HBV may induce IL-10 to evade antiviral immune responses (Dunn et al. 2009). Furthermore, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from chronically infected patients were shown to produce higher levels of IL-10 in response to HBcAg compared to resolvers of HBV infection thus indicating that these cells may play a role in viral persistence (Barboza et al. 2009). This is not surprising as IL-10 has been manipulated by several viruses in order to evade antiviral immune responses (Taoufik et al. 1997; Stockl et al. 1999; Brady et al. 2003). This is in agreement with the findings above where Treg cells inhibit  $CD8^+$  T cell functions. TGF- $\beta$ 1 has been implicated in HBV-related liver fibrogenesis while IL-13 is thought to be involved in fibrosis in HCV infection (Weng et al. 2009). IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine whose role in antiviral immunity is still not fully understood. The induction of antigenspecific Th17 cells have been observed in influenza and HCV infection. Furthermore, it was found that HCV NS4 protein could induce IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  to subvert antiviral responses via inhibition of IL-17 (Rowan *et al.* 2008). More recently, it has been reported that IL-17 is involved in the liver damage associated with chronic HBV infection with increases in circulating and intrahepatic Th17 cells positively correlating with disease progression and negatively correlating with circulating Th1 cell frequencies (Zhang *et al.* 2010, Ge *et al.* 2010). IL-17 has also been implicated in HBV-related liver fibrosis (Xu *et al.* 2009).

Due to the lack of cytokine profiling of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection, the cytokine profiles of innate lymphocytes in HBV was investigated by examining their production of a Th1 (IFN- $\gamma$ ), Th2 (IL-13), Treg (IL-10) and a Th17 cytokine (IL-17). It was hypothesized that any deficiencies / expansions in the specific cytokine producing populations of these early-responding cells could dictate the overall outcome of HBV infection. For example, a depletion of IFN- $\gamma^+$  NK cells may lead to uncontrollable infection whereas an expansion in the frequencies of such cells may lead to viral clearance, immune control or liver inflammation. Since a group of HBsAg patients with mild liver disease and low viral load were investigated in this study, it was expected that any differences observed between this group and uninfected controls would be an indication of the necessary measures for immune control without the occurrence of immune-mediated damage.

#### **1.3 Rationale of this study**

Since  $CD8^+$  T cell responses are deficient in chronic HBV infection and innate lymphocytes can modulate adaptive responses, it was hypothesised that deficiencies in innate lymphocytes can lead to an impaired adaptive response and the development of persistent infection. We, and others have previously shown such deficiencies existed in another persistent infection characterised by weakened CTL responses i.e. HCV infection (Deignan *et al.* 2002; Golden-Mason *et al.* 2008).

The aims of our study were to examine circulating innate lymphocyte numbers, phenotypes and functions in patients with HBV infection and to compare them with those in healthy subjects. This involved the study of NK, NT, iNKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in a cohort of individuals persistently infected with HBV. All patients in our study group had low viral load, mild liver disease, no comorbidities and were not receiving any

treatment for HBV infection. This group can therefore be considered as a model of persistent viral infection where the immune system nevertheless exerts effective control of viral replication while inflicting minimal pathology. The differences in the frequencies of innate lymphocytes, compared to those observed in uninfected control subjects, can inform us about the cells that control virus spread, that mediate pathology and liver disease and that are targeted by HBV. By comparing the cytokine profiles of innate lymphocytes in HBV-infected subjects to those in uninfected controls, it was aimed to determine what cytokines were involved in early responses against HBV. Our patient cohort was racially-diverse and since the demographics of our uninfected control subjects were mostly unknown, a group of ethnically-matched uninfected controls were also studied to confirm that any differences observed were due to HBV infection and not the demographics of our study group.

There were several limitations to our study, most notably, the use of circulating innate lymphocytes instead of hepatic innate lymphocytes. In the study of liver disease, it would be ideal to study intrahepatic cells but access to such liver samples is always a constraint. Peripheral blood samples were readily available which facilitated the study of significantly higher numbers of patients than a liver study would permit, particularly a study in which the patients have relatively little liver disease. Furthermore, obtaining healthy liver samples for our control group would be another significant challenge.

The findings of this study should serve to inform us of the early immune responses in HBV and of the responses required to achieve immune control. Alterations in the functions and frequencies of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection may indicate why the subsequent adaptive responses are impaired. This study should also act as a platform for subsequent similar research projects in which other groups of HBV-infected subjects can be investigated, most notably those who clear the virus and those with both chronic HBV infection and severe liver disease. The investigation of innate lymphocytes in the livers of all patient groups would also be desirable. It is only through the study of these groups that the immune responses against HBV can be fully understood and an effective and durable immunotherapy with few side effects can be developed. Innate lymphocytes would be ideal candidates for immunotherapy since they are easily cultured and do not require any specific antigen stimulation to become activated and most importantly, they are already the focus of several clinical trials in cancer. The potential of innate T cells in the treatment of HBV-associated HCC was

also assessed here, in a preliminary study that investigated reciprocal interactions between  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells and HCC cells *in vitro*.

The overall aim of this study was to gain information that would aid the development and/or improvement of cell-based therapies for HBV and associated disease.

## 1.4 Aims of this study

- To examine the frequencies and phenotypes of circulating NK cells, NK cell subsets, NT cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and their subsets, iNKT cells and CD1-expressing cells in patients with HBV infection and to compare them with those in healthy subjects.
- To investigate the cytokine profiles of circulating innate lymphocytes in patients with HBV infection and to compare them with those in healthy subjects by examining their production of a Th1 (IFN-γ), Th2 (IL-13), Treg (IL-10) and a Th17 cytokine (IL-17).
- To investigate the differences in the frequencies, phenotypes and cytokine profiles of the above mentioned cell subsets based on gender, age, viral load and ALT levels.
- To examine the natural and cytokine-induced cytotoxic capabilities of whole PBMC in patients with HBV infection and to compare them with those in healthy subjects.
- To investigate reciprocal interactions between Vγ9Vδ2 T cells and HCC cells *in vitro* by examining phenotypic changes and cytokine secretion following co-culture.

# Chapter 2

## Materials & Methods

2.1 Materials and equipment		
2.2	Subjects	52
2.2.1	HBV patients	52
2.2.2	Control subjects	52
2.2.2.1	General control subjects	52
2.2.2.2	Demographically matched control subjects	52
2.2.3	Collection of subject material	53
2.3	General tissue culture procedure	53
2.3.1	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolation	54
2.3.2	Enumeration of cells and viability testing	54
2.3.3	Cryopreservation and recovery of cells	55
2.3.4	Cell lines	55
2.4	Flow cytometry	56
2.4.1	Principles of flow cytometry	56
2.4.2	Use of flow cytometry for the purpose of this study	58
2.4.2.1	Direct cell surface staining of cells with fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs	58
2.4.2.2	Indirect cell surface staining of cells with unconjugated anti-V $\delta$ 1 mAb	
	and determination of the optimal concentration to be used	58
2.4.2.3	Phenotypic analysis of surface stained cells	60
2.4.3	Flow cytometry acquisition and analysis	62
2.5	Analysis of cytokine production	65
2.5.1	Stimulation of PBMC in vitro	65
2.5.2	Cytokine analysis by intracellular cytokine staining and flow cytometry	65
2.5.3	Cytokine analysis by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	68
2.5.3.1	Cell lysis	68
2.5.3.2	RNA extraction	68
2.5.3.3	Reverse Transcription	69
2.5.3.4	PCR	70
2.5.3.5	Controls used for RT-PCR	71

2.5.3.6	Analysis of PCR data	72
2.5.4	Cytokine analysis using the BD <sup>TM</sup> Cytometric Bead Array	74
2.5.4.1	Preparation of samples and standards for CBA	74
2.5.4.2	Analysis of samples for CBA	76
2.6	Measurement of cell cytotoxicity	79
2.6.1	Chromium release assay	79
2.6.2	General procedures for use of radioisotopes	79
2.6.3	Cytotoxicity assay using PBMC from chronic HBV patients and healthy	
	Controls	80
2.7	Functional studies on γδ T cells	81
2.7.1	Analysis of γδ T cell subsets	81
2.7.2	Expansion of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells in response to the pyrophosphate antigen	
	HMBPP	81
2.7.3	Interactions between $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells and epithelial cells	82
2.8	Statistical calculations	84
2.8.1	The Mann-Whitney U test	84
2.8.2	The correlation function	84
2.8.3	Bonferroni correction method	84

## 2.1 Materials and equipment

General reagents used in this present study are shown in Table 2.1. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) used for flow cytometry and receptor cross-linking are shown in Tables 2.2 and 2.3, respectively. Mitogens and antigens used in cell culture are listed in Table 2.4. Table 2.5 comprises a list of reagents used in polymerase chain reaction. The reagents used in the cytometric bead array are listed in Table 2.6. Plastic-ware and equipment used during this study are listed in Table 2.7 and 2.8, respectively. Software applications used in the present study are listed in Table 2.9. Cell lines used are listed in Table 2.10. The cell lines GRM and HT29 were a gift from Dr. Stephen Todryk (Universifty of Northumbia, Newcastle). The cell line Hep3B was a gift from Dr. Steven Gray (IMM, Trinity College Dublin).

## **Table 2.1**

**General reagents:** The General reagents used in this study and their commercial sources.

Product	Company
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Brefeldin A (BFA)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Cell dissociation solution	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	Gibco, NZ
Ethidium Bromide (EtBr)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Foetal Calf Serum (FCS)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Foetal Calf Serum (FCS)	Hyclone
Fungizone	Gibco, NZ
Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS)	Gibco, NZ
Hepes	Gibco, NZ

Ionomycin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Lymphoprep	Nycomed, Norway
Non-essential amino acids	Gibco, NZ
Paraformaldehyde (PFA)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Penstreptmycin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Polymyxin B	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium	Gibco, NZ
(RPMI)	
Saponin	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium azide	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Sodium Pyruvate 100mM	Gibco, NZ

**Fluorescence-labelled monoclonal antibodies:** The monoclonal antibodies used for flow cytometry, their commercial sources and clone names.

Antibody	Company	Clone
Allophycocyanin (APC)	ImmunoTools GmbH	LT27
labelled CD27		
APC labelled CD19	BD Biosciences UK	SJ25C1
APC labelled CD3	BD Biosciences UK	UCHT1
APC labelled CD54	BD Biosciences UK	HA58
APC labelled IgG1	BD Biosciences UK	MOPC-21
APC labelled IgG1	ImmunoTools GmbH	PPV-06
APC labelled MICA/B	Biolegend	6D4
APC labelled NKG2A	R&D Systems Europe	131411
APC labelled NKG2D	eBioscience	1D11
Fluorescein isothiocyanate	BD Biosciences UK	X40
(FITC) labelled IgG1		
FITC labelled CD1b	BD Biosciences UK	HI149
FITC labelled CD1c	Miltenyi Biotec GmbH	AD5-8E7
FITC labelled CD4	BD Biosciences UK	SK3/RPA-T4
FITC labelled CD45RA	ImmunoTools GmbH	MEM-56
FITC labelled CD56	BD Biosciences UK	NCAM16.2
FITC labelled HLA-DR	BD Biosciences UK	G46-6(L243)
FITC labelled IFN-γ	BD Biosciences UK	25723.11
FITC labelled IgG1ĸ	BD Biosciences UK	MOPC-21

FITC labelled IgG2a	BD Biosciences UK	X39		
FITC labelled Vα24	Immunotech France	C15		
FITC labelled Vγ9	BD Biosciences UK	B3		
FITC labelled γδ TCR	BD Biosciences UK	11F2		
FITC labelled Ber-EP4	DakoCytomation Denmark	Ber-EP4		
Phycoerythrin (PE) labelled	BD Biosciences UK	X56		
IgG1				
PE labelled Vβ11	Immunotech France	C21		
PE labelled 6B11	BD Biosciences UK	6B11		
PE labelled CD1a	BD Biosciences UK	HI149		
PE labelled CD1d	BD Biosciences UK	CD1d42		
PE labelled CD8	BD Biosciences UK	HIT8a		
PE labelled HLA-E	BD Biosciences UK	3D12HLA-E		
PE labelled IgG1ĸ	BD Biosciences UK	MOPC-21		
PE labelled IL-10	BD Biosciences UK	JES 3-9D7		
PE labelled IL-13	BD Biosciences UK	JES 10-5A2		
PE labelled IL-17	R&D Systems Europe	41802		
PE-labelled anti-mouse IgG	R&D Systems Europe	LXP08		
(secondary reagent)				
PE labelled Vδ2	BD Biosciences UK	B6		
Phycoerythrin-Cyanine 5	BD Biosciences UK	MOPC-21		
(PE-Cy5) labelled IgG1				
PE-Cy5 labelled CD14	BD Biosciences UK	TUK4		
PE-Cy5 labelled CD3	BD Biosciences UK	UCHT1		
1				

PE-Cy5 labelled CD40	BD Biosciences UK	5C3		
PE-Cy5 labelled IgG1κ	BD Biosciences UK	MOPC-21		
PE-Cy5 labelled IgG2a	BD Biosciences UK	G155-178		
Peridinin-chlorophyll	Biolegend	S K7		
protein (PerCP) labelled				
CD3				
PerCP labelled NKG2C	R&D Systems Europe	134591		
Unconjugated Vδ1	Becton Dickinson	11F2		

**Stimulating monoclonal antibodies:** Monoclonal antibodies used for receptor crosslinking and their commercial sources.

Antibody	Company
Anti-human-CD3	BD Biosciences, UK
Anti-CD28 mAb Anti-human	BD Biosciences, UK

## **Table 2.4**

Stimulants used in cell culture: Mitogens and antigens used in cell culture and their commercial source.

Product	Company
(E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl	Dr. Hassan Jomaa,
pyrophosphate (HMBPP)	Universitatsklinikum Gieben und
	Marburg GmbH, Germany
Isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Phytohaemagglutinin (PHA)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK
Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)	Sigma-Aldrich, UK

**RT-PCR:** All buffers, primers, probes and reagents used in RT-PCR and their commercial sources.

Product	Company
Lysis buffer	Sigma
β-Mercapthoethanol	Sigma
RNase Zap	Sigma
RNeasy Mini-kit (RNA extraction kit)	Qiagen
RNase-free DNase set	Qiagen
First strand buffer	Invitrogen
DTT	Invitrogen
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma
Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates	Invitrogen
(dNTPs)	
RNasin	Promega
MMLV Reverse Transcriptase	Invitrogen
Random Hexamers	Invitrogen
dH <sub>2</sub> O	Sigma
β-actin primers	A gift from Genomic Research
	Laboratory, IMM
IFN-γ primers	A gift from Genomic Research
	Laboratory, IMM
β-actin probe	A gift from Genomic Research
	Laboratory, IMM

IFN-γ probe	A gift from Genomic Research
	Laboratory, IMM
	,,
IL-10 pre-customised primers and	ABI
in it pro customiseu primero una	
nrohes	
probes	
II -17 pro-customised primers and	ARI
IL-17 pre-customiseu primers anu	ABI
nnahaa	
probes	
Taqman <sup>®</sup> Universal PCR mastermix	ABI

Cytometric Bead Array: The reagents used in the cytometric bead array and their commercial sources.

Reagent	Company
Cytometric Bead Array Human Soluble	BD Biosciences, UK
Protein Master Buffer Kit	
Human TGF-β1 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IFN-γ Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IL-4 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IL-6 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IL-10 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IL-12 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK
Human IL-13 Single Plex Flex kit	BD Biosciences, UK

Plastic-ware: Items of plastic-ware used in this study and their commercial sources.

Product	Company	
24-well tissue culture plate	Nunc, Denmark	
48-well tissue culture plate	Nunc, Denmark	
40µm Nylon mesh needle filter	Falcon 2340, USA	
6-well tissue culture plate	Nunc, Denmark	
96-well u-bottomed tissue culture plate	Nunc, Denmark	
96-well flat bottomed microplate	Nunc, Denmark	
5 ml polystyrene round bottom Falcon tube	BD Biosciences, UK	
50 ml Falcon Tubes	BD Biosciences, UK	
RNase-free eppendorfs	Qiagen	
<b>RNase-free collection tubes</b>	Qiagen	
PCR plate	ABI	

## **Table 2.8**

Equipment: Pieces of equipment used in this study and their commercial sources.

Equipment	Company	
Centrifuge 5810	Eppendorf	
Centrifuge 5415D	Eppendorf	
FACSCalibur system for flow cytometry	BD Biosciences, UK	
Haemocytometer	Neubauer	
MACS LS Column	1iltenyi Biotec, GmbH	
MACS Separator	Miltenyi Biotec, GmbH	

Thermo Forma Incubator	Thermo Scientific	
Waterbath	Clifton	
Olympus CK40-SLP Light microscope	Olympus, Japan	
Nikon Eclipse E200 UV Light microscope	Nikon, Japan	
8 sample spectrophotometer ND-800	Nanodrop	
PTC-100 Programmable Thermo	MJ Research, Inc.	
Controller		
7000 sequence detection system	ABI Prism	
P100 Pipette	Eppendorf	
P1000 Pipette	Eppendorf	
P200 Pipette	Eppendorf	
P20 Pipette	Eppendorf	
Pipette-aid	Drummond	
Tecan Sunrise Microplate Reader	Tecan	
Thermo IEC Micromax centrifuge	Thermo Scientific	

Software: Software applications used in this study and their commercial sources.

Software	Company	
CellQuest Software	BD Biosciences, UK	
Summit Version 4.3	Dako Colorado, Inc., USA	
GraphPad Prism 5.0.0.288	GraphPad Software, Inc., USA	
FCAP Array Software	BD Biosciences, UK	

**Epithelial cell lines:** Epithelial cell lines used in this study, the organ from which they originated and the disease they cause.

Cell line	Source	Disease
НТ29	Colon	Colorectal
		adenocarcinoma
Hep3B	Liver	Hepatocellular
		carcinoma
GRM	Skin	Melonoma

#### 2.2 Subjects

## 2.2.1 HBV patients

One hundred and two consecutive patients infected with Hepatitis B virus (HBV), attending the Hepatology Outpatient clinic at St. James Hospital, Dublin were studied. The numbers of patients studied in each analysis (n) are shown in each results chapter. Therefore, the frequencies or cytokine profiles of any cells of interest were not investigated for all 102 patients. The patient cohort was diverse in race and comprised 42 Africans, 40 Caucasians and 20 Asians. ALT levels ranged from 8 to 143 with 75 patients having ALT below 40 and 27 patients having abnormal ALT level above 40. Very few patients had very high ALT levels and thus most patients were regarded as having no or mild liver disease. No patient investigated was receiving treatment. The viral load was measured at or close to the time at which the sample was taken - this measurement varied from a minimum of less than 7 to  $4.5 \times 10^8$  but was less than 20,000 copies/ml in the majority of patients. Viral load data in exact international units were not available but there are approximately 5 - 6 HBV copies in each international unit. All 102 patients were sAg positive while none were eAg positive. The patient group included 18 females aged between the 18 - 30 years and 33 females were aged between 30 - 60 years. Eighteen males were aged between 18 and 30 years and 33 were aged between 30 and 60 years. All patients were free from HIV and HCV infection. The only co-morbidity recorded was Down's syndrome in two patients. Data on the infecting HBV genotypes were not available. Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Research Ethics Committees of St James Hospital, Dublin and NUI Maynooth.

#### **2.2.2 Control subjects**

## 2.2.2.1 General control subjects

Our control population consisted of 66 peripheral blood samples of which the majority were obtained from the Irish Blood Transfusion Board. The samples were in the form of buffy coat packs however, several fresh blood samples were used also.

## 2.2.2.2 Demographically matched control subjects

As discussed in section 2.2.1, our patient population was diverse in race. The demographics of our population of general control subjects were mostly unknown.

Therefore, to confirm that any differences observed between patients and controls were due to HBV infection and not demographics, some phenotypical analysis on a cohort of demographically-matched healthy donors was also carried out. Blood samples from 15 Africans, 15 Irish and 10 Asian healthy control subjects were obtained from the GUIDE Clinic, St. James Hospital, Dublin. Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Research Ethics Committees of St James Hospital and Adelaide and Meath Hospital incorporating the National Children's Hospital, Dublin.

## 2.2.3 Collection of subject material

Venous blood from patient and control subjects was taken into heparinised tubes and processed immediately. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were prepared from these blood samples, and these cells formed the basis of analysis for this study. PBMC from 50 of the 60 control subjects were also prepared from buffy coat packs, obtained from the Irish Blood Transfusion Board, St. James Hospital, Dublin. Serum samples for both patient and control subjects were also obtained by taking blood into tubes containing no anti-coagulant.

## 2.3 General tissue culture procedure

The handling of human tissue which is a potential biohazard and the handling of cell cultures which require sterility was confined to class 2 biosafety cabinets, in an area of the laboratory called the tissue culture facility. Human tissues include all bloods, tissue specimens and primary cell cultures derived from these tissues. All human tissues are potentially virus-positive and should be handled as such.

White coats and gloves were always worn while working in the tissue culture facility. The work surface of the laminar air flow hood was wiped with 70% alcohol before use. Gloved hands were sprayed with 70% alcohol before working in hoods or handling anything from the  $CO_2$  incubators. All bags of sterile plasticware were resealed with masking tape after use.

Blood spillages were soaked with HBSS and then, absorbed and inactivated with Virkon disinfectant. The area was then swabbed with alcohol. Small sharp objects and glass were disposed in sharp boxes which were then closed, sealed and replaced with a new sharps box once full. Large pipettes and other implements that might puncture plastic disposal bags were disposed of in solid yellow disposal containers. All liquids, including blood, were discarded in a plastic jug containing Virkon at a concentration of 10g / litre water. The jug was kept inside the flow hood for at least 20 minutes after pouring the waste, before its contents could be discarded down the sink. All biohazard material was disposed of in autoclavable bags. All sterilins and containers were rinsed with Virkon and sealed before disposal in autoclavable bags. Non-hazardous waste was disposed of in a black bag, as general refuse.

Two users were designated to clean and maintain the tissue culture facility fortnightly. This comprised a thorough cleaning of the incubator, laminar flow-hoods, water bath, centrifuge, bench areas and floor. A stock check of general reagents and plastic ware was also carried out and such items were replaced and/or reordered if necessary.

#### 2.3.1 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolation

PBMC were isolated from heparinised blood by density gradient centrifugation. This method is based on exploiting the difference in density between lymphocytes / monocytes and erythrocytes / granulocytes.

Heparinised blood was diluted 1:1 with HBSS containing 1% FBS which was pre-warmed and carefully layered onto 20 millilitres (ml) Lymphoprep in a 50 ml Falcon tube. Tubes were centrifuged at 400 x g for 25 minutes with the brake off at room temperature. Under these conditions, the denser cells (erythrocytes / granulocytes) aggregate at the bottom while lymphocytes / monocytes remain above the Lymphoprep.

After the centrifugation, the buffy coat above the Lymphoprep layer was collected using a sterile Pasteur pipette and transferred to a clean, labelled 50 ml Falcon tube. The tube was topped up with HBSS to 50 ml and centrifuged at  $800 \ x \ g$  for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was re-suspended in 50 ml HBSS and centrifuged at  $400 \ x \ g$  for 10 minutes. The cell pellet was finally resuspended in complete RPMI medium (cRPMI), i.e. Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium (RPMI) supplemented with 2% Hepes, 0.8% Fungizone, 0.8% Penstreptimycin and 10% foetal calf serum (FCS). When buffy coat packs were used, anticoagulant was added before dilution with HBSS. Five millilitres of 5% ethylene-diaminetetraacetate (EDTA) was added per 50 ml of blood to prevent coagulation. The blood was then diluted 1:7 with HBSS. After these two steps, the protocol was followed as above

## 2.3.2 Enumeration of cells and viability testing

To evaluate cell viability and numbers, ethidium bromide (EB) and acridine orange (AO) was added to the cells. A working EB/AO solution was made up by mixing EB (0.8 ml of 4 mg/ml) and AO (2 ml of 1 mg/ml solution) stock solutions and adding 200 ml 0.85% (w/v) sodium chloride. One hundred and ninety microlitres ( $\mu$ l) of EB/AO was added to 10  $\mu$ l of cells in cRPMI, giving a 1/20 dilution. This solution was vortexed and 10  $\mu$ l was transferred to a haemocytometer for counting using a microscope with a ultraviolet (UV) light. Dead cells stain with EB and appear orange under UV light. Viable cells exclude EB but take up acridine orange and appear bright green under UV light. The numbers of cells in an area corresponding to 2x0.1mm<sup>3</sup> were counted and the numbers of cells per ml were calculated taking into account the 1/20 dilution. Only samples with a cell viability of > 90% were used in the experiments.

## 2.3.3 Cryopreservation and recovery of cells

PBMC were centrifuged at 150 x g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was re-suspended in a freezing medium which consisted of 90% FCS and 10% DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide). Cells were cryopreserved at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^6$  cells per ml. 1 ml of cells in freezing medium was aliquoted to each cryovial. The aliquots were stored at -80°C for 24 hours and then transferred to liquid nitrogen.

Before recovering cells from the liquid nitrogen, sterilins of cRPMI were preheated for 10 minutes in a water bath at 37°C. The cryovials of cells were removed from the liquid nitrogen and once they were semi-thawed, a sterile pastette was used to drop some warmed cRPMI onto the semi-thawed cells. Then the cells were taken up slowly and released back into the cryovial using the pastette several times. Once fully thawed, all contents of the cryovial were transferred into a sterilin containing 10 ml of warmed cRPMI. The cells were centrifuged at  $300 \times g$  for 10 minutes and all of the liquid was discarded, removing all of the DMSO. The pellet was suspended in cRPMI. Cell counts were performed as detailed in section 2.6 to determine cell viability.

## 2.3.4 Cell lines

The GRM and HT29 cells were cultured in T75 tissue culture flasks in cRPMI. Hep3B cells were cultured in T75 tissue culture flasks in complete DMEM medium (cDMEM) i.e. Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids (NEAA), and 1.0 mM sodium pyruvate and 10% FCS. An Olympus CK40-SLP light microscope was used to examine the cells' confluency each day. Before the cells became confluent, 90% of the cells were discarded while 10% were re-cultured in a new T75 tissue culture flask. This was achieved by firstly, removing all medium from the flask and performing a single wash with fresh medium to remove all dead cell debris. Two millilitres of non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution was then added to the flask and the flask was gently rocked from side to side to ensure that the fluid reached every cell. After 3-4 minutes, the layer of cells had broken away from the flask and, was removed in the cell dissociation fluid. This was topped up to  $\sim$  20 ml with medium. The cells were centrifuged at 300 *x g* for 8 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was re-suspended in 10 ml of medium. 1 ml of this was added to a fresh flask and this was topped up with warm medium. The medium was replenished every 5 days for all cell lines.

#### 2.4 Flow cytometry

## 2.4.1 Principles of flow cytometry

A flow cytometer facilitates simultaneous analysis of several properties of particles ranging in size from 0.2 to 150 µm (Figure 2.1). In cellular immunology, this technique is mainly use to analyse cells. Particles are acquired in a single suspension, hydrodynamically focussed to allow cells to pass, one by one, in front of a laser beam. Properties analysed include size, granularity and fluorescence (protein expression). As the cells pass by the laser beam, light scatter is used to determine the size and granularity of each cell. Protein expression is determined using specific antibodies conjugated to fluorescent markers called fluorochromes. Fluorochromes become excited to a higher energy state when they encounter certain wavelengths of light. When this happens, the fluorochromes emit photons of light which are then measured by dedicated detector photodiodes. Different fluorochromes emit light at different wavelengths. For example, FITC, PE, PE-Cy5 and PerCP become excited at wavelengths of 518, 575, 695 and 675 nm, respectively and can therefore be used on machines with a 488nm excitation laser. Fluorochromes such as APC and APC-Cy7 require a higher excitation wavelength i.e. 660 and 760nm, respectively and therefore they require a different excitation laser i.e. a 633nm excitation laser. The FACS Calibur used in this study (Figure 2.1) has both a blue 488nm and a red 633 nm excitation laser. Fluorochromeconjugated antibodies can be used to detect a wide range of proteins, from cell surface markers to intracellular components. As fluorochromes vary with respect to the signal intensity they generate, it is recommended that the fluorochromes with the highest
signal intensity are used for the least abundant target proteins. PE and APC have two of the highest signal intensities. Therefore, PE-Cy5- or PerCP-labelled CD3 could be used to detect T cells while PE-labelled or APC-labelled V $\delta$ 2 could be used to detect V $\delta$ 2 cells because they are the less abundant population. Various steps involving surface and/or intracellular surface staining with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies is required prior to use of the flow cytometer. These steps shall be discussed in detail in the subsequent sections.



**Figure 2.1 Schematic diagram of FACs Calibur (BD):** This schematic diagram shows internal components of the FACs Calibur Flow Cytometer. The 'Blue DPSS Laser 488nm' is a low-power (15mW) argon laser that emits blue light at 488nm. The 'Red DPSS Laser 633nm'is a low-power (30mW) helium-neon diode that emits red light at 633 nm. The two '488/10' detectors for laser-light scatter are used to determine size (bottom) and granularity (top). The four detectors for fluorescence in the green, orange

and red/dark red regions of the colour spectrum are used to determine protein expression levels. Figure adopted from www3.niaid.nih.gov

#### 2.4.2 Use of flow cytometry for the purpose of this study

#### 2.4.2.1 Direct cell surface staining of cells with fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs

The required numbers of cells were centrifuged at  $450 \ x \ g$  for 8 minutes. The cells were suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.33% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.02% sodium azide (PBA buffer), at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells per 50 µl PBA for each flow cytometry tube. The appropriate mAbs were added to each 50 µl aliquot of cells, therefore, labelling the cells for the surface markers listed in Table 2.12. Samples were incubated in the dark at 4°C for 20 minutes and then washed with 2 ml PBA. Labelled cells were fixed in 0.5 ml 1% paraformaldehyde (PFA).

## 2.4.2.2 Indirect cell surface staining of cells with unconjugated anti-Vδ1 mAb and determination of the optimal concentration to be used

The unconjugated anti-V $\delta$ 1 mAb was added to the appropriate tube containing 50 µl aliquot of cells in PBA buffer, therefore, labelling the cells. Samples were incubated in the dark at 4°C for 15 minutes, washed with 2 ml PBA and then 50 µl of PBA and 5 µl PE-labelled anti-mouse IgG was added to each tube. Samples were incubated for 15 minutes in the dark and a subsequent wash with 2 ml PBA was performed. Fifty microlitres of mouse serum was then added to each tube at a concentration of 200 µg/ml. Another 15 minute incubation and wash with PBA was performed and finally, the cells could be fixed in 0.5 ml 1% PFA.

Optimal concentration of the unconjugated anti-V $\delta$ 1 mAb was first determined by adding 0.5, 0.25, 0.1 and 0.05 µg to 1x10<sup>5</sup> PBMC in 50 µl of PBA. The optimisation experiment was performed on PBMC from two healthy donors and, a concentration of 0.25 µg/ml was found to be the optimum concentration (Figure 2.2). Figure 2.2

#### 2.4.2.3 Phenotypic analysis of surface stained cells

Cell surface staining was used to investigate PBMC phenotypes in HBV groups and controls. Appropriate fluorescence-labelled isotype-matched control antibodies were used to correct for any background staining. Single staining of cells with fluorescence labelled anti-CD4, anti-CD8, anti-CD3 and anti-CD19 were used as additional controls to compensate for the interference of individual fluorochromes with one another during flow cytometry. For the identification of T cells, PE-Cy5 or PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 was used. This antibody was used in conjunction with other antibodies to identify specific types of T cells. For example, PE-Cy5- or PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 with both FITC-labelled anti-V $\alpha$ 24 and PE-labelled anti-V $\beta$ 11, or with PE-labelled anti-6B11 alone, was used for the identification of invariant NKT (iNKT) cells. PE-Cy5- or PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and PE-labelled anti-CD56 was used to identify Natural T (NT) cells. Gamma delta T cells were identified using PE-Cy5- or PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 with FITC-labelled anti- $\gamma\delta$ -TCR. The antibodies used to identify  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulations were FITC-labelled anti-V $\gamma$ 9, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 and PE-labelled anti-Vo1. The memory and effector T cell populations among these cells were identified using APC-labelled anti-CD27 and FITC-labelled anti-CD45RA. For the identification of B cells, APC-labelled anti-CD19 was used. Then, FITC-labelled anti-CD1b and PElabelled anti-CD1a, or FITC-labelled anti-CD1c and PE-labelled CD1d were added to identify B cells expressing these CD1 isoforms. Likewise, for the identification of monocytes, PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD14 was used. Then, FITC-labelled anti-CD1b and PE-labelled anti-CD1a or FITC-labelled anti-CD1c and PE-labelled CD1d were added to identify monocytes expressing these CD1 isoforms.

#### Table 2.12

**Phenotyping lymphocyte and monocyte subpopulations by flow cytometry:** The fluorescence-labelled mAbs used for cell surface staining of PBMC for phenotypic analysis by flow cytometry.

FITC	PE	PE-Cy5*	APC
IgG1	IgG1	IgG1	IgG1
CD4	CD8	CD3	CD19
	CD56	CD3	
Vα24	Vβ11	CD3	
CD56	6B11	CD3	
γδ		CD3	
Vy9	Vδ2	CD3	NKG2D
	Vδ1	CD3	
CD56	Vδ2	CD3	
CD56	Vδ1	CD3	
CD45RA	Vδ1	CD3	CD27
CD45RA	Vδ2	CD3	CD27
CD1b	CD1a	CD14	CD19
CD1c	CD1d	CD14	CD19
	IgG1   IgG1   CD4   Vα24   CD56   γδ   CD56   CD45RA   CD1b   CD1c	FITC PE   IgG1 IgG1   IgG1 IgG1   CD4 CD36   Vα24 Vβ11   CD56 6B11   γδ V   Vγ9 Vδ2   CD56 Vδ1   CD56 Vδ1   CD56 Vδ1   CD56 Vδ1   CD56 Vδ1   CD56 Vδ1   CD45RA Vδ2   CD1b CD1a   CD1c CD1a	FITCPEPE-Cy5*IgG1IgG1IgG1IgG1IgG1IgG1CD4CD8CD3Vα24Vβ11CD3Vα24OB11CD3γδCD3CD3Vγ9Vδ2CD3CD56Vδ1CD3CD56Vδ2CD3CD56Vδ1CD3CD56Vδ1CD3CD56Vδ1CD3CD45RAVδ1CD3CD1bCD1aCD14CD1cCD1aCD14

\* PerCP was used instead of PE-Cy5 in some experiments.

#### 2.4.3 Flow cytometry acquisition and analysis

Acquisition and analysis of cell surface stained cells was carried out using the FACS Calibur flow cytometer and Cell Quest Software. Lymphocytes were gated using FSC (forward scatter, size) and SSC (side scatter, granularity) parameters (R1 in Figure 2.3). Monocytes were gated using FSC and SSC parameters, also (R2 in Figure 2.3), as where epithelial cell lines. Cells in tubes containing mAbs against both lymphocyte and monocyte surface markers were acquired twice, first with compensations and fluorescent detectors optimised for R1 and a second time with the acquisition parameters optimised for R2.

For the identification of lymphocyte subpopulations, 30,000 cells were acquired for each sample, with the exception of samples containing cells stained for invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cell receptors. Up to 200,000 cells were acquired for such samples because these iNKT cells are present in very low numbers in peripheral blood (~ 0.01% of T lymphocytes) (Kenna et al. 2004). The cells were first gated on the lymphocytes (R1 in Figure 2.3) and then, the T cells were identified as those cells which stained positively with PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb within R1. Such cells were gated in the region called 'T cells' (Figure 2.4). NT cells were identified as those cells within the region called 'T cells' that were positive for FITC-labelled anti-CD56 (Figure 2.4). NK cells were identified as all lymphocytes outside the 'T cells' region which were positive for FITC-labelled anti-CD56 (Figure 2.4). Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells were defined as those T cells which stained positive for FITC-labelled anti-V $\alpha$ 24 and PE-labelled anti-V $\beta$ 11, or PE-labelled anti-6B11. Similarly, gamma delta cells were identified as those T cells that stained positive for FITC-labelled anti- $\gamma\delta$ -TCR, FITClabelled anti-V $\gamma$ 9, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 or PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 1. FITC-labelled anti-CD45RA and APC-labelled anti-CD27 were used to identify naïve, central memory, terminally differentiated and effector memory subsets of  $V\delta 2^+$ ,  $V\delta 1^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T cells populations. This will be explained in more detail in the results section.

B cells were identified as APC-labelled anti-CD19 cells within R1 and were gated in a region called 'B cells'. CD1a<sup>+</sup>, CD1b<sup>+</sup>, CD1c<sup>+</sup> or CD1d<sup>+</sup> B cells were then

identified as those B cells that were positive for PE-labelled anti-CD1a, FITC-labelled anti-CD1b, FITC-labelled anti-CD1c or PE-labelled anti-CD1d, respectively.

Using FSC and SSC properties, the cells were first gated on the larger and more granular PBMC population (R2 in Figure 2.3) and then, the monocytes were identified as those cells which stained positively with PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD14 mAb within R2. CD1a<sup>+</sup>, CD1b<sup>+</sup>, CD1c<sup>+</sup> or CD1d<sup>+</sup> monocytes were then identified as those CD14<sup>+</sup> cells in R2 that were positive for PE-labelled anti-CD1a, FITC-labelled anti-CD1b, FITC-labelled anti-CD1c or PE-labelled anti-CD1d, respectively.



**Figure 2.3 Light scattering properties of human PBMC:** Measurements of cell size (FSC) are positioned on the X-axis, while measurements of cell granularity (SSC) are positioned on the Y-axis. Based on their size and granularity, all lymphocytes are gated within R1 and all monocytes are gated within R2.



**Figure 2.4 CD3 and CD56 expression by human lymphocytes**: All cells represented here have been gated in R1 and are lymphocytes. Frequencies of CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are quantified in the right-hand and left-hand upper quadrants, while frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are quantified by counting all cells in the right-hand-upper and right-hand lower quadrants. All CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are gated in a region called 'T cells'. All CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are gated in a region called 'NT Cells'. All CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> lymphocytes are then gated in a region called 'NK Cells'.

#### 2.5 Analysis of cytokine production

#### 2.5.1 Stimulation of PBMC in vitro

PBMC were suspended in cRPMI at densities of  $0.5 \times 10^6$  cells per ml and 1 ml was placed in each well of a 24-well plate. Three different stimulations were performed. Some PBMC were incubated in medium alone. To induce cytokine production, 10 ng/ml phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and 1 µg/ml ionomycin (PMA/I) were added to PBMC in certain wells. In other wells, 9 µg anti-CD3 mAb and 9 µg anti-CD28 mAb were added to 3 ml 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> (disodium hydrogen phosphate) binding buffer, and 1 ml was added to each well to give a final concentration of 3 µg anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 per well. The mAbs were left to bind overnight in a Thermo Forma CO<sub>2</sub> Incubator at 37°C. The following day each well was washed 3 times with 1 ml PBS. Then, PBMC were added to the plate bound mAbs in each well. Ten micrograms per millilitre of Brefeldin A (BFA) was added to PBMC in all wells to prevent cytokine release. It achieves this by blocking protein transport from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the Golgi apparatus. The prevention of cytokine secretion in this assay allows them to become concentrated to detectable levels within cells. Cells were incubated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C for 4 hours before intracellular cytokine staining was carried out.

#### 2.5.2 Cytokine analysis by intracellular cytokine staining and flow cytometry

Following stimulation of PBMC *in vitro* and a subsequent 4 hour incubation,  $1.5 \times 10^{6}$  cells for each type of stimulation were transferred to four separate 5 ml polystyrene round-bottom Falcon tubes and centrifuged at  $450 \ x \ g$  for 8 minutes. Cells were resuspended in PBA at a cell density of  $1 \times 10^{5}$  cells per 50 µl PBA and 50 µl was transferred to each flow cytometry tube. The appropriate mAbs were added to each 50 µl aliquot of cells to label them for the FITC-, PE- and PE-Cy5- or PerCP-conjugated cell surface markers as listed in Table 2.13. Samples were incubated in the dark at 4°C for 20 minutes and subsequently, washed with 2 ml PBA buffer. Cells were fixed in 0.5 ml 4% PFA and incubated in the dark at room temperature for 10 minutes. Following incubation, cells were washed with 2 ml PBA. Cells were then permeabilised by adding 1 ml 0.2% saponin and incubating in the dark at room temperature for 10 minutes. Cells were stained for the presence of intracellular cytokines by adding 0.2 µg PE-conjugated IL-10, IL-13 or IL-17 in 50 µl saponin or 0.2 µg FITC-conjugated IFN- $\gamma$  in 50 µl

saponin to each tube. Corresponding control mAbs were added at this time, also. Cells were incubated in the dark at 4°C for 20 minutes, washed with 2 ml PBA and centrifuged at 450 x g for 8 minutes. Labelled cells were then fixed in 0.5 ml 4% PFA and samples were refrigerated before acquisition on the flow cytometer.

The lymphocyte subpopulations of interest were first identified as detailed in section 2.4.3. Cytokine producing cells within such populations were identified as those NK, NT or T cells which were also positive for FITC-labelled IFN- $\gamma$  or PE-labelled anti-IL-10, IL-13 or IL-17. Figure 2.5 is a representative plot of IFN- $\gamma$  production by T lymphocytes and non-T lymphocytes. Every cell gated in R5 is identified as an IFN- $\gamma$  producing lymphocyte.

#### Table 2.13

**Flow cytometric analysis of cytokine production by innate lymphocytes:** The fluorescence-labelled mAbs used for intracellular cytokine staining of PBMC for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry.

Tube	FITC	PE	PE-Cy5*
1	IgG1	IgG1	IgG1
2	CD4	CD8	CD3
3	IFN-γ	CD56	CD3
4	CD56	IL-10	CD3
5	CD56	IL-13	CD3
6	CD56	IL-17	CD3
7	IFN-γ	Vδ2	CD3

\* PerCP was used instead of PE-Cy5 in some experiments.



Figure 2.5 IFN- $\gamma$  production by PMA/I stimulated human lymphocytes All cells represented here have been gated in R1 (Figure 2.1). Frequencies of CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are quantified in the right-hand and left-hand upper quadrants, while frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$  producing lymphocytes are quantified in the right-hand upper and right-hand lower quadrants. All IFN- $\gamma$  producing lymphocytes are gated in a region called 'IFN- $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes'.

### 2.5.3 Cytokine analysis by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Quantitative RT-PCR is widely used to measure cytokine mRNAs in many cells including PBMC (Blaschke *et al.* 2000, Hartel *et al.* 2001, Kruse *et al.* 2001, Stordeur *et al.* 2002). In this study, the technique was used to compare the cytokine profiles of whole PBMC in HBV patients and healthy control subjects.

#### 2.5.3.1 Cell lysis

PBMC were isolated from the blood of HBV patients and controls as described in section 2.3.1. The PBMC were re-suspended in 200  $\mu$ l of HBSS and then placed in an RNase-free 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. The cell suspension was micro-centrifuged in a Thermo IEC Micromax centrifuge for 10 min at 13,400 x g. The HBSS was removed from the pellet and 600  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer (Sigma) was added to the tube. Full reconstitution in the lysis buffer was ensured by gently pipetting the solution until all particulate had been dissolved. Ten microlilitres of B-mercapthoethanol was added to the cell lysates and the mixture was vortexed for 10 seconds, before being placed in a - 80°C freezer.

#### 2.5.3.2 RNA extraction

It was first ensured that all work surfaces, gloved hands and pipettes were RNase free by swabbing with IMS and RNase Zap (Sigma). The cell lysates were thawed on ice and then, homogenised until all precipitate was dissolved. The RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen) was used to extract the RNA. The contents of the eppendorf tubes were first transferred to QIA shredder tubes and micro-centrifuged at 13,400 x g for 2 min. The spin column containing the cell debris was discarded and the collection tube was retained. An equal amount of 70% ethanol was added to the tube to match the volume of the contents and this was mixed by pipetting gently. This mixture was transferred to an RNeasy mini column and then, micro-centrifuged at 13,400 x g for 15 seconds. The flow through was discarded and 350  $\mu$ l RWI buffer was added to the RNeasy mini column and then, micro-centrifuged at 13,400 x g for 15 seconds. The flow through was dispensed. DNase was diluted 1:7 in RDD buffer and 80  $\mu$ l of this working concentration was placed very carefully onto the RNase silica gel membrane of the RNeasy mini column. After 15 min at room temperature, 350  $\mu$ l RWI buffer was added to the mini column and this was followed by a 15 second centrifugation at 13,400 x g. The flow through was discarded and the mini column was transferred to a new RNase-free collection tube. Five hundred micro litres of RPE buffer was added to the column and another 15 second centrifugation at 13,400 x g followed. The flow through was discarded and another 500  $\mu$ l RPE buffer was added to the column followed by a 2 minute centrifugation at 13,400 x g, to dry the RNeasy Silica gel membrane. The mini column was transferred to a new RNase-free collection tube and centrifuged for 1 min at 13,400 x g. Again, the mini column was transferred to a new RNase-free eppendorf and 40  $\mu$ l of RNase free water was added onto the membrane. This was followed by another centrifugation for 1 min at 13,400 x g. The same 40  $\mu$ l of RNase free water was added onto the membrane and again, this was followed by centrifugation for 1 min at 13,400 x g. The flow through contained the RNA so the column was discarded and the eppendorf was retained and placed on ice.

A sample of RNA was taken to measure the yield and purity of the RNA using an 8 sample spectrophotometer ND-800 (Nanodrop). Spectrophotometry was carried out in duplicate to achieve accurate results. Following RNA extraction from  $30 \times 10^6$ PBMC, spectrophotometry revealed that the RNA yields from both control subjects and HBV patients were sufficient. RNA purity was also tested. Pure preparations of RNA have  $OD_{260}/OD_{280}$  values of greater or equal to 2. If there was contamination with proteins such as nucleases, for instance, the ratio would be less than 2. RNase contamination was the primary concern but contamination with any proteins would prevent accurate quantification of RNA. Similarly, pure preparations of RNA have OD<sub>260</sub>/OD<sub>230</sub> values of 2. If there was contamination with phenolate ions or other organic compounds then, this ratio would be less than 2, and as with protein contamination, accurate quantification of RNA would not be possible. The  $OD_{260}/OD_{280}$  and  $OD_{260}/OD_{230}$  values were greater than but close to 2 for all the RNA samples of interest. Once the yield had been determined, the appropriate amount of RNA could be reverse transcribed to give 1000 ng of cDNA. This was the amount of cDNA needed to perform qRT-PCR for IFN-y, IL-10, IL-17A and the housekeeping gene  $\beta$ -actin.

#### 2.5.3.3 Reverse Transcription

Before PCR could be performed, the RNA samples required reverse transcription into DNA. The work area, pipettes and gloved hands were swabbed with RNAzap to ensure

the area was RNA-free. The RNA samples and reagents were then thawed on ice. A mastermix comprising 32% first strand buffer, 15.9% DTT (0.1M), 23.8% DMSO, 7.9% deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), 3.2% RNAsin (1/4 dilution), 6.6% MMLV reverse transcriptase and 10.6% random hexamers was made and 18.85  $\mu$ l of this solution was aliquoted to each of the appropriate number of eppendorfs required. Each RNA sample was reconstituted with distilled water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) so that only 500 ng was added to 18.85  $\mu$ l of mastermix. The eppendorfs were placed in the PTC-100 thermocycler which was programmed at 42°C for 1 hour. The cDNA was then removed from the PTC-100 and stored in a -20°C freezer.

#### 2.5.3.4 PCR

Once the cDNA was obtained, PCR could take place. Firstly, PCR reaction mixtures were made. PCR reaction mixtures comprise a forward and reverse primer, a probe, a Taqman® Universal PCR mastermix, dH<sub>2</sub>O and cDNA.  $\beta$ -actin and IFN- $\gamma$  forward and reverse primers and probes were designed by Stordeur *et al.* (2002) and with permission, were made in-house by the Genomic Research Laboratory (IMM). The sequences are shown below in Figure 2.6. IL-10 and IL-17 forward and reverse primers and probes were purchased from ABI in a pre-customised form.

The IL-10 and IL-17 cDNA standards were obtained from ABI while the  $\beta$ -actin and IFN- $\gamma$  cDNA standards were made in-house by the Genomic Research Laboratory (IMM). Serial dilutions of cDNA standards ranging from 10<sup>3</sup> to 10<sup>8</sup> were performed to create a standard curve for each cytokine and the hosue-keeping gene.

A volume of 7.5  $\mu$ l of PCR reaction was added to the assigned wells of a 96-well PCR plate for each target cytokine and housekeeping gene, for both standards and samples of interest. This was performed in duplicate. The PCR plate was placed into the ABI 7000 sequence detection system for 1 hour and 48 minutes and then the results were analysed.

#### <u>IFN-γ</u> F464: CTAATTATTCGGTAACTGACTTGA R538: ACAGTTCAGCCATCACTTGGA P491: 6Fam-TCCSSCGCAAAGCAATACATGAAC-Tamra-p

#### <u>β-actin</u>

#### F976: GGATGCAGAAGGAGATCACTG R1065: CGATCCACACGGAGTACTTG P997: 6Fam-CCCTGGCACCCAGCACAATG-Tamra-p

**Figure 2.6: Primer and probe sequences for IFN-** $\gamma$  **and**  $\beta$ **-actin. F** and **R** refer to the forward and reverse primer sequences with sequence position indicated by the adjoined number. **P** refers to the probe which is dually labelled with a reporter dye (FAM, 6-carboxyfluorescein) covalently attached at the 5' end and a quencher dye (TAMRA, 6-carboxytetramethylrhodamine) covalently attached at the 3' end. The nuclease activity of the Taqman DNA polymerase separates the quencher from the reporter and the increase in fluorescence emission of the reporter dye is quantitative for the initial amount of template.

#### 2.5.3.5 Controls used for RT-PCR

Several experimental controls were used to ensure that the results of qRT-PCR were both accurate and true. The first experimental control was the housekeeping gene,  $\beta$ actin. It was used as a marker of cDNA quality i.e. if the cDNA was of poor quality then the cycle threshold (C<sub>t</sub>) values for the housekeeping gene would be out of range i.e. significantly less than 15 or greater than 18. The second control was the standard curve which, was created for each target cytokine and housekeeping gene by carrying out serial dilutions of target cytokine or housekeeping gene standard cDNA ranging from  $10^3$  to  $10^8$ . The slope of the standard curve must be between -3.2 and -3.6 to facilitate successful extrapolation of copy numbers from the C<sub>t</sub> values for the samples of interest. The standard curve also played a dual role as an indicator of primer and probe function. The third control was the non-template control (NTC). It contains the PCR reaction mixture for each cytokine, with RNase-free water substituting the cDNA. It is used to control for contamination and due to the intentional omission of cDNA, it should yield an undetermined C<sub>t</sub> value unless, the PCR reaction mixture is contaminated. The final control was the assignment of duplicate wells for all standards and samples of interest. This reduces the potential for experimental error and maximises accuracy by ensuring that the  $C_t$  values for each duplicate are within 1-2 cycles of each other.

#### 2.5.3.6 Analysis of PCR data

The  $C_t$  values are the cycle at which fluorescence from a sample crosses the threshold of background. The quantity of DNA doubles every cycle during the exponential phase and relative amounts of DNA can be calculated. For example, a sample whose Ct value is 3 cycles earlier than that of another sample has  $2^3$  times more template.

After completion of PCR, the standard curve for each target cytokine and house-keeping gene was plotted with  $C_t$  values on the Y axis and the copy numbers (CN) on the X axis to determine if the slope of the line was between -3.2 and -3.6 (Figure 2.7a). The  $C_t$  values were then plotted on the X axis and the CN values on the y axis and, the CN of all samples could be extrapolated from the standard curve by using the equation of the line; y = mx + C where m and C were given, x is the  $C_t$  value of each sample and y is the CN (Figure 2.7b).

The target cytokine CN of each sample was then corrected by normalisation against the transcripts of the housekeeping gene. Normalisation permits accurate comparison of expression of the gene of interest between different samples, provided that the expression of the housekeeping gene is very similar against all samples. Since  $\beta$ -actin is a protein constitute of the microfilaments of the cytoskeleton, it definitely fulfils this criterion. The corrected copy number (CCN) of the cytokine mRNA was calculated by dividing the cytokine mRNA CN of the sample by the  $\beta$ -actin mRNA CN of the sample;

 $CCN = (cytokine mRNA CN / \beta - actin mRNA CN)^* (\beta - actin mRNA CN at time zero)$ 



**Figure 2.7a Typical**  $\beta$ **-actin standard curve:** The scatter plot shows typical C<sub>t</sub> values for the  $\beta$ -actin standards on the Y axis and  $\beta$ -actin mRNA copy numbers on the X-axis. A trendline was drawn through the points and the equation of this line is shown in the bottom right corner. The slope m of this line is between -3.2 and -3.6 thus, showing that this is an accurate standard curve.



Figure 2.7b Typical  $\beta$ -actin standard curve with axes adjusted for extrapolating data: The scatter plot shows the  $\beta$ -actin mRNA copy numbers on the Y axis and the C<sub>t</sub> values for the  $\beta$ -actin standards on the X axis. A trendline was drawn through the points and the equation of this line (shown in the bottom right corner) was used to extrapolate the sample data. The  $\beta$ -actin mRNA copy number y was evaluated by substituting the C<sub>t</sub> value of  $\beta$ -actin standard for x.

#### 2.5.4 Cytokine analysis using the BD<sup>TM</sup> Cytometric Bead Array

The BD<sup>TM</sup> Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) is a flow cytometry application which involves the use of antibody-coated beads to capture and quantify analytes in solution. In the present study, this kit was adapted for measurement of the cytokines and growth factors; IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IFN- $\gamma$  and TGF- $\beta$ 1. The kit consisted of the Cytometric Bead Array Human Soluble Protein Master Buffer Kit which comprised instrument set up reagents, wash buffer, assay diluent, detection reagent diluent, capture bead diluent and sets of single plex flex kits containing human cytokine capture beads (e.g. Human TGF- $\beta$ 1 Capture bead), human cytokine PE detection reagent (e.g. Human TGF- $\beta$ 1 PE detection reagent) and human cytokine standards (e.g. Human TGF- $\beta$ 1 Standard). The capture beads for each cytokine or growth factor have unique fluorescence intensities and this facilitates the use of several beads in a single tube. Using this application, 6 cytokines were analysed simultaneously in a sample of 50 µl of supernatant.

#### 2.5.4.1 Preparation of samples and standards for CBA

The protocol was carried out as per the BD Cytometric Bead Array Human Soluble Protein Master Buffer Kit Instruction Manual. The BD CBA Human Soluble Protein Flex Set Standards were first prepared by pooling all lyophilized standards into one flow cytometry tube and then reconstituting them with 4 ml of Assay Diluent. This is known as the 'Top Standard' tube and contains 2500 pg/ml of protein. Serial dilutions of 1:2, 1:4, 1:8, 1:16, 1:32, 1:64, 1:128 and 1:256 were then performed using Assay Diluent and, the approximate corresponding protein concentrations in these tubes are shown in Table 2.14.

#### **Table 2.14:**

**Preparation for Standard Curve in CBA:** The serial dilutions required to construct standard curve for calculation of cytokine levels.

Serial Dilution	Тор	1:2	1:4	1:8	1:16	1:32	1:64	1:128	1:256	Bottom
Tube										
Protein	2500	1250	625	312.5	156	80	40	20	10	0
(pg/ml)										

\* Bottom refers to the tube containing only Assay Diluent. This contains the 0 pg/ml of protein and is regarded as the negative control.

Multiplex assays were carried out for IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13 and IFN- $\gamma$ , while a single bead assay was performed for TGF- $\beta$ 1 because it required different sample preparation.

The Capture Beads for each cytokine were diluted 1/50 with Capture Bead Diluent and pooled in a tube labelled 'Mixed Capture Beads'. Similarly, the total amount of PE Detection Reagent for each cytokine was diluted 1/50 with Detection Reagent Diluent and pooled in a tube labelled 'Mixed PE Detection Reagents'. Fifty micro litres of the 'Mixed Capture Beads' were added to each of the sample and standard tubes, followed by 50  $\mu$ l of sample or standard, respectively. Each tube was mixed gently and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. Fifty micro litres of the 'Mixed for 2 hours at room temperature. One millilitre of Wash Buffer was added to each assay tube and all tubes were centrifuged at 200 *x g* for 5 min. The supernatant was carefully aspirated and discarded and 300  $\mu$ l of Wash Buffer was added to each tube. The tubes were vortexed to re-suspend the beads for subsequent acquisition on the FACS Calibur.

The instrument set up was carried out as per the BD FACS Calibur Flow Cytometer BD CBA Flex Sets: Instrument Setup, Data Acquisition, and Analysis Instruction Manual.

#### 2.5.4.2 Analysis of samples for CBA

The FSC -v- SSC dot plot of each sample tube had a characteristic profile (Figure 2.8A). All debris and unbound proteins were excluded by drawing an electronic gate R1 around the antibody-coated beads. A second dot plot with FL4 -v- FL3 was created and by gating appropriately, only the antibody coated beads in R1 were shown on this plot (Figure 2.8B). The characteristic profile of the second dot plot allowed the discrimination between different antibody-coated beads based on their fluorescence intensity in the FL3 and FL4 channels (Figure 2.8B). For example, the gate R6 was drawn around the IL-12-coated beads (Figure 2.8B). The region where each cluster of anti-cytokine-coated beads was positioned could be determined by using a control tube containing only those anti-cytokine-coated beads. Once, each population of anticytokine-coated beads had been identified and gated in the second dot plot, a third dot plot with FL2 -v- FL3 was then created. By gating appropriately, only a single population of antibody-coated beads were shown at a time. For example, only IL-12coated beads are shown in Figures 2.8D-M because the plots are gated in R6. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) in the FL2 channel was used to measure the concentration of protein in the sample and therefore, the higher the MFI, the higher the protein concentration. Exact concentrations were calculated by mapping the MFIs from each standard tube to the known concentrations in each tube. For example, if the MFI of IL-12 was 250 in the top standard tube, then an MFI of 125 would equate to an IL-12 concentration of 1250 pg/ml in a sample tube. The dot plots representing the standards gated in R6 are shown in Figures 2.8D-M. They show the increase in IL-12 concentration (represented by the MFI in FL2) increases from the bottom (Figure 2.8D) through to the top standard (Figure 2.8M). Once the standard curve for each cytokine had been constructed, the protein concentration in each tube could be calculated (Figure 2.8C). Figures 2.9A-H show the gating method for each cytokine in a number of sample tubes.

Figure 2.8

Figure 2.9

#### 2.6 Measurement of cell cytotoxicity

#### 2.6.1 Chromium release assay

Assessment of the cytotoxic capabilities of PBMC was carried out by analysis of chromium ( ${}^{51}Cr$ ) release by labelled target cells.  ${}^{51}Cr$  is a radioactive label that emits  $\beta$ -rays and is given to target cells in the form of non-toxic sodium chromate (Na<sub>2</sub> ${}^{51}CrO_4$ ). Chromium is readily taken up by cells and is only released in significant quantities upon cell lysis or disruption. Labelled target cells were co-incubated with effectors, at a range of effector / target (E/T) ratios, for 4 hours. Some target cells were treated with medium only or with a detergent (Triton X-100) which disrupts all cells, thus providing negative and positive controls, respectively. The cell supernatant was then harvested and the amount of  ${}^{51}Cr$  released was determined by scintillation counting. This involved the use of a scintillant, which emits light when exposed to ionising radiation. A scintillation counter was used to measure the level of radioactivity present in samples. The amount of  ${}^{51}Cr$  detected in the supernatant reflects the killing capacity of the effector cells.

Target cells used in this assay were derived from the human cancer cell line K562, which is derived from a chronic myeloid erythroleukaemia. These cells are deficient in MHC molecule expression and are commonly used as target cells in NK cell cytotoxicity assays

#### 2.6.2 General procedures for use of radioisotopes

All work involving radioactive material was carried out in a designated area of the radiation suite at the National University of Ireland, Maynooth. All users were fully trained and approved prior to commencing work in the radiation area. User attendance, background radiation levels and amount of isotope used were recorded in logbooks for each work session. All work involving <sup>51</sup>Cr isotopes was performed behind a lead-impregnated perspex screen, and lead coats were worn over lab coats throughout. Two pairs of disposable nitrile gloves were also worn. Cotton buds soaked in detergent (2% Decon 90) were used to swab various surfaces in the work area before and after radioisotope work. Swabs were then placed in scintillation fluid and background radiation levels were evaluated by  $\beta$ -counting. Swab counts were then signed by user, dated and added to a logbook. In the event of radiation counts that exceed background levels (50 counts per minute (CPM)), the entire workspace was thoroughly cleaned

using 2% Decon detergent and water and swabs were re-taken. A Geiger counter was used to monitor radiation levels throughout procedure. The chromium isotope has a half-life of 27.7 days. Liquid waste was stored in designated Winchester bottles, labelled with the date of last addition and stored until radiation levels were undetectable. Solid waste was sealed in bags, labelled with date and stored in lead containers until radiation was no longer detectable, as per Radiation Protection Institute of Ireland (RPII) guidelines.

## 2.6.3 Cytotoxicity assay using PBMC from chronic HBV patients and healthy controls

K562 cells were re-suspended at  $2x10^6$  cells/ml in RPMI containing 10% human serum. The cells were then treated with 150 µCi <sup>51</sup>Cr/0.5ml and were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours in a lead box. Cells were then washed three times in 10ml warm cRPMI to remove excess <sup>51</sup>Cr, centrifuging gently at 45 x g for 5 min each time with the brake off. Supernatants were carefully removed each time using a Pasteur pipette and cells were not re-suspended until after the last wash. Cells were handled gently in order to minimise damage, which would increase background <sup>51</sup>Cr release. Labelled target cells were then counted and re-suspended at  $4x10^4$  cells/ml. Cells were then added to wells of a 96-well round-bottomed microtitre plate at 50 µl (i.e.  $2x10^3$  cells) per well.

PBMC which had been previously incubated in medium alone or medium containing 100 U/ml of IL-2 or IFN- $\alpha$ , were re-suspended at 4x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml, but were plated in varying amounts, according to the desired E/T ratios. E/T ratios tested in this experiment were 50, 25, 5 and 1. Each well was then topped up to 100 µl with cRPMI where necessary. Medium only or Triton X-100 (0.1%) was added to reserved triplicates of labelled target cells for negative and positive controls, respectively. Plates were centrifuged at 150 x g for 1 min (brake off) to ensure interaction of effector and target cells. Plates were then incubated for 4 hrs at 37°C in a lead box. Plates were centrifuged again as before and 25 µl supernatant was taken from each well into a 96 well polyethylene sample plate containing 150 µl Optiphase® scintillation cocktail. The plates were gently shaken on a vortex for 5 min to ensure thorough mixing of supernatant with scintillant (turned cloudy). Scintillation counting was then performed on a Trilux 1450 Microbeta Liquid Scintillation Counter. Cytotoxic capability of

effector cells was then calculated and expressed as a percentage of maximum and background counts per minute (cpm) using the following formula:

% specific lysis = <u>cpm of sample – cpm of spontaneous release</u> X 100 cpm of maximum – cpm of spontaneous release

#### **2.7 Functional studies on** $\gamma\delta$ T cells

#### 2.7.1 Analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets

The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells, and the memory phenotypes of these cells was investigated using flow cytometry, as described in section 2.4.

## 2.7.2 Expansion of V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells in response to the pyrophosphate antigen HMBPP

Following PBMC preparation and cell counts,  $0.6 \times 10^6$  PBMC were removed for flow cytometric analysis as detailed below. The rest of the PBMC were placed in cRPMI at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/ml and 1 ml was transferred to separate wells of a 24-well tissue culture plate. Stimulation of the cells in each well was performed as listed in Table 2.17.

#### **Table 2.17**

**Expansion of \gamma\delta T cells in vitro:** An outline of the well numbers of the 24-well tissue culture plate and the stimulations designated to each well.

No.	Stimulation
1	Medium alone
2	100 nM HMBPP and 50 U/ml IL-2
3	5 $\mu g/ml$ PHA and 50 U/ml IL-2

Row No. 1 represents the negative control which would induce no cell expansion and it was expected that the majority of PBMC would be dead after 14 days. Row No. 2 represents the stimulation which would facilitate the enrichment of V $\delta$ 2 T cells and these cells were expected to be the predominant cell population on day 14. Row No. 3 represents the stimulation which would induce all T cells to proliferate and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells were expected to be the predominant T cell population after 14 days.

Cells were incubated in a CO<sub>2</sub> Incubator at 37°C for 5 days. Following 5 days of incubation, the medium was replenished by removing 800  $\mu$ l of medium from each well and replacing it with 1 ml cRPMI. The 1 ml cRPMI added to wells 2 and 3 contained 50 U IL-2. The medium was replenished in this manner every 5 days.

On days 1, 7 and 14, the number of cells in each well was counted as described in section 2.3.2. Then,  $0.6 \times 10^6$  PBMC from each well were surface stained with FITClabelled anti-V $\gamma$ 9, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 and PerCP- or PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3, as detailed in section 2.4. The percentages of lymphocytes that expressed  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs were quantified and the absolute numbers of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells per well could be calculated.

The use of cell counting and flow cytometry ensured that any higher frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells among total PBMC in response to HMBPP and IL-2 was not only due to the death of other PBMC but, was also due to the selective expansion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells

On day 1, the frequencies of  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells among the PBMC used in these experiments, ranged from to 0.3% to 7.5%, as a percentage of T cells.

On day 7, the purity of HMBPP and IL-2-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from less than 1% to 29% of viable PBMC and, V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell numbers per well ranged from 3,000 to 800,000 cells.

On day 14, percentages of HMBPP and IL-2-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from less than 1% to 91.9% and cell numbers ranged from 7,000 to 1.9x10<sup>6</sup> cells. On day 14, only V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell populations with purities greater than 80% were used for subsequent experiments. The mean percentage of PHA and IL-2-expanded total CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells was 91.9+/-9.2%. While the majority of PHA and IL-2-expanded cells were  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, a significant expansion of V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells was observed also with an average of 20.7+/-7.6% of total CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells on day 14. PHA and IL-2-expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cells were used to control for HMBPP and IL-2-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T in the subsequent co-culture experiments with epithelial cells.

#### 2.7.3 Interactions between Vy9V82 T cells and epithelial cells

All epithelial cells were suspended at a cell density of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells per ml of medium and 500 µL of this was added to the wells of a 24-well tissue culture plate and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. Following this 24 hour incubation, each well was supplemented with the appropriate medium and cells, as listed in Table 2.18. The co-culture was then incubated for a further 24 hours.

Following 24 hours of co-culture, the plates were centrifuged at 45 x g for 3 minutes. The supernatants were removed and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for subsequent analysis of cytokine release by ELISA. Two hundred micro litres of cell dissociation solution was added to all wells for 1 min and all cells were removed, centrifuged at 400 x g for 8 minutes and, pellets were re-suspended in PBA. Surface staining for subsequent phenotypic flow cytometric analysis was then carried out as in section 2.4, using the fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs listed in Table 2.19.

#### **Table 2.19**

Analysis of interactions between epithelial cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells: The fluorescencelabelled mAbs used for cell surface staining of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and epithelial cell lines, for analysis of their reciprocal effects on each other.

Tube	FITC	PE	PerCP	APC
1	IgG1	IgG1	IgG1	IgG1
2	BerEP4*	HLA-E	CD3*	CD54
3	BerEP4		CD3	MICA/B
2	Vy9	CD69		NKG2D
4	HLA-DR	Vδ2		NKG2A

\*CD3 and BerEP4 were the key surface markers used to distinguish between epithelial and T cell populations after co-culture.

#### 2.8 Statistical calculations:

#### 2.8.1 The Mann-Whitney U test

The Mann-Whitney U test was used to ascertain whether there were significant differences between the frequencies of cells in patients and control subjects. P-values lower than 0.05 were considered as significant, while those less than 0.005 and 0.0005 were considered to be highly significant. While many studies would prefer the use of medians and inter-quartile ranges for non-parametric data, means and standard errors were calculated in the present study.

#### 2.8.2 The correlation function

The correlation function was used to determine whether the frequencies of cells changed with clinical parameters such as ALT level, viral load, age or gender. The correlation coefficient ranges from +1, indicating a perfect positive linear relationship, to -1, indicating a perfectly negative linear relationship. However, this test does not reveal if there is a slight causation. In order to determine this, further statistical analysis would be required using regression. However, regression is only recommended when a strong correlation exists and such a relationship was not found between any of the cell frequencies and clinical parameters.

#### 2.8.3 Bonferroni correction method

Many comparisons were made in the study and many observations were deemed statistically significant by the Mann-Whitney U test. However, the number of variables tested increases the likelihood of a false positive statistic and such statistics can be corrected using the Bonferroni correction method – a correction method derived from Boole's inequality by Carlo Emilio Bonferroni.

$$p$$
-value =  $\alpha/n$ ,  $p_c$ -value =  $\alpha$ 

It assumes that the occurrence of such false positive significant results increase with the number of tests. Therefore, the p-value ( $\alpha/n$ ) is multiplied by the number of tests (n) to give the corrected p-value or p<sub>c</sub>-value ( $\alpha$ ). If the p<sub>c</sub>-value is still within our chosen confidence interval i.e. below 0.05, then the finding is considered to be really statistically significant (Shaffer 1995). This method was used to distinguish between real significant statistics and to exclude the more spurious positives.

## Chapter 3

# Phenotypic analysis of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection

3.1	Introduction	88
3.2	Innate lymphocytes in HBV infection	93
3.2.1	The frequencies of circulating NK cells and NT cells are higher in HBV-	
	infected subjects than in control subjects	93
3.2.2	The CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> , but not the CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> , subset of NK, NT and total	
	CD56 <sup>+</sup> cells are found at higher frequencies in HBV infection	95
3.2.3	The frequencies of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells are significantly higher in	
	subjects with HBV infection	98
3.2.4	There are no significant differences in the numbers of circulating	
	invariant NKT cells in HBV infection	98
3.2.5	The frequencies of B cells and monocytes expressing CD1a, b, c and d	
	cells are similar in the peripheral blood of healthy control subjects and	
	HBV patients	101
3.3	NK, NT, $\gamma\delta$ T, iNKT and CD1 <sup>+</sup> cells in HBV patient groups	103
3.3.1	The frequencies of circulating NK cells are not significantly different	
	between HBV patient groups	103
3.3.2	The frequencies of circulating NT cells are not significantly different	
	between HBV patient groups	104
3.3.3	The frequencies of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells are not significantly different	
	between HBV patient groups	108
3.3.4	The frequencies of circulating iNKT cells are not significantly different	
	between HBV patient groups	110
3.3.5	The frequencies of circulating $\text{CD1}^+$ B cells or monocytes are not	
	significantly different between HBV patient groups	110
3.4	NK, NT and iNKT cell frequencies in demographically-matched	
	healthy controls	118
3.4.1	NK cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls	118
3.4.2	NT cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls	119
3.4.3	Total CD56 <sup>+</sup> cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy	
	controls	120
3.4.4	Invariant NKT cells frequencies in demographically-matched healthy	

3.0	Bomerrom correction method	131
36	Ronferroni correction method	131
	PBMC in HBV infection	127
3.5.3	There are no significant differences in the IFN- $\alpha$ -induced cytotoxicity of	
3.5.2	Higherd IL-2-induced cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection	127
	HBV infection	126
3.5.1	There are no significant changes in the natural cytotoxicity of PBMC in	
3.5	Cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection	126
	controls	120

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Innate lymphocytes comprise a group of MHC-unrestricted, early responding lymphocytes that are characterized by potent cytokine production and cytotoxic activity. They include NK, NT, iNKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and are believed to be crucial in the early immune responses to viral infection (Biron *et al.* 1999; Fisicara *et al.* 2009; Ismaili *et al.* 2002; Dieli *et al.* 2004; Devilder *et al.* 2006; Orange *et al.* 1996). Through cytokine production and direct contact with other cells, innate lymphocytes can also stimulate and modulate adaptive immune responses and are therefore, major players in determining the overall outcome of infection (Kakimi *et al.* 2000; Liu *et al.* 2000; Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Nishimura *et al.* 2000). In particular, innate lymphocytes can induce maturation of dendritic cells and B cells into antigen-presenting cells and therefore, deficiencies of such cells could lead to an impaired adaptive response which could result in an unfavorable outcome for the host (Vincent *et al.* 2002; Ismaili *et al.* 2002; Dieli *et al.* 2004; Devilder *et al.* 2006; Ing & Stevenson 2009; Martino *et al.* 2002; Cooper *et al.* 2001; Dunne, unpublished data).

It is believed that NK and NT cells play a crucial role in the early defence against HBV infection and these potent cytotoxic cells have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of disease (Kimura et al. 2002; Pasquetto et al. 2000; Kakimi et al. 2000; Echevarria et al. 1991.; Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Zou et al. 2010; Sitia et al. 2002; Albarran et al. 2005; Fisicaro et al. 2009). Kimura et al. (2002) found that IL-12 induced IFN- $\gamma$  production by NK cells was important in the inhibition of HBV replication in transgenic mice while Kakimi et al. (2000) have shown that the NKTmediated recruitment of NK cells into the liver facilitates inhibition of HBV replication via the production of antiviral cytokines. Pasquetto et al. (2000) found that liver inflammation corresponded to the intrahepatic infiltration of NK cells among other cells in HBV transgenic mice while Zou et al. (2010) found that NK cells were involved in the development of hepatocyte necrosis in a mouse model of virus induced hepatitis and significantly contributed to fulminant hepatic failure and HBV-associated acute-onchronic liver failure in such mice via cytotoxicity and IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production. Enhanced NK cell cytotoxicity has also been observed in the early phase of acute HBV infection (Echevarria et al. 1991). Involvement of NK and NT cells in the immune responses against HBV is further evident in the findings of Albarran et al. (2005) who have found that the frequencies of NK and NT cells are Higher in responders to

vaccination with HBsAg, along with their IFN- $\gamma$  expression. Furthermore, deficiencies of such cells could be important in HBV infection where persistence is associated with weakened adaptive immune responses whereas strong and multi-specific CTL responses are associated with resolution of infection (Penna *et al.* 1991; Missale et al; 1992; Bertoletti *et al.* 1991; Nayersina *et al.* 1993; Rehermann *et al.* 1995; Thimme *et al.* 2003; Maini *et al.* 1999). Deficiencies of circulating NK cells have previously been identified in subjects persistently infected with HCV while others have found depleted numbers of hepatic iNKT cells and NT cells in the livers of HCV-infected subjects (Golden-Mason *et al.* 2008; Deignan *et al.* 2002).

The two main subsets of NK cells are distinguished based on the density of their CD56 expression. CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells make up ~10% of the NK cell population. They express high levels of CD56 and are the main producers of IFN- $\gamma$  while, the majority of NK cells are CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and they are primarily responsible for natural cytotoxicity (Robertson & Ritz 1990; Cooper *et al.*2001). In our recent work, it was also found that the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells were depleted in chronic HCV infection, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells were expanded (Golden-Mason *et al.* 2008). Such differences resulted in the overall lower numbers of NK cells and it was aimed to determine if such differences in NK subsets existed in HBV infection. The majority of NT cells express low levels of CD56 and so, they are classified as CD56<sup>DIM</sup> but it was also found some NT cells expressing higher levels of CD56 and categorized these as CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup>. Therefore, these divisions were included in our analysis of NT cells, also.

Another interesting group of innate lymphocytes are the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. They express a  $\gamma\delta$ -TCR and unlike their  $\alpha\beta^+$  counterparts, they are not MHC-restricted and can respond to infection in under an hour (compared to 4 – 96 hours in  $\alpha\beta$  T cells) (Groh *et al.* 1998; Hayday 2000). They are therefore, crucial in the early responses to infection and their expansion has been observed in several viral infections (De Paolo *et al.* 1990; Poccia *et al.*1999; Maccario *et al.*1995; Agrati *et al.* 2001). However, their role in HBV infection is not fully understood. Sing *et al.* (1998) have identified a putative role for  $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the clearance of HBV infection since the frequencies of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells bearing the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR are significantly Higher in patients who have seroconverted. Also, recent work by Chen *et al.* (2008) indicates an association between impaired frequencies and functions of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells and persistent HBV infection with the most significant depletions of such cells observed in the patients with the most severe liver disease. Another group who were predominantly interested in HIV found no differences between controls and HBV patients when frequencies of  $V\delta 1^+$  T cells were investigated (Rossol *et al.* 1998). Since the body of work on the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV is not definitive, it was decided to carry out a preliminary investigation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell frequencies in the peripheral blood of HBV patients and controls. The identification of a role for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in immune responses against HBV infection could contribute to the development of improved immunotherapy for HBV-infected patients. These innate T cells are already the centre of several immunotherapeutic studies for a variety of malignancies and could therefore, have great potential in the treatment of HBV (Dieli *et al.* 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008).

The invariant NKT (iNKT) cells are a group of innate lymphocytes that elicit potent IFN-y production and cytotoxic activity. They are not MHC-restricted but rather CD1d-restricted because of their recognition of lipid antigens presented by the CD1d glycoprotein. As their name suggests, iNKT cells express both NK and T cell receptors. In humans, they are characterized by the expression of a TCR consisting of a V $\alpha$ 24J $\alpha$ 18  $\alpha$ -chain, paired with a limited number of  $\beta$ -chains (Bendelac *et al.* 1997). In this study, a fluorochrome-conjugated antibody specific for both the V $\alpha$ 24 chain and the V $\beta$ 11 chain was chosen to identify cells co-expressing both chains. It was also used an antibody called 6B11 to identify the V $\alpha$ 24J $\alpha$ 18-TCR. Much of the work on iNKT cells has been performed in murine models and has revealed the massive potential of these cells in anti-tumor, anti-microbial and antiviral immune responses (Kakimi et al. 2000). However, while they account for 5% of circulating and 30% of hepatic T cells in mice, they only constitute 0.02-0.8% of circulating T lymphocytes and less than 1% of liver T lymphocytes in humans, therefore, making them a less powerful force in human disease (Kenna et al. 2004). So while, iNKT cells can inhibit HBV replication in a mouse model, their involvement in natural HBV infection has not yet been elucidated. Human studies in HCV and HIV-1 have associated deficiencies of iNKT cells with the failure to clear such viruses (Deignan et al.2002; van der Vliet 2002). It was hypothesised that such deficiencies in HBV infection could pre-dispose individuals to development of chronic liver disease and therefore, studied the frequencies of circulating iNKT cells in a cohort of HBV patients and a group of healthy control subjects. CD1 expression was also studied so that any observed differences might be associated with differences in

CD1 expression. The immunotherapeutic potential of iNKT cells is already under investigation in cancer and the elucidation of their role in natural HBV infection could lead to the development of improved therapeutics for this disease (Chang *et al.* 2005; Motohashi *et al.* 2009).

CD1 is a MHC-like glycoprotein which is expressed on the surface of antigen presentation cells such as B cells and monocytes and facilitates the presentation of lipid antigens to NKT cells (Porcelli et al. 1998). It is believed to play an important antigen presentation role in several bacterial infections, most notably Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection (Park & Bendelac 2000; Skold & Behar 2005). However, the role of CD1 lipid antigen presentation in viral infection is less understood but its role in the inhibition of HBV replication in transgenic mice and its downregulation in HSV and HIV infection indicates that it is important in immune responses against viruses (Kakimi et al. 2000; Yuan et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2006). To our knowledge no studies have phenotyped CD1-expressing cells in HBV patients and so, the frequencies of CD1<sup>+</sup> monocytes and B cells was investigated in the peripheral blood of HBV patients and healthy controls. Any differences observed may indicate a role of CD1-mediated antigen presentation in HBV and could aid the development of a novel immunotherapy against the virus. The therapeutic potential of CD1-presented lipid antigens is being investigated along with that of iNKT cells and certain studies have involved administration of a-galactosylceramide-loaded CD1d-expressing DCs in an effort to activate iNKT cells in vivo in cancer patients (Chang et al. 2005). Therefore, the development of therapeutics involving the CD1-restricted iNKT cells may be more focused on manipulating CD1 antigen presentation in vitro to facilitate a boosted iNKT cell response in vivo.

The identification of deficient numbers or impaired functions of innate lymphocytes in HBV could have potential in the development of therapies that could be used to strengthen immune responses in patients. Innate lymphocytes are ideal targets for immunotherapy as they are easily cultured, do not require specific antigen stimulation in order to carry out effector functions and are already the centre of several immunotherapeutic clinical trials (Chang *et al.* 2005; Motohashi *et al.* 2009; Dieli *et al.* 2009; Bennouna *et al.* 2008; Shi *et al.* 2004). These trials have shown that intravenous administration of various innate lymphocytes are well-tolerated and can stimulate adaptive immune responses *in vivo*.

To test our hypothesis that innate lymphocytes are required for immune control of HBV, the frequencies of circulating NK, NT, iNKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were examined in a group of HBV patients and compared them to those in a group of uninfected control subjects. Since these HBV patients have relatively low viral load and mild liver disease, they were considered as a model of immune control rather than a model of uncontrollable HBV replication and severe liver disease. Because of this, it was expected the frequencies of innate lymphocytes to inform us of the role of these cells in an immune response that controls HBV infection without causing liver damage.

Since it is likely that the frequencies and functions of iNKT cells are governed by the expression of CD1d (Lynch *et al.* 2009), CD1d expression on B cells and monocytes from patients and controls was also investigated. Therefore, any alterations observed in the frequencies of iNKT cells might correlate with alterations in CD1d expression. CD1d expression is downregulated by HIV and HSV and since iNKT cells were being examined in this study, its inclusion was an obvious choice (Yuan *et al.* 2006; Chen *et al.* 2006).

This study, therefore, aims to examine the frequencies of all innate lymphocytes listed above and to evaluate their role in the control of HBV infection in the absence of associated liver injury.
#### **3.2 Innate lymphocytes in HBV infection**

# **3.2.1** The frequencies of circulating NK cells and NT cells are higher in HBV-infected subjects than in control subjects

PBMC were prepared from 62 HBV-infected individuals and from 66 control subjects. Surface staining with PE-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb was performed to identify NK cells and NT cells in the peripheral blood. Lymphocytes were identified based on size and granularity using forward and side scatter parameters and then NK cells were classified as those cells that stained positive for CD56 and negative for CD3 (Figure 3.1A,B), while NT cells were identified as those lymphocytes which stained positive for both CD56 and CD3. The frequencies of circulating  $CD56^{+}CD3^{-}$  and  $CD56^{+}CD3^{+}$  cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes were then quantified. Frequencies of NK cells ranged from a minimum of 2.1% to a maximum of 24.3% in controls, and from 0.8% to 28.5% in HBV-infected individuals (HBV). The mean frequencies of circulating NK cells were 8.1% of lymphocytes with a standard error of 0.6% in controls and 10.6% +/- 0.83% in HBV. This higher frequency of circulating NK frequencies in HBV infection was significant (p=0.035, Figure 3.1C). Frequencies of circulating NT cells ranged from 0.5% to 19.1% in controls, and from 0.3% to 38.6% in HBV. The mean frequencies were 3.3% of lymphocytes +/- 0.4% in controls and 5.6+/-0.78% in HBV patients. This higher frequency was also significant (p=0.0002, Figure 3.1D). Frequencies of circulating total CD56<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes ranged from 3.9% to 27.7% in controls, and from 1.2% to 42.3% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 11.2+/-0.71% in controls and 16+/-1.1% in HBV. This higher frequency was significant (p=0.0005, Figure 3.1E).

These data show that there are elevated numbers of circulating NK and NT cells, and indeed total CD56<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes, in chronic HBV infection.

### FIGURE 3.1

# 3.2.2 The CD56<sup>DIM</sup>, but not the CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup>, subset of NK, NT and total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells are found at higher frequencies in HBV infection

The frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells, NT cells and total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells were quantified as a percentage of lymphocytes and as a percentage of each CD56<sup>+</sup> cell population. CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells were identified as those lymphocytes which expressed low and high fluorescence levels of CD56 staining, respectively (Figure 3.2A).

The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells as a percentage of total NK cells were 91.1+/-1.2% in controls and 92.6+/-1.6% in HBV patients. This higher frequency was significant (p=0.006, Figure 3.2B). As a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells ranged from 1.9% to 24.2% in controls, and from 0.24% to 28% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 7.3+/-0.54% and 9.9+/-0.8%, respectively. This higher frequency was also significant (p=0.035, Figure 3.2C). The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NT cells as a percentage of total NT cells were 97.3+/-0.5% in controls and 97.9+/-0.5% in HBV patients. This higher frequency was significant (p=0.009, Figure 3.2B). As a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NT cells ranged from 0.49% to 19.1% in controls, and from 0.3% to 38.4% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 3.2+/-0.43% and 5.5+/-0.83%, respectively (p=0.003, Figure 3.2C). The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells as a percentage of total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells were 89.9+/-1.9% in controls and 93.3+/-1.9% in HBV patients. This higher frequency was significant (p=0.0007, Figure 3.2B). As a percentage of lymphocytes, the frequencies of total CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells ranged from 2% to 26.6% in controls, and from 0.56% to 40.4% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 9.6+/-0.76% and 13.4+/-1.2%, respectively. This higher frequency in total CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, in HBV patients was also significant (p=0.02, Figure 3.2C).

The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells as a percentage of total NK cells were 8.9+/-1.2% in controls and 7.4+/-1.6% in HBV patients. These lower frequencies were found to be significant (p=0.006, Figure 3.2D). As a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells ranged from 0.1% to 3.1% in controls, and from 0.01% to 1.7% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 0.61+/-0.06% and 0.49+/-0.05%, respectively. These numbers were not significantly different (p=0.3, Figure 3.2E). The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NT cells as a percentage of total NT cells were 2.7+/-0.5% in controls and 2.2+/-0.5% in HBV patients. These lower frequencies were found to be significant (p=0.009, Figure 3.2D). As a percentage of

total lymphocytes, the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NT cells ranged from 0% to 0.8% in controls, and from 0% to 0.79% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 0.07+/-0.02% and 0.07+/-0.02%, respectively (p=0.8, Figure 3.2E). The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells as a percentage of total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells were 8.5+/-1.2% in controls and 5+/-1% in HBV patients. These lower frequencies were found to be significant (p=0.0007, Figure 3.2D). As a percentage of lymphocytes, the total frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells ranged from 0.11% to 3.3% in controls, and from 0.03% to 1.9% in HBV, with means of 0.57+/-0.07% and 0.48+/-0.06\%, respectively (p=0.55, Figure 3.2E).

These data show that the numbers of circulating  $CD56^{DIM}$ , but not  $CD56^{BRIGHT}$  cells, are higher in HBV patients than in control subjects and are therefore, the major contributing subset to the overall higher frequencies of NK and NT cells. In addition, these data indicate that the expansion of  $CD56^{DIM}$  cells in HBV occurs at the expense of the frequencies of  $CD56^{BRIGHT}$  cells, which appear to be lower in HBV. This lower frequency proved to be most significant when  $CD56^{BRIGHT}$  cells were calculated as a proportion of the total  $CD56^{+}$  populations.

FIGURE 3.2

# 3.2.3 The frequencies of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells are significantly higher in subjects with HBV infection

PBMC were prepared from 20 HBV-infected subjects and from the buffy coat packs of 23 control subjects. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti- $\gamma\delta$ -TCR mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb was carried out to identify  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the peripheral blood (Figure 3.3A). Frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells ranged from 0.36% to 5.86% in controls, and from 0.35% to 30.67% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 2.8+/-0.27% and 6.8+/-1.5%, respectively (p=0.0009, Figure 3.3B).

These data show that circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are significantly expanded in HBV infection.

# **3.2.4** There are no significant differences in the numbers of circulating invariant NKT cells in HBV infection.

PBMC were prepared from 18 HBV–infected individuals and from the buffy coat packs of 22 control subjects. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-V $\alpha$ 24 mAb and PElabelled anti-V $\beta$ 11 mAb, together with PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb, was performed to identify the T cells with the invariant V $\alpha$ 24V $\beta$ 11 TCR (Figure 3.4A). PE-labelled anti-6B11 mAb was also used together with PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb as an alternative means of identifying such iNKTs (Figure 3.4C). Frequencies of circulating V $\alpha$ 24<sup>+</sup>V $\beta$ 11<sup>+</sup> T cells ranged from 0.01% to 0.81% in controls, and from 0.01% to 0.24% in HBV. The mean frequencies of circulating V $\alpha$ 24<sup>+</sup>V $\beta$ 11<sup>+</sup> T cells were 0.11% of T cells +/- 0.04% in controls and 0.09 +/-0.02% in HBV. This difference was not significant (p=0.29, Figure 3.4B). Frequencies of circulating 6B11<sup>+</sup> T cells ranged from 0.09% to 1.5% in controls, and from 0.04% to 3.5% in HBV with, mean frequencies of 0.54+/-0.1% and 0.62 +/-0.19%, respectively. This difference was not significant (p=0.21, Figure 3.4D). The two methods used to label iNKT cells yielded slightly different numbers but overall, both sets of mAbs supported the finding that the frequencies of circulating iNKT cells are unchanged in HBV infection.

### FIGURE 3.3

### FIGURE 3.4

### **3.2.5** The frequencies of B cells and monocytes expressing CD1a, b, c and d cells are similar in the peripheral blood of healthy control subjects and HBV patients.

PBMC were prepared from the fresh blood of 18 HBV patients and from the buffy coat packs of 18 control subjects. Lymphocytes were identified based on size and granularity using forward and side scatter parameters and then surface staining with APC-labelled anti-CD19 mAb was performed to identify the B cells. Similarly, monocytes were identified based on size and granularity using forward and side scatter parameters and then PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD14 mAb was used to identify the monocytes. FITC-labelled anti-CD1c mAb or anti-CD1b mAb and PE-labelled anti-CD1d mAb or anti-CD1a mAb were used to identify those B cells and monocytes expressing CD1a, b, c and d (Figure 3.5A and Figure 3.5C). The mean frequencies of B cells expressing CD1a, b, c and d were 0.99+/-0.31%, 10.9+/-3.6%, 27.3+/-4.6% and 65.1+/-4%, respectively, in controls and 0.61+/-0.12%, 3.2+/-0.4%, 22.6+/-1.9 and 53.1+/-4.2%, respectively, in HBV patients (Figure 3.5B). The mean frequencies of monocytes expressing CD1a, b, c and d were 7.5+/-3.9%, 12.7+/-4.3%, 7.6+/-2.9%, 47.3+/-10.8%, respectively, in controls and 7.6+/-1.9%, 10.9+/-2.3%, 4.2+/-1.14% and 52.3+/-8.9%, respectively, in HBV (Figure 3.5D). None of these differences were significant.

These data show that the numbers of iNKT cells and CD1-expressing cells are similar in controls and HBV-infected individuals.

### FIGURE 3.5

#### **3.3** NK, NT, γδ T, iNKT and CD1<sup>+</sup> cells in HBV patient groups

It was not sufficient to compare the frequencies of innate lymphocytes in persistently infected HBV patients with those in uninfected control subjects. To gain a better understanding of the role of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection, the patient cohort needed to be carefully examined. Patient data were obtained from the hepatology clinic in St James's hospital and was used to divide the patients into groups based on age, gender, viral load and ALT. Viral load was a measure of HBV replication and control of infection whereas ALT was a measure of liver disease. Since the upper limit of normal (ULN) for ALT is between 25 and 40 international units (IU)/ml, 40 was chosen as our cut off to distinguish between patients with and without liver damage (Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2005). Even though the majority of the patients studies had a viral load below 20,000 copies/ml, 100,000 copies/ml was chosen as the cut-off to distinguish between higher and lower viral load. Since the oldest HBV patient was only 55 years old, a midpoint between youngest and oldest was chosen to distinguish between patients who were relatively younger or older. It was also sought to determine if there were any gender-specific differences between the cell frequencies in our patients.

# **3.3.1** The frequencies of circulating NK cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

To determine if there were differences in NK frequencies within the HBV patient cohort, frequencies were compared between HBV-infected subjects of different age, gender, serum ALT level and viral load. Figure 3.6A shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 41 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies / ml and 8 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and  $5x10^8$  copies / ml. The frequencies of circulating NK cells in patients with low viral load ranged from 0.83% to 28.47% of lymphocytes and the mean frequency (+/- SEM) was 9.6+/-0.9%. The frequency of circulating NK cells in patients with high viral load ranged from 6% to 17.3% of lymphocytes with, a mean frequency of 11.1+/-1.6%. This difference was not significant, according to the Mann-Whitney Utest (p=0.2). Furthermore, a Spearman correlation test yielded a correlation coefficient of r = 0.135, suggesting that there is no linear correlation between the frequencies of NK cells and viral load. Figure 3.6B shows the mean frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 39 HBV patients with an

ALT below 40 IU/ ml and 13 HBV patients with an ALT above 40 IU/ml. For those patients with ALT below 40 IU/ml, the frequencies of NK cells ranged from 0.8% to 28.47% with an average of 9.8+/-0.9%. For those HBV patients with an ALT above 40 IU/ml, the frequencies of NK cells in peripheral blood ranged from 3.7% to 22.11% with an average of 9.8+/-1.4%. This difference was not significant (p=0.9) and moreover, there was no linear correlation between the numbers of NK cell and ALT levels (r = 0.0642). Figure 3.6C shows the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+CD3^-$  cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 27 males and 28 females. The numbers ranged from 0.83% to 28.47% in males, with a mean of 10.2+/-0.2% and from 0.91% to 28.27% in females with a mean of  $10.4 \pm 0.2\%$  (p=0.45). Figure 3.6D shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 28 HBV patients aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 27 HBV patients aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The frequency of circulating NK cells ranged from 3.14% to 28.27% in the younger group of patients, with a mean of  $10.5 \pm -1.2\%$ . The frequency of circulating NK cells ranged from 0.83% to 28.47% in the older group of HBV patients with a mean of 10+/-1.2%. (p=0.9) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of circulating NK cells and the age of the HBV patients (r = 0.0846).

These data suggest that although the frequencies of circulating NK cells are higher in HBV-infected subjects than in control subjects, their numbers do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

## **3.3.2** The frequencies of circulating NT cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

Frequencies were compared between HBV-infected subjects of different age, gender, serum ALT level and viral load to determine if there were differences in NT frequencies within the HBV patient cohort. Figure 3.7A shows the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+CD3^+$  cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 40 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies / ml and 9 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and  $5x10^8$  copies / ml. The frequencies of circulating NT cells in patients with low viral load ranged from 0.3% to 38.6% of lymphocytes with a mean of 5.6+/-1.2%. The frequencies of circulating NT cells were similar in patients with high viral load ranging from 1.1% to 10.2% of lymphocytes and with a mean of 5.2+/-0.5% (p=0.42). Furthermore, a Spearman correlation test yielded a correlation coefficient of r = 0.039, suggesting that there is no linear correlation between the frequencies of NT

cells and viral load. Figure 3.7B shows the mean frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 38 HBV patients with an ALT below 40 IU/ml and 13 HBV patients with an ALT above 40 IU/ml. For those patients with low ALT, the frequencies of NT cells ranged from 0.32% to 10.43% with a mean of 4.4+/-0.5%. For those HBV patients with high ALT, the frequencies of NT cell ranged from 0.6% to 38.6% with a mean of 8.7+/-3.3%. These differences were not significant (p=0.67) and there was no linear correlation between the numbers of NT cell and ALT levels (r = -0.0088). Figure 3.7C shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 26 males and 28 females. The numbers ranged from 0.32% to 7.1% in males (mean 6.9+/-0.3%) and from 1% to 10.4% in females (mean 4.2+/-0.1%). This difference was not significant (p=0.37). Figure 3.7D shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 33 HBV patients aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 21 HBV patients aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The frequencies ranged from 1% to 38.6% in the younger group of patients (mean 6.8+/-1.6%) and from 0.3% to 10% in the older group of HBV patients (mean 4+/-0.5%). This difference was not significant (p=0.26). There was no linear correlation between the frequencies of circulating NT cells and the age of the HBV patients (r = -0.16).

These data suggest that although the frequencies of circulating NT cells are higher in HBV-infected subjects than in control subjects, their numbers do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

# 3.3.3 The frequencies of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The  $\gamma\delta$  T cell frequencies of the HBV patients within the study cohort were also compared based on clinical parameters. Figure 3.8A shows the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$ -TCR<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 14 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies / ml and 4 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and 5 x  $10^8$  copies / ml. The frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in patients with low viral load ranged from 0.35% to 30.7% (mean 6.2+/-1.9%) and in patients with high viral load, ranged from 1.4% to 15.8% (mean 8.6+/-3.2%). There was no significant difference between these numbers (p=0.31). Furthermore, a Spearman correlation test yielded a correlation coefficient of r = 0.146, suggesting that there is no linear correlation between the frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and viral load. Figure 3.8B shows the mean frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$ -TCR<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes for 11 HBV patients with a low ALT and 7 HBV patients with a high ALT. For those patients with low ALT, the frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells ranged from 0.35% to 10.5% (mean 5+/-0.95%) and for those with a high ALT, the frequencies ranged from 1.2% to 30.7% (mean 10.9+/-3.3%). There were no significant differences (p=0.28) and moreover, there was no linear correlation between the numbers of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell and ALT levels (r = 0.2). Figure 3.8C shows the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$ -TCR<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 11 males and 9 females. The frequencies ranged from 0.35% to 30.7% in males (mean 7.8+/-2.5%) and from 1.4% to 15.8% in females (5.5+/-1.4%). There was no significant difference (p=0.76). Figure 3.8D shows the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma \delta$ -TCR<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells as a percentage of total lymphocytes in 10 HBV-infected subjects aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 10 HBV-infected subjects aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The frequency of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells ranged from 1.4% to 15.8% in the younger group of patients (mean 6.5+/-1.5%) and ranged from 0.35% to 30.7% in the older group of patients (mean 7+/-2.8%). There was no significant difference (p=0.74) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and the age of the HBV patients (r = -0.18).

These data suggest that although the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are higher in HBV-infected subjects than in control subjects, their numbers do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

# **3.3.4** The frequencies of circulating iNKT cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The iNKT cell frequencies of the HBV patients within the study cohort were also compared based on clinical parameters. Both the frequencies of circulating  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+CD3^+$  and  $6B11^+CD3^+$  cells were quantified as a percentage of total lymphocytes within different patient groups. The minimum, maximum and mean frequencies for circulating  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+CD3^+$  and  $6B11^+CD3^+$  cells are shown in Table 3.1 and Table 3.2, respectively. The frequencies of  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+CD3^+$  cells divided based on ALT, viral load, gender and age are shown in Figures 3.9A, C, E and G, respectively. The frequencies of  $6B11^+CD3^+$  cells divided based on ALT, viral load, gender and age are shown in Figures 3.9B, D, F and H, respectively. Statistical significance was tested using the Mann-Whitney U-test and the Spearman Correlation test. None of the differences observed in the occurrence of iNKT cells between different patient groups were deemed statistically significant.

# **3.3.5** The frequencies of circulating CD1<sup>+</sup> B cells or monocytes are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The frequencies of CD1<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> cells were quantified as a percentage of lymphocytes and the numbers of CD1<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup> cells were quantified as a percentage of monocytes, within different HBV patient groups. The minimum, maximum and mean frequencies for circulating CD1<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD1<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup> cells are shown in Table 3.3 and Table 3.4, respectively. The frequencies of CD1<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes divided based on ALT, viral load, gender and age are shown in Figures 3.10A, B, C and D, respectively. The frequencies of CD1<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup> cells divided based on ALT, viral load, gender and age are shown in Figures 3.10E, F, G and H, respectively. The performance of Mann-Whitney and Spearman Correlation tests revealed that there were no statistically significant differences in the frequencies of circulating CD1<sup>+</sup> cells between HBV patient groups.

These data suggest that the frequencies of iNKT cells and CD1-expressing cells within our HBV patient population do not significantly change with age, gender, viral load or ALT levels.

The frequencies of circulating iNKT cells in HBV: The frequencies of  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+CD3^+$  lymphocytes within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	< 40		Viral	Viral	< 35	35-50		
			Load	Load				
Min %	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.16	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.01
Max %	0.18	0.24	0.18	0.24	0.24	0.18	0.24	0.18
Mean %	0.09	0.09	0.07%	0.2	0.11	0.07	0.08	0.1
SEM %	0.02	0.05	0.02%	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02
<b>N</b> *	12	5	15	2	7	10	9	8
p*		0.79		0.07		0.4		0.36
r*		-0.01		0.184		-0.183		-

**The frequencies of circulating iNKT cells in HBV:** The frequencies of 6B11<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	< 40		Viral	Viral	< 35	35-50		
			Load	Load				
Min %	0.14	0.04	0.04	0.25	0.25	0.04	0.04	0.14
Max %	3.5	1.3	3.5	1.26	1.26	3.5	3.5	1.26
Mean %	0.67	0.58	0.59	0.78	0.53	0.69	0.83	0.41
SEM %	0.27	0.22	0.22	0.36	0.12	0.33	0.36	0.11
<b>N</b> *	12	6	15	3	8	10	9	9
p*		0.96		0.41		0.49		0.46
r*		0.094		-0.14		-0.18		

**The frequencies of circulating CD1<sup>+</sup> B lymphocytes in HBV:** The frequencies of CD1<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	CD1	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	isoform	<40		Viral	Viral	< 35	35-		
				Load	Load		50		
Min %	CD1a	0.05	0.3	0.05	0.27	0.05	0.22	0.22	0.05
	CD1b	1	1	1	2.1	1.7	1	1	1.7
	CD1c	11.1	18.6	11.1	18.6	11.1	11.9	11.9	11.1
	CD1d	22.6	20.7	20.7	22.6	20.7	34.1	20.7	22.6
Max %	CD1a	1.6	1.3	1.6	0.4	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.4
	CD1b	7.2	6.7	7.2	6.7	6.7	7.2	7.2	6.7
	CD1c	31.8	44	44	23.5	44	31.8	31.8	44
	CD1d	74.3	91.9	91.9	60.8	91.9	74.3	64.5	91.9
Mean %	CD1a	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.5
	CD1b	3.1	3.3	3	3.7	3.1	2.6	2.7	3.6
	CD1c	21.6	24.5	24.3	21.4	22.9	21.2	21.4	24
	CD1d	53.6	52.2	57.2	45.5	50.7	52.8	50	56.5
SEM %	CD1a	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.03	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.15
	CD1b	0.5	0.9	0.4	1.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5
	CD1c	2.1	4	2.6	1.5	3.1	2.1	1.9	3.5
	CD1d	4.1	10	5	11.7	7.2	4.1	4.8	7.1
<b>N</b> *	CD1a	12	6	15	3	8	10	9	9
	CD1b	12	6	15	3	8	10	9	9
	CD1c	11	6	15	3	8	9	9	8
	CD1d	11	6	15	3	8	9	9	8
p*	CD1a		0.3		0.5		0.9		0.6
	CD1b		0.9		0.9		0.6		0.1
	CD1c		0.8		0.9		0.8		0.7
	CD1d		0.6		0.6		0.7		0.7
r*	CD1a		0.2		-0.2		-0.02		-
	CD1b		0.004		0.1		0.1		-
	CD1c		0.2		-0.2		0.1		-
	CD1d		-0.2		-0.2		0.1		-

The frequencies of circulating  $CD1^+$  monocytes in HBV: The frequencies of  $CD1^+CD14^+$  monocytes within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	CD1	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	isoform	<40		Viral	Viral	< 35	35-		
				Load	Load		50		
Min %	CD1a	1.9	0.6	0.62	1.5	0.62	2.4	0.62	1.2
	CD1b	2.6	2.2	2.3	2.2	2.2	2.6	2.2	2.6
	CD1c	0.3	0.9	0.3	1.3	0.5	0.3	0.27	0.5
	CD1d	11.5	4.5	4.5	10.6	4.5	11.5	4.5	10.6
Max %	CD1a	25.3	17.8	25.3	2.7	25.3	17.8	17.9	25.3
	CD1b	35.2	18.6	35.2	14.2	35.2	29.8	35.2	22.7
	CD1c	12.9	13.7	13.7	5.9	12.9	13.7	13.7	5.9
	CD1d	98.6	91.2	98.6	60.5	98.3	57	98.6	98.3
Mean %	CD1a	10.5	4.6	8.7	2	6.7	8.3	8.1	7
	CD1b	12.1	8.3	11.7	6.9	11.3	10.5	12.5	9.3
	CD1c	4.8	4.5	4.3	3.6	4	4.4	5.1	3.1
	CD1d	65.1	36.3	54.6	35.5	46.2	57	54.9	48.8
SEM %	CD1a	2.6	2.7	2.1	0.4	3.3	2	2.4	2.9
	CD1b	3.2	2.7	2.7	3.7	4.2	2.6	4.1	2.2
	CD1c	1.5	2	1.2	1.9	1.6	1.6	1.9	0.8
	CD1d	10.2	13.8	9.5	20.4	13.2	11.4	11	13.9
<b>N</b> *	CD1a	12	6	15	3	8	10	9	9
	CD1b	12	6	15	3	8	10	9	9
	CD1c	11	6	15	3	8	9	9	8
	CD1d	11	6	15	2	8	9	9	8
p*	CD1a		0.1		0.1		0.1		.6
	CD1b		0.5		0.4		0.7		0.9
	CD1c		0.9		0.9		0.9		0.9
	CD1d		0.1		\$		0.2		0.7
r*	CD1a		-0.4		-0.3		0.5	-	-
	CD1b		-0.09		-0.3		0.2	-	-
	CD1c		0.1		-0.09		0.06	-	-
	CD1d		-0.5		-0.1		0.1	-	-

### Figure 3.9 plots

### Figures 3.9 legend

# 3.4 NK, NT and iNKT cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

As mentioned in Chapter 2, our patient cohort was one of mixed race; 38% of the patients were African, while 45% were Caucasian and 17% were Asian. The control group, however, comprised buffy coat packs obtained form the IBTS. Since the knowledge of our healthy controls was limited, some demographically-matched samples were obtained as a control measure. This would minimise the risk of false-positive results based on race and not HBV infection. The demographically-matched control blood samples were taken from 15 African, 15 Caucasian and 10 Asian healthy donors. PBMC preparation and surface staining was performed in the same manner as for all other subjects and the frequencies of NK, NT, iNKT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were then quantified.

#### 3.4.1 NK cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

The mean frequencies of NK cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, were 5.6+/-0.9% in the African controls, 4.7+/-0.7% in the Caucasian controls and 6.4+/-1.6% in the Asian controls. These frequencies were not significantly different with no p-values falling below 0.05 (Figure 3.11A).

The mean frequencies of the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NK cells were calculated as a percentage of NK cells and as a percentage of lymphocytes. The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells, as a proportion of NK cells, were 94.1+/-1.2%, 89.5+/-1.7% and 93.6+/-1.7% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells were 5.9+/-1.2%, 10.5+/-1.7% and 6.5+/-1.7% (Figure 3.11B, D). When calculated as a percentage of lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells were 4.9+/-0.8%, 4+/-0.6% and 5.9+/-1.6% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, respectively, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells were 0.5+/-0.1%, 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.4+/-0.1% (Figure 3.11C, E). Although the observations suggest that there may be expansions of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells in the African and Asian populations, compared to the Caucasians, our statistical analysis revealed that such differences are not statistically different with all p-values falling outside our confidence interval of 0.05.

These data suggest that there are no significant differences in NK cell frequencies between African, Caucasian and Asian control populations and that the differences observed between HBV patients and controls are not significantly influenced by the race of the patients.

#### 3.4.2 NT cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

The mean frequencies of NT cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, were 2.1+/-0.3% in the African controls, 0.8+/-0.1% in the Caucasian controls and 1.6+/-0.3% in the Asian controls (Figure 3.12A). Performance of the Mann-Whitney U-test on these data sets revealed that the frequencies of circulating NT cells in healthy donors of African race were significantly higher than those of their Caucasian counterparts (p=0.02). Due to this striking result, it was decided to compare the NT cell frequencies within our patient cohort and found that no significant differences existed in our HBV group (Figure 3.12B). Therefore, although these data suggest the NT cells are expanded in the peripheral blood of African persons compared to Caucasians, our subsequent analysis revealed that this does not represent our patient group. Since the mean frequency of circulating NT cells was 3.1% in our initial patient group, it can be hypothesised that the NT cell numbers observed in our demographically-matched caucasian population may be lower than the normal average.

The mean frequencies of the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NT cells were calculated as a percentage of NT cells and as a percentage of lymphocytes. The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NT cells, as a proportion of NT cells, were 98.7+/-0.4%, 99+/-0.5% and 99.6+/-0.3% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NT cells were 1.3+/-0.4%, 0.9+/-0.5% and 0.4+/-0.3% (Figure 3.12 B, D). When calculated as a percentage of lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NT cells were 2.1+/-0.4%, 0.7+/-0.1% and 1.6+/-0.3% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, respectively, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NT cells were 0.03+/-0.01%, 0.01+/-0.004% and 0.005+/-0.003% (Figure 3.12C, E). These data show that the differences in the frequencies of NT cells between African and Caucasian populations are due to differences in the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> subset (p=0.008).

These data suggest that NT cell frequencies may differ between African and Caucasian populations, although careful examination of our patient cohort revealed that such a hypothesis is not indicative of our HBV patients. Therefore, it is likely that the expansions observed in HBV patients were not skewed by the demographics of the patients.

#### **3.4.3** Total CD56<sup>+</sup> cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

The mean frequencies of total  $CD56^+$  cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, were 7.3+/-1% in the African controls, 5.5+/-0.8% in the Caucasian controls and 7.9+/-1.8% in the Asian controls (Figure 3.13A). These frequencies were not significantly different with no p-values falling below 0.05.

The mean frequencies of the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells were calculated as a percentage of NK cells and as a percentage of lymphocytes. The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> CD56<sup>+</sup> cells, as a proportion of total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells, were 88.6+/-1.7%, 92.8+/-1.3% and 93.1+/-1.6% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, while the frequencies of total CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells were 7.2+/-1.3%, 11.4+/-1.7% and 6.9+/-1.6% (Figure 3.13 B, D). When calculated as a percentage of lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells were 6.1+/-1.1%, 4.8+/-0.7% and 7.5+/-1.7% in Africans, Caucasians and Asians, respectively, while the frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells were 0.2+/-0.1%, 0.5+/-0.1% and 0.4+/-0.1% (Figure 3.13C, E). Although the observations suggest that there may be a trend towards higher levels of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells in the African and Asian populations, compared to the Caucasians, our statistical analysis revealed that such differences are not statistically different with all p-values falling outside our confidence interval of 0.05.

These data suggest that there are no significant differences in total  $CD56^+$  cell frequencies between African, Caucasian and Asian populations, despite the apparent expansions of circulating NT cells in Africans, and that the significant higher frequencies of total  $CD56^+$  cells observed in HBV patients are not significantly influenced by the race of the patients.

# 3.4.4 Invariant NKT cells frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

The mean frequencies of  $6B11^+$  cells, as a percentage of total T cells, were 0.5+/-0.2% in the African controls, 0.4+/-0.1% in the Caucasian controls and 0.3+/-0.1% in the Asian controls (Figure 3.14). These frequencies were not significantly different with no p-values falling below 0.05.

These data suggest that there are no differences in the frequencies of circulating iNKT cell frequencies between individuals of different race.

Overall, these data show that, although there may be some differences in the proportions of circulating innate lymphocytes between persons of different race, there is no significant evidence to suggest that such differences have influenced the alterations observed in HBV patients.

#### 3.5 Cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection

A preliminary study examining the cytotoxic capabilities of PBMC from HBV patients and uninfected controls was performed by Ross McNicholas for several reasons. Firstly, since HBV is a non-cytopathic virus, the liver damage associated with chronic infection is believed to be immune-mediated. Secondly, the control and elimination of HBV may be dependent on the killing activity of innate lymphocytes which may reduce viral load to a manageable level before adaptive responses come into play. Therefore, if the cytotoxic capabilities of PBMC were enhanced in the individuals persistently-infected with HBV then, this may indicate a mechanism of immune control by innate lymphocytes in HBV. Such findings would have to be followed by cytotoxic assays using enriched populations of innate lymphocytes to confirm which cells were the most potent killers.

Assessment of the cytotoxic capabilities of PBMC in 7–55 healthy control subjects and 15 HBV patients was carried out by analysis of chromium ( $^{51}$ Cr) release by the labelled myeloid erythroleukaemia-derived K562 cells. The cytotoxic capabilities were evaluated at E:T ratios of 1, 5, 25 and 50. Natural cytotoxicity of PBMC was examined while treatment with IFN- $\alpha$  or IL-2 induced the cytotoxic activity of NK cells and T cells.

## **3.5.1** There are no significant changes in the natural cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection

At E:T ratios of 5:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-1% in healthy control subjects and from 0-10.2% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14A and Figure 3.14B), with means of 0.13+/-0.13% and 1.6+/-1.1% (Figure 3.14G). This difference was not significant (p=0.15). At E:T ratios of 25:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-4.25% in healthy control subjects and from 0-21.44% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14A and Figure 3.14B), with mean specific lyses of 1.6+/-0.5% and 4.6+/-2.7%, respectively (Figure 3.14H). This difference was not significant (p=0.80). At E:T ratios of 50:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-39.9% in healthy control subjects and from 0-28.7% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14A, and Figure 3.14B), with means of 1.4+/-1.1% and 7.1+/-2.3% (Figure 3.14I, p=0.18; not significant).

Although, natural cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV patients appears to be higher at all E:T ratios, these data do not show any statistically significant differences between HBV patients and healthy controls.

#### 3.5.2 Higher IL-2-induced cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection

At E:T ratios of 5:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-2.9% in healthy control subjects and from 0-18.3% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14C and Figure 3.14D), with means of 1.1+/-0.3% and 4.4+/-1.3%, respectively (Figure 3.14G). This higher frequency was significant (p=0.04). At E:T ratios of 25:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0.6-20.3% in healthy control subjects and from 0-44.4% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14C and Figure 3.14D), with means of 12.4+/-1.8% and 15.7+/-3.3%, respectively (Figure 3.14H, p=0.79; not significant). At E:T ratios of 50:1, the specific lysis ranged from 1-53.6% in healthy control subjects and from 1.7-47.4% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14C and Figure 3.14D). The mean specific lyses were 15.9+/-1.5% and 19.4+/-3.4%, respectively (Figure 3.14I) with no statistically significant difference between subject groups (p=0.39).

These data show that IL-2-induced cytotoxicity of PBMC is significantly Higher in HBV patients, compared with control subjects, at an E:T ratio of 5:1.

# **3.5.3** There are no significant differences in the IFN-α-induced cytotoxicity of PBMC in HBV infection

At E:T ratios of 5:1, the specific lysis was 0% for all healthy control subjects and ranged from 0-2.6% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14E and Figure 3.14F), with means of 0% and 0.64+/-0.25% (Figure 3.14G). No statistical comparison between HBV patients and control subjects was carried out due to the lack of response to IFN- $\alpha$  in control subjects, at this E:T ratio. At E:T ratios of 25:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-6.4% in healthy control subjects and from 0-22.1% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14E and Figure 3.14F), with means of 2.2+/-0.55% and 5+/-1.6% (Figure 3.14H, p=0.40; not significant). At E:T ratios of 50:1, the specific lysis ranged from 0-10.5% in healthy control subjects and from 0-26.6% in HBV patients (Figure 3.14E and Figure 3.14F). The mean specific lyses were 3.9+/-1.4% and 6.9+/-1.9%, respectively (Figure 3.14I, p=0.57; not significant).

Although, PBMC isolated from HBV patients appear to be more responsive to IFN- $\alpha$  treatment, these data do not show any statistically significant differences between HBV patients and healthy controls.
Figure 3.15

Figure 3.15

#### 3.6 Bonferroni correction method

Since the present study involved the analysis of the frequencies of multiple cell populations in patient and control subject groups, it is possible that statistically-significant differences in the two subject groups will be identified by chance alone. The Bonferroni correction method was used to attempt to distinguish between real and false-positive results. The method assumes that spurious positives will arise when a large number of tests are performed. Therefore, the p-value is multiplied by the number of tests and if the corrected p-value ( $p_c$ ) is still within our chosen confidence interval i.e. below 0.05, then the finding is considered to be statistically significant (Shaffer 1995).

For the phenotypical study of innate lymphocytes, 26 tests were performed and 13 of these yielded significant p-values, as shown in Table 3.5. By applying the Bonferroni correction method to the p-values obtained from the Mann-Whitney U tests, the most substantial differences could be filtered out. Both the p and  $p_c$  values for all tests are listed in Table 3.5. Following this correction, the differences in the frequencies of NT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, only, were shown to be statistically sound with  $p_c$ -values of 0.005 and 0.02, respectively (Table 3.5).

These data provide strong evidence that the frequencies of circulating NT and  $\gamma\delta$ T cells are Higher in HBV infection.

#### **Table 3.5**

**Statistical analysis of the significant phenotypical differences observed in innate lymphocyte populations in HBV infection:** The p-values and corrected p-values for 13 of 26 statistical tests performed in the phenotypical study of innate lymphocytes in HBV infection.

TEST	*Change in HBV	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value
NK cells	Higher	0.04	1.04
CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% NK cells)	Higher	0.006	0.2
CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% lymphocytes)	Higher	0.04	1.04
CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells (% NK cells)	Lower	0.006	0.2
NT cells	Higher	0.0002	0.005
CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NT cells (% NT cells)	Higher	0.009	0.2
CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NT cells (% lymphocytes)	Higher	0.003	0.08
CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> NT cells (% NT cells)	Lower	0.009	0.2
Total CD56 <sup>+</sup> cells	Higher	0.005	0.1
$CD56^{DIM}$ cells (% total $CD56^+$ cells)	Higher	0.007	0.2
CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> cells (% lymphocytes)	Higher	0.02	0.5
$CD56^{BRIGHT}$ cells (% total $CD56^+$ cells)	Lower	0.007	0.2
γδ T cells	Higher	0.0009	0.02

\*Change in HBV indicates whether the frequencies of cells are higher or lower in HBV-infected subjects, compared to control subjects.

CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells are those cells that express high levels of CD56 while CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells are those that express lower levels of CD56.  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+T$  cells are those iNKT cells that co-express both the V $\alpha 24$   $\alpha$ -chain and the V $\beta 11^+\beta$ -chain of the  $\alpha\beta$ -TCR. 6B11<sup>+</sup>T cells are those iNKT cells which express the V $\alpha 24$   $\alpha$ -chain.

Significant results after Bonferroni correction (pc values) are highlighted in italics.

#### 3.7 Discussion

This study investigated the frequencies of circulating innate lymphocytes in HBV infection in an effort to elucidate the early immune response to the virus. Since the majority of the patients had a low viral load and an ALT below 40, the group of patients were considered to have minimal or no liver disease and a low viral burden. Therefore, despite the presence of HBsAg, the group represented an effective antiviral immune response and the frequencies of innate lymphocytes found in such subjects were considered to reflect the responses needed to control HBV infection. The frequencies of circulating NK, NT and total CD56<sup>+</sup> cells were quantified in this study along with the frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> populations of these cells. The CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets were quantified as a percentage of NK, NT and total CD56 cells and as a percentage of lymphocytes. These subsets were identified based on the cell surface density (mean fluorescence intensity) of CD56 and since isotype controls could not be used to distinguish them, it must be acknowledged that their identification was influenced by the operator of the flow cytometer. The frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells,  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+$  T cells and  $6B11^+$  T cells were also quantified along with the frequencies of B cells expressing CD1a, b, c and d and monocytes expressing CD1a, b, c and d.

To date, several studies have revealed a requirement for innate lymphocytes in the clearance of HBV infection. NK cytotoxicity and IL-2 production is Higher in acute HBV infection and returns to normal in the recovery phase thus suggesting that these cells are involved in the resolution of infection (Echevarria *et al.* 1991). The NK and NKT cell-mediated inhibition of HBV replication in transgenic mice also indicates that these cells are important in the fight against HBV (Kimura *et al.* 2002; Pasquetto *et al.* 2000; Kakimi *et al.* 2000). Furthermore, responders to vaccination with HBsAg possess higher frequencies of circulating NK and NT cells and these cells elicit superior cytokine-producing capacities in such subjects (Albarran *et al.* 2005). Since these studies have highlighted the importance of innate lymphocytes in HBV, it was believed that knowledge of the abundance and functions of these cells in controlled HBV infection would facilitate a better understanding of successful immune responses against HBV. Depleted numbers of circulating NK cells in chronically infected HCV patients have previously been found by our research group, while others have found reduced frequencies of iNKT cells and NT cells in HCV-infected livers (Golden-Mason *et al.*  2008; Deignan *et al.* 2002) and in HCC (Kawarabayashi *et al.* 2000). It appears that lower numbers of innate lymphocytes can predispose an individual to viral persistence in HCV and it was proposed the same for HBV. Alternatively, the virus might infect, activate or kill innate lymphocytes and be the cause of the numerical change. It was proposed that impaired innate lymphocyte responses lead to uncontrollable viral replication and inadequate adaptive responses and that, the subsequent immune responses cause liver damage without eliminating the virus. Since HBV is noncytopathic, such immune responses might be responsible for the liver disease associated with HBV infection. In this study however, patients who were persistently infected with a low viral burden but were not diseased were examined and therefore, exhibited an effective but apparently non-pathological immune response. The response found in such persons might be required to prevent high viral burden and liver cirrhosis in other persistently-infected patients.

Expansions of circulating innate lymphocytes have been found in our patient cohort, compared to a group of uninfected controls, which this might be representative of an active antiviral response. NK, NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, but not iNKT cells, were more abundant in the peripheral blood of HBV-infected patients than in that of uninfected control subjects. This suggests that these cells are important players in the control of HBV replication.

After using the Bonferroni correction method to eliminate significant differences that may arise solely as a result of multiple testing, the higher frequencies of circulating NT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV infection remained statistically significant. Therefore, it is proposed that these expansions were representative of an active but regulated hepatic immune response that kept HBV replication under control without causing liver damage.

Expansions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been identified in several viral infections and may enhance immune responses via cytokine production as well as eliciting both cytolytic and non-cytolytic inhibition of viral replication. However, a similar study to this has revealed depletions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in both asymptomatic HBV-infected patients and those with liver disease, compared to controls (Chen *et al.* 2008). However, the study population examined by that group was of Asian origin whereas ours is a group of mixed race comprising Caucasians, Africans and Asians. Furthermore, Chen *et al.* (2008) found the lower frequencies in the V $\delta$ 2 T cell subset as opposed to the total  $\gamma\delta$  T cell population. Both of these TCR-chain recognition and demographic issue have been addressed in Chapter 5 to determine if our data still disagree with Chen et al (2008).

The NT cells may also elicit both cytolytic and non-cytolytic inhibition of viral replication and it is possible that these cells have been derived from  $CD8^+$  T cells which could not clear the virus due to weakened recognition capacity caused by antigenic drift (Kelly-Rogers *et al.* 2006). This may, therefore, represent an evolutionary mechanism of the immune system to facilitate a switch from an inefficient specific response to an efficient non-specific response. IL-2 is a potent stimulator of T cell proliferation and is commonly used as an adjuvant in immunotherapeutics (Dieli *et al.* 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008). It has also been shown to be a powerful inducer of NT cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Kelly Rogers *et al.* 2006; Jin *et al.* 1998; Zoll *et al.* 1998) and these cells may contribute to the Higher IL-2 induced cytotoxicity observed in HBV. However, it cannot be concluded whether cytotoxicity is a major contributor to immunity against HBV in our patient cohort or whether the higher levels of in cytolytic activity are a by-product of an active antiviral response. Since liver damage is not evident in the majority of our study patients, it is likely that non-cytolytic mechanisms are primarily responsible for the control of HBV infection in these individuals.

Overall, this study yields strong evidence that NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are involved in the control of HBV replication. Furthermore, the frequencies of these innate T cells do not strongly correlate with differences in gender, age, viral load or disease severity but, although not statistically significant, higher frequencies of both cells are observed in patients with elevated ALT levels. This suggests that if not regulated, the expansions of these potent cytotoxic cells and inflammatory cytokine producers may lead to liver damage. Examination of demographically-matched controls also ensured that any differences observed between the control and patient group were not predominantly influenced by the race of the patients.

Therefore, it is proposed that NK, NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are important for the control of HBV infection. Our next aims are to determine if the cytokine profiles of innate lymphocytes reveal more about their antiviral functions in HBV and to discover which innate T cell subsets are expanded in this persistent infection.

## Chapter 4

# Cytokine production by innate lymphocytes in HBV infection

#### 4.1 Introduction

4.2	IFN-γ expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes	
	from HBV patients and healthy controls	143
4.2.1	IFN-7-producing NK cells in HBV patients and healthy control	
	subjects	143
4.2.2	IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> and CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells in HBV patients	
	and healthy control subjects	144
4.2.3	The frequencies of IFN-7-producing NT cells are higher in HBV	
	patients than in healthy control subjects	148
4.2.4	The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing conventional T cells	
	are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	148
4.2.5	The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing total lymphocytes are	
	higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	149
4.3	IL-10 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes	
	from HBV patients and healthy controls	152
4.3.1	The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NK cells are slightly	
	higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	152
4.3.2	The frequencies of IL-10-producing $\text{CD56}^{\text{DIM}}$ and $\text{CD56}^{\text{BRIGHT}}$ NK	
	cells are higher in the peripheral blood of HBV patients, compared to	
	healthy control subjects	152
4.3.3	The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NT cells are slightly	
	higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	156
4.3.4	The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing T cells are similar in	
	HBV patients and in healthy control subjects	156
4.3.5	There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating	
	IL-10-producing lymphocytes between HBV patients and healthy	
	control subjects	157
4.4	IL-13 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes	
	from HBV patients and healthy controls	159
4.4.1	Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing NK cells are low in both	

4.7	IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes in HBV patient groups	177
	patients and healthy control subjects	175
4.6.3	Undetectable levels of IL-17A RNA in PBMC isolated from HBV	
	and healthy control subjects	173
4.6.2	Similar levels of IL-10 RNA in PBMC isolated from HBV patients	
	HBV patients, compared with healthy control subjects	171
4.6.1	Significantly higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$ RNA in PBMC isolated from	
	and healthy controls	171
4.6	Cytokine RNA levels in whole PBMC isolated from HBV patients	
	similar in HBV patients and healthy control subjects	169
4.5.4	The frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing lymphocytes are	
	stimulation in HBV infection	168
4.5.3	Enhanced responses of circulating IL-17-producing T cells to in vitro	
	subjects	168
	IL-17-producing NT cells between HBV patients and healthy control	
4.5.2	There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating	
	subjects	165
	IL-17-producing NK cells between HBV patients and healthy control	
4.5.1	There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating	
	from HBV patients and healthy controls	165
4.5	IL-17 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes	
	higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	105
4.4.4	higher in UDV notion to then in healthy control subjects	162
4 4 4	Infection	162
4.4.3	Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing 1 cells are higher in HBV	1.00
4.4.2	differences between the two groups	162
	control subjects and HBV patients and, there are no significant	1.60
4.4.2	Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing NT cells are low in both	
	stimulation are significantly reduced in HBV infection	159
	control subjects and HBV patients but, responses to in vitro	

4.7.1	The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing NK cells do not	
	correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age	177
4.7.2	The frequencies of circulating IFN-\gamma-producing NT cells do not	
	correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age	181
4.7.3	The frequencies of circulating IFN-\gamma-producing T cells do not	
	correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age	185
4.8	Higher frequencies of IFN-γ-producing NK and NT cells following incubation with serum from HBV patients or HBV surface	
	antigen	189
4.9	Bonferroni Correction method	192
4.10	Discussion	196

#### 4.1 Introduction

In Chapter 3, it was shown that circulating innate lymphocytes are expanded in our patient cohort suggesting that these higher frequencies are indicative of a good immune response against HBV since the majority of the patients studied have low viral load and normal ALT levels. Although, viral clearance is not achieved, the majority of these patients appear to represent the best scenario for persistent HBV infection because viral load is maintained at a low level and there is no evidence of liver disease. Such immune control is found in other persistent infections such as CMV and EBV infection. Here, the cytokine profiles of these cells in HBV infection were investigated in order to gain knowledge of their functional capacity in immune responses against the virus. The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -, IL-10-, IL-13- and IL-17-producing NK cells, NT cells and conventional T cells were investigated. This may inform us on the influence of innate lymphocyte population was also examined to learn more about the overall immune response in these HBV-infected patients.

IFN- $\gamma$  is the classical antiviral cytokine and can elicit a variety of functions that promote viral clearance (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). These include the recruitment and activation of macrophages, NK cells and T cells, the polarisation of T cell responses, the upregulation of antigen processing, transport and MHC Class I expression in infected cells and the disruption of viral replication. IFN- $\gamma$  is very important in the non-cytolytic control of virus infection which is often the preferred mechanism when large numbers of cells in large vital organs are infected (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). During infection by hepatotropic viruses such as HBV, strong cytolytic antiviral mechanisms could cause more harm than good and may contribute to the development of liver disease (Maini et al. 2000). One study in HBV-infected chimpanzees revealed that the clearance of HBV DNA from liver occurred at the same time as the appearance of IFN- $\gamma$  and before the peak of T cell infiltration thus implying that viral clearance was mediated noncytolytically and that conventional T cells may not have been the source. Since NK and NKT cells are potent producers of the cytokine, they were proposed as the source of IFN- $\gamma$  in this model (Guidotti *et al.* 1999). Therefore, a better approach to clearing HBV without causing significant liver damage might be a non-cytolytic mechanism mediated by cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . It was hypothesised that IFN- $\gamma$  would be the predominant cytokine produced by innate lymphocytes in the successful immune

control of HBV. IFN- $\gamma$  is released by NK cells, NT cells, iNKT cells and several subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells from mice and humans (Orange *et al.* 1996; Biron *et al.* 1999; Spada *et al.* 2000; Kakimi *et al.* 2000; Kelly-Rogers *et al.* 2006; Eberl *et al.* 2009). It is representative of an active antiviral response and its expression by such cells is substantially higher in responders to HBV vaccination (Albarran *et al.* 2005). Therefore, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing NK and NT cells in HBV-infected individuals and uninfected controls were quantified.

IL-10 is an immunomodulatory cytokine produced by T cells, monocytes and NK cells and it is crucial in the regulation of inflammatory responses and the prevention of immune-mediated damage. However, its ability to suppress the differentiation of cells that produce antiviral cytokines has been manipulated by several viruses in order to evade antiviral immune responses (Taoufik et al. 1997; Stockl et al. 1999; Brady et al. 2003). For instance HIV gp120 induces IL-10 production and inhibits IL-12 production by monocytes while CMV produces an IL-10 homologue that can elicit the same biological effects as human IL-10 (Taoufik et al. 1997; Kotenko et al. 2000). Also, HCV protein NS4 has been shown to induce IL-10 expression and in turn, dampen IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-12 and IL-17 production (Brady *et al.* 2003; Rowan *et al.* 2008). Therefore, an overriding regulatory response mediated by the production of IL-10 may promote viral persistence in HCV, HIV and CMV, and perhaps the same is true for HBV. The early stage of acute HBV infection is actually marked by a transient inhibition of NK and T cell responses that coincide with an increase in IL-10 at the time of HBV viremia (Dunn et al. 2009). This suggests that in persistent HBV infection, the virus may induce IL-10 at an early stage in infection leading to inadequate antiviral immune responses and uncontrollable HBV replication. Furthermore, the higher expression of IL-10 in HCV infection is not only seen in Treg cells and monocytes, but also in NK cells, thus identifying an immunomodulatory role for innate lymphocytes in chronic HCV infection (De Maria et al. 2007). The frequencies of IL-10-expressing NK and NT cells were quantified in a cohort of relatively healthy HBV-infected patients compared to a group of uninfected controls to determine the immunomodulatory capacity of innate lymphocytes in a model of immune control.

IL-13 is as a Th2 cytokine that promotes the humoral response while suppressing important components of the antiviral response i.e. macrophage inflammatory cytokine production and Th1 responses. Although IL-13 is predominantly produced by T cells, NK and iNKT cells have also been shown to express it (Takahashi *et al.* 2002; Hepworth & Grencis 2009). Furthermore, iNKT cells isolated from individuals chronically-infected with HCV secrete higher levels of IL-13 than those taken from uninfected persons. It is possible that HCV induces this IL-13 production by iNKT cells as an immune subversion strategy in which Th2-biased iNKT cells can suppress antiviral responses and contribute to the persistence of HCV infection (Inoue *et al.* 2006). Increases in iNKT-derived IL-13 have also been shown to correlate with the development of liver cirrhosis in viral hepatitis, thus supporting the hypothesis that innate lymphocytes exhibiting Th2 cytokine profiles may impede HBV clearance and promote disease progression (De Lalla 2004). To test this hypothesis, the frequencies of IL-13-producing innate lymphocytes and conventional T cells were examined in persons with controlled HBV infection, expecting that a Th2 bias would not be evident in such individuals.

IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine whose importance is still not fully understood in the setting of viral infection. The inhibition of IL-17 production by the HCV protein NS4 suggests that the cytokine plays an active role in immunity against the virus (Rowan *et al.* 2008). Several studies in HBV have indicated that the cytokine is a prominent feature in chronic HBV and HBV-related disease. For instance, Zhang *et al.* (2010) have recently found expansions of circulating and intrahepatic IL-17producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in chronic HBV with increases positively correlating with disease progression. Similarly, Ge *et al.* (2010) have reported higher frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing With frequencies negatively correlating with frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells. Furthermore, IL-17 has also been implicated in HBV-related liver fibrosis (Xu *et al.*2009). These studies imply that IL-17 promotes liver disease but not necessarily viral clearance in HBV infection. The frequencies of IL-17-expressing NK, NT and conventional T cells were investigated in HBV-infected with low viral burden and with little or no evidence of liver disease to determine the abundance of the cytokine in what seems to be controlled HBV infection.

RT-PCR was used to determine if the gene expression profiles of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-17 were altered in PBMC from HBV-infected subjects, compared to control subjects. This would indicate whether the control of such responses was being performed at a protein level or a genetic level. It may also serve to support our results on cytokine expression by lymphocyte subsets.

### **4.2 IFN-***γ* expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from HBV patients and healthy controls

#### 4.2.1 IFN-γ-producing NK cells in HBV patients and healthy control subjects

Freshly isolated PBMC from 32 HBV-infected or 23 control subjects were incubated for 4 hours in medium alone or with PMA/I or plate-bound anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb, in the presence of Brefeldin A. FITC-labelled anti-IFN- $\gamma$  mAb was used in combination with PE-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK (CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>) cells (Figure 4.1B, C). It was observed that the MFI of CD56 expression was always decreased following PMA/I stimulation. Such findings are consistent with the findings of Kelly-Rogers *et al.* (2006). The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells were calculated as a percentage of total NK cells (Figure 4.2A) and as a percentage of lymphocytes (Figure 4.2B).

In the absence of ex vivo stimulation, the mean frequencies of NK cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  were 3.5+/-0.3% and 6.4+/-0.8% of all NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. As expected, these frequencies were not higher when PBMC were stimulated with the T cell mitogen, anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (2.4+/-0.2% and 3.8+/-0.4% of NK cells). After PMA/I stimulation, means of 18.1+/-1.1% and 22.3+/-1.8% of NK cells from controls and HBV patients expressed IFN-γ. This frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing NK cells were slightly higher in HBV patients in the absence and presence of *in vitro* stimulation but none of these differences were statistically significant (Figure 4.2A, p=0.4, 0.2, 0.2). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, only 0.4+/-0.04% of lymphocytes from controls were CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$ lymphocytes, but this was significantly higher in PBMC from HBV patients (0.9+/-0.1%; p = 0.01). These percentages were not higher when anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment was used and they remained significantly higher in HBV patients compared to controls (0.4+/-0.07% and 0.8+/-0.2%; p=0.03). After PMA/I treatment, the percentages of IFN-y-expressing NK cells were increased to 2.1+/-0.2% and 2.6+/-0.3% in controls and HBV patients, respectively (Figure 4.2B).

These data indicate that NK cells from patients with HBV infection are not more likely to produce IFN- $\gamma$  than those NK cells from control subjects but that the overall number of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing NK cells in PBMC are greater in HBV patients.

### 4.2.2 IFN-γ-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells in HBV patients and healthy control subjects

IFN- $\gamma$ -production was also examined among the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NK cells and the frequencies of such cells were calculated as a percentage of the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets and as a percentage of total lymphocytes (Figure 4.1C).

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  were 4.4+/-0.3% and 8.3+/-1.3% of all CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. As expected, these frequencies were not increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (3.1+/-0.3% and 8.5+/-1.4% of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells). After PMA/I stimulation, 17.7+/-1.2% of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells from controls expressed IFN- $\gamma$  and this was significantly higher in HBV patients (24+/-1.6%; p=0.006, Figure 4.2C). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, 0.4+/-0.04% and 0.9+/-0.1% of resting lymphocytes in controls and HBV patients, respectively, were CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$ . This difference was significant (p=0.01). These percentages were not increased by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment (0.4+/-0.07% and 0.7+/-0.1%). However, after PMA/I treatment, 2+/-0.2% and 2.4+/-0.3% of lymphocytes from controls and HBV patients, respectively, were IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (Figure 4.2D). The overall frequencies of stimulated lymphocytes that were IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells were similar in HBV patients and controls.

In unstimulated PBMC, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  were 36.4+/-4.8% and 38.6+/-4.4% of all CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively (Figure 4.2E). These frequencies were not increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (6.8+/-1.2% and 14.9+/-1.5% of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells, p=0.01). After PMA/I stimulation, the numbers of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells shrunk considerably, due to the suspected downregulation of CD56 on the surface of the activated NK cells 22+/-4.1% of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells from controls expressed IFN- $\gamma$  and this was significantly higher in HBV patients (38.2+/-4.5%; p=0.02). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, 0.04+/-0.01% and 0.05+/-0.01% of resting lymphocytes in controls and HBV patients, respectively, were CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  (Figure 4.2F). These percentages were not increased by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment (0.05+/-0.01% and 0.04+/-0.01%), however, after PMA/I treatment, 0.2+/-0.02% and 0.2+/-0.04% of lymphocytes from controls and HBV patients, respectively, were IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells. The overall frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells were similar in both subject groups.

These data suggest that both  $CD56^{DIM}$  and  $CD56^{BRIGHT}$  NK cells from HBV patients are more likely to produce IFN- $\gamma$  than those from healthy control subjects.

#### 4.2.3 The frequencies of IFN-γ-producing NT cells are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

FITC-labelled anti-IFN- $\gamma$  mAb was used in combination with PE-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells. IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells were identified as the CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> cells (Figure 4.1B) which also stained positively for IFN- $\gamma$  (Figure 4.1D). The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> NT cells were calculated as a percentage of the total NT cell population (Figure 4.3A) and as a percentage of total lymphocytes (Figure 4.3B).

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NT cells expressing IFN- $\gamma$  were 2.8+/-0.6% and 2.1+/-0.3% of all NT cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb, (3.2+/-0.5% and 7.6+/-0.9% of NT cells; p<0.005) or with PMA/I (15.7+/-1.4% in controls and 45.2+/-4.2% of NT cells in HBV patients (Figure 4.3A, p<0.0001)). These data suggest that NT cells in chronic HBV patients respond more effectively to stimulation *in vitro* than their counterparts in healthy control subjects. When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells were less than 0.3% in all subjects. These percentages were slightly increased by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment and again, the frequencies were significantly higher in HBV patients (0.1+/-0.02% and 0.4+/-0.05%; p<0.0001). Following PMA/I treatment, 0.5+/-0.05% of NT cells from controls expressed IFN- $\gamma$ , and this was significantly higher in PBMC from HBV patients (2.2+/-0.19% of lymphocytes; Figure 4.3B, p<0.001).

These data indicate that NT cells from patients with HBV infection are more likely to produce IFN- $\gamma$  in response to *ex vivo* stimulation and, therefore, along with NK cells, they make a significant contribution to the numbers of lymphocytes that produce IFN- $\gamma$ .

### 4.2.4 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing conventional T cells are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

FITC-labelled anti-IFN- $\gamma$  mAb was used in combination with PE-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IFN- $\gamma$ -producing classical T cells i.e. CD56<sup>-</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes (Figure 4.1B, 4.1D). The frequencies of T cells were

calculated as percentages of the total CD56<sup>-</sup> T cell population (Figure 4.3C) and as a percentage of lymphocytes (Figure 4.3D).

As a percentage of the total T cell population, the means frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were 1.1+/-0.1%, 3.7+/-0.53% and 1.7+/-0.2% in controls and 1.7+/-0.3%, 10.8+/-1.1%, and 2.2+/-0.3%, in HBV patients for unstimulated, PMA/I-stimulated and anti-CD3 and anti-CD28-stimulated PBMC, respectively (Figure 4.3C). The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were consistently higher in HBV patients, with statistical significance when PMA/I-stimulated PBMC were used (p<0.0001). As a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were 0.5+/-0.1% 2.4+/-0.4% and 0.9+/-0.2% in controls and 0.6+/-0.1%, 4.8+/-0.4%, and 1.1+/-0.1%, in HBV patients for unstimulated, PMA/I-stimulated and anti-CD3 and anti-CD28-stimulated PBMC, respectively. Again, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were consistently higher in HBV patients multiple patients for unstimulated, PMA/I-stimulated and anti-CD3 and anti-CD28-stimulated PBMC, respectively. Again, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were consistently higher in HBV patients, with statistical significance when PMA/I-stimulated PBMC, respectively. Again, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were consistently higher in HBV patients, with statistical significance when PMA/I-stimulated PBMC, respectively. Again, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were consistently higher in HBV patients, with statistical significance when PMA/I-stimulated PBMC were used (Figure 4.3D, p<0.0001).

These data suggest that the occurrence of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells is higher in chronic HBV patients than in healthy control subjects, upon stimulation *in vitro*. Furthermore, as both T and NT cell populations showed higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$  production, it appears that there is a general overproduction of IFN- $\gamma$  associated with HBV infection.

#### 4.2.5 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing total lymphocytes are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

FITC-labelled anti-IFN-γ mAb was used to identify IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes. In the absence of stimulation, the frequencies of IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.02% to 5.8% in control subjects and from 0.05% to 37.8% in HBV patients with mean frequencies of 1+/-0.2% and 4.8+/-1.6%, respectively (Figure 4.3E). After PMA/I stimulation, the frequencies of total IFNγ-producing lymphocytes ranged from 0.47% to 34.2% in control subjects and from 2.4% to 32.3% in HBV patients (Figure 4.3E), with means of 10+/-1.5% and 12.9+/-1.3%, respectively. The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes were significantly higher in chronic HBV patients than in healthy control subjects both in the absence and presence of stimulation (p=0.01, p=0.05). These data show that all T and NK cell subsets show higher IFN- $\gamma$  expression which contributes to an overall higher level of IFN- $\gamma$  production by the total lymphocyte population in the peripheral blood of HBV patients.

### **4.3 IL-10** expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from HBV patients and healthy controls

Freshly isolated PBMC from 28 HBV-infected or 23 control subjects were incubated for 4 hours in medium alone or with PMA/I or plate-bound anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb, in the presence of brefeldin A. PE-labelled anti-IL-10 mAb was used in combination with FITC-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IL-10-producing NK cells, CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NK cells, NT cells, conventional T cells and total lymphocytes (Figure 4.4A, B).

### 4.3.1 The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NK cells are slightly higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

The frequencies of IL-10-producing NK cells were 0.5+/-0.2% and 1.4+/-0.4% of all NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were not increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (0.6+/-0.2% and 1.8+/-0.5% of NK cells). After PMA/I stimulation, 0.7+/-0.2% of NK cells from controls expressed IL-10, but this was significantly higher in PBMC from HBV patients (2+/-0.5%; p=0.04, Figure 4.5A). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of IL-10-producing NK cells were consistently higher in HBV patients but constituted less than 0.5% of lymphocytes in all subjects. *In vitro* stimulation did not have a significant impact on these frequencies (Figure 4.5B).

These data indicate that NK cells from HBV patients are more likely to produce IL-10 than their counterparts in healthy controls. However, their low occurrence suggests that they may have minimal impact on the regulation of inflammatory cytokine production in HBV infection.

## 4.3.2 The frequencies of IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells are higher in the peripheral blood of HBV patients, compared to healthy control subjects

IL-10-production was also examined among the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NK cells.

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells expressing IL-10 were 0.6+/-0.1% and 1.7+/-0.4% of all CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. As expected, these frequencies were similar when

PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (0.7+/-0.1% and 1.9+/-0.5% of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells). After PMA/I stimulation, 1+/-0.2% of CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells from controls expressed IL-10 but this was significantly higher in HBV patients (2.7+/-0.4%; p=0.002, Figure 4.5C). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, 0.04+/-0.02% and 0.09+/-0.02% of lymphocytes in controls and HBV patients, respectively, were CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells expressing IL-10. These percentages were not significantly increased after anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment (0.04+/-0.02% and 0.1+/-0.02%) or PMA/I treatment (0.04+/-0.01% and 0.1+/-0.02%). However, PMA/I-stimulated CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells from HBV patients elicited higher responses than their counterparts from control subjects (p<0.0001, Figure 4.5D).

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells expressing IL-10 were 0.9+/-0.3% and 2.5+/-0.5% of all CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were not increased when PBMC were stimulated with the T cell mitogen, anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (0.9+/-0.3% and 2.4+/-0.5% of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells). However, after PMA/I stimulation, 2.4+/-0.7% of CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells from controls expressed IL-10 and this was significantly higher in HBV patients (3.8+/-0.7%; p=0.02, Figure 4.5E). When calculated as a proportion of total lymphocytes, frequencies of IL-10-expressing CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells were consistently higher in HBV patients but at a percentage of less than 0.4% of all lymphocytes. It is therefore unlikely that they significantly contributed to overall IL-10 production and modulation of inflammatory responses (Figure 4.5F).

These data indicate that both the IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> and CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> subsets of NK cells are higher in HBV patients but at such low frequencies, it is difficult to propose a possible role for such cells in immune responses against HBV.

### 4.3.3 The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NT cells are slightly higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NT cells expressing IL-10 were 1.7+/-0.3% and 2.8+/-0.4% of all NT cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb, (2.4+/-0.4% and 3.2+/-0.5% of NT cells) or PMA/I (7.1+/-1.1% in controls and 11.9+/-2.1% of NT cells in HBV patients, Figure 4.6A). Although frequencies of IL-10-producing NT cells were slightly higher in chronic HBV patients than healthy control subjects, statistical testing revealed that such differences were insignificant. When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of IL-10-producing NT cells were 0.1+/-0.03% and 0.1+/-0.04%; in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These percentages were increased by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment (0.2+/-0.04% and 0.3+/-0.06%) and PMA/I treatment (0.2+/-0.04% and 0.7+/-0.1%, Figure 4.6B).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NT cells are similar in control subjects and HBV patients.

### 4.3.4 The frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing T cells are similar in HBV patients and in healthy control subjects

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of T cells expressing IL-10 were 0.6+/-0.3% and 0.3+/-0.04% of all T cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb, (1.5+/-0.6% and 0.6+/-0.1% of T cells) or PMA/I (0.8+/-0.1% and 0.9+/-0.1%, Figure 4.6C). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the frequencies of IL-10-producing T cells were 0.4+/-0.1% and 0.2+/-0.01% in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These percentages were increased by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb treatment (0.9+/-0.3% and 0.3+/-0.04%) and PMA/I treatment (0.4+/-0.04% and 0.4+/-0.04%, Figure 4.6D).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing T cells are similar in control subjects and HBV patients and thus, play no significant role in immune responses against HBV.

#### 4.3.5 There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating IL-10producing lymphocytes between HBV patients and healthy control subjects

FITC-labelled anti-IL-10 mAb was used to identify all IL-10-producing lymphocytes. In the absence of stimulation, the frequencies of IL-10-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.03% to 2.7% in control subjects and from 0% to 7% in HBV patients, with means of 0.58+/-0.14% and 1.5+/-0.37%, respectively (Figure 4.6E, p=0.16). In the presence of PMA/I stimulation, the frequencies of IL-10-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.13% to 9% in control subjects and from 0.01% to 12.1% in HBV patients, with means of 2.3+/-0.5% and 3.1+/-0.5%, respectively (Figure 4.6E, p=0.4).

These data suggest that, despite the presence of higher frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NK cells and slightly higher frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing NT cells, the overall number of circulating IL-10-producing lymphocytes is similar in chronic HBV patients and healthy control subjects.

### 4.4 IL-13 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from HBV patients and healthy controls

Freshly isolated PBMC from HBV-infected or control subjects were incubated for 4 hours in medium alone or with PMA/I or plate-bound anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb, in the presence of brefeldin A. PE-labelled anti-IL-13 mAb was used in combination with FITC-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IL-13-producing NK cells, NT cells, conventional T cells and total lymphocytes (Figure 4.7A, B).

## 4.4.1 Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing NK cells are low in both control subjects and HBV patients but, responses to *in vitro* stimulation are significantly reduced in HBV infection

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NK cells expressing IL-13 were 2.7+/-0.3% and 2+/-0.2% of all NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were not increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (3.9+/-1% and 2.4+/-0.5% of NK cells). However, after PMA/I stimulation, 10.4+/-1.1% of NK cells from controls expressed IL-13, but this was significantly lower in PBMC from HBV patients (5+/-0.8%; p<0.05, Figure 4.8A). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-13producing NK cells were 0.2+/-0.1% and 0.2+/-0.04% in controls and HBV patients and 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.2+/-0.1% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-13-producing NK cells to 0.9+/-0.04%in controls and 0.6+/-0.1% in HBV patients (Figure 4.8B).

These data indicate that NK cells from HBV patient are less likely to produce IL-13 than their counterparts in healthy controls.

## 4.4.2 Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing NT cells are low in both control subjects and HBV patients and, there are no significant differences between the two groups

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NT cells expressing IL-13 were 1.8+/-0.4% and 1.8+/-0.3% of all NT cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (7.9+/-1.6% and 6.6+/-0.7% of NT cells) or PMA/I (12.2+/-1.9% and 12.1+/-2.4% of NT cells, Figure 4.9A). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-13-producing NT cells were 0.2+/-0.03% and 0.3+/-0.1% in controls and HBV patients and 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.4+/-0.1% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-13-producing NT cells to 0.4+/-0.1% in controls and 0.7+/-0.2% in HBV patients (Figure 4.9B).

These data show that the numbers of circulating IL-13–producing NT cells are unchanged in HBV infection.

### 4.4.3 Frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing T cells are higher in HBV infection

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of T cells expressing IL-13 were 0.5+/-0.1% and 0.8+/-0.1% of all T cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively (p<0.05). These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (1.4+/-0.7% and 1.4+/-0.5% of T cells) or PMA/I (1.1+/-0.3% in controls and 3.6+/-0.9% in HBV patients, p=0.002, Figure 4.9C). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-13producing T cells were 0.4+/-0.1% and 0.8+/-0.2% in controls and HBV patients (p=0.0005), and 1.1+/-0.7% and 1.4+/-0.7% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-13-producing T cells to 0.8+/-0.3% in controls and this increase was significantly enhanced in HBV patients (3.2+/-1.3%; p=0.0008, Figure 4.9D).

These data show that the frequencies of IL-13-producing T cells are significantly higher in HBV infection.

### 4.4.4 The frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing lymphocytes are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

In PBMC incubated in medium alone, the frequencies of IL-13-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.06% to 1.1% in control subjects and from 0.43% to 2.3% in HBV patients, with means of 0.41+/-0.09% and 1.3+/-0.18%, respectively (Figure 4.9E, p=0.004). After PMA/I stimulation, the frequencies of IL-13-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.02% to 2.4% in control subjects and from 1.2% to 7.5% in HBV patients, with means of 0.86+/-0.22% and 2.6+/-0.5%, respectively (Figure 4.9E, p=0.01).

These data suggest that higher frequencies of circulating IL-13-producing T cells contribute to an overall higher number of circulating IL-13-producing lymphocytes in chronic HBV infection.
### 4.5 IL-17 expression by stimulated NK, NT, T and total lymphocytes from HBV patients and healthy controls

Freshly isolated PBMC from HBV-infected or control subjects were incubated for 4 hours in medium alone or with PMA/I or plate-bound anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb, in the presence of brefeldin A. PE-labelled anti-IL-17 mAb was used in combination with FITC-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify IL-17-producing NK cells, NT cells, conventional T cells and total lymphocytes (Figure 4.10A, B).

### 4.5.1 There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating IL-17producing NK cells between HBV patients and healthy control subjects

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NK cells expressing IL-17 were 2.6+/-1% and 1.9+/-0.4% of all NK cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were not increased anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (3.4+/-1% and 2.8+/-1.1% of NK cells). However, after PMA/I stimulation, 8.8+/-2% of NK cells from controls expressed IL-17, and this was similar in PBMC from HBV patients (8.7+/-3.2%, Figure 4.11A). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-17-producing NK cells were 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.2+/-0.04% in controls and HBV patients and 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.3+/-0.1% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-17-producing NK cells to 1+/-0.2% in controls and 0.9+/-0.3% in HBV patients (Figure 4.11B).

These data show that there are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing NK cells between HBV patients and healthy control subjects.

### 4.5.2 There are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating IL-17producing NT cells between HBV patients and healthy control subjects

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of NT cells expressing IL-17 were 2.3+/-0.5% and 1.9+/-0.4% of all NT cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (11.1+/-3.5% and 10.7+/-3.6%) or with PMA/I (12.4+/-1.9% and 16.1+/-6.7%, Figure 4.12A). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-17-producing NT cells were 0.3+/-0.1% and 0.3+/-0.1% in controls and HBV patients and 0.4+/-0.1% and 0.5+/-0.2% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-17-producing NT cells to 0.4+/-0.1% in controls and 0.9+/-0.4% in HBV patients (Figure 4.12B).

These data show that the frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing NT cells are similar in HBV patients and healthy control subjects.

## 4.5.3 Enhanced responses of circulating IL-17-producing T cells to *in vitro* stimulation in HBV infection

In the absence of *ex vivo* stimulation, the mean frequencies of T cells expressing IL-17 were 0.4+/-0.1% and 0.7+/-0.1% of all T cells in controls and HBV patients, respectively. These frequencies were increased when PBMC were stimulated with, anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb (1.5+/-0.3% and 1.6+/-0.3% of T cells) or with PMA/I (1.5+/-0.3% and 3.5+/-0.5% of T cells; p=0.01, Figure 4.12C). When calculated as a percentage of total lymphocytes, the mean frequencies of IL-17-producing T cells were 0.4+/-0.1% and 0.7+/-0.1% in controls and HBV patients, and 0.5+/-0.2% and 1.1+/-0.3% following stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb. PMA/I stimulation increased percentages of IL-17-producing T cells to 0.6+/-0.1% in controls and 1.4+/-0.3% in HBV patients (Figure 4.12D).

These data show that there are no significant differences in the frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing T cells between HBV patients and healthy control subjects but, as a proportion of CD56<sup>-</sup> T cells, IL-17-producing T cells respond superiorly in HBV infection.

### 4.5.4 The frequencies of circulating IL-17-producing lymphocytes are similar in HBV patients and healthy control subjects

In PBMC incubated in medium alone, the frequencies of IL-17-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.02% to 1.6% in control subjects and from 0.09% to 2.3% in HBV patients, with means of 0.48+/-0.11% and 0.7+/-0.21%, respectively (Figure 4.12E, p=0.9). After PMA/I stimulation, the frequencies of IL-17-producing lymphocytes as a percentage of total lymphocytes ranged from 0.26% to 2.5% in control subjects and from 0.26% to 5.5% in HBV patients, with means of 1.15+/-0.17% and 1.3+/-0.37%, respectively (Figure 4.12E, p=0.6).

These data suggest that the frequencies of IL-17-producing lymphocytes are not significantly different in HBV infection.

### 4.6 Cytokine RNA levels in whole PBMC isolated from HBV patients and healthy controls

# 4.6.1 Significantly higher levels of IFN-γ RNA in PBMC isolated from HBV patients, compared with those taken from healthy control subjects

Quantitative RT-PCR for IFN-y was performed on cDNA from the PBMC of 10 HBV patients and 10 healthy control subjects. The duplicate Ct values for both IFN- $\gamma$  and  $\beta$ actin were very close (<1.5 cycles apart) which suggests that minimal pipetting error occurred. The Ct Values for β-actin ranged from 16.8 to 19.8 in control subjects and from 17.5 to 18.9 in HBV patients. These values were considered to be within or close to range, suggesting that the cDNA was of acceptable quality and quantity (Figure 4.13A). The slope of the standard curves for both  $\beta$ -actin and IFN- $\gamma$  was within range, with a slope of -3.4 and -3.2, respectively (Figure 4.13B). This confirms that the standard curves were created successfully. Finally the standard curve axes were switched and the new equation of the line was used to calculate the copy numbers (CN) for each sample by substituting the Ct value for x (Figure 4.13C). For example, after switching the axes, the equation of the line for the IFN- $\gamma$  standard curve became y = -0.3101x + 12.606. By substituting a Ct value of 27.08 for x and solving for y (y = -0.3101\*(27.08) + 12.606), a copy number of 3.99 was computed. The corrected copy number (CCN) was then calculated by normalisation against the corresponding copy number for  $\beta$ -actin. The corrected copy numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  ranged from  $10^{2.3}$  to  $10^{4.5}$  in healthy control subjects with a mean copy number of  $10^{3.3}$  +/-  $10^{0.02}$  and from  $10^{3.6}$  to  $10^{4.4}$  in HBV patients with a mean copy numbers of  $10^4$  +/-  $10^{0.07}$  (Figure 4.13D, p=0.008).

These data support the results from the cytokine production assay and show that in addition to higher IFN- $\gamma$  protein levels, the copy number of IFN- $\gamma$  RNA is significantly higher in PBMC isolated from persons with HBV infection. This also indicates that the cytokine-mediated antiviral responses to HBV infection are regulated at the genetic level and that certain HBV proteins may interact with transcription factors that regulate IFN- $\gamma$  expression.

### 4.6.2 Similar levels of IL-10 RNA in PBMC isolated from HBV patients and healthy control subjects

QRT-PCR for IL-10 was performed on cDNA from the PBMC of 10 HBV patients and 10 healthy control subjects. The duplicate Ct values for both IL-10 and  $\beta$ -actin were very close which suggests that the occurrence of pipetting error was minimal. The Ct Values for  $\beta$ -actin ranged from 17.5 to 18.7 in control subjects and from 16.7 to 18.7 in HBV patients. These values were considered to be within or close to range, suggesting that the cDNA was of acceptable quality and quantity (Figure 4.14A). The slope of the standard curves for both  $\beta$ -actin and IL-10 was within range, with a slope of -3.4 and - 3.2, respectively (Figure 4.14B). This confirms that the standard curves were created successfully. Finally the standard curve axes were switched and the new equation of the line was used to calculate the copy numbers for each sample by substituting the Ct value for x (Figure 4.14C). The corrected copy numbers of IL-10 ranged from 10<sup>1.9</sup> to 10<sup>3.4</sup> in healthy control subjects with a mean copy number of 10<sup>2.6</sup> + / - 10<sup>0.21</sup> (Figure 4.14D, p=0.8).

These data show that the copy number of IL-10 RNA is similar in PBMC isolated from HBV patients and healthy control subjects. This is in agreement with what was observed in the total lymphocyte population. This indicates that there is not a strong anti-inflammatory response at play in such subjects and that the higher frequencies of IL-10-producing innate lymphocytes may be a control measure to prevent uncontrollable IFN- $\gamma$  production and immune-mediated damage

### 4.6.3 Undetectable levels of IL-17A RNA in PBMC isolated from HBV patients and healthy control subjects

QRT-PCR for IL-17A was carried out on cDNA from the PBMC of 8 HBV patients and 9 healthy control subjects. The duplicate Ct values for  $\beta$ -actin were very close which suggests that minimal pipetting error occurred. The Ct Values for  $\beta$ -actin ranged from 17.7 to 18.9 in control subjects and from 16.7 to 18.7 in HBV patients. These values were considered to be within or close to range, suggesting that the cDNA was of acceptable quality and quantity (Figure 4.15A). The Ct values for IL-17A were undetermined suggesting that IL-17A copy numbers in PBMC of HBV patients and healthy control subjects are too low to be detected by qRT-PCR. The slopes of the standard curves for  $\beta$ -actin and IL-17A were within range, with a slope of -3.5 and -3.2, respectively (Figure 4.15B). This confirms that the standard curves were created successfully and more importantly, that IL-17A primers and probes worked. The standard curve axes were not switched because the corrected copy numbers of IL-17A could not be calculated due to undetermined Ct values. All of the experimental controls used suggest that this is due to very low levels of IL-17A RNA.

These data suggest that the copy number of IL-17A RNA is too low to be detected in PBMC isolated from HBV patients and healthy control subjects. It is possible that IL-17A RNA may only be detected in subjects where its production is significantly augmented and a pro-inflammatory response prevails.

#### **4.7 IFN-γ-producing lymphocytes in HBV patient groups**

# 4.7.1 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing NK cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells were calculated following incubation in medium alone or medium containing with PMA/I or anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb. The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells were quantified as a percentage of total NK cells (Figure 4.16A-D (left)) and as a percentage of lymphocytes (Figure 4.16A-D (right)), and compared between 19 - 25 HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. All data are shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2. A Mann-Whitney test was carried out to ascertain whether there were differences in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells between HBV-infected individuals with low viral load (less than 100,000 copies / ml) and high viral load (100,000 – 3.2x10<sup>8</sup> copies / ml), and between subjects with low ALT (less than 40 IU/ml) and high ALT (greater than 40 IU/ml). A Mann-Whitney test was also used to determine any differences based on gender and age. All p-values are shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2. No statistical differences were found. Furthermore, spearman correlation testing revealed that there were no correlations between frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells and disease severity, gender or age. All r-values are shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2.

All data shown suggest that the frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing NK cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells (shown as a percentage of total NK cells) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
		-10	. 40	Viral	Viral	-25	35-		
		<40	>40	Load	Load	<35	50		
Mean%	Medium	8.4	4.5	7.3	6.5	7.2	6.7	5.6	8.9
	PMA/I	22.4	19.1	20.9	22.5	24.3	17.4	18.4	25.5
	anti-CD3	4.5	1.8	4.1	3.1	3.9	3.6	3.7	3.9
SEM %	Medium	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.1	1.3	1.4	1	1.5
	PMA/I	3.1	2.4	2.9	3	3	2.5	2.5	3.2
	anti-CD3	0.6	0.4	0.6	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.7
<b>N</b> *	Medium	18	7	17	8	15	10	14	11
	PMA/I	13	6	13	6	11	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	15	5	15	5	13	7	10	10
p*	Medium		0.2		1		0.9		0.2
	PMA/I		0.7		0.8		0.1		0.2
	anti-CD3		0.1		0.4		0.9		0.9
r*	Medium		-0.4		-0.1		0.007		-
	PMA/I		-0.3		-0.3		-0.4		-
	anti-CD3		-0.5		0.04		-0.1		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells (shown as a percentage of lymphocytes) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
		40	40	Viral	Viral	~	35-		
		<40	>40	Load	Load	<35	50		
Mean%	Medium	1.1	0.6	0.9	1.1	1.1	0.7	0.9	0.9
	PMA	3.3	1.6	3	2.4	3.2	2.3	2.4	3.4
	anti-CD3	1.1	0.6	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.7	1.1
SEM %	Medium	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2
	PMA	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.4
	anti-CD3	0.3	0.05	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3
<b>N</b> *	Medium	18	7	17	8	15	10	14	11
	PMA	13	6	13	6	11	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	15	5	15	5	13	7	10	10
<b>p</b> *	Medium		0.1		0.9		0.8		0.6
-	PMA		0.1		0.5		0.3		0.1
	anti-CD3		0.9		0.5		0.4		1
r*	Medium		-0.3		0.2		-0.1		_
	PMA		-0.3		-0.1		-0.4		-
	anti-CD3		-0.3		-0.04		0.01		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

# 4.7.2 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing NT cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells were calculated following incubation in medium alone or medium containing with PMA/I or anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb. The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells were quantified as a percentage of total NT cells (Figure 4.17A-D (left)) and as a percentage of lymphocytes (Figure 4.17A-D (right)), and compared between 17 - 21 HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. All data are shown in Tables 4.3 and 4.4. A Mann-Whitney test was carried out to ascertain whether there were differences in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells between HBV-infected individuals with low viral load (less than 100,000 copies / ml) and high viral load (100,000 – 3.2x10<sup>8</sup> copies / ml), and between subjects with low ALT (less than 40 IU/ml) and high ALT (greater than 40 IU/ml). A Mann-Whitney test was also used to determine differences based on gender and age. All p-values are shown in Tables 4.3 and 4.4. No statistical differences were found. Furthermore, Spearman correlation testing revealed that there were no correlations between frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells and disease severity, gender or age. All r-values are shown in Tables 4.3 and 4.4.

All data shown suggest that the frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells (shown as a percentage of total NT cells) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
		<40	>40	Viral	Viral Load	<35	35- 50		
Mean%	Medium	2	1.7	1.9	1.8	1.6	2.3	1.7	2.1
	PMA	41.1	37.4	42.3	36.9	39.4	40.6	35.4	46.1
	anti-CD3	7.1	8.5	7.7	7.3	8.6	5.9	6.2	9.7
SEM %	Medium	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.3
	PMA	5.6	2.1	4.9	3.5	5.4	4	4.2	5.3
	anti-CD3	1.4	1	1.3	1.2	1.4	0.8	1.2	1.3
N*	Medium	15	6	14	7	12	9	13	8
	PMA	13	6	15	6	10	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	11	6	12	5	11	6	10	7
p*	Medium		0.9		0.9		0.5		0.4
	PMA		0.7		0.7		0.7		0.3
	anti-CD3		0.5		1		0.3		0.2
r*	Medium		-0.1		0.1		0.3		-
	PMA		0.0004		-0.01		0.1		-
	anti-CD3		0.2		0.2		-0.1		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells (shown as a percentage of lymphocytes) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
		<40	>40	Viral Load	Viral Load	<35	35- 50		
Mean%	Medium	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.08	0.1
	PMA	2	1.8	2	1.8	2	1.9	1.8	2.2
	anti-CD3	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.6
SEM %	Medium	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
	PMA	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2
	anti-CD3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.04	0.04	0.1
N*	Medium	15	6	14	7	12	9	13	8
	PMA	13	6	15	6	10	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	11	6	12	5	11	6	10	7
p*	Medium		0.7		0.9		0.8		0.2
	PMA		0.5		0.6		1		0.5
	anti-CD3		0.3		0.9		0.5		0.07
r*	Medium		-0.1		0.1		0.2		-
	PMA		0.02		0.01		0.1		-
	anti-CD3		0.3		0.2		-0.1		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

# 4.7.3 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN-y-producing T cells were calculated following incubation in medium alone or medium containing with PMA/I or anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb. The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells were quantified as a percentage of total T cells (Figure 4.18 A-D (left)) and as a percentage of lymphocytes (Figure 4.18 A-D (right)), and compared between 17 - 25 HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. All data are shown in Tables 4.5 and 4.6. A Mann-Whitney test was carried out to ascertain whether there were differences in the frequencies of IFN-y-producing T cells between HBV-infected individuals with low viral load (less than 100,000 copies / ml) and high viral load  $(100,000 - 3.2 \times 10^8 \text{ copies } / 10^8 \text{$ ml), and between subjects with low ALT (less than 40 IU/ml) and high ALT (greater than 40 IU/ml). A Mann-Whitney test was also used to determine an differences based on gender and age. All p-values are shown in Tables 4.5 and 4.6. As a proportion of T cells, frequencies of IFN-y-producing T cells isolated from HBV patients with high ALT and high viral load appear to be significantly more responsive to stimulation with anti-CD3 mAb and anti-CD28 mAb (p=0.04 and p=0.03, respectively). However, spearman correlation testing did not indicate any significant correlations between increasing viral load, disease severity and numbers of IFN-y-producing T cells. Furthermore, as a proportion of total lymphocytes, these statistical differences were not observed. All other p and r-values are shown in Tables 4.5 and 4.6, and suggest that there are no differences in the frequencies of IFN-y-producing T cells between HBV patient groups.

Overall, these data suggest that the frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells (shown as a percentage of total T cells) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
		40	40	Viral	Viral	25	35-		
		<40	>40	Load	Load	<35	50		
Mean%	Medium	1.4	2.2	1.7	1.4	1.7	1.4	1.2	2.1
	PMA	9.6	15.8	11.7	11.2	10.3	13.2	13.5	8.8
	anti-CD3	1.6	2.9	1.7	3	2.1	2	2.6	1.5
SEM %	Medium	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.5
	PMA	0.6	2.1	1.6	1.1	1.2	1.7	1.6	0.7
	anti-CD3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3
<b>N</b> *	Medium	17	8	17	8	15	10	14	11
	PMA	13	6	13	6	11	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	11	6	12	5	11	6	9	8
p*	Medium		0.4		1		0.9		0.4
	PMA		0.2		0.9		0.3		0.1
	anti-CD3		0.04		0.03		0.9		0.07
r*	Medium		0.5		0.01		0.1		-
	PMA		0.1		0.2		0.1		-
	anti-CD3		0.3		0.4		0.03		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells (shown as a percentage of lymphocytes) within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
				Viral	Viral		35-		
		<40		Load	Load	<	50		
						35			
Mean%	Medium	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5
	PMA	4.8	3.4	4.5	4.1	4.2	4.7	3.9	5
	anti-CD3	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	1	0.7	0.8	1.1
SEM %	Medium	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1
	PMA	0.6	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5
	anti-CD3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
<b>N</b> *	Medium	17	8	17	8	15	10	14	11
	PMA	13	6	13	6	11	8	11	8
	anti-CD3	11	6	12	5	11	6	9	8
p*	Medium		0.5		0.7		0.5		0.4
	PMA		0.5		0.9		0.5		0.3
	anti-CD3		0.8		1		0.7		0.4
r*	Medium		-0.01		0.2		0.003		-
	PMA		-0.1		0.1		0.2		-
	anti-CD3		0.2		0.3		-0.04		-

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 10,000 copies / ml, **high viral load** ranges from 100,000 to  $3.2 \times 10^8$  copies / ml. **N**\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and, indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

## 4.8 Higher frequencies of IFN-γ-producing NK and NT cells following incubation with serum from HBV patients or HBV surface antigen

Since the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells were found to be higher in HBV patients and the responses of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells to *in vitro* stimulation were enhanced in such subjects, it was sought to determine whether HBV antigens could induce the production of IFN- $\gamma$  by these cell subsets. PBMC from 3 healthy donors were incubated in medium supplemented with FBS, medium supplemented with serum from healthy control subjects or HBV patients or, medium containing 1µg of HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) or 3µg of HBsAg, for 24 hours. Following this incubation, cells were treated with brefeldin A and incubated for a further 4 hours. Surface and intracellular staining with PE-labelled anti-CD56, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and FITC-labelled IFN- $\gamma$  was subsequently performed.

The mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, were 1.3+/-0.4% in medium supplemented with FBS i.e. cRPMI (Figure 4.19A). These frequencies were not significantly different following incubation with serum from healthy donors (1.44+/-0.2%). However, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK cells rose to 2.3+/-1.1% and 2.5+/-1.7% following incubation with serum from HBV patients and 3µg HBsAg, respectively. Such increases were not observed when PBMC were incubation with 1µg of HBsAg (mean; 0.7+/-0.3%).

The mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells, as a percentage of lymphocytes, were 1.5+/-0.1% in medium supplemented with FBS (Figure 4.19B). These frequencies were not significantly different following incubation with serum from healthy donors (0.9+/-0.5%). However, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cells rose to 2.7+/-1.6%, 2.6+/-0.6% and 2.5+/-1.7% following incubation with serum from HBV patients, 1µg of HBsAg and 3µg of HBsAg, respectively.

As all healthy donors tested were HBV vaccinees, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ producing T cells were used as a control to show that the HBsAg was functional and to determine whether the serum contained HBV antigens. The mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ producing T cells were 0.1+/-0.03% under the following incubation conditions; medium supplemented with FBS, medium supplemented with serum from healthy donors and medium supplemented with serum from HBV patients (Figure 4.19C). These frequencies were increased to 0.4+/-0.1% when medium containing 1µg of HBsAg or 3µg of HBsAg was used. This shows that the commercial HBsAg was intact and raised memory responses in these subjects but raises a question over whether the patient serum used contained sufficient quantities of HBV antigens. Paired t-tests revealed that the differences observed in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK, NT and T cells following incubation with HBV serum or HBsAg were not significant (p>0.05).

Overall these data suggest that HBsAg induces IFN- $\gamma$  production by NK and NT cells and supports the hypothesis that such cells play a role in immune responses against HBV. Furthermore, these data, while only preliminary, suggest that HBsAg may facilitate recognition of HBV by these innate lymphocytes and is in agreement with the findings of Albarran *et al.* (2005). The results gathered here also indicate that detection of HBV antigens in patient serum should be performed before such sera is used in any immune mechanism experiments.

#### **4.9 Bonferroni Correction method**

In the flow cytometric investigation of the cytokine profiles of innate lymphocytes, 104 statistical tests were performed. The tests that yielded significant results are shown in Tables 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9. By applying the Bonferroni correction method to the p-values obtained from the Mann-Whitney U tests, the most substantial results were filtered out. Both the p-values and corrected p-values ( $p_c$ ) for all tests are listed in Tables 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9. Following this correction, the remaining statistical differences between HBV-infected subjects and uninfected controls were observed in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT and T cells, upon PMA/I stimulation, both as a proportion of each T cell population and as a proportion of total lymphocytes, with a  $p_c$ -value of less that 0.01 (Table 4.7). The other statistically significant finding after Bonferroni correction was the higher frequency of IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells with a  $p_c$ -value of less than 0.01 (Table 4.8). No differences observed in the frequencies of IL-13- and IL-17-producing cells were deemed statistically significant after application of the Bonferroni correction method.

These data suggest that the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing NT and T cells isolated from the peripheral blood of HBV-infected individuals are significantly more responsive to *in vitro* stimulation than those isolated from uninfected controls, as are the IL-10-expressing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells.

Statistical analysis of the significant differences observed in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma^+$  lymphocytes in HBV infection: The p-values and corrected p-values for 15 of 32 statistical tests performed in the study of the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing lymphocytes in HBV infection.

TEST	Medium		PMA/I		anti-CD3/28	
	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value
IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> NK cells (% of lymphocytes)	0.01	1.04			0.03	3.1
IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)			0.006	0.624		
IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% of lymphocytes)	0.01	1.04				
IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)	0.08	8.3	0.02	2.1	0.01	1.04
IFN- $\gamma^+$ NT cells (% of NT cells)			<0.0001	<0.01	0.004	0.416
IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> NT cells (% of lymphocytes)			<0.0001	<0.01	<0.0001	<0.01
IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells (% of CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells)			<0.0001	<0.01		
IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells (% of lymphocytes)			<0.0001	<0.01		
Total % of IFN-γ <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes	0.01	1.04	0.05	5.2		

Significant results after Bonferroni correction (pc values) are highlighted in italics.

Statistical analysis of the significant differences observed in the frequencies of IL- $10^+$  lymphocytes in HBV infection: The p-values and corrected p-values for 12 of 32 statistical tests performed in the study of the frequencies of IL-10-expressing lymphocytes in HBV infection.

TEST	Medium		PMA	<b>\/I</b>	anti-CD3/28	
	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)			0.04	4.16		
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> NK cells (% of lymphocytes)	0.005	0.52	0.005	0.52	0.005	0.52
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)			0.002	0.208		
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>DIM</sup> NK cells (% of lymphocytes)	0.005	0.52	<0.0001	<0.01	0.005	0.52
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>BRIGHT</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)			0.02	2.08		
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> NT cells (% of NT cells)	0.004	0.416			0.02	2.08
IL-10 <sup>+</sup> NT cells (% of lymphocytes)			0.001	0.1		

Significant results after Bonferroni correction (pc values) are highlighted in italics.

**Statistical analysis of the significant differences observed in the frequencies of IL-13<sup>+</sup> and IL-17<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes in HBV infection:** The p-values and corrected p-values for 7 of 20 statistical tests performed in the study of the frequencies of IL-13-expressing lymphocytes and 1 of 20 statistical tests performed in the study of the frequencies of IL-17-expressing lymphocytes in HBV infection.

TEST	Medium		PMA/I		anti-CD3/28	
	P value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value
IL-13 <sup>+</sup> NK cells (% of NK cells)			0.03	3.12		
IL-13 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells	0.02	2.08	0.002	0.2		
(% of CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells) IL-13 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells (% of lymphocytes)	0.0005	0.52	0.0008	0.08		
Total % of IL-13 <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes	0.004	0.416	0.01	1.04		
IL-17 <sup>+</sup> CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells (% of CD56 <sup>-</sup> T cells)			0.01	1.04		

#### 4.10 Discussion

The findings of this part of the study suggest that HBV-infected subjects have higher frequencies of cytokine-producing lymphocytes than uninfected subjects. The IFN- $\gamma$ -producers appear to be the predominant cytokine-producing lymphocyte population and this is to be expected as part of an active antiviral immune response (Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Guidotti *et al.* 1999). The higher frequencies of IL-10-producing lymphocyte subsets may be a direct immunomodulatory response to the higher IFN- $\gamma$  but overall, it appears that the HBV-infected subjects studied here may be a model of an efficient antiviral response i.e. an immune response which is strong enough to prevent the occurrence of high viral titres but low enough to prevent immunopathogenesis.

Higher frequencies of cytokine-producing lymphocytes were observed when the subpopulations were quantified as a proportion of both individual populations and as a percentage of the overall lymphocyte population. This dual quantification was performed for several reasons. By examining the IFN-y-producing NK cells, for example, as a proportion of the overall lymphocyte population, the importance of any differences could be weighted in terms of the overall immune response. However, it was important to show the data as a proportion of the total NK cell population in order to assess any specific effects HBV infection might have on NK cells. Also, there are shortfalls of gating on the total lymphocyte population; such gating gives an estimate of the overall number of cells without using any specific surface markers. This population was gated based on size and granularity of total PBMC and it could be contaminated with dead cells which can non-specifically bind antibodies, debris and small monocytes for example which would skew the overall percentage values. By gating on the CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> lymphocyte population in the identification of NK cells, a large degree of this non-specificity was removed and therefore, these data can be considered to be more accurate. Further surface staining with markers such as propidium iodide (PI) and anti-CD14 could have been used to exclude the dead cells and monocytes from the lymphocyte population, respectively. While PI staining was not included in our flow cytometric analyses, all samples were analysed by flow cytometry on the day of sample collection and EB/AO staining was always performed and only PBMC with a cell viability of 90% or greater were examined. The higher frequencies observed in HBV can only be considered as proportions of lymphocyte populations because absolute numbers were not measured. Absolute numbers could not be calculated when PBMC

from buffy coat packs were used as the original volume of fresh blood was unknown. Quantitative RT-PCR was used as another method of cytokine quantification and it confirmed the differences in cytokine production at the level of gene expression.

Frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ - and IL-10-producing NK cells were found to be slightly but consistently higher in HBV-infected subjects and the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> cells were identified as the predominant cytokine producing subset of NK cells. This is contrary to other findings which indicate that the CD56<sup>BRIGHT</sup> cells are the main cytokine producers (Cooper *et al.* 2001). It must be noted that cytokine production was measured immediately after a 4 hour incubation in medium containing PMA/I and previous work from our lab has shown that PMA/I stimulation can reduce the fluorescence intensity of CD56 for up to 72 hours after stimulation (Kelly-Rogers *et al.* 2006).

NT cells were found to be potent IFN-γ secretors as a population, particularly those isolated from HBV-infected subjects. The cytokine-producing capacity of NT cells was most evident when PBMC from HBV-infected patients were stimulated with PMA/I.

Frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -, IL-10- and IL-17-producing CD56 T cells were consistently higher in HBV which is an indication of an active immune response. As mentioned in the introductory paragraph, this could be expected in a virally-infected individual. It is possible that the higher levels in IL-10 are in response to higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and, its role is antagonistic and anti-inflammatory. This supports the hypothesis of these subjects providing a model of an ideal immune response. IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine implicated in several inflammatory diseases and in immune responses against bacterial infections. It has recently been implicated in disease progression and the development of liver fibrogenesis in HBV (Zhang *et al.* 2010; Xu *et al.* 2009). However, while IFN- $\gamma$  has been identified as a suppressor of Th17 cell induction, IL-17 has also been implicated as a negative regulator of IFN- $\gamma$  (Mills 2008). Therefore, higher frequencies of IL-17-producing cells in HBV may be another mechanism by which the immune response in these subjects is regulated.

The findings reported in section 4.6 show that there are no correlations between the frequencies of cytokine-producing lymphocytes and viral load, disease severity, age or gender. One major factor would be that most subjects have a relatively low viral load and normal ALT level. These low values indicate that the majority if not all patients are free of liver diseases (if all patients have no liver disease then, the minority with high ALT may be experiencing hepatic flares which are common in HBV infection). The low viral load of the majority of subjects removed the need for therapy and suggests that the immune response is working strongly enough to keep viral titres at a low level. The low ALT levels in these subjects suggest that the immune response is well-regulated and is not causing any liver damage.

Following the Bonferroni correction method, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT and T cells were shown to be significantly higher in HBV following *in vitro* stimulation, with almost 100% of NT cells from HBV patients producing IFN- $\gamma$  following stimulation, in some cases. This implicates these cells and IFN- $\gamma$  as predominant players in the immune responses against HBV. The results of qRT-PCR support the hypothesis of a central role for IFN- $\gamma$  in immune control of HBV with significantly higher IFN- $\gamma$  RNA expression observed in patients compared to controls.

The Bonferroni correction method also revealed significantly higher frequencies of IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells, as a proportion of total lymphocytes, in HBV patients, following in vitro stimulation. Although, these cells only constituted less that 1% of lymphocytes, they may still represent a regulatory mechanism by which the antiviral responses are controlled. However, the shortfalls of measuring percentages as a proportion of lymphocytes must be noted along with the general finding of low frequencies of circulating IL-10-producing lymphocytes. At such low frequencies, if the CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells are the only true population of IL-10-producing lymphocytes that are higher in these HBV patients, then, this may explain why the higher level was not detected using qRT-PCR. One hypothesis is that IL-10 may act as a safety net allowing the antiviral response to prevail but if IFN- $\gamma$  production surpasses a certain threshold, IL-10 gene expression may be induced and a Treg response might be stimulated to prevent immune-mediated damage. This is a more favourable cytokine milieu for viral clearance rather than that observed in chronic viremic HCV patients where NK cells appeared to preferentially produce IL-10 rather than IFN- $\gamma$  (De Maria *et al.* 2007). Indeed, the innate lymphocytes in the HBV-infected subjects examined in this study appear to have significantly higher IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 production capacities compared to that of uninfected subjects. However, IL-10 production appears to be sustained at relatively low levels compared to IFN- $\gamma$  so that the antiviral response is allowed to control viral replication but is regulated so that it may not become too excessive and cause immune mediated damage.

In addition, it was found that IL-17-producing T cells display enhanced responses to PMA/I stimulation compared to those from uninfected controls. However, it was also found that IL-17A RNA was undetectable in PBMC from patients and controls. Since IL-17 has been implicated in disease progression, decreases in Th1 cell frequencies and the development of liver fibrosis in HBV, these data suggest that its transcription might be under strict control in this group of asymptomatic HBV patients so as not to cause liver damage or inhibit IFN- $\gamma$  expression (Xu *et al.* 2009; Zhang *et al.* 2010, Ge *et al.* 2010). However, sufficient stimulation can trigger IL-17 production suggesting that this pro-inflammatory cytokine plays a supporting role in the control of HBV infection.

Our observations indicate that NT cells are key players in the control of HBV infection. This supports the findings of Northfield et al. (2008) who have found higher frequencies of tissue-infiltrating CD161<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection. Billerbeck *et al.* (2010) have recently shown that these NKR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exhibit a strong Th17 bias. Since CD161 (NKRP1A) is an NK cell cytotoxicity coreceptor and since IL-17 has been implicated in HBV-associated liver injury, Billerbeck et al. (2010) investigated association of such cells with liver disease in HCV infection and found that the repertoires of CD161<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> cells co-producing IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  were most abundant in the livers of HCV patients with mild liver disease. The authors proposed that such cells mediated immune control and that their functions might be depleted in HCV patients with severe liver disease. These findings along with our own identification of expansions of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV, suggest that such NKR<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells or NKR<sup>+</sup> T cells which may have lost CD8 expression play a crucial role in the immune control of HBV infection. So, while HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers are significantly lower in those individuals who develop chronic HBV infection (Maini et al. 2000; Sobao et al. 2002, Yang et al. 2009) and large numbers of non-antigen specific  $CD8^+$  T cells are found in the livers of patients with uncontrolled HBV infections (Bertoletti & Maini 2000; Reignat et al. 2002), the control of HBV may be effectively mediated by a group of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that upregulate NKRs (CD161 or CD56) in an effort to control HBV infection in a manner which minimises liver damage. Viral clearance via non-cytolytic mechanisms has already been shown for HBV (Guidotti et al. 1999) and in our group of asymptomatic carriers, it appears that control but not clearance of HBV is sufficient since a persistent infection with no disease is a safer

option for the host.

The role of NK and NT cells in immunity against HBV has previously been highlighted in responders to vaccination with HBsAg, where these cells exhibited higher IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 expression compared to non-responders (Albarran *et al.* 2005). PBMC from healthy donors were incubated with serum from HBV patients or with HBsAg and then examined IFN- $\gamma$  production by the NK, NT and T cell populations. From this, it was have shown similar results to Albarran *et al.* (2005) and have supported our hypothesis that elevated IFN- $\gamma$  production by innate lymphocytes is a direct response to HBV infection. These results were obtained using whole PBMC from HBsAg vaccinated individuals and therefore, the interaction between NK and NT cells with memory T cells may contribute to the enhanced IFN- $\gamma$  production in response to HBsAg. From these results, it is proposed that NK and NT cells are involved in conferring protective immunity against HBV, along with HBV-specific T cells. Furthermore, HBsAg, unlike the envelope protein E2 of HCV, does not appear to modulate NK cell functions (Tseng and Klimpel 2002).

The HBV-infected subjects studied here may represent a preliminary model of the evolutionary changes that immune cells must undergo to control viral replication without causing liver disease. It is proposed that certain T cell subsets undergo phenotypic changes, minimise their cytolytic activity and maximise their antiviral cytokine production to promote control of HBV infection. Lessons learned here could be used to develop novel immunotherapies to treat HBV patients with higher viral loads but first, a similar study of such patients should be performed.
## Chapter 5

# Phenotypic and functional analysis of γδ T cells in HBV infection

### 5.1 Introduction

5.2	γδ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection	209
5.2.1	The frequencies of circulating $V\gamma 9^+V\delta 2^+$ T cells are higher in HBV	
	patients than in control subjects	209
5.2.2	The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells are higher in HBV infection	211
5.2.3	The frequencies of circulating $CD56^+$ V $\delta2$ T cells are similar in HBV-	
	infected and control subjects	213
5.2.4	The frequencies of circulating $CD56^+V\delta1$ T cells are significantly higher	
	in HBV infection as a proportion of total T cells, but not as a proportion	
	of Võ1 T cells	215
5.3	Memory phenotypes of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection	217
5.3.1	Proportions of naïve and memory V $\delta 2$ T cells are altered in HBV	
	infection	217
5.3.2	Proportions of naïve and memory V $\delta$ 1 T cells are altered in HBV	
	infection	219
5.4	γδ T cell subpopulations in HBV patient groups	221
5.4.1	The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not correlate with viral	
	load, disease severity and age in HBV but are slightly higher in female	
	subjects	221
5.4.2	Frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells are not significantly different	
	between HBV patient groups	223
5.4.3	Frequencies of circulating $CD56^+$ V $\delta2$ T cells are not significantly	
	different between HBV patient groups	225
5.4.4	Frequencies of circulating $CD56^+$ V $\delta1$ T cells are not significantly	
	different between HBV patient groups	227
5.4.5	Frequencies of naïve, $T_{CM},T_{EM}$ and $T_{EMRA}V\delta2$ T cells do not correlate	
	with viral load, disease severity, gender or age in HBV infection	229
5.4.6	Frequencies of naïve, $T_{CM},T_{EM}$ and $T_{EMRA}$ Vô1 T cells do not correlate	
	with viral load, disease severity, gender or age in HBV infection	229

204

5.5	Vδ2 and Vδ1 T cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy					
	controls	234				
5.6	IFN- $\gamma$ production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV infection	236				
5.6.1	The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are higher in					
	HBV patients than in healthy control subjects	236				
5.6.2	The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV					
	patient groups	238				
5.6.3	The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are lower					
	following incubation with HBsAg	241				
5.7	NKG2D expression by Vδ2 T cells in HBV	242				
5 9	Ponformani connection mathed	245				
3.0		243				
5.9	Discussion	247				

### 5.1 Introduction

 $\gamma\delta$  T cells are a group of T lymphocytes that elicit potent cytokine production and cytotoxic activity usually in a much faster manner than their  $\alpha\beta^+$  counterparts but they account for only 1-5% of circulating lymphocytes (Hayday 2000). All  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express TCRs consisting of a  $\gamma$ - and a  $\delta$ -chain, as opposed to the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -chain of the conventional T cell (Hayday 2000). Some  $\gamma\delta$  T cells exhibit TCR-mediated recognition of glycolipids (Spada *et al.* 2000; Russano *et al.* 2007) and phosphoantigens which can lead to significant expansion and activation of these cells (Constant *et al.* 1994; Tanaka *et al.* 1995; Morita *et al.* 1995; Jomaa *et al.* 1999). However, they can also recognise danger molecules in a TCR-independent manner via the expression of NKRs such as NKG2D and NKG2A (Battistini *et al.* 1997; von Lilienfeld-Toal *et al.* 2006; Toutirais *et al.* 2009). The multi-faceted nature of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell activation and their powerful cytokine production and cytotoxicity capabilities make them ideal targets for cell-based immunotherapies.

The importance of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in antiviral immune responses has been reported in EBV, HIV and HSV infections (De Paolo *et al.*1990; Poccia *et al.*1999; Maccario *et al.*1995).  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have also been implicated in immune responses to HCV and are believed to play a role in the liver injury associated with the virus (Tseng *et al.*2001; Nikolopoulou *et al.*1995). Several studies have investigated the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV infection; Sing *et al.* (1998) found an association between expansions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and seroconversion while Chen *et al.* (2008) showed that their frequencies are depleted in the peripheral blood of persistent HBV infection.

So far, a significant expansion of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV-infected persons has been found compared to uninfected control subjects. Although all patients had persistent HBV infection (HBsAg-positive), the vast majority of them had a low viral burden (<20,000 copies/ml) and were free of liver disease (ALT below 40). Therefore, our patient cohort can be considered as representative of a controlled immune response to HBV, which is under sufficient regulatory control so that does not cause significant pathology but it fails to completely eliminate the virus. Since  $\gamma\delta$  T cells appear to play a role in this immune response, the subsets which are numerically changed in the peripheral blood have been investigated here. Their phenotypes, differentiation status expression of stimulatory receptors and their capacity to express IFN- $\gamma$  and the cytotoxicity-associated receptor NKG2D have also been evaluated. There are 3 main groups of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in humans that are divided based on their  $\delta$  chain usage i.e. V $\delta$ 1, V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 3 T cells. V $\delta$ 2 T cells are the most abundant  $\gamma\delta$  T cell in circulation while V $\delta$ 1 subsets are most prevalent in the tissues and mucosal surfaces and V $\delta$ 3 T cells have only been described in blood and liver (Dechanet *et al.* 1999; Kenna *et al.* 2004).

V $\delta$ 2 T cells are the predominant  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset in circulation and their TCR most often consists of a V $\delta$ 2 chains paired with a V $\gamma$ 9 chain (Eberl *et al.* 2009). They exhibit potent cytotoxic activity and predominantly produce Th1 cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (Eberl *et al.* 2009; Conti *et al.* 2005; Angelini *et al.* 2004; Dudal *et al.* 2006; ; Unpublished work from our lab).  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells play central roles in innate and through their ability to recruit neutrophils, induce adaptive immune responses maturation of DC into APC and provide help to B cells promoting their maturation into antibody-producing plasma cells (Conti et al. 2005; Ismaili et al. 2002; Agrati et al. 2009; Caccamo *et al.* 2006). V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells have also been shown to have antigen presentation properties and upregulate HLA-DR, and the lymph node homing receptor CCR7, when activated (Brandes 2005). Resting  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells lack these properties therefore indicating that an antigen presentation role is assumed in an inflammatory environment. Vy9V82 T cells have also been implicated in wound repair via the production of tissue growth factors (Workalemahu et al. 2004). Their multi-functional capacity makes  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells ideal candidates for immunotherapy and they are already the centre of several clinical trials as immunotherapeutics in cancer (Dieli et al. 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008). The role of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in immunity against HBV is uncertain but their frequencies in the peripheral blood of chronic HBV patients with varying degrees of liver disease were shown to be decreased in a study by Chen et al. (2008). Here, circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells were quantified in order to confirm if they are the  $\gamma\delta$  T cell population that is expanded in our patient cohort.

V $\delta$ 1 T cells are mostly found in the tissues and mucosal surfaces and constitute 70-90% of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the intestine where they have been shown to exhibit immunoregulatory functions (Groh *et al.* 1998; Bhagat *et al.* 2008). However, IFN- $\gamma$ and TNF- $\alpha$ -expressing V $\delta$ 1 T cells have also been isolated from tissue suggesting that they play a role in antiviral immunity (Spada *et al.* 2000). V $\delta$ 1 T cells are expanded in tumor-bearing livers and in HIV and HSV infection (Fenoglio *et al.* 2009; Kenna *et al.* 

221

2004). Furthermore, research by Rossol *et al.* (1998) yielded data which suggest that circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cell frequencies are unchanged in HSV-1, HSV-2, HCV and HBV infection and have proposed that their expansion is unique to HIV infection. Interestingly, Agrati *et al.* (2001) have reported that V $\delta$ 1 T cells are the main  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset infiltrating HCV-infected liver and have suggested that their Th1 cytokine profile makes them possible contributors to liver inflammation. Here, the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells have been quantified to determine if they contribute to the expansions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells previously observed in our patient cohort. The frequencies of CD56-expressing subsets of these cells have also been investigated to determine if expanded NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cell populations observed in Chapter 3 are overlapping shared populations.

Phenotypic analysis has revealed that HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in PBMC from patients with acute HBV infection predominantly express a memory T cell phenotype suggesting that they are actively involved in immunity against HBV (Sobao et al. 2002; Urbani et al. 2002). Since γδ T cells appear to play a role in immune control of HBV in this patient cohort, the differentiation status of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subsets were examined using a method described by Dieli et al (2003). According to this scheme,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can be divided into memory subsets using the markers CD27 and CD45RA. Naïve  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express both CD27 and CD45RA while central memory  $\gamma\delta$ T cells lose CD45RA but retain CD27 expression (Dieli et al. 2003). Both naïve and central memory  $\gamma\delta$  T cells tend to home to the secondary lymphoid organs and usually lack immediate effector functions i.e. cytotoxicity and rapid cytokine production (Eberl et al. 2002). Effector memory ( $T_{EM}$ )  $\gamma\delta$  T cells lack both CD45RA and CD27 surface expression but CD45RA re-appears on terminally differentiated effector memory γδ T cells (Dieli et al. 2003). Effector memory γδ T cells home to the sites of infection where they exhibit immediate effector functions (Eberl et al. 2002). Dieli and colleagues have shown that the majority of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express a central memory or T<sub>CM</sub> phenotypes (Dieli et al. 2003).

Here, the frequencies of naïve,  $T_{CM}$ ,  $T_{EM}$  and terminally differentiated effector memory ( $T_{EMRA}$ ) V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells were compared between HBV-infected subjects and uninfected control subjects by quantifying the frequencies of circulating CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>, CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>, CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup> and CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup> V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells.

Since the frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were found to be higher in HBV infection, the effector functions of such cells were examined by quantifying their IFN- $\gamma$  production. The V $\delta$ 2 T cells were investigated in this part of the study because they are the predominant  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset present in the peripheral blood and their expansion in HBV infection was more pronounced than that of total  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. IFN- $\gamma$  was the cytokine of choice because several studies, including studies from our own lab, have revealed that cytokine production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells is limited to the Th1 cytokines IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ (Eberl et al. 2009; Conti et al. 2005; Angelini et al. 2004; Unpublished work from our lab). Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$  is the classical antiviral cytokine and can elicit a variety of functions that promote viral clearance (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). In addition, a study in HBV-infected chimpanzees revealed that the clearance of HBV DNA from liver occurred at the same time as the appearance of IFN- $\gamma$  thus implicating a central role for the cytokine in the control and resolution of HBV infection (Guidotti et al. 1999). Chen et al. (2008) have also found that  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-derived IFN- $\gamma$  is significantly decreased in chronic HBV infection thus suggesting that impairment of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell function is associated with the failure to eliminate the virus.

NKG2D is an activating receptor originally identified on NK cells but, it can also mediate cytotoxicity by some T cells. It is an important component of the antiviral response because it facilitates the recognition of virus-infected cells in the absence of classical MHC-restricted antigen presentation. The activating receptor has been manipulated by several viruses in order to evade immune recognition. For instance, CMV and HIV have evolved mechanisms by which the expression of NKG2D ligands is inhibited (Gonzalez *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, the frequencies of circulating NKG2Dexpressing NK cells are significantly lower in HBV infection and in even more so in HBV patients with liver cirrhosis and HCC. These decreases correlated with the cytotoxic activity of the NK cells suggesting that NKG2D downregulation may be a means through which HBV evades NK cell cytotoxicity (Zeng *et al.* 2009). Recent work by Chen *et al.* (2008) has revealed that  $\gamma\delta$  T cell cytotoxicity is impaired in persistent HBV infection but they have not shown the mechanism through which this putative dysfunction is mediated. In this study, the expression of NKG2D on V $\delta$ 2 T cells was investigated as a measure of their cytotoxic potential in controlled HBV infection. If our

223

data support that of Chen *et al.* (2008) then, this work may have identified a mechanism through which inhibition of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell cytotoxicity is mediated.

Overall, this study should provide a good insight into the  $\gamma\delta$  T cell repertoires needed to provide immune control of HBV infection without causing liver injury.

#### 5.2 $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection

### 5.2.1 The frequencies of circulating $V\gamma 9^+V\delta 2^+$ T cells are higher in HBV patients than in control subjects

PBMC were prepared from the fresh blood of 33 HBV patients and from the buffy coat packs of 55 control subjects. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-V $\gamma$ 9 mAb, PElabelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb was performed to identify V $\gamma$ 9<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2<sup>+</sup> T cells in the peripheral blood (Figure 5.1A and 5.1B). It was found that most V $\gamma$ 9<sup>+</sup> T cells express V $\delta$ 2 (mean; 81.2 +/- 3.4%, Figure 5.1A) and most V $\delta$ 2<sup>+</sup> T cells express V $\gamma$ 9 (mean; 90+/- 3.9%) and therefore, it was only necessary to use one marker to identify the V $\gamma$ 9<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2<sup>+</sup> T cell population. PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb was the marker of choice and the V $\gamma$ 9<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2<sup>+</sup> T cell population is herein referred to as the V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Another interesting observation made when using FITC-labelled anti-V $\gamma$ 9 mAb and PElabelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb together was that the occurrence of 2 different V $\gamma$ 9<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2<sup>+</sup> T cell populations with differing intensities of V $\gamma$ 9 or V $\delta$ 2 (Figure 5.1A). The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells, as a percentage of total T cells, ranged from 0.3% to 11.7% in controls, and from 1.8% to 21.2% in HBV. The mean frequencies were 3.6+/-0.38% in controls and 7.8+/-0.95% in HBV. This difference is significant (p < 0.0001, Figure 5.1C).

#### 5.2.2 The frequencies of circulating Vδ1 T cells are higher in HBV infection

The frequencies of T cells with the V $\delta$ 1 chain were also quantified to determine which  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset was expanded in HBV infection. PBMC from 23 HBV-infected subjects and from the buffy coat packs of 21 control subjects were indirectly surface stained with unconjugated anti-V $\delta$ 1 mAb (murine IgG), followed by PE-labelled anti-mouse IgG, in combination with direct surface staining with PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb. V $\delta$ 1 T cells were identified as those T cells which stained positive for CD3 (Figure 5.1A) and V $\delta$ 1 (Figure 5.2A). The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells were then quantified, as a percentage of total T cells. Frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0.1% to 2.9% in HBV, with mean frequencies of 0.77+/-0.19% and 1.2+/-0.16%, respectively (p = 0.02, Figure 5.2B).

These data show that there are statistically significantly higher frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 and V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV infection.

### 5.2.3 The frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> Vδ2 T cells are similar in HBV-infected and control subjects

The findings documented in Chapter 3 indicated that the frequencies of both circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are higher in HBV-infected persons. It was next sought to determine if frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subsets were higher in HBV infection. Firstly, the frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells were quantified. PBMC from 18 HBV-infected subjects and from the buffy coat packs of 30 control subjects were surface stained with FITC-labelled anti-CD56 mAb, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb to identify CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells in the peripheral blood (Figure 5.3A). When the proportion of CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells were quantified as a percentage of V $\delta$ 2 T cells, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells were 23.8+/-3.1% in controls and 18.6+/-3.2% in HBV-infected individuals (p = 0.4, Figure 5.3B). These differences were not significant. The frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2 T cells, as a percentage of total T cells ranged from 0.07% to 2.7% in controls, and from 0.2% to 6.4% in HBV, with means of 0.92+/-.14% and 1.53+/-0.40%, respectively (p = 0.4, Figure 5.3C).

These data show that the higher frequencies of  $CD56^+$  T cells in HBV infection is not due to higher frequencies of  $CD56^+$  V $\delta2$  T cells.

# 5.2.4 The frequencies of circulating $CD56^+ V\delta1$ T cells are significantly higher in HBV infection as a proportion of total T cells, but not as a proportion of V $\delta1$ T cells

The frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells were also investigated to determine if such cells were responsible for the higher frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells in HBV infection. PBMC from 17 HBV patients and from the buffy coat packs of 15 control subjects were directly surface stained with FITC-labelled anti-CD56 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb and indirectly stained with unconjugated anti-V $\delta$ 1 mAb (murine IgG), followed by PE-labelled anti-mouse IgG to identify CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells in the peripheral blood (Figure 5.4A). When quantified as a percentage of V $\delta$ 1 T cells, the mean frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells were 30.6+/-7.9% in controls and 37.7+/-3.8% in HBV-infected individuals and this difference was not significant (p = 0.4, Figure 5.4B). The frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells, as a percentage of total T cells, ranged from 0% to 1.3% in controls, and from 0.08% to 1.6% in HBV, with means of 0.31+/-0.11% and 0.61+/-0.11%, respectively. The numbers of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells in the peripheral blood were slightly but significantly higher in HBV-infected subjects than in control subjects, when quantified as a proportion of the total CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocyte population (p = 0.01, Figure 5.4C).

These data show that a significant proportion of V $\delta$ 1 T cells in patients and controls express CD56 and that V $\delta$ 1 T cells make a significant contribution to the higher frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> T cells observed in HBV infection in Chapter 3.

#### 5.3 Memory phenotypes of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV infection

### 5.3.1 Proportions of naïve and memory Vô2 T cells are altered in HBV infection

PBMC from 27 HBV-infected subjects and from the buffy coat packs of 40 control subjects were surface stained with PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 mAb, FITC-labelled anti-CD45RA mAb and APC-labelled anti-CD27 mAb to identify the naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub> and T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Figure 5.5A).

The frequencies of naive V $\delta$ 2 T cells, as a proportion of the total V $\delta$ 2 T cell population, ranged from 1.2% to 61.1% in controls and from 1% to 38.4% in HBV, with means of 23.75+/-2.4% and 14.1+/-2.8%, respectively, (Figure 5.5B, p=0.006). The frequencies of T<sub>CM</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 1.8% to 89.3% in controls and from 0% to 55.1% in HBV, with means of 33.7+/-3.3% and 22.2+/-3.7%, respectively. These lower frequencies of T<sub>CM</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV were significant (Figure 5.5C, p=0.03). The frequencies of T<sub>EM</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 0% to 57.1% in controls and from 2.3% to 72.3% in HBV with means of 25.3+/-2.8% and 33.8+/-5.3%, respectively. This difference was not statistically significant (Figure 5.5D, p=0.1). The frequencies of T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 0% to 71% in controls and from 0.9% to 64.1% in HBV, with means of 17.1+/-2.6% and 26.8+/-4.3%, respectively (Figure 5.5E, p=0.02).

These data show that the frequencies of  $T_{CM}$  and naive V $\delta 2$  T cells are significantly lower in HBV infection, while the frequencies of  $T_{EMRA}$  V $\delta 2$  T cells are higher, suggesting that the effector V $\delta 2$  T cells are expanded in order to facilitate the control of HBV infection.

#### 5.3.2 Proportions of naïve and memory Vô1 T cells are altered in HBV infection

Further phenotypic studies were also performed to ascertain whether the frequencies of  $T_{EM}$ ,  $T_{CM}$ , naïve and  $T_{EMRA}V\delta 1$  T cells were altered in HBV infection. PBMC from 17 HBV-infected subjects and from the buffy coat packs of 21 control subjects were indirectly surface stained with unconjugated anti-V\delta1 mAb (murine IgG), followed by PE-labelled anti-mouse IgG and directly surface stained with PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 mAb, FITC-labelled anti-CD45RA mAb and APC-labelled anti-CD27 mAb. The frequencies of naive V $\delta$ 1 T cells, as a proportion of the total V $\delta$ 1 T cell population, ranged from 17.5% to 100% in controls and from 4.6% to 50% in HBV, with means of 61+/-5.2% and 28.2+/-3.6%, respectively (Figure 5.6A, p=0.0002). The frequencies of  $T_{CM}$  V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0% to 33.9% in controls and from 0% to 36.4% in HBV, with means of 7+/-2.1% and 14.3+/-2.5%, respectively (Figure 5.6B, p=0.02). The frequencies of  $T_{EM}$  V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0% to 16.7% in controls and from 0% to 48.2% in HBV with means of 3+/-1.2% and 12.9+/-3.2%, respectively. This difference was significant (Figure 5.6C, p=0.004). The frequencies of  $T_{EMRA}$  V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0% to 65.6% in controls and from 6.4% to 77.3% in HBV, with means of 26.1+/-4.2% and 44.6+/-5.4%, respectively (Figure 5.6D, p=0.02).

These data show that the frequencies of all memory subsets of V $\delta$ 1 T cells are expanded in HBV infection while, naïve V $\delta$ 1 T cells are significantly lower, suggesting that V $\delta$ 1 T cells are actively involved in the successful immune control of HBV.

#### 5.4 $\gamma\delta$ T cell subpopulations in HBV patient groups

### 5.4.1 The frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity and age in HBV but are slightly higher in female subjects

The V\delta2 T cell frequencies of the HBV patients within the study cohort were compared based on clinical parameters. Figure 5.7A shows the frequencies of circulating V82 T cells as a percentage of total T cells for 23 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies/ml and 5 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and  $5 \times 10^8$  copies/ml. The frequencies of circulating V\delta2 T cells in patients with low viral load ranged from 3.1% to 10.8% (mean 6.6+/-0.4%) and in patients with high viral load, ranged from 3.6% to 12.2% (mean 8+/-0.7%). There was no significant difference between these numbers (p=0.6). Furthermore, a Spearman correlation test yielded a correlation coefficient of r=-0.1, suggesting that there is no linear correlation between the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells and viral load. Figure 5.7B shows the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells for 19 HBV patients with a low ALT and 7 HBV patients with a high ALT. For those patients with low ALT, the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 1.8% to 12.2% (mean 7.9+/-0.5%) and for those with a high ALT, the frequencies ranged from 3.1% to 21.2% (mean 9.2+/-1%). There were no significant differences (p=0.2) and moreover, there was no linear correlation between the numbers of V82 T cells and ALT levels (r=0.03). Figure 5.7C shows the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells in 12 males and 17 females. The frequencies ranged from 3.1% to 14.9% (mean 6.8+/-0.7%) and from 1.8% to 21.2% (mean 10.2+/-0.8%), respectively. There was slightly but significantly higher frequencies of V82 T cells in HBV-infected females than HBV-infected males (p=0.02). Figure 5.7D shows the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells in 17 HBVinfected subjects aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 12 HBV-infected subjects aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 1.8% to 21.2% in the younger group of patients (mean 9+/-0.6%) and ranged from 7.6% to 14.9% in the older group of patients (mean 7.8+/-0.8%). There was no significant difference (p=0.9) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells and the age of the HBV patients (r=0.05).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells are slightly higher in female HBV-infected subjects than their male counterparts but the numbers do not correlate with viral load, disease severity or age.

### 5.4.2 Frequencies of circulating Vδ1 T cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells in HBV patients within the study cohort were compared based on clinical parameters. Figure 5.8A shows the frequencies of circulating V\delta1 T cells as a percentage of total T cells for 19 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies/ml and 3 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and  $5 \times 10^8$  copies/ml. The frequencies of circulating V\delta1 T cells in patients with low viral load ranged from 0.1% to 2.9% (mean 1.5+/-0.1%) and in patients with high viral load, ranged from 0.6% to 2.3% (mean 1.3+/-0.5%). There was no significant difference between these numbers (p=0.9) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells and viral load (r=-0.01). Figure 5.8B shows the frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells for 13 HBV patients with a low ALT and 7 HBV patients with a high ALT. For those patients with low ALT, the frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0.1% to 2.9% (mean 1.1+/-0.2%) and for those with a high ALT, the frequencies ranged from 0.4% to 1.9% (mean 1.1+/-0.1%). There were no significant differences (p=0.8) and moreover, there was no linear correlation between the numbers of V $\delta$ 1 T cells and ALT levels (r=0.003). Figure 5.8C shows the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells in 11 males and 12 females. The frequencies ranged from 0.2% to 2.9% (mean 1.2+/-0.1%) and from 0.1% to 2.7% (mean 1.6+/-0.1%), respectively. There was no significant difference between the frequencies of Vo1 T cells in HBV-infected females and HBVinfected males (p=0.5). Figure 5.8D shows the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells in 10 HBV-infected subjects aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 12 HBV-infected subjects aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The frequency of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells ranged from 0.1% to 2.3% in the younger group of patients (mean 1+/-0.1%) and ranged from 0.2% to 2.9% in the older group of patients (mean  $1.3 \pm 0.2\%$ ). There was no significant difference (p=0.9) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells and the age of the HBV patients (r=0.05).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

### 5.4.3 Frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> Vδ2 T cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV patients within the study cohort were compared based on clinical parameters. Figure 5.9A shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> Vδ2 T cells as a percentage of total T cells for 13 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies/ml and 4 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and 5 x  $10^8$  copies/ml. The mean frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells in patients with low and high viral load were 1.4+/-0.4% and 2.2+/-0.8%, respectively. There was no significant difference between these numbers (p=1) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of  $CD56^+V\delta2$  T cells and viral load (r=-0.3). Figure 5.9B shows the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells for 9 HBV patients with a low ALT and 9 HBV patients with a high ALT. The mean frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup>V $\delta$ 2 T cells in patients with low and high ALT were 1.8+/-0.5% and 1.3+/-0.7%, respectively (p=0.2, r=-0.2). Figure 5.9C shows the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+$ Vo2 T cells in 8 males and 10 females. The mean frequencies for males and females were 1.1+/-0.3% and 1.9+/-0.7%), respectively (p=0.7). Figure 5.9D shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells in 10 HBV-infected subjects aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 8 HBV-infected subjects aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The mean frequencies of  $CD56^+ V\delta 2$  T cells in the younger and older groups of patients were 1.7 + -0.7% and 1.3 + -0.4%, respectively (p=0.9, r=0.08).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+$  V $\delta2$  T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

### 5.4.4 Frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> Vδ1 T cells are not significantly different between HBV patient groups

The frequencies of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells in HBV patients within the study cohort were compared based on clinical parameters. Figure 5.10A shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells as a percentage of total T cells for 13 HBV patients with a low viral load i.e. below 100,000 copies/ml and 3 HBV patients with a high viral load i.e. between 100,000 and 5 x  $10^8$  copies/ml. The mean frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells in patients with low and high viral load were 0.6+/-0.1% and 0.6+/-0.3%, respectively. There was no significant difference between these numbers (p=0.9) and there was no linear correlation between the frequencies of  $CD56^+V\delta1$  T cells and viral load (r=0.1). Figure 5.10B shows the frequencies of  $CD56^+ V\delta1$  T cells for 9 HBV patients with a low ALT and 8 HBV patients with a high ALT. The mean frequencies of  $CD56^+$  V $\delta1$  T cells for HBV patients with low and high ALT were 0.6+/-0.1% and 0.7+/-0.2%, respectively (p=0.8, r=0.2). Figure 5.10C shows the frequencies of circulating CD56<sup>+</sup> Vô1 T cells in 7 males and 10 females. The mean frequencies for males and females were  $0.6 \pm 0.02\%$  and  $0.6 \pm 0.1\%$ , respectively (p=0.8). Figure 5.10D shows the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+$  V $\delta1$  T cells in 9 HBV-infected subjects aged between 19 and 35 years of age and 8 HBV-infected subjects aged between 35 and 55 years of age. The mean frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+V\delta1$  T cells in the younger and older patient groups were 0.6+/-0.2% and 0.6+/-0.2%, respectively (p=1, r=-0.1).

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating  $CD56^+V\delta1$  T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age.

### 5.4.5 Frequencies of naïve, $T_{CM}$ , $T_{EM}$ and $T_{EMRA}$ V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age in HBV infection

The frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells of different memory phenotypes were quantified as a percentage of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells and compared between HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. The memory phenotypes were the same as those investigated in section 5.2 i.e. naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub>, and T<sub>EMRA</sub> phenotypes. The minimum, maximum and mean frequencies for circulating naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub>, and T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells are shown in Table 5.1. The frequencies of naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub>, and T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 2 T cells divided based viral load, ALT, gender and age are shown in Figures 5.11A, B, C and D, respectively.

All data shown suggest that there were no statistically significant differences in the frequencies of circulating naïve,  $T_{CM}$ ,  $T_{EM}$  or  $T_{EMRA}$  V $\delta$ 2 T cells between HBV patient groups.

### 5.4.6 Frequencies of naïve, $T_{CM}$ , $T_{EM}$ and $T_{EMRA}$ V $\delta$ 1 T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age in HBV infection

The frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells of different memory phenotypes were quantified as a percentage of total V $\delta$ 1<sup>+</sup>T cells and compared between HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. The minimum, maximum and mean frequencies for circulating naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub> and T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 1 T cells are shown in Table 5.2. The frequencies of naïve, T<sub>CM</sub>, T<sub>EM</sub> and T<sub>EMRA</sub> V $\delta$ 1 T cells divided based viral load, ALT, gender and age are shown in Figures 5.12A, B, C and D, respectively.

All data shown suggest that there were no statistically significant differences in the frequencies of circulating naïve,  $T_{CM}$ ,  $T_{EM}$  or  $T_{EMRA}$  V $\delta$ 1 T cells between HBV patient groups.

Altogether, there are higher frequencies of effector-memory  $V\delta 1^+$  and  $V\delta 2$  T cells in HBV infection. However, these higher frequencies do not correlate with increases in viral load and disease severity, suggesting that such cells are involved in immune responses against HBV but not pathogenesis.

### Table 5.1

**Differentiation status of circulating V\delta2 T cells in subgroups of HBV patients:** The frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in patient subsets, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Memory	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	Phenotype	<40		Viral	Viral	<	35-		
				Load	Load	35	50		
Min %	Naïve	3.9	3.2	3.8	3.2	3.2	3.9	6.1	3.2
	T <sub>CM</sub>	15	6.7	14.9	6.7	6.7	9.9	15	6.7
	T <sub>EM</sub>	9.4	6	7.7	6	6	7.8	7.8	6
	TEMRA	3.4	0.9	0.9	4.9	0.9	3.4	7.8	0.9
Max %	Naïve	38.4	29.3	38.4	22	34.4	38.4	38.4	29.2
	T <sub>CM</sub>	49.5	55.1	55.1	25.2	47.9	55.1	55.1	49.5
	T <sub>EM</sub>	50.5	66.9	50.5	66.9	66.9	50.5	66.9	50.5
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	39.3	59.1	36.4	59.1	59.1	54.3	36.3	59.1
Mean%	Naïve	21.8	13.3	20.7	10.7	13.2	23	23.2	14
	T <sub>CM</sub>	34	25.9	36	16.2	26	35	34.2	27.4
	$T_{EM}$	24.8	29	26.6	27.1	30.8	22.2	26.7	26.8
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	19.5	23.7	16.5	33.5	22.9	19.8	15.7	25.5
SEM %	Naïve	4.3	3.1	3.3	3.6	3.5	4.1	5.1	2.9
	T <sub>CM</sub>	4	6.3	3.7	3.7	4.7	5.6	5.7	4.9
	T <sub>EM</sub>	4.8	7.5	4.3	10.7	6.3	5.6	8.4	4.7
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	4.3	8.1	3.3	11.2	6.4	6.1	3.9	6.7
N*	Naïve	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>CM</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>EM</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
P*	Naïve	0.2		0.1		0.1		0.1	
	T <sub>CM</sub>	0.3		0.02		0.7		0.5	
		0.9		0.8		0.4		0.8	
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	1		0.2		0.7		0.5	
r*	Naïve	-0.3		-0.5		0.4		-	
	Тсм	-0.3		-0.3		0.1		-	
		0		0.07		-0.4		-	
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	0.01		-0.01		0.02		-	

\* Low viral load lies below 100,000 copies/ml, high viral load ranges from 100,000 to  $1x10^8$  copies/ml. N\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects.

### **Table 5.2**

**Differentiation status of circulating Vol T cells in subgroups of HBV patients:** The frequencies of Vol T cells in patient subsets, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Memory	ALT	ALT >40	Low	High	Age	Age	<b>M</b> *	F*
	Phenotype	<40		Viral	Viral	<	35-		
				Load	Load	35	50		
Min %	Naïve	16.5	4.6	4.6	11.8	7.2	4.6	4.6	11.8
	T <sub>CM</sub>	2	0	2	0	0	4.6	0	2
	T <sub>EM</sub>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	11.1	6.4	6.4	24.1	6.4	12.2	11.1	6.4
Max %	Naïve	48	50	48	50	50	48	50	48
	T <sub>CM</sub>	36.4	22.3	36.4	15.9	33.3	36.4	33.3	36.4
	T <sub>EM</sub>	27.3	48.2	31.7	48.2	48.2	27.3	31.7	48.2
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	70	77.3	77.3	72.6	72.6	77.3	77.3	72.6
Mean%	Naïve	4.2	23.7	27.9	29	29.1	27.3	28.3	28.2
	T <sub>CM</sub>	16	12.4	16.9	7.9	12.7	16	14.2	14.3
	T <sub>EM</sub>	8.6	17.8	12.4	14.3	16.1	9.3	10.7	14.5
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	7.5	46.1	42.8	48.8	42.1	47.4	46.8	43
SEM %	Naïve	4.2	6	4.2	7.3	5.5	5.1	7.2	4
	T <sub>CM</sub>	4.1	2.9	3	2.9	3.7	3.4	4.3	3.2
	T <sub>EM</sub>	2.7	5.8	2.9	8.7	5.3	3.1	4	4.7
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	7.5	8.4	6.8	8.1	8.2	7.4	8.4	7.4
N*	Naïve	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>CM</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>EM</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	9	8	12	5	10	8	7	10
<b>p</b> *	Naïve	0.4		1		1		1	
	T <sub>CM</sub>	0.6		0.06		0.5		1	
		0.2		0.7		0.5		0.5	
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	0.7		0.6		0.7		0.9	
r*	Naïve	-0.2		-0.2		0.07		-	
	Тсм	-0.1		-0.4		0.02		-	
		0.2		0.06		0.03		-	
	T <sub>EMRA</sub>	0.1		0.2		0.2		-	

\* Low viral load lies below 100,000 copies/ml, high viral load ranges from 100,000 to  $1x10^8$  copies/ml. N\* is the number of subjects. The p-value **p**\* is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient **r**\* is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers **M**\* and **F**\* comprise the male and female subjects.

### 5.5 V82 and V81 T cell frequencies in demographically-matched healthy controls

Our patient cohort consisted of a group of individuals of different race as discussed in Chapter 2 and 3 and our knowledge of the healthy control subjects was also limited in this part of the study. Therefore, blood samples were obtained from healthy controls that were demographically-matched to our patient cohort in an effort to minimise the risk of false-positive results based on race and not HBV infection. The demographicallymatched control blood samples were taken from 13 African, 14 Caucasian and 9 Asian healthy donors. PBMC preparation and surface staining was performed in the same manner as for all other subjects and the frequencies V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells were quantified.

The mean frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells were 3+/-0.5%, 2.8+/-0.4% and 3.3+/-0.3% in African, Caucasian and Asian control subjects (Figure 5.13A). The mean frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells were 0.9+/-0.2%, 0.6+/-0.1% and 1.6+/-0.4% in African, Caucasian and Asian control subjects (Figure 5.13B). Performance of the Mann Whitney U test revealed that neither the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 or V $\delta$ 1 T cells were significantly different between African, Caucasian or Asian control subjects, with all p values falling outside our confidence interval of 0.05.

These data suggest that the frequencies of circulating V $\delta 2$  and V $\delta 1$  T cells do not significantly differ between persons from the 3 ethnic groups investigated in this study and therefore, the differences observed here between HBV patients and control subjects are not biased by the demographics of the patient group.

#### 5.6 IFN- $\gamma$ production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV infection

### 5.6.1 The frequencies of circulating IFN-γ-producing Vδ2 T cells are higher in HBV patients than in healthy control subjects

PBMC from 10 HBV-infected subjects and 18 control subjects were incubated for 4 hours in medium alone or with PMA/I, in the presence of brefeldin A. This was followed by surface staining with PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb and PE-Cy5-labelled anti-CD3 mAb and intracellular staining with FITC-labelled anti-IFN- $\gamma$  to identify IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Figure 5.14A). The frequency of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells was calculated as a percentage of the V $\delta$ 2 T cells and as a percentage of the total T cells. In the absence of stimulation, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells as a percentage of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells were 2.7+/-0.7% in controls and 6.7+/-1.4% in HBV patients (Figure 5.14B, p=0.01). After PMA/I stimulation, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were 48.7+/-7.9% and 35.6+/-5.2%, respectively (Figure 5.14C, p=0.6).

In the absence of stimulation, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells, as a percentage of T cells, were 0.06+/-0.02% in controls and 0.4+/-0.2% in HBV (Figure 5.13D, p=0.005). In the presence of stimulation, the mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells as a percentage of T cells were 1+/-0.2% in controls and 1.6+/-0.4% in HBV (Figure 5.14E, p=0.2).

These data show that the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing resting V $\delta$ 2 T cells isolated from HBV-infected individuals are significantly higher than those isolated from uninfected controls. However, V $\delta$ 2 T cells isolated from control subjects have similar responses to *in vitro* stimulation, as those cells from HBV-infected subjects.
Figure 5.14

# 5.6.2 The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV patient groups

The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were quantified as a percentage of total V82 T cells and compared between 10 HBV patients within the study cohort, based on clinical parameters. The minimum, maximum and mean frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells following incubation in medium alone or medium conditioned with PMA/I are shown in Table 5.3. The p and r values are also shown in Table 5.3. All patients investigated in this part of the study had low viral load (i.e. below 100,000 copies/ml) and therefore, a Mann-Whitney test was carried out to ascertain whether there were differences in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells between HBV-infected individuals with very low viral load (10 - 1000 copies/ml) and a low to medium viral load (10 - 10,000 copies/ml). Furthermore, only 2 HBV-infected individuals in this part of the study had ALT greater than 40 IU/ml and thus, Mann-Whitney tests could not be performed to ascertain differences between patients with low and high ALT because the test requires at least 3 data points in each group. Instead, the test was performed to compare frequencies in patients with ALT less than or greater than 35 IU/ml. All data are shown in Table 5.3. The frequencies of IFN-y-producing Vo2 T cells divided based on viral load, ALT, gender and age are shown in Figures 5.15A, B, C and D, respectively.

All data shown suggest that the frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not correlate with viral load, disease severity, gender or age in this patient cohort. Figure 5.15

#### **Table 5.3**

The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV patient subsets: The frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells within divisions of the HBV patient study cohort, based on varying ALT, viral load, age and gender.

	Condition*	ALT <35	ALT >35	Low Viral Load	Low to Medium Viral Load	Age < 35	Age 35- 50	<b>M</b> *	F*
Min	Medium	1.6	2.2	1.6	2.2	1.6	2.4	2.6	1.6
%	PMA/I	22.8	22.9	22.8	22.9	22.8	23.6	22.9	22.8
Max %	Medium	15.2	10.7	9.5	15.2	15.2	6.4	15.2	9.5
70	PMA/I	44.3	75.6	75.6	44.3	75.6	44.6	75.6	44.6
Mean %	Medium PMA/I	7 36.8	6.2 37.1	6 40.2	7.6 33	7.9 36.7	3.8 37.5	9.5 40.1	4.8 34.5
SEM %	Medium PMA/I	2 3.7	2.2 12.8	1.4 8.9	3.2 5	2 8.2	1.1 6	2.6 12.4	1.3 4.1
N*	Medium	6	4	6	4	7	3	4	6
	PMA/I	5	4	5	4	6	3	5	4
p*	Medium	1		0.8		0.4		0.1	
	PMA/I	0.7		0.9		0.5		1	
r*	Medium	0.02		0.3		0.01		-	
	PMA/I	-0.2		-0.3		0.5		-	

\* **Condition** refers to the 4 hour incubation of the cells in medium alone or, in medium treated with PMA/I, prior to staining for flow cytometry. **Low viral load** is below 1,000 copies/ml, **low to medium viral load** ranges from 1,000 to 10,000 copies/ml. N\* is the number of subjects. The p-value  $p^*$  is a product of the Mann-Whitney U-test and indicates statistical significance when it falls below 0.05. The correlation coefficient  $r^*$  is a product of the Spearman Correlation test and a value close to 1 or -1 indicates a linear correlation between two arrays of numbers. The columns with headers  $M^*$  and  $F^*$  comprise the male and female subjects, respectively.

5.6.3 The frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were lower following incubation with HBsAg

Since frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing resting V $\delta$ 2 T cells are higher in HBV, a preliminary experiment to ascertain whether HBV can induce IFN- $\gamma$  production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells was performed. PBMC from 3 healthy donors were incubated in medium supplemented with FBS, medium supplemented with sera from healthy control subjects or from HBV patients with a viral load above 10<sup>6</sup> copies/ml or, medium containing 1 µg of HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) or 3 µg of HBsAg, for 24 hours. Following this incubation, cells were treated with brefeldin A and incubated for a further 4 hours. Surface and intracellular staining with PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and FITC-labelled IFN- $\gamma$  was subsequently performed.

The mean frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells, as a percentage of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells, were 14.5+/-3.6% following incubation in medium supplemented with FBS. Contrary to our hypothesis, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were lower following 24 hour incubation with medium supplemented with sera from healthy control subjects or HBV patients or, medium containing 1µg of HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) or 3µg of HBsAg, with mean frequencies of 10.3+/-2.2%, 9.5+/-2.9%, 6.6+/-1.7% and 6.3+/-1.6%, respectively (Figure 5.16A). Paired t-tests revealed that only the differences observed in the presence of HBV serum were statistically significant (p=0.04)

As shown in Chapter 4, the serum from HBV patients is not a definite source of HBV antigens but the commercial HBsAg used in these experiments is intact. Therefore, these data suggest that V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not produce IFN- $\gamma$  as a direct response to HBsAg, and perhaps, another viral epitope or cell of the host immune system triggers the enhanced numbers of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells observed in HBV infection. Furthermore, these data suggest that HBsAg causes a decrease of more than 50% in the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells. It appears that HBsAg may have inhibited IFN- $\gamma$  expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells under the conditions provided here but in the HBsAg<sup>+</sup> carriers studied in sections 5.5.1 and 5.5.2, another arm of the immune system may counteract this inhibition and lead to overall higher frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cell and immune control. This experiment is only a preliminary investigation of the immune mechanisms in HBV and further work must be carried out before any conclusions can be made.

#### **5.7 NKG2D expression by Vδ2 T cells in HBV**

Surface staining with PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 mAb and APC-labelled anti-NKG2D was performed to identify NKG2D-expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells in the peripheral blood. Frequencies of NKG2D<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells were similar in HBV-infected subjects and controls with mean frequencies of 43% and 46.7%, respectively (p=0.6, Figure 5.17A). However, the mean fluorescence intensity of the receptor on the surface of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV infection (mean MFI: 27.2+/-3.2) was lower than that observed on the surface of such cells in uninfected controls (mean MFI: 83+/-42.6, p=0.1, Figure 5.17B).

These data suggest that the frequencies of NKG2D-expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are intact in HBV but, the level of NKG2D surface expression by such cells may be impaired.

Figure 5.16

Figure 5.17

#### **5.8 Bonferroni correction method**

Since the present study involved the analysis of the frequencies of multiple  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulations in patient and control subject groups, it is possible that statistically-significant differences in the two subject groups will be identified by chance alone.

For the phenotypic study of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, 14 tests were performed as shown in Table 3.5. By applying the Bonferroni correction method to the p-values obtained from the Mann-Whitney U tests, the most substantial results could be filtered out. Both the p and p<sub>c</sub> values for all tests are listed in Table 5.4. Following this correction, the differences in the frequencies of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells and naïve V $\delta$ 1 cells, only, were shown to be statistically significant with p<sub>c</sub>-values of 0.01 and 0.003, respectively (Table 5.4).

These data provide strong evidence that the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells are higher in HBV infection while, the frequencies of naïve V $\delta$ 1 T cells appear to be depleted.

#### **Table 5.4**

Statistical analysis of the phenotypical differences observed in  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulations in HBV infection: The p-values and corrected p-values for all 14 statistical tests performed in the phenotypical study of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulations in HBV infection.

TEST	*Change in HBV	p value	p <sub>c</sub> value
V82 T cells (as % of T cells)	Higher	< 0.0001	0.014
Vδ1 T cells (as % of T cells)	Higher	0.02	0.28
CD56+Vδ1 T cells (as % of T cells)	Higher	0.01	0.14
Naïve V $\delta$ 2 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 2 T cells)	Lower	0.006	0.084
$T_{CM}$ V $\delta$ 2 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 2 T cells)	Lower	0.03	0.42
$T_{EMRA}$ V $\delta$ 2 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 2 T cells)	Higher	0.02	0.28
Naïve Vô1 T cells (as % of Vô1 T cells)	Lower	0.0002	0.0028
$T_{CM}$ V $\delta$ 1 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 1 T cells)	Higher	0.02	0.28
$T_{EM}$ V $\delta$ 1 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 1 T cells)	Higher	0.004	0.056
$T_{EMRA}$ V $\delta$ 1 T cells (as % of V $\delta$ 1 T cells)	Higher	0.02	0.28

\*This column indicates whether the frequencies of cells are higher or lower in HBV-infected subjects, compared to control subjects.

Significant results after Bonferroni correction (pc values) are highlighted in italics.

#### 5.9 Discussion

This study investigated the frequencies of circulating  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulations in patients with asymptomatic HBV infection to identify which subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are expanded in HBV. Since the majority of the patients had a viral load below 20,000 and an ALT below 40, the group of patients were considered to have minimal or no liver disease and controlled viral replication. Therefore, although all patients are HBsAg carriers, they represent a model of immune control in the absence of severe immune pathology.

An association between Higher frequencies of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and seroconversion has previously been identified in HBV thus implicating these cells in the resolution of HBV infection while, the inability to clear the virus has been linked to deficiencies in circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Sing *et al.* 1998; Chen *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, impaired IFN- $\gamma$  production and cytotoxic activity by V $\delta$ 2 T cells was observed in chronic HBV with the most significant deficiencies observed in those with the most severe liver disease (Chen *et al.* 2008).

Expansions of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells and to a lesser extent, V $\delta$ 1 T cells, have been found in our patient cohort, compared to a group of uninfected controls. It has also been found that effector memory V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells were more abundant in the peripheral blood of HBV-infected patients than in that of uninfected control subjects while naïve subsets were substantially lower. This suggests that the expanded populations of V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells are actively involved in the immune control of HBV in these patients. The quantification of IFN- $\gamma$ - and NKG2D-expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV-infected patients and uninfected controls revealed that the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are higher in HBV but the frequencies of NKG2Dexpressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are not. While the frequencies of NKG2D<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 2 T cells are unchanged in the HBV patients, the surface expression of NKG2D (MFI) by V82 T cells is lower. Together with previous work by Chen et al. (2008) which has revealed that depletions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells correlate with an increase in liver inflammation, our data suggest that higher frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells are required to control HBV infection and prevent immune-mediated damage. The mechanism by which this occurs may involve the IFN- $\gamma$ -mediated downregulation of NKG2D. IFN- $\gamma$  has been shown to inhibit NKG2D ligand expression in melanoma and could employ a similar mechanism in HBV so that IFN-y-mediated viral clearance can prevail and liver damage from

cytolytic activity is limited (Schwinn *et al.* 2009). As discussed in Chapter 4, noncytolytic control of virus infection is preferable when large numbers of cells in large vital organs are infected (Guidotti & Chisari 2001).  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have previously been implicated in the liver injury associated with HCV with Th1-biased V $\delta$ 1 T cells identified as the predominant  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset to infiltrate HCV-infected livers and therefore, need to be controlled in order to facilitate viral clearance without causing liver damage (Tseng *et al.* 2001; Nikolopoulou *et al.*1995). Furthermore, NKG2D has been implicated in NK cell-mediated hepatocyte injury in virus-induced hepatitis and liver failure in mice thus showing why its regulation is critical in the avoidance of severe liver disease (Zou *et al.* 2010). Therefore, it appears that the expansions of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells with lower NKG2D expression may represent a repertoire of V $\delta$ 2 T cells that can control HBV replication without causing significant liver injury. Furthermore, the application of the Bonferroni correction method to our data have informed us that the expansions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells are highly significant.

The elevated frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 1 T cells, although not as significant as those observed for V $\delta$ 2 T cells, suggest that these cells also play a role in the antiviral immune response against HBV, possibly via the production of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (Spada et al. 2000). Their active role in immunity in these patients is evident in the expansions of their effector memory repertoires. The production of IFN- $\gamma$  by these cells might also contribute to the inhibition of NKG2D-mediated cytotoxicity. Furthermore, the expansion of the CD56<sup>+</sup> repertoire of V $\delta$ 1 T cells in HBV suggests that they are part of the IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT cell population which was already found to be expanded in HBV. Since V $\delta$ 1 T cells have previously been implicated in the pathogenesis of HCV infection and arthritis, they might require strict regulation in asymptomatic HBV infection (Tseng et al. 2001; Bank et al. 2002). However, they have also previously been shown to regulate inflammatory responses of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the small intestine via the suppression of IFN-y, granzyme-B and NKG2D expression (Bhagat et al. 2008). Therefore, further work is required to determine whether this  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset plays a predominant antiviral or regulatory role in the control of HBV infection. Future work might also examine the role of V $\delta$ 3 T cells in HBV-infected liver. This  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subpopulation is most prevalent in liver and therefore, may be of particular importance in controlling HBV infection but its investigation was not feasible for this study due to limited access to liver samples.

Since higher frequencies of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells have been found in HBV patients in the absence of stimulation, the potential of these increases were mimicked *in vitro* using HBV patient serum or HBsAg. However, it was found that the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were lower following incubation with HBV patient serum or HBsAg, suggesting that HBV proteins may have an immunomodulatory effect on V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Chen *et al.* (2008) previously found depletions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells and reduced IFN- $\gamma$  expression in chronic HBV. They found the greatest depletions in patients with the highest viral load suggesting that HBV proteins may have detrimental effects on V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Since, higher frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells have been found in a group of HBV patients with low viral load, this study may have identified an environment in which HBV proteins cannot reach sufficient levels to affect V $\delta$ 2 T cells observed in our study group may be an indirect consequence of HBV infection and a more direct effect of a highly activated cell population, most likely NT cells.

The data obtained in this study suggest that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells contribute to the control of HBV replication in these HBV patients, most likely via the production of IFN- $\gamma$ . It is proposed that the expansion of such  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV infection may be in response to other innate lymphocytes, rather than the virus. Since no significant differences were observed in CD1 expression in Chapter 3, it is also proposed that the expanded V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells are not CD1-restricted populations of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. Furthermore, the frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells were similar between control subjects of different race suggesting that our findings are not significantly influenced by the demographics of our patient group.

From these findings, it is proposed that innate T cells, most notably  $CD56^+T$  cells and V $\delta2$  T cells, are crucial to the control of HBV replication and such cells may be used as the basis for future immunotherapies.

# Chapter 6 Reciprocal interactions between Vδ2 T cells and epithelial cells

#### 6.1 Introduction

6.2	The effects of epithelial cells on V $\delta 2$ T cell surface marker				
	expression	256			
6.2.1	The levels of NKG2A expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells				
	are unchanged after co-culture with epithelial cells	256			
6.2.2	The levels of HLA-DR expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\delta 2$ T cells				
	are unchanged after co-culture with epithelial cells	257			
6.2.3	The levels of NKG2D expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells				
	are lower after co-culture with epithelial cells	257			
6.2.4	The levels of NKG2D expression by PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells				
	are lower after co-culture with epithelial cells	258			
6.2.5	The levels of NKG2D expression by fresh T cells are lower after co-				
	culture with epithelial cells	259			
6.3	The effects of Vδ2 T cells on epithelial cell surface marker				
	expression	266			
6.3.1	The levels of CD54 expression by epithelial cells are higher following				
	co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta 2$ T cells	266			
6.3.2	The levels of CD54 expression by epithelial cells are higher following				
	co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells	267			
6.3.3	The levels of CD54 expression by HT29 and GRM cells are higher				
	following co-culture with freshly isolated PBMC	268			
6.3.4	The levels of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells, but not Hep3B or				
	GRM cells, are slightly but significantly altered following co-culture	268			
	with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells				
6.3.5	PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells have comparable effects to HMBPP-				
	expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells on HLA-E expression by HT29 cells, but not				
	Hep3B or GRM cells	269			
6.3.6	The levels of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells are not significantly				
	altered following co-culture with fresh PBMC	270			
6.3.7	The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are reduced				
	following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta 2$ T cells	270			

253

6.3.8	The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are reduced	
	following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells	271
6.3.9	The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are unchanged	
	following co-culture with fresh PBMC	272
6.4	The effects of epithelial cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-incubation on cytokine	
	expression	280
6.4.1	Co-incubation of epithelial cells with V $\delta$ 2 T cells had no significant	
	effects on IL-4 expression by either cell type	280
6.4.2	There were no significant differences in IL-6 protein levels between	
	the supernatants of epithelial cell or V\delta2 T cell cultures and the	
	supernatants of co-cultures containing both	281
6.4.3	IL-10 expression is significantly higher in Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-	
	cultures, compared to V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures	281
6.4.4	Co-incubation of V $\delta$ 2 T cells with epithelial cells had no significant	
	effects on IL-13 expression	282
6.4.5	Co-incubation of epithelial cells and V $\delta 2$ T cells had no significant	
	effect on IFN-γ expression	282
6.4.6	The levels of TGF- $\beta$ 1 protein are depleted from supernatant of the co-	
	cultures, compared to when the epithelial cells are cultured alone	283
6.4.7	Undetectable levels of IL-12 in supernatants from epithelial cell and	
	Vδ2 T cell cultures	284
6.5	Discussion	292

6.5	Discussion		-

#### **6.1 Introduction**

HCC is a major global health problem and a potential endpoint of HBV infection (Bruix & Llovet 2003; Stefaniuk *et al.* 2010; Paraskevi *et al.* 2006; Fattovich *et al.* 2004). There are limited curative options for HCC and since surgical resection is only possible for small HCC malignancies, liver transplantation is often the best option (Jinushi *et al.* 2005; Stefaniuk *et al.* 2010; De Villa & Lo 2007). Treatment of HBV can prevent the development of liver disease and HBV-associated HCC but HBV treatments are not always effective, durable or tolerated as discussed in Chapter 1. Therefore, new immunotherapies are required for the successful treatment of HBV-associated liver cancer.

Vγ9Vδ2 T cells constitute the majority of γδ T cells in the peripheral blood and have a predominant Th1 cytokine profile (produce IFN-γ, IL-2 and TNF-α), elicit cytotoxic responses and have antigen presentation capabilities (Brandes 2005; Dudal *et al.* 2006; Eberl *et al.* 2009). While Vγ9Vδ2 T cells can directly modulate adaptive immune responses via cytokine production, they can also indirectly activate  $\alpha\beta$  T cell responses via activation of DC maturation. Blocking experiments have revealed that the Vγ9Vδ2 T cell induction of DC maturation is mediated, at least in part, by IFN-γ and TNF-α (Ismaili *et al.* 2002; Conti *et al.* 2005; Dunne *et al.* 2010). The functional plasticity of Vγ9Vδ2 T cells and the relative ease at which they can be cultured and expanded *in vitro* positions them as ideal candidates for immunotherapy. Since Vδ2 T cells usually co-express the Vγ9 chain and vice versa, the identification of Vγ9Vδ2 T cells can be achieved using an antibody against just one of the chains (Eberl *et al.* 2009; Chapter 5 of this thesis). The mAb against Vδ2 was predominantly used in this study and therefore, these cells are referred to as Vδ2 T cells throughout this work.

Since expansions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells were identified in HBV patients with controlled infection and little or no liver disease, it was proposed that these innate T cells are crucial to the control of HBV infection and in limiting progression to liver cirrhosis and HCC. Here, it was hypothesised that such cells may have potential for the treatment of HBV-associated carcinoma.

Although V $\delta$ 2 T cells are the main  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset in peripheral blood, they still only constitute 0.5-4.5% of circulating lymphocytes and must be expanded *in vitro* in order to gain sufficient numbers to induce a therapeutic immune response. This can be achieved by stimulating whole PBMC with phosphoantigens such as HMBPP or BrHPP or with aminobiphosphonates such as zoledronate, while using IL-2 as a growth factor. This induces significant expansion of V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Dieli *et al.* 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008; Wilhelm *et al.* 2003; Eberl *et al.* 2002; Abe *et al.* 2009). Various pyrophosphates or aminobisphosphonates have been used to expand and activate V $\delta$ 2 T cells in cell-based therapies that are being tested in several advanced stage malignancies (Eberl *et al.* 2009; Dieli *et al.* 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008; Wilhelm *et al.* 2003). Recognition of phosphoantigens is believed to be mediated through the V $\delta$ 2-TCR and these non-peptide antigens induce significant activation and expansion of the cells (Eberl *et al.* 2002). NKG2D expression is also believed to be crucial in the lysis of tumour cells by BRHPP+IL-2 or Zoledronate+IL-2-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Bouet *et al.* 2008; Wrobel *et al.* 2007; Das *et al.* 2001).

The importance of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in anti-tumour immune responses is evident in their isolation from the tumour infiltrates in breast, bladder, kidney, lung and ovarian cancer (Malkovsky 2003). Previous studies in our lab have shown that V $\delta$ 2 T cell frequencies are depleted in tumour-bearing livers (Kenna *et al.* 2004). They kill primary cultures of tumour cells including renal, hepatocellular and colorectal carcinoma cells (Viey *et al.* 2005; Mattarollo *et al.* 2007) and a variety of tumor cell lines (Fisch *et al.* 1990; Wrobel *et al.* 2007; Vantourout *et al.* 2009). This study aimed to investigate if V $\delta$ 2 T cells recognise and respond to HBV-associated HCC-derived cells i.e. Hep3B cells, and to determine whether such cells can inhibit or suppress V $\delta$ 2 T cell functions.

The pyrophosphate HMBPP together with IL-2 was used to propagate V $\delta$ 2 T cells *in vitro* and subsequently investigated the effects of a HBV-associated HCC cell line, Hep3B, on the phenotype and cytokine secretion profiles of the expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells. The expression of HBsAg by this cell line makes it an ideal model for studying the possible therapeutic effects of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV-associated HCC *in vitro* (Knowles *et al.* 1980).

Epithelial cells can potentially stimulate V $\delta$ 2 T cells via the expression of MICA/B or HLA-E which bind to NKG2D or NKG2A/C, respectively, on the surface of the V $\delta$ 2 T cells. In addition to ligation of the V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 TCR by phosphoantigen, ligation of NKG2D or NKG2C (dimerized with CD94) can induce the activation of V $\delta$ 2 T cells. On the other hand, ligation of NKG2A (dimerized with CD94) would inhibit their activation. The effects of co-incubation of HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells and Hep3B cells on the expression of receptor-ligand pairs involved in T cell activation

270

and inhibition was evaluated to determine the immunotherapeutic potential of these cells in HCC. The effects of Hep3B cells on the expression of the antigen presentation molecule HLA-DR by V82 T cells was also assessed to determine if HCC can modulate or suppress the capabilities V $\delta 2$  T cells have in antigen presentation to  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. The expression of the adhesion molecule CD54 (ICAM-1) by Hep3B cells was also investigated following co-culture. In addition, the expression levels of a variety of inflammatory and immunomodulatory cytokines was investigated to analyse the reciprocal effects of V82 T cell and Hep3B cells in co-culture. The colorectal carcinoma-derived cell line HT29 and the melanoma-derived cell line GRM were used as additional target cell populations and served as control epithelial cell lines. Fresh PBMC and PHA/IL-2-expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cells were used as controls for expanded V $\delta2$ cells. PHA/IL-2-expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cells served as an expanded population of non-V $\delta2$  T cells and also served as a control for any  $\alpha\beta$  T cell contamination of enriched V $\delta$ 2 cell populations. PBMC served as a control for the stimulated / expanded cells by providing resting V $\delta$ 2 T cell and  $\alpha\beta$  T cell populations which could be individually identified by flow cytometry.

Overall, the aim of this preliminary study was to gain knowledge of the immunotherapeutic potential of HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV-associated HCC and to identify any possible mechanisms by which HCC may subvert their effector functions. However, it was kept in mind that a HCC-derived cell line may not be representative of HCC and that this study should purely serve as a platform for further studies where such cellular interactions may be investigated in HCC patients.

#### 6.2 The effects of epithelial cells on V $\delta$ 2 T cell surface marker expression

V $\delta$ 2 T cells were expanded from the PBMC of 4-5 donors, using the pyrophosphate antigen HMBPP in combination with IL-2 as described in Chapter 2. The Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cell lines were maintained in culture as described in Chapter 2. Each epithelial cell line was subsequently cultured in the absence or presence of 14-day old expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells at 1:1 ratios. After 24 hours of co-culture, culture plates were centrifuged and supernatants were frozen for subsequent cytokine analysis. The pelleted cells were re-suspended in PBA and surface stained to examine NKG2A, HLA-DR and NKG2D surface expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Table 2.19). The use of mAbs specific for BerEP4, V $\delta$ 2 and CD3 facilitated the exclusion of epithelial cells and ensured that surface marker expression was only examined on the V $\delta$ 2 T cell population (Figures 6.1A–E).

# 6.2.1 The levels of NKG2A expression by HMBPP-expanded Vδ2 T cells are unchanged after co-culture with epithelial cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled NKG2A was performed to identify epithelial cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells and to ascertain whether the level of NKG2A expression by the V $\delta$ 2 T cells had changed after co-culture with Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells (Figure 6.2A).

The frequencies of 14-day old expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells expressing NKG2A ranged from 21.6% to 99.1% (mean 56+/-13%) of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells. This did not change significantly after co-culture with Hep3B cells with frequencies ranging from 21.45% to 100% (mean 62+/-17%). Similar frequencies were also observed following co-culture with HT29 cells (range; 23.5-99.4%, mean; 71.8+/-15.5%) or with GRM cells (range; 50.8-100%, mean; 87.2+/-9.4).

The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of NKG2A staining by V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 32.4 to 138.4 (mean 61+/-18) and from 14.7 to 178.1 (mean 64+/-27) when measured after culture in the absence and presence of Hep3B cells, respectively (Figure 6.2B). When measured after culture in the presence of HT29 cells, NKG2A expression ranged from 33 to 620.1 (mean; 169.8+/-113.4, Figure 6.2C) and, ranged from 27.8 to 82.4 (mean; 47.4+/-10) following co-culture with GRM cells (Figure 6.2D). A paired t-test revealed that no statistically significant changes in the levels of NKG2A expression

by V $\delta$ 2 T cells occurred following co-culture with Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells (p=0.4, 0.2 and 0.2).

These data show that expression of the inhibitory receptor NKG2A by V $\delta$ 2 T cells is not altered by co-culture with Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

# 6.2.2 The levels of HLA-DR expression by HMBPP-expanded Vδ2 T cells are unchanged after co-culture with epithelial cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 and PerCPlabelled anti-CD3 was performed to identify epithelial cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells and further surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-HLA-DR in combination with PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2 was performed to ascertain whether the level of HLA-DR expression by the V $\delta$ 2 T cells had changed after co-culture with Hep3B cells (Figure 6.3A).

The frequencies of 14-day old V $\delta$ 2 T cells expressing HLA-DR ranged from 59.4% to 97.5% (mean 79+/-6%) of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells. This did not change significantly after co-culture with Hep3B cells with frequencies ranging from 88.2% to 97.2% (mean 88+/-4%, Figure 6.3A). Similar frequencies were also observed following co-culture with HT29 cells (range; 82.05-99.5%, mean; 73.8+/-18%) or with GRM cells (range; 92.4-99.2%, mean; 96+/-1.2%).

The MFI of HLA-DR expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells also did not change and ranged from 26.9 to 190.8 (mean 107+/-33) and from 28.1 to 197 (mean 112+/-38, Figure 6.3B) when measured after culture in the absence and presence of Hep3B cells, respectively (Figure 6.3C, J, p=0.3). Furthermore, co-culture with HT29 or GRM cells did not alter HLA-DR expression levels by V $\delta$ 2 T cells with MFI values ranging from 4.8 to 98.77 (mean; 51.9+/-17.2, p=0.3) and from 38.1 to 193.7 (mean; 90.3+/-31.8, p=0.4), respectively.

These data show that expression of the antigen presentation marker HLA-DR by V82 T cells is not altered by co-culture with Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

# 6.2.3 The levels of NKG2D expression by HMBPP-expanded Vδ2 T cells are lower after co-culture with epithelial cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled anti-NKG2D was performed to examine expression levels of NKG2D by V $\delta$ 2 T cells, in the absence and presence of epithelial cells (Figure 6.4A).

The frequencies of 14-day old V $\delta$ 2 T cells expressing NKG2D ranged from 75.7% to 100% of total V $\delta$ 2 T cells (mean 89.1+/-4.9%). This did not change significantly after co-culture with Hep3B cells with frequencies ranging from 79.2% to 100% (mean 73.8+/- 16%). Similar frequencies of NKG2D-expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were also observed following co-culture with HT29 cells (range; 77.2-99.6%, mean; 89+/- 3.9%) or GRM cells (range; 98.2-100%, mean; 99.6+/-0.4%).

The MFI of NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells ranged from 109.2 to 390.4 (mean 216.3+/-50) but ranged from 55.2 to 164.9 (mean 83.2+/-22.2) when measured after culture in the presence of Hep3B cells (Figure 6.4B). A paired t-test revealed that these changes were not statistically significant (p=0.07). However, the lower NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells, observed following co-cultured with HT29 cells was statistically significant (range; 35.2-84.3, mean; 64+/-8.9, p<0.05, Figure 6.4C). Significantly lower levels of NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells were also recorded following co-culture with GRM cells (range; 45.7-163.6, mean; 86.3+/-23.5, p<0.05, Figure 6.4D).

These data show that the levels of NKG2A and HLA-DR expression by HMBPP expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells are unchanged after co-culture with epithelial cells, while NKG2D expression is consistently lower, suggesting a possible downregulation of this activating receptor by several different carcinoma-derived cell lines.

## 6.2.4 The levels of NKG2D expression by PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells are lower after co-culture with epithelial cells

To determine if the reduction in NKG2D expression was restricted to HMBPPenriched V $\delta$ 2 T cells, T cells were also expanded using PHA and IL-2 from PBMC as described in Chapter 2. The majority of such cells were  $\alpha\beta$  T cells with a minimal enrichment of V $\delta$ 2 T cells as shown in Figure 6.1F. Fourteen-day old PHA/IL-2expanded T cells from 2 healthy donors were then cultured alone or in the presence of equal numbers of Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells for 24 hours. Hep3B cells were only cocultured with PHA/IL-2-expanded T cells from 1 donor due to limited cell numbers. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APClabelled anti-NKG2D was performed to identify epithelial cells and T cells and, to ascertain whether the level of NKG2D expression by the PHA/IL-2-expanded T cells had changed after co-culture with epithelial cells. The mean MFI of NKG2D expression by PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells was 112.5+/-22.5. This was not altered by co-culture with Hep3B cells (140, Figure 6.4E). However the NKG2D expression was reduced following co-culture with HT29 (mean MFI: 60+/-9.8) or GRM cells (mean MFI: 49.9+/-4.9).

These data are only preliminary but, they suggest that the putative NKG2D downregulation observed above may not be restricted to HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells and, that these cancers may inhibit NKG2D on all T cells expressing it.

# 6.2.5 The levels of NKG2D expression by fresh T cells are lower after co-culture with epithelial cells

To determine if the reduction in NKG2D expression was restricted to expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, fresh PBMC were prepared from the buffy coat packs of 2 donors and cultured alone or in the presence of HT29 or GRM cells for 24 hours. Only results shown to be statistically significant were investigated further and therefore, the Hep3B cells were not used for this part of the study. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled anti-V $\delta$ 2, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled anti-NKG2D was performed to identify epithelial cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells and, to ascertain whether the level of NKG2D expression by the fresh V $\delta$ 2 T cells had changed after co-culture with HT29 cells.

The MFI values of NKG2D expression by fresh V $\delta$ 2 T cells were 81.6 and 73.4 in those PBMC incubated alone, 35.9 and 37.7 in those PBMC incubated with HT29 cells, and 31.6 and 30.2 in those PBMC cultured with GRM cells (Figure 6.4F). This shows that co-culture with epithelial cells causes lower levels of NKG2D expression by both fresh and expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells.

NKG2D expression by the  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells in the PBMC was also quantified. MFI values of 47.4 and 42.8 on  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells incubated alone, 32.6 and 25 on  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells cocultured with HT29 cells and 22.4 and 21 on  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells co-cultured with GRM cells, indicated NKG2D is also lower on fresh  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells after incubation with HT29 cells (Figure 6.4F).

These data show that the reduction in NKG2D expression is not specific to expanded T cells and that fresh  $V\delta2^+$  and  $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells may be subjected to the same mechanism of immune subversion by carcinoma-derived cells. Overall, it appears that

colorectal carcinoma and melanoma-derived cells may downregulate NKG2D-mediated cytotoxicity as a means of evading host immune responses.

#### 6.3 The effects of V82 T cells on epithelial cell surface marker expression

The Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cell lines were maintained in culture as described in Chapter 2. V&2 T cells were expanded from the PBMC of 3-5 donors, using the pyrophosphate antigen HMBPP in combination with IL-2 as described in Chapter 2. Each type of epithelial cell was subsequently cultured in the absence or presence of 14-day old expanded V&2 T cells at 1:1 ratios. After 24 hours of co-culture, culture plates were centrifuged and supernatants were frozen for subsequent cytokine analysis. The pelleted cells were re-suspended in PBA and surface stained to examine CD54, HLA-E and MICA/B surface expression by epithelial cells. The use of mAbs specific for BerEP4 and CD3 facilitated the exclusion of PBMC and, ensured that surface marker expression was only examined on the carcinoma-derived epithelial cells (Figures 6.1A-D).

### 6.3.1 The levels of CD54 expression by epithelial cells are higher following coculture with HMBPP-expanded V82 T cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APClabelled anti-CD54 was performed to identify epithelial cells and T cells and, to ascertain whether the level of CD54 expression by epithelial cells had changed after coculture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Figure 6.5A).

The MFI of CD54 expression by Hep3B cells ranged from 19.8 to 318.6 with a mean MFI of 80.6+/-59.5. Following co-culture in the presence of HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, the MFI ranged from 21.9 to 250.3 (mean; 90.8+/-45.3, Figure 6.5B). Higher CD54 expression by Hep3B cells was observed after co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 4/5 donors and lower after co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 1/5 donors. A paired t-test revealed that these changes were not statistically significant (p=0.4).

The MFI of CD54 expression by HT29 cells ranged from 26.9 to 50.4 with a mean MFI of 35.9+/-5.5. Following co-culture in the presence of HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, the MFI ranged from 129.3 to 1122.6 (mean; 547+/-166.6, Figure 6.5C). Higher CD54 expression by HT29 cells was observed following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 5/5 donors (p=0.02).

The MFI of CD54 expression by GRM cells ranged from 18.7 to 507.2 with a mean MFI of 121.7+/-96.5. Following co-culture in the presence of HMBPP-expanded V82 T cells, the MFI ranged from and from 340.2 to 913.6 (mean; 558.9+/-101, Figure

6.5D). Higher levels of CD54 expression by GRM cells were observed following coculture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 5/5 donors (p=0.02).

These data show that co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells leads to higher levels of CD54 expression by carcinoma-derived cells, particularly those derived from colorectal carcinoma and melanoma. These findings suggest that HMBPPexpanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells may increase the visibility of certain tumours and enhance antitumour immune responses, therefore, making these cells potential candidates for immunotherapies against these cancers.

### 6.3.2 The levels of CD54 expression by epithelial cells are higher following coculture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells

To determine if the enhanced CD54 expression on epithelial cells was restricted to coculture with HMBPP-enriched V $\delta$ 2 T cells, T cells were also expanded using PHA and IL-2 from PBMC as described in Chapter 2. The majority of such cells were  $\alpha\beta$  T cells with a mean 12.8% of V $\delta$ 2 T cells as shown in Figure 6.1F. HT29 or GRM cells were cultured alone or in the presence of equal numbers of 14-day old PHA and IL-2expanded T cells from each of 2 donors for 24 hours. Only PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells from 1 donor were co-cultured with equal numbers of Hep3B cells due to limited cell numbers. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled anti-CD54 was performed to identify epithelial cells, exclude all T cells and any PBMC from analysis and, to ascertain whether the level of CD54 expression by epithelial cells had changed after co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells

CD54 expression by HT29 cells rose from 26.89 to a mean MFI of 425.91+/-35.72 following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells (Figure 6.5E). CD54 expression by GRM cells rose from 18.72 to a mean MFI of 102.46+/-46.6 following co-culture and the MFI of Hep3B cells (318.56) almost doubled following a single coculture experiment with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells (611.91, Figure 6.5E). Since these experiments were only performed using PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells from 1–2 donors, paired T test could not be performed because this significance test requires a minimum of 3 pairs of data.

These data suggest that PHA and IL-2 expanded T cells can enhance CD54 expression by epithelial cells to a level comparable with that following co-culture with

HMBPP and IL-2-expanded T cells. However, it must be noted that these data are preliminary and must be repeated with PHA and IL-2 expanded T cells from more donors.

# 6.3.3 The levels of CD54 expression by HT29 and GRM cells are higher following co-culture with freshly isolated PBMC

To determine if the enhanced CD54 expression by epithelial cells was specific to co-culture with expanded T cells, fresh PBMC from 2 donors were incubated at 1:1 ratios with HT29 or GRM cells for 24 hours. Only results shown to be statistically significant using expanded T cells above were investigated further and therefore, the Hep3B cells were not used for this part of the study. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled anti-CD54 was performed to identify epithelial cells, exclude PBMC from analysis and to ascertain whether the level of CD54 expression by epithelial cells was altered following co-culture with fresh PBMC.

The MFI of CD54 expression by the HT29 cells rose from 50.4 to 84.2 and 75.1, after a 24 hour incubation with PBMC from each of 2 healthy donors, thus showing that a much smaller increase in CD54 expression by HT29 cells occurred when fresh PBMC were used instead of HMBPP- or PHA-expanded T cells (Figure 6.5F, p = 0.05).

The MFI of CD54 expression by the GRM cells rose from 45.04 to 71.2 and 65.1, after a 24 hour incubation with PBMC from each of 2 healthy donors. These data show that a much smaller increase in CD54 expression by GRM cells occurred when fresh PBMC were used instead of HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Figure 6.5F, p = 0.04).

These data show that CD54 expression is enhanced by co-culture with fresh PBMC but, the magnitude of enhancement is lower than that observed with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells.

### 6.3.4 The levels of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells, but not Hep3B or GRM cells, are slightly but significantly altered following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V82 T cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled anti-HLA-E and PerCPlabelled anti-CD3 was performed to ascertain the levels of HLA-E expression by epithelial cells, following culture in the presence and absence of HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (Figure 6.6A).

The MFI of HLA-E expression by Hep3B cells ranged from 2 to 10 with mean MFI of 7.3+/-2.6. The MFI of HLA-E expression by Hep3B cells ranged from 2.7 to 16 when measured after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (mean; 6.6+/-2.8, Figure 6.6B). Higher HLA-E expression was observed following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 3/4 donors and lower following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 1/4 donors. A paired t-test revealed that these changes were not statistically significant (p=0.4).

The MFI of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells was 1.83 but rose slightly to 2.6, 2.9 and 4 when measured after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from each of 3 healthy donors (Figure 6.6C, p=0.04).

The MFI of HLA-E expression by GRM cells ranged from 1.98 to 199.4 with mean MFI of 51.3+/-44.1. The MFI of HLA-E expression by GRM cells ranged from 2.9 to 50 when measured after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (mean; 14+/-10.5, Figure 6.6D). Higher HLA-E expression was observed after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 3/4 donors and lower after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 1 donor (p=0.2).

These data show that slightly but statistically significantly higher levels of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells occur after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded PBMC, but its expression by the other carcinoma-derived cells remains unchanged under the same conditions.

### 6.3.5 PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells have comparable effects to HMBPPexpanded Vδ2 T cells on HLA-E expression by HT29 cells, but not Hep3B or GRM cells

HT29 or GRM cells were cultured alone or in the presence of equal numbers of 14-day old PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells from each of 2 donors for 24 hours. Only PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells from 1 donor were co-cultured with equal numbers of Hep3B cells due to limited cell numbers. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PE-labelled HLA-E and PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 was performed to identify epithelial cells, exclude all T cells and any PBMC from analysis and, to ascertain whether the level of

HLA-E expression by epithelial cells was altered following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells.

HLA-E expression by HT29 cells rose slightly from 1.83 to a mean MFI of 3.1+/-0.1 following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells (Figure 6.6E). Co-culture did not alter HLA-E expression by GRM cells with MFI of 2 when cultured alone and mean MFI of 2.1+/-0.2 following the co-culture. The MFI of Hep3B cells (2) also rose slightly following a single co-culture experiment with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells (3.4, Figure 6.6E).

These data show that PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells do not greatly induce HLA-E expression on epithelial cells and only have subtle effects like those observed with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells.

# 6.3.6 The levels of HLA-E expression by HT29 cells are not significantly altered following co-culture with fresh PBMC

To determine if the slightly enhanced HLA-E expression by HT29 cells was specific to co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, fresh PBMC from 2 donors were incubated at 1:1 ratios with the colorectal carcinoma-derived cells. The MFI of HLA-E expression by the HT29 cells was 1.83 following culture alone and 1.6 and 1.5 following culture with fresh PBMC, thus showing that the same slight increases in HLA-E expression by HT29 cells did not occur following co-culture with fresh PBMC (Figure 6.6F).

### 6.3.7 The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are reduced following coculture with HMBPP-expanded Vδ2 T cells

Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APClabelled anti-MICA/B was performed to determine if co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V\delta2 T cells altered MICA/B expression by epithelial cells (Figure 6.7A).

The MFI of MICA/B expression by Hep3B cells ranged from 19 to 29.3 with a mean MFI of 24.3+/-3.2. Following co-culture in the presence of HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, the MFI ranged from 14.3 to 19.4 (mean; 16.8+/-1.6, Figure 6.7B). The expression of MICA/B by Hep3B cells, although lower, was not statistically significantly altered according to a paired t-test (p=0.3).

The MFI of MICA/B by HT29 cells ranged from 32.1 to 147.3 (mean; 60.9+/-25.8) and from 11.2 to 124.6 when measured after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (mean; 42.1+/-24.6, Figure 6.7C). The expression of MICA/B by HT29 cells was significantly lower following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (p=0.002).

The MFI of MICA/B by GRM cells ranged from 13.2 to 40 (mean; 33.3+/-6) and from 10.9 to 17.1 when measured after co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells (mean 13.4+/-1.2, Figure 6.7D). The expression of MICA/B by GRM cells was reduced following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells from each of 4 donors (p=0.02).

These data show that MICA/B expression by HT29 and GRM cells is significantly reduced following co-culture with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, suggesting that MICA/B may mediate the NKG2D downregulation observed on the V $\delta$ 2 T cells after the same co-culture experiments.

### 6.3.8 The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are reduced following coculture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells

To determine if the reduced MICA/B expression on epithelial cells was restricted to coculture with HMBPP-enriched Vδ2 T cells, conventional T cells were also expanded using PHA and IL-2 from PBMC of 2 donors. HT29 or GRM cells were cultured alone or in the presence of equal numbers of 14-day old PHA and IL-2-expanded PBMC from each of 2 donors for 24 hours. Only PHA and IL-2-expanded PBMC from 1 donor were co-cultured with equal numbers of Hep3B cells due to limited cell numbers. Surface staining with FITC-labelled anti-BerEP4, PerCP-labelled anti-CD3 and APC-labelled anti-MICA/B was performed to identify epithelial cells, exclude T cells and any PBMC from analysis and, to ascertain whether the level of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells had changed after co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells

MICA/B expression by HT29 cells fell from 32.1 to a mean MFI of 15.5+/-1.7 following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded PBMC (Figure 6.7E). MICA/B expression by GRM cells fell from 40 to a mean MFI of 12.3+/-1.3 following the co-culture and, the MFI of Hep3B cells (29.3) was reduced to 14.6 following a single co-culture experiment with PHA and IL-2-expanded PBMC (Figure 6.7E).

These data show that MICA/B expression by epithelial cells is reduced following co-culture with PHA and IL-2-expanded T cells, suggesting that MICA/B may mediate the NKG2D downregulation observed on such T cells after the same co-culture experiments. Again, it must be noted that these data are preliminary and must be repeated and expanded to determine the role, if any, of MICA/B in the putative downregulation of NKG2D on T cells.

# 6.3.9 The levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells are unchanged following co-culture with fresh PBMC

HT29 or GRM cells were incubated alone or in the presence of equal numbers of freshly prepared PBMC from each of 2 donors for 24 hours to ascertain if the reductions in MICA/B expression were specific to co-culture with expanded T cells. Surface staining was performed as before and analysis revealed that, after a 24 incubation with PBMC from each of 2 healthy donors, the MFI of MICA/B by the HT29 cells remained unchanged from 62.1 to 62.2 and 58.1, respectively, thus showing that co-culture with fresh PBMC has very little effect on MICA/B expression by HT29 cells (Figure 6.7F, p=0.3). The MFI of MICA/B by the GRM cells slightly changed from 122.1 to 124 and 113, respectively, thus showing that co-culture with fresh PBMC has very little effect on MICA/B expression by BMC has very little effect on MICA/B slightly changed from 122.1 to 124 and 113, respectively, thus showing that co-culture with fresh PBMC has very little effect on MICA/B expression by GRM cells (Figure 6.7F, p=0.3).

These data show that MICA/B expression by HT29 or GRM cells is not altered by co-culture with fresh PBMC.

Overall, these data suggest that HMBPP-expanded V82 T cells may increase tumour visibility by inducing CD54 upregulation. Furthermore, these data also indicate that such tumours may employ immune evasion strategies such as the downregulation of NKG2D on V82 T cells. The lower surface expression of MICA/B by Hep3B cells which is concurrent with the reduced NKG2D expression by V82 T cells suggests that these decreases are caused by ligand-receptor binding. It must be noted that tumour cells can shed MICA/B to evade immune responses and that Hep3B might have employed this strategy to mediate NKG2D downregulation in these experiments. However, further experiments to quantify the amount of soluble MICA/B would be required before such conclusions can be drawn.

Higher levels of MICA/B expression by epithelial cells were observed when fresh PBMC were used but these higher levels cannot be attributed to V $\delta$ 2 T cells alone
as they are a much smaller proportion of fresh PBMC. Interestingly, reduced NKG2D expression by both,  $\alpha\beta^+$  and  $V\delta2^+$  T cells in fresh PBMC was observed, suggesting that this a general immune evasion strategy used by the tumours and, it is not specific to HMBPP-expanded V $\delta2$  T cells. The simultaneous reduction in MICA/B expression by the epithelial cells was observed to a much lower extent when fresh PBMC were used, suggesting that another factor is involved in the putative NKG2D downregulation.

#### 6.4 The effects of epithelial cell / Vδ2 T cell co-incubation on cytokine expression

The BD<sup>TM</sup> Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) was used to quantify cytokine expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells and epithelial cells, following 24 hours of culture alone and culture together. The culture plates were then centrifuged and the supernatants removed and stored at - 20°C, The supernatants were later thawed and then prepared for multiplex analysis of cytokine levels as described in Chapter 2, along with the standards for IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IFN $\gamma$  and TGF- $\beta$ 1. Analysis was performed as described in Chapter 2 such that the MFI of each cytokine standard corresponded to the concentration in pg/ml. The concentration of each cytokine could then be compared between supernatants from cultures of V $\delta$ 2 T cells from 3 healthy donors, from Hep3B cells, HT29 cells or GRM cells.

### 6.4.1 Co-incubation of epithelial cells with Vδ2 T cells had no significant effects on IL-4 expression by either cell type

Using an appropriate gating technique, the concentrations of IL-4 were determined in each sample of interest (Figure 6.8A-D). The mean concentration of IL-4 in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures was 6.4+/-1.9 pg/ml (Figure 6.8E). The concentration of IL-4 in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 1.6, 5.7 and 1.5 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.8E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 4.9+/-2.1 pg/ml of IL-4, while mean concentrations from HT29 cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell and GRM cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures were 4.4+/-0.9 and 5.9+/-1.9 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.8E). A paired t-test revealed that there were no significant differences between IL-4 levels in the cultures containing V $\delta$ 2 T cells, Hep3B cells, HT29 cells or GRM cells alone and in the cultures containing both, V $\delta$ 2 T cells and Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

These data show that co-culture has no significant effects on IL-4 secretion by V\delta2 T cells, Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

# 6.4.2 There were no significant differences in IL-6 protein levels between the supernatants of epithelial cell or V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures and the supernatants of co-cultures containing both

The concentrations of IL-6 were also determined in each sample of interest (Figure 6.9A-D). The mean concentration of IL-6 in the supernatants from Vδ2 T cell cultures was 79.1+/-22 pg/ml (Figure 6.9E). The concentration of IL-6 in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 2.1, 3.1 and 42.6 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.9E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / Vδ2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 171.26+/-102.9 pg/ml of IL-6, while mean concentrations from HT29 cell / Vδ2 T cell and GRM cell / Vδ2 T cell co-cultures were 124.02+/-86.1 and 1921.32+/-1380.749 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.9E). A paired t-test revealed that there were no significant differences between IL-6 levels in the cultures containing Vδ2 T cells, Hep3B cells, HT29 cells or GRM cells alone and in the cultures containing Vδ2 T cells and any of the epithelial cells.

These data show that co-culture has no significant effects on IL-6 secretion by V\delta2 T cells, Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

### 6.4.3 IL-10 expression is significantly higher in Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures, compared to V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures

The concentrations of IL-10 were determined in each sample of interest (Figure 6.10A-D). The mean concentration of IL-10 in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures was 8.3+/-0.8 pg/ml (Figure 6.10E). The concentration of IL-10 in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 42.7, 9.7 and 1.5 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.10E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 55.1+/-14.3 pg/ml of IL-10 and a paired t-test revealed that this was significantly higher, compared to the concentration of IL-10 in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures (p=0.03). The mean IL-10 concentrations from HT29 cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell and GRM cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures were 20.3+/-6.1 and 31.4+/-15.3 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.10E).

These data show that IL-10 expression is significantly higher when Hep3B cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells are co-cultured, compared to when V $\delta$ 2 T cells are cultured alone. However, the levels of IL-10 are similar between Hep3B cell cultures and Hep3B/V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures. Therefore, this suggests that Hep3B cells are the predominant producers of IL-10 in these co-culture experiments.

### 6.4.4 Co-incubation of V $\delta$ 2 T cells with epithelial cells had no significant effects on IL-13 expression

Gating on IL-13-conjugated beads only was performed to determine the IL-13 protein level in each sample of interest (Figure 6.11A-D). The mean concentration of IL-13 in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures was 236.5+/-100.5 pg/ml (Figure 6.11E). The concentration of IL-13 in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 10.5, 62 and 16.5 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.11E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 1176.6+/-849.7 pg/ml of IL-13, while mean concentrations from HT29 cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell and GRM cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell cocultures were 873.2+/-422.8 and 1467.2+/-915.6 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.11E). A paired t-test revealed that there were no significant differences between IL-13 levels in the cultures containing V $\delta$ 2 T cells, Hep3B cells, HT29 cells or GRM cells alone and in the cultures containing both, V $\delta$ 2 T cells and Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells.

These data show that co-culture had no significant effects on IL-13 expression by Vδ2 T cells, Hep3B, HT29 or GRM cells

### 6.4.5 Co-incubation of epithelial cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells had no significant effect on IFN- $\gamma$ expression

The concentrations of IFN- $\gamma$  were determined in each sample of interest (Figure 6.12A-D). The mean concentration of IFN- $\gamma$  in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures was 1619+/-837.1 pg/ml (Figure 6.12E). The concentration of IFN- $\gamma$  in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 36, 1248.6 and 43.8 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.12E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 281.8+/-91.1 pg/ml of IFN- $\gamma$ , which is a marked reduction from that observed in cultures of V $\delta$ 2 T cells alone but not statistically significant (p=0.4). The mean concentrations from HT29 cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell and GRM cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures were 1186.4+/-892.9 and 536.7+/-453.2 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.12E).

These data show that IFN- $\gamma$  release is almost always higher when epithelial cells are co-cultured with V $\delta$ 2 T cells compared to when epithelial cells are cultured alone,

most probably because the HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells are potent producers of this cytokine. More importantly, although no changes in IFN- $\gamma$  secretion were deemed statistically significant, its reduction in the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultured with Hep3B cells compared to when V $\delta$ 2 T cells were cultured alone suggests that these HCC-derived cells might suppress the cytokine-mediated effector functions of HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells. One might speculate that this putative inhibition of IFN- $\gamma$  release is mediated by Hep3B cell-derived IL-10.

#### 6.4.6 The levels of TGF- $\beta$ 1 protein are depleted from supernatant of the cocultures, compared to when the epithelial cells are cultured alone

Using an appropriate gating technique, the concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ 1 were determined in each sample of interest (Figure 6.13A-D). The mean concentration of TGF- $\beta$ 1 in the supernatants from V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures was 106.3+/-79.6 pg/ml (Figure 6.13E). The concentration of TGF- $\beta$ 1 in the supernatants from Hep3B, HT29 and GRM cells was 168.1, 228.1 and 89.5 pg/ml, respectively (Figure 6.13E). The supernatants from Hep3B cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures had a mean concentration of 90.8+/-14.3 pg/ml of TGF- $\beta$ 1 which is a marked reduction from that observed in cultures of Hep3B cells alone (Figure 6.13E, p=0.005). The mean concentrations from HT29 cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell was also significantly lower than that observed in culture of HT29 cells alone (mean; 107.2+/-29.8 pg/ml, p=0.02, Figure 6.13E). The mean concentration of TGF- $\beta$ 1 in the supernatants from GRM cell / V $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures was 86+/-16.7 pg/ml which is similar to that observed in cultures (Figure 6.13E).

These data suggest that the expression of TGF- $\beta$ 1 by Hep3B and HT29 cells is reduced in the presence of V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Further experiments might show that this reduction could be due to the engagement of TGF- $\beta$ 1 with the V $\delta$ 2 T cells as part of its role in the downregulation of NKG2D. However, such conclusions could only be drawn after the effects of exogenous TGF- $\beta$ 1 or neutralizing antibodies against TGF- $\beta$ 1 on NKG2D expression are evaluated.

### 6.4.7 Undetectable levels of IL-12 in supernatants from epithelial cell and V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures

Using an appropriate gating technique, the concentrations of IL-12 in each standard tube could be determined (Figure 6.14A, B, C). However, IL-12 protein was undetectable in the supernatants collected from Hep3B, HT29, GRM and V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures and co-cultures. As the IL-12 standards worked as expected these data suggest that HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells do not produce IL-12 under the culture conditions provided.

#### 6.5 Discussion

In the phenotypic analysis of innate lymphocyte populations in HBV infection (Chapter 3), the frequencies of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells were found to be significantly expanded in patients with HBV infection who had low viral loads and were either asymptomatic or had mild liver disease. From this it was proposed that these cells played an active role in the immune control of HBV. Since HCC is a potential endpoint of chronic HBV infection with a 100-fold higher risk in chronically infected persons compared to agematched uninfected controls, the anti-tumour potential of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in this malignancy was evaluated (Beasley 1988; Beasley *et al.* 1981). Only 0.2% of asymptomatic carriers are diagnosed with HCC compared to approximately 5% of chronically infected patients with liver cirrhosis (Beasley 1988; Beasley *et al.* 1981; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). The expansions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells observed in asymptomatic carriers may be responsible for the low prevalence of HCC in similar HBV-infected subjects. If this is the case, V $\delta$ 2 T cells expanded *in vitro* could be administered as an immunotherapy to those chronically infected patients who are at a higher risk of developing the malignancy.

To evaluate the immunotherapeutic potential of V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV-associated HCC, the HCC-derived Hep3B cells were co-cultured with HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells and then investigated the expression of several surface markers and cytokines by both cell types. The cytotoxicity of Hep3B cells by V $\delta$ 2 T cells was also investigated by analysis of cell surface CD107 expression, but these experiments proved to be unsuccessful.

It was found that NKG2D surface expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells is lower following co-culture with Hep3B cells. It was also found that MICA/B surface expression by Hep3B cells is lower following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Interestingly, altered cytokine expression levels were also observed; the levels of IL-10 were higher in the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell co-cultures compared to the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cells or Hep3B cells alone while the IFN- $\gamma$  levels were lower. Furthermore, the levels of the immunomodulatory growth factor TGF- $\beta$ 1 are significantly lower in the supernatants from the V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell co-cultures compared to the supernatants of Hep3B cells alone. These alterations indicate that NKG2D and IFN- $\gamma$  expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells is reduced following co-culture with Hep3B cells and it is proposed that the Hep3B cells are mediating this reduction via the shedding of MICA and MICB.

Previous studies have revealed that NKG2D is a target for immune evasion and that the frequencies of circulating NKG2D-expressing NK cells are depleted in HCC, HBV and cervical cancer (Zeng et al. 2009; Arreygue-Garcia et al. 2008). MICA and MICB are natural ligands of NKG2D and their expression by tumour and virus-infected cells is crucial to NKG2D-mediated recognition (Wrobel et al. 2007; Bouet et al. 2008; Corvaiser et al. 2005). The engagement of NKG2D with MICA/B results in internalisation of the receptor and the bound ligand and, phosphorylation of DAP10 which triggers a cascade of events that ultimately result in calcium flux and cytotoxicity (Mistry & O'Callaghan 2007). In the immune subversion of NKG2D-mediated effector functions, MICA and MICB can be shed from tumour cells in a soluble form that impairs immune responses against the tumours by reducing NKG2D-ligand densities on malignant cells (Salih et al. 2006). This can lead to endocytosis and degradation of NKG2D by the cells on which it is expressed thus reducing the capacity of those cells to recognise tumour or virus-infected cells (Gonzalez et al. 2008). TGF-B can also suppress NKG2D-mediated recognition of tumours, by reducing NKG2D ligand expression (Eisele et al. 2006). TGF-β-mediated downregulation of NKG2D has been reported on both CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK cells and epithelial cells and Treg cells are a common source of such TGF- $\beta$  (Ghiringhelli et al. 2006; Clayton et al. 2008). Inhibition of NKG2D most probably exploits the mechanism by which this receptor is downregulated in the absence of malignancies or viral infections. The involvement of NKG2D in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, autoimmune diabetes and coeliac disease shows why such regulation is required (Obeidy & Sharland 2008).

From these studies and our current findings, it is proposed that the reduction of MICA and MICB expression by Hep3B cells is due to shedding of the molecules in a soluble form. The soluble MICA and MICB then bind to NKG2D on the surface of Vδ2 T cells and cause its internalisation and degradation, resulting in reduced NKG2D expression and impaired NKG2D-mediated effector functions. Since, the expression of NKG2D on BRHPP+IL-2 or zoledronate+IL-2-expanded Vδ2 T cells was found to be important in the lysis of HCC primary cells and HCC-derived cell lines, it might be hypothesised that this immune subversion may be indicative of HCC *in vivo* (Bouet *et al.* 2008). It is possible that the reduced detection of NKG2D on Vδ2 T cells and MICA/B on Hep3B cells in these experiments may be due to NKG2D-MICA/B engagement and therefore, further experiments would be required to confirm MICA/B

shedding and/or NKG2D downregulation. Such experiments would include the addition of exogenous soluble MICA/B to V $\delta$ 2 T cell cultures or the performance of ELISAs to compare the amount of soluble MICA/B in the supernatants of Hep3B cell cultures to those in which Hep3B cells and V $\delta$ 2 T cells are cultured together.

Depleted levels of TGF- $\beta$ 1 were also found in the V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell supernatants compared to the supernatants of Hep3B cells alone. This is possibly due to V $\delta$ 2 T cell-mediated inhibition of TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression. The suppression of TGF- $\beta$ 1 might help to facilitate an effective V $\delta$ 2 T cell-mediated anti-tumour immune response since the growth factor can serve as both an immunomodulator and a tumour promoter.

Reduced IFN- $\gamma$  and augmented IL-10 production were also apparent in the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell co-cultures compared to supernatants taken from V $\delta$ 2 T cells cultured alone suggesting that epithelial cell-derived IL-10 may serve to modulate the inflammatory responses of the V $\delta$ 2 T cells.

It must be noted that the cellular source of the cytokines in the co-culture supernatants are unknown but the source can be gauged by comparing levels in supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cell or Hep3B cell single cultures to those of the co-cultures. However this is only an estimation and therefore, future experiments using intracellular cytokine staining and flow cytometry would be desirable to confirm the source of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ 1. However, the cytometric bead assay was considered as the best option for this preliminary study because it allowed the detection of 7 cytokines and facilitated the identification of the cytokines which are involved in V $\delta$ 2 T cell-Hep3B cell interactions.

CD54 (ICAM-1) expression by HT29 and GRM, but not Hep3B cells, was significantly higher following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells. CD54 is expressed by APCs, memory and activated T cells and tumour cells (Roebuch & Finnegan 1999; Sun *et al.* 1999; Alexiou *et al.* 2001) and its primary function as a cell adhesion molecule enables intercellular communication and can facilitate MHC-restricted antigen presentation to T cells (Roy *et al.* 2001). CD54 expression can be induced by IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and LPS and can be inhibited by IL-4 and IL-10 (Roy *et al.* 2001; Dymicka-Pierkarska & Kemona 2009). Therefore, the absence of CD54 upregulation by Hep3B cells following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells may be due to the presence of IL-10 and the apparent inhibition of IFN- $\gamma$  and might represent an immune evasion strategy of the HCC-derived cells. Furthermore, its enhanced expression by HT29 and GRM cells

following co-culture with HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells, fresh PBMC or PHA/IL-2-expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cell may increase recognition of these epithelial cells and facilitate their immune-mediated destruction. Shedding of CD54 is an immune evasion strategy used by tumours to facilitate metastasis (Sun *et al.* 1998; Dymicka-Pierkarska & Kemona 2009). In this study, the lack of CD54 surface expression upregulation by Hep3B cells may indicate that the CD54 has been shed as an immune evasion strategy of the HCC-derived cells. Higher serum levels of CD54 have been found in HCC and soluble CD54 is believed to play a role in the resistance of such tumours to tumour cells and therefore, increases the potential for tumour development and metastasis (Sun *et al.* 1999). Future experiments may confirm if Hep3B cells shed CD54 by comparing the ratios of soluble and surface expressed CD54 in Hep3B cell v $\delta$ 2 T cell co-cultures.

The use of PHA/IL-2 expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cells instead of HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells in one co-culture experiment with Hep3B cells appeared to have similar effects on MICA/B expression by Hep3B cells but not on NKG2D expression by the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells suggesting that these cells are not susceptible to the same suppression mechanisms as their  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. However, no real conclusions can be drawn from a single result. Furthermore, the proportion of PHA/IL-2-expanded  $\alpha\beta$  T cells expressing NKG2D (mean; 54.2%) was significantly lower than the proportion of HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells expressing the activating receptor (mean 89.1%), suggesting that it does not play as large a role in the effector functions of conventional T cells.

All data shown here have been obtained using HMBPP-expanded V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells from a maximum of 5 healthy donors and are therefore, preliminary. Despite this, the findings raise some important issues for the use of these cells in therapeutics against HCC. At present, measures are being taken to curb similar tumour cell-mediated inhibition such as the use of metalloproteinase inhibitors to inhibit MICA shedding or *in vitro* testing of MICA conjugated mAbs specific for tumour-associated antigens to sensitize NKG2D-mediated lysis (Gonzalez *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, Wrobel *et al.* (2007) suggest that NKG2D suppression could be overcome by 'forced' TCR-dependent tumour cell recognition which might be achieved by using aminobiphosphonates and BrHPP in combination. They also suggest that tumours whose recognition by V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells is solely mediated by NKG2D would not be

suitable candidates for a  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cell-based immunotherapy. TCR-dependent recognition of F1-ATPase is another means whereby  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells can recognise hepatocytes and it may be a preferable option for the treatment of HCC (Wrobel *et al.* 2007).

The investigation of V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell/HT29 cell and V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cell/GRM cell coculture experiments have yielded equally interesting results with significantly lower levels of NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells and MICA/B expression by HT29 and GRM cells therefore, suggesting that the same effects may take place in the use of cellbased immunotherapies for the treatment of CRC and melanoma. In fact, many signs of immune subversion appear to be more striking for these cancers suggesting that they might be more difficult to treat with such immunotherapies than HCC.

From these findings, it is hypothesised that cell-based immunotherapies may be the way forward for the treatment of HCC but the effector cell type and the mechanisms by which they are activated *in vitro* and through which they recognise tumour cells *in vivo* must be carefully considered.

## Chapter 7

## Final Discussion

7.1	Immune control in HBV infection	299
7.2	Immunomodulation by HBV-associated HCC	306

#### 7.1 Immune control in HBV infection

Despite the availability of a vaccine since the 1970s, HBV is one of the major causes of liver disease worldwide and is responsible for over 1 million deaths each year (Millman & Blumberg 1978; Pisani et al. 1990; Evans & Landon 1998; Christina & Page 2001; Lok & McMahon 2001; Lauer & Walker 2001). While, the majority of adult HBV infections are resolved, an alarming 95% of neonates develop persistent infection (Stevens et al. 1975; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006; Chisari & Ferrari 1975). A serious endpoint of chronic HBV infection is liver cirrhosis which occurs in 2-5% of HBV patients and can lead to the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and, often liver failure. Approximately 5% of chronically infected patients who develop liver cirrhosis are diagnosed with HCC (Beasley et al. 1981; 1988; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). The majority of chronically-infected patients however, do not develop liver disease and are said to be asymptomatic carriers. They are also referred to as HBsAg-positive and a cohort of such subjects have been investigated in this study. Most of the HBV-infected persons in our study cohort had a viral load below 20,000 copies/ml and an ALT below 40 which indicates that the virus is maintained at a low replicative phase and that no or little liver damage has arisen from the antiviral immune response. Therefore, despite the failure to completely eliminate the virus, these subjects exhibit a good antiviral immune response that keeps viral load at a low level without causing immune-mediated damage. However, it should be noted that definitive classification of asymptomatic disease would ideally require liver biopsy and/or fibroscan testing which was not possible in the present study.

Resolution of HBV infection is associated with strong, polyclonal and multispecific CTL responses directed against epitopes within the polymerase, envelope and core and pre-core proteins of HBV while, persistent HBV infection is characterised by lower numbers of HBV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Penna *et al.* 1991; Missale et al; 1992; Bertoletti *et al.* 1991; Nayersina *et al.* 1993; Rehermann *et al.* 1995; Maini *et al.* 1999; Maini *et al.* 2000; Sobao *et al.* 2002, Thimme *et al.* 2003; Yang *et al.* 2009). Furthermore, the presence of large numbers of non-antigen specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the livers of patients with uncontrolled HBV infections and the ability of CTLs cells to produce IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in chronic HBV may contribute to liver inflammation clearing the virus (Bertoletti & Maini 2000; Reignat *et al.* 2002; Das *et al.* 2008). Inefficient T cell priming by DC and immunomodulation by Treg cells have been implicated as factors in the inadequate T cell responses that are seen in persistent HBV infection (Duan *et al.* 2006; Fu *et al.* 2007). Moreover, HBV variants carrying mutations in cytotoxic T cell epitopes have been detected in chronic hepatitis B suggesting that viral immune escape mechanisms have a part to play in the establishment of persistent infection (Bertoletti *et al.* 1994; Rehermann *et al.* 1995). Since HBV is a non-cytopathic virus, it is quite possible that non-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that were once specific but are now redundant due to antigenic drift play a role in the liver pathology associated with HBV. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have also been shown to upregulate NK receptors in murine influenza A suggesting that the expression of such receptors increases the chances of antigen recognition and viral clearance (Kambayashi *et al.* 2000).

Since innate lymphocytes can modulate DC maturation and adaptive immune responses, it was proposed that deficiencies in their numbers or functions might result in impaired adaptive immune responses and a failure to resolve HBV infection (Kakimi *et al.* 2000; Liu *et al.* 2000; Nishimura *et al.* 2000; Cooper *et al.* 2001; Guidotti & Chisari 2001; Vincent *et al.* 2002; Ismaili *et al.* 2002; Martino *et al.* 2002; Dieli *et al.* 2004; Devilder *et al.* 2006; Ing & Stevenson 2009; Dunne *et al.* 2010). In this study the role of innate lymphocytes in immune responses against HBV has been investigated by quantifying their frequencies in the peripheral blood and examining their cytokine profiles in HBV-infected subjects and uninfected controls. Since the HBV patient cohort primarily consists of asymptomatic HBV carriers, it was expected that the findings would reflect the requirements of an effective immune response.

Treatment of HBV infection is burdened with several challenges including poor tolerance of immunomodulatory therapy and resistance to antiviral treatment (van Zonneveld *et al.* 2005; Janssen *et al.* 1990; Buster & Janssen 2006). Therefore, novel effective and well-tolerated immunotherapies are very necessary for the treatment of HBV. Several clinical trials have evaluated the potential of innate lymphocytes in immunotherapeutics and many have proven to be effective and well-tolerated (Schmidt-Wolf *et al.* 1999; Shi *et al.* 2004; Leemhuis *et al.* 2005; Chang *et al.* 2005; Bennouna *et al.* 2008; Motohashi *et al.* 2009; Dieli *et al.* 2009). It was proposed that the identification of innate lymphocyte populations that mediate effective immune control without causing liver disease may pave the way for the development of new immunotherapies in HBV.

Expansions of circulating innate lymphocytes have been identified in our patient cohort which might represent an active antiviral response. NK, NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, but not iNKT cells, were more abundant in the peripheral blood of HBV-infected patients than in that of uninfected control subjects. This suggests that these cells are important players in the control of HBV replication. After the application of the Bonferonni correction method to eliminate significant differences that may arise solely as a result of multiple testing, higher frequencies of circulating NT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in HBV infection remained statistically significant. Further phenotypical studies revealed that the V $\delta$ 2 T cell subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were most significantly expanded in the peripheral blood of these patients, while V $\delta$ 1 T cells were expanded to a lesser extent. Interestingly, in this study it has been found that effector memory V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells were more abundant in the peripheral blood of HBV-infected patients than in that of uninfected control subjects while the frequencies of naïve subsets were substantially higher. This suggests that the expanded populations of effector V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells are actively involved in the immune control of HBV in these patients.

The identification of an active antiviral immune response is further evident in the expansions of circulating IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NT and T cells in HBV, particularly following *in vitro* stimulation. This implicates these cells and IFN- $\gamma$  as predominant players in the immune responses against HBV. The results of quantitative RT-PCR support the hypothesis of a central role for IFN- $\gamma$  in immune control of HBV as do the higher frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing NK cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and total lymphocytes. However, upon application of Bonferroni correction, it was the expansions of IFN- $\gamma$ producing NT and T cells which proved to be most significant. These findings are in agreement with the findings of studies which have indicated that viral clearance is mediated non-cytolytically by IFN- $\gamma$  and that NT cell-derived IFN- $\gamma$  plays a role in immune responses against HBV (Guidotti *et al.* 1999; Albarran *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$ -deficient mice exhibit impaired control of HBV replication and delayed clearance of HBV protein suggesting that the cytokine plays an important role in such mice but that another mechanism of viral clearance is employed in its absence (Yang *et al.* 2009).

Higher frequencies of IL-10-producing NK and NT cells were also observed in HBV patients. However, after Bonferroni correction, only the higher frequencies of IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells in HBV patients were found to be significant thus

identifying a putative immunomodulatory role for NK cells in controlled HBV infection and a possible measure of protection against liver disease. Since these cells constitute less that 1% of lymphocytes and are the only IL-10-producing lymphocytes whose expansions are highly significant in these HBV patients, it may explain why the higher levels of IL-10 were not detected using PCR. From these results, one may speculate that an abundance of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing cells and low numbers of IL-10-expressing cells may be the required composition of an immune response that controls viral replication in HBV without causing liver damage. Since IL-10-producing CD56<sup>DIM</sup> NK cells are higher, particularly in response to *in vitro* stimulation, it is proposed that they may proliferate rapidly in response to excessive IFN- $\gamma$  production *in vivo* and quickly regulate the inflammatory response before it causes immune-mediated damage. However, further experimentation is required before such putative immune mechanisms can be proven because it may just be a balancing act between the pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and the source of IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  may not be important once the ratio of the two cytokines is optimal for viral clearance.

IL-17 has been implicated in disease progression, the development of liver fibrosis and the inhibition of IFN- $\gamma$ -production in HBV infection (Xu *et al.* 2009; Zhang *et al.* 2010; Ge *et al.* 2010). These findings suggest that IL-17 promotes liver disease but not necessarily viral clearance in HBV infection. However, more recently Billerbeck *et al.* (2010) have identified IL-17-producing CD161<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells whose abundance in HCV-infected liver correlates with less severe liver disease. Enhanced responses of IL-17-producing T cells to *in vitro* stimulation have been identified in our HBV patient cohort. IL-17 production is not significantly enhanced among unstimulated PBMC from HBV patients and this finding has been confirmed by qRT-PCR. Since IL-17 has been identified as a negative regulator of IFN- $\gamma$  (Mills 2008), this suggests that such enhanced responses in HBV may be another mechanism by which the immune response in these subjects is regulated. It is proposed that an IL-17-producing subset has been identified that does not elicit highly inflammatory responses when resting but upon sufficient stimulation, exhibits superior antiviral and/or immunoregulatory functions.

Since it is possible that the NT cells can be generated from  $CD8^+$  T cells (Kelly-Rogers *et al.* 2006), it is possible that these expanded IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells may have previously been the virus-specific  $CD8^+$  T cells that became redundant due to weakened recognition capacity caused by antigenic drift. HBV variants carrying mutations in CTL

epitopes have been detected in chronic HBV and this evolutionary escape mechanism of the virus might be challenged by an evolutionary mechanism of the host (Rehermann *et al.* 1995; Bertoletti *et al.* 1994). Therefore, the host immune system may have evolved from an inefficient specific response to an efficient non-specific response to control HBV replication. The expression of NK receptors by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and the acquisition of NK-like, MHC-unrestricted cytotoxic activity has also been reported in murine influenza A infection suggesting that such changes from a specific adaptive immune response to a more innate-like response may occur in viral infections where the virus exhibits a lot of genetic variation (Kambayashi *et al.* 2000). Furthermore, CD161<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have been found in HBV and HCV and their abundance in HCV-infected liver has been associated with milder liver disease (Northfield *et al.* 2008; Billerbeck *et al.* 2010). This may represent a model in which CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells upregulate NK receptors in an effort to increase their recognition capacity and increase their ability to control but not clear certain genetically heterogeneous viruses and ultimately, to elicit effector functions that are most beneficial to the host.

While NT cells represent one population of expanded IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing cells in our patients, V82 T cells are a second. The quantification of the frequencies of IFN-yand NKG2D-expressing V82 T cells in HBV-infected patients and uninfected controls revealed that the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells are higher in HBV but the frequencies of V82 T cells expressing the cytotoxicity-associated receptor NKG2D are not. However, the surface density of NKG2D is reduced on V $\delta$ 2 T cells in HBV indicating that the expanded populations of V $\delta$ 2 T cells may be mediating immune control via non-cytolytic mechanisms rather than cell-killing. This might involve the IFN-y-mediated downregulation of NKG2D. NKG2D has been implicated in NK cellmediated hepatocyte injury and liver failure in murine virus-induced hepatitis (Zou et al. 2010) and since IFN- $\gamma$  has been shown to inhibit NKG2D ligand expression in melanoma, the cytokine might employ a similar mechanism in HBV so that liver injury from cytolytic activity is limited (Schwinn et al. 2009). As discussed in Chapter 4, noncytolytic control of virus infection is preferable when large numbers of cells in large vital organs are infected and the dominance of IFN- $\gamma$  in our patient cohort may represent such control (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). These expansions may represent an active but regulated hepatic immune response that maintains a low viral load without causing liver disease.

Previous work by Chen *et al.* (2008) has revealed depletions of circulating V $\delta$ 2 T cells in chronic HBV infection with the most significant decreases observed in the 57 patients with mild to severe liver disease. However, contrary to our findings, Chen et al. (2008) also found that frequencies of V $\delta$ 2 T cells were slightly but significantly lower in 46 asymptomatic patients and 38 patients with low grade liver disease, compared to healthy donors. They have used the same PE-conjugated anti-V82 (BD Bioscience) that was used in this study but the demographics of their patient cohort is different to ours. Our cohort is racially diverse comprising African, Caucasian and Asian patients while theirs is entirely Asian and endogenous to the city of Chongqing. The endogeneity of their population may also explain why slightly higher frequencies of V82 T cells in Asians were found here compared to the Africans and Caucasians since the Asians investigated in this study were from different regions. The discrepancy between our results may also be due to another factor such as genotype of the virus but since this is unknown for our study, this can only be proposed as a determining factor. Overall, the significantly lower frequencies of circulating V82 T cells in HBV patients with higher severity of liver disease and ALT 3 times the upper limit of normal reported by Chen et al. (2008) supports our proposal that V $\delta$ 2 T cells are important in the control of HBV replication and in limiting progression to liver disease. Since, HBV patient serum and HBsAg had negative effects on IFN- $\gamma$  production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells from healthy donors, it is proposed that HBV proteins have immunomodulatory effects on this  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset and that other cells may be required to keep viral load at a minimum so that the frequencies of V $\delta 2$  T cells can reach a sufficient level to take part in an antiviral response. Since IFN- $\gamma$  production by NT cells is higher in asymptomatic HBV patients and its production by NT cells from healthy donors is enhanced in response to HBV patient serum or HBsAg, it is proposed that these cells are the key players in the control of HBV replication and can reduce HBV replication to levels at which HBV proteins cannot significantly immunomodulate V82 T cell responses. Once HBV has been maintained at a low replicative phase, the V $\delta$ 2 T cells may help sustain the antiviral response. Further immune mechanism experiments using HBV proteins should be performed to confirm their immunomodulatory effect on V82 T cells.

Although they are much less prevalent in peripheral blood than V $\delta$ 2 T cells, the frequencies of V $\delta$ 1 T cells have also been found to be higher in HBV patients in this study but their cytokine production capabilities have not been elucidated. However, the

effector memory repertoires of V $\delta$ 1 T cells are higher while the frequencies of naïve subsets are lower, suggesting that they play an active role in the antiviral response in these patients. These  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been found to be producers of antiviral cytokines (Spada et al. 2000) and have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of HCV and arthritis (Tseng et al. 2001; Bank et al. 2002). However, they have also been shown to regulate inflammatory responses in the small intestine via the suppression of IFN- $\gamma$ , granzyme-B and NKG2D expression by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and perhaps, they prevent excessive IFN-y production and NKG2D-associated cytotoxicity in our patient cohort too (Bhagat *et al.* 2008). While IFN- $\gamma$  production by V $\delta$ 2 T cells is enhanced in the absence of *in vitro* stimulation in HBV, its production in response to PMA/I-stimulation is lower. This indicates that while IFN- $\gamma$  appears to play a predominant role in the control of HBV replication, its expression is under strict control and can be inhibited if it rises above a certain threshold. Vol T cells may be involved in the regulation of IFN- $\gamma$  or alternatively, they may contribute to the IFN- $\gamma$  production. The higher proportion of CD56<sup>+</sup> V $\delta$ 1 T cells in HBV indicates that this  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset may form part of the expanded IFN-y-producing NT population. However, further experiments to assess the cytokine producing capabilities and effector functions of V $\delta$ 1 T cells in controlled HBV infection are needed to elucidate whether their role is predominantly inflammatory or anti-inflammatory.

Chromium release assays were performed using unstimulated, IL-2-stimulated or IFN- $\alpha$ -stimulated PBMC as effector cells and K562 cells as target cells. Cytotoxicity was slightly but consistently enhanced in our HBV patient cohort compared to the controls and since K562 are widely used as NK cell targets, this indicates that NK cytolytic activity is not impaired. IL-2 induced cytotoxicity was found to be significantly higher in HBV and since this cytokine is a strong activator of T cell proliferation and NT cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Jin *et al.* 1998; Zoll *et al.* 1998; Kelly Rogers *et al.* 2006; Dieli *et al.* 2007; Bennouna *et al.* 2008) it is proposed that the IL-2 induced cytotoxicity may be mediated by the expanded NT cell population in our patient cohort (Arreygue-Garcia *et al.* 2008; Zeng *et al.* 2009). This proposal is supported by our observations of lower NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells and the findings of other groups which revealed that numbers of NKG2D-expressing NK cells are depleted in chronic HBV infection and in HBV-associated HCC. Further work using enriched populations must be performed to confirm this proposal. Furthermore, since

321

cytotoxicity was consistently but only slightly enhanced under most conditions provided, it might only play a small role in the antiviral response in these asymptomatic HBV patients.

Overall, this study yields strong evidence that NT and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are expanded in controlled HBV infection and appear to play a crucial role in the immune responses in this study cohort via predominantly non-cytolytic mechanisms. Furthermore, the frequencies of these innate T cells do not strongly correlate with differences in gender, age, viral load or disease severity but higher frequencies of both NT and total  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are observed in patients with elevated ALT levels, although these differences are not statistically significant. This suggests that if not regulated, the expansions of these cells and inflammatory cytokine producers may lead to liver damage. However, it must be noted that the highest ALT level among our patient cohort was 100 with most ALT values falling around the upper normal limit of 40. Other studies have used 3 times the upper limit of normal as a marker of liver disease and to distinguish between asymptomatic/low grade HBV patients and patients with mild/severe liver disease (Chen *et al.* 2008). However, none of our patients had such elevated ALT levels and so, the evaluation of the association between cell frequencies and high ALT was very limited.

The HBV-infected subjects studied here may represent a preliminary model of the immune responses required to maintain low viral load without causing liver disease in HBV and lessons learned here could be used to predict outcome of infection and to develop novel immunotherapies for patients with higher viral loads. However, a similar phenotypical study of HBV patients with mild to severe liver disease should be performed before this can achieved. Such a study would reveal which immune responses are prevalent and deficient in HBV-associated liver disease.

Questions may be raised concerning the usefulness of a therapy that can boost immune responses to a level that will control HBV infection but not clear it since such therapies would not reduce the prevalence of HBV. However it may reduce the viral burden and also prevent progression to liver cirrhosis and the development of HCC thus removing the need for liver transplantation. The persistence of HBV DNA may be due to the cccDNA pool in the nucleus of the hepatocytes. This transcriptional template is accumulated in the nucleus when there is a disruptive excess of proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. The cccDNA is believed to serve as a reservoir for viral

322

replication and spread of infection and such reservoirs are important in the maintenance of chronic HBV infection (Zoulim 2004; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). Therefore, while IFN-γ might target HBV via post transcriptional degradation of RNA and post translational inhibition of HBV capsid formation, its antiviral activity may not affect the persistence of cccDNA in the nucleus once it has been established (Guidotti & Chisari 2001). Therefore, perhaps cytolytic mechanisms are required to destroy the hepatocytes that harbour the nuclear cccDNA. However, the cytolytic mechanisms carry a risk of liver disease. Therefore, for a HBV-infected patient in which liver inflammation is evident, there is a high chance of progression to liver cirrhosis and in which resistance to antiviral treatment has emerged, a cell-based immunotherapy which boosts the immune response and lowers viral burden, may be preferred.

#### 7.2 Immunomodulation by HBV-associated HCC

While only 0.2% of asymptomatic HBsAg carriers are diagnosed with HCC, 5% of chronically infected patients with liver cirrhosis develop HCC (Beasley 1988; Beasley et al. 1981; Rehermann & Nascimbeni 2006). Therapeutic options are limited for HCC and surgical resection is only suitable for small malignancies (Jinushi et al. 2005; Stefaniuk et al. 2010). Therefore, new therapies are required for the treatment of this cancer and since immunotherapies using innate lymphocytes have proven to be effective and well-tolerated in other cancers, they are an obvious choice for the treatment of liver cancer (Chang et al. 2005; Bennouna et al. 2008; Motohashi et al. 2009; Dieli et al. 2009). When developing a cell-based immunotherapy, it is important to assess the effects of the target tumour cells on the effector cells in order to identify any suppressive effects that may hinder immunotherapeutic potential. In this study, the reciprocal effects of V82 T cells and the HCC-derived Hep3B cells on stimulatory and inhibitory receptor/ligand expression and cytokine expression by both cell types were investigated. Expansions of circulating V82 T cells have already been found in controlled HBV infection in this work and it can be hypothesised that they are key players in a well-balanced immune response against the virus and that they might be responsible for the low prevalence of HCC in similar patients with low grade HBV. The anti-tumour potential of phosphoantigen-activated V82 T cells is well-documented but here, the immunomodulatory effects of HCC-derived cells on their effector functions was determined (Dieli et al. 2009; Bennouna et al. 2008). Furthermore, Hep3B cells

were derived from the tumour of a HBV-infected person with HCC and even express HBsAg thus making them an ideal model of HBV-associated HCC (Knowles *et al.* 1980).

Lower NKG2D expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells and lower MICA/B and higher levels of CD54 expression by the epithelial cells following co-culture was found here.

The lower NKG2D surface expression by HMBPP-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells following co-culture with Hep3B cells is not surprising as similar decreases have been reported for NK cells in HBV and HCC (Zeng et al. 2009). Furthermore, since NKG2D expression by BRHPP+IL-2 or zoledronate+IL-2-expanded V\delta2 T cells was found to be important in the lysis of HCC primary cells and HCC-derived cell lines, its downregulation would be an ideal immune evasion mechanism (Bouet et al. 2008; Arreygue-Garcia et al. 2008). Since MICA/B surface expression by Hep3B cells is reduced following co-culture, it can be proposed that the Hep3B cells cause downregulation of NKG2D in an effort to suppress the cytolytic functions of V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Hep3B cells might achieve this by shedding MICA and MICB which are the natural ligands of NKG2D. The shedding of these molecules from tumour cells in a soluble form impairs immune responses against the tumours by reducing NKG2Dligand densities on malignant cells (Salih et al., 2006). This can lead to internalisation and degradation of NKG2D by the cells on which it is expressed thus reducing the capacity of those cells to recognise tumour or virus-infected cells (Gonzalez et al., 2008). Further experiments are required to confirm the speculative shedding of MICA and MICB by Hep3B cells since the reduced detection of NKG2D and MICA/B expression may only be due to their engagement. Perhaps, ELISAs could be performed to quantify soluble MICA/B in the supernatants and flow cytometry could be used to measure surface bound MICA/B in an effort to compare the ratios of surface bound and soluble MICA/B in Hep3B cultures and Hep3B cell/V82 T cell co-cultures. Furthermore, the addition of exogenous MICA/B to V82 T cell cultures might reveal if the ligand in soluble form can cause downregulation of NKG2D expression by V82 T cells. Since similar and greater decreases in NKG2D expression by V82 T cells and MICA/B expression by HT29 cells and GRM cells were observed after their co-culture, it can be suggested that these cell lines may employ the MICA/B-shedding strategy of immune subversion, also. Again, further experimentation is needed to confirm these suggestions,
followed by studies in HCC, CRC and melanoma patients to confirm that the findings of cell-line *in vitro* studies are representative of the malignancies.

Reduced levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and TGF- $\beta$ 1 have also been found in the supernatants of the V $\delta$ 2 T cell and epithelial cell co-cultures compared to the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T or epithelial single cell cultures, respectively.

TGF- $\beta$ 1 is quite ambiguous in its functions in immunity against malignancies. It can regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, migration and can elicit tumour suppressor effects but it can also act as a potent immunosuppressant (Elliott & Blobe 2005; Li et al. 2005). Moreover, TGF-β1 acts as a tumour suppressor in normal colon but in the later stages of CRC, it serves as a tumour promoter (Li et al. 2005). TGF-B1mediated downregulation of NKG2D has also been reported on both CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK cells and the level of the growth factor is higher in the serum of HCC, CRC and melanoma patients (Elliott & Blobe 2005; Ghiringhelli et al. 2006; Clayton et al. 2008). Therefore, TGF- $\beta$ 1 was a suspected cause of NKG2D inhibition in these experiments. Its involvement in the reduced NKG2D expression was evaluated here by investigating the levels of the growth factor in the V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell supernatants compared to the supernatants of Hep3B cells alone. Significantly depleted levels of TGF-β1 were found in the V82 T cell/Hep3B cell co-culture supernatants compared to the Hep3B cell supernatants. This might be due to lower TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression by the Hep3B cells and propose that this may be a result of V $\delta$ 2 T cell-mediated inhibition of the growth factor. Such inhibition could hinder the immunosuppressive effects of the epithelial cells on the V82 T cells and could facilitate more effective anti-tumour immune responses.

IFN- $\gamma$  expression was higher when Hep3B cells were co-cultured with V $\delta$ 2 T cells, most probably because the HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V $\delta$ 2 T cells are potent producers of this cytokine. However, it was significantly reduced in the co-culture supernatants compared to when V $\delta$ 2 T cells were cultured alone suggesting that Hep3B cells caused a decrease in its expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells. Interestingly, IL-10 levels were found to be higher in the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B cell co-cultures compared to the supernatants of V $\delta$ 2 T cells alone while they were similar to when Hep3B cells were cultured alone. This suggests that Hep3B cells were producing the majority of the IL-10. From this, it may be proposed that that IFN- $\gamma$  expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells may be inhibited by Hep3B-derived IL-10, however, further experiments using exogenous IL-10 or neutralising antibodies against IL-10 might provide stronger evidence of this.

Furthermore, intracellular cytokine staining and flow cytometry could also confirm the sources of such cytokines and their expression before and after co-culture.

The putative MICA/B-shedding mechanism of NKG2D downregulation appears to be used by all cell lines assessed in these experiments and it is even more significant in the co-cultures with the HT29 and GRM cells suggesting that these cell lines may have more immunosuppressive potential than Hep3B cells. However, the reduced IFN- $\gamma$ levels are most evident in the co-cultures with the HCC-derived cells while HT29 cells appear to produce the cytokine. Since the Hep3B cells are derived from a HBV patient and express HBsAg, it is possible that the protein may induce IL-10 production by the Hep3B cells. In Chapter 5, the frequencies of IFN- $\gamma$ -expressing V $\delta$ 2 T cells were shown to be lower after PBMC were cultured in the presence of HBsAg thus suggesting that the protein may inhibit IFN- $\gamma$  by these cells. From the results obtained with Hep3B cells, it would appear that the suppression of IFN- $\gamma$  is achieved via the induction of IL-10. If this is true, HBV would not be the only virus to induce IL-10 production. HIV gp120 and HCV NS4 induce IL-10 production by monocytes while CMV produces an IL-10 homologue that can elicit the same biological effects as human IL-10 (Taoufik et al. 1997; Kotenko et al. 2000; Brady et al. 2003; Rowan et al. 2008). Therefore, HBsAg may elicit immunomodulatory effects on V $\delta$ 2 T cells but since this is not apparent in our patient cohort of asymptomatic carriers who are all HBsAg-positive, it may depend on high viral load.

Although HT29 and GRM cells were used initially as control cell lines while our main concern was HBV-associated HCC and the Hep3B cell line, they have proven to be equally interesting in terms of their interactions with V $\delta$ 2 T cells. The struggle for immune evasion is apparent in the expression patterns of many of the surface markers on either cell type. CD54 (ICAM-1) expression by HT29 and GRM, but not Hep3B cells, was significantly higher following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells. CD54 is expressed by B cells, dendritic cells, memory and activated T cells and tumour cells (Roebuch & Finnegan 1999; Sun *et al.* 1999; Alexiou *et al.* 2001). The main function of CD54 is to induce a specific reversible cell-cell adhesion that enables intercellular communication and in the normal immune response, it facilitates MHC-restricted antigen presentation to the T cell and subsequent signal transduction to induce T cell stimulation (Roy *et al.* 2001). CD54 expression can be induced by IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and LPS and inhibited by IL-4, IL-10 and glucocortoids (Roy *et al.* 2001; Dymicka-Pierkarska &

Kemona 2009). Therefore, the absence of CD54 upregulation by Hep3B cells following co-culture with V $\delta$ 2 T cells may be due to the presence of IL-10 and the apparent inhibition of IFN-y and might further enhance tumour survival in HCC. However, in HT29 and GRM cells, CD54 expression appears to be greatly increased following coculture with HMBPP/IL-2-expanded V82 T cells, fresh PBMC or PHA/IL-2-expanded αβ T cell thus increasing tumour cell recognition and the chances of immune-mediated destruction. CD54 expression has been found to be critical for colon tumour recognition by V82 T cells and, its expression is higher in CRC patients compared to controls but significantly decreased after resection of the tumour. CD54 has also been associated with lesion thickness and metastasis in melanoma (Sun et al. 1999; Alexiou et al. 2001). Furthermore, the serum levels of CD54 are higher in CRC patients with metastasis, compared to those without metastasis (Alexiou et al. 2001; Corvaiser et al. 2005; Dymicka-Pierkarska & Kemona 2009). However, these increased serum levels are due to shedding of CD54 which is an immune evasion strategy used by tumours to facilitate metastasis (Sun et al. 1998; Dymicka-Pierkarska & Kemona 2009). Soluble CD54 enables this by interfering with NK and lymphocyte activated killer cell activity. It also permits the adhesion of tumour cells with migratory leukocytes thus facilitating the dissociation of individual cells from the primary tumour and the occurrence of 'blood borne metastasis'. Here, the lack of CD54 surface expression upregulation by Hep3B cells may indicate that the CD54 has been shed as yet another immune evasion strategy of the tumour cells. Indeed, serum levels of CD54 have previously been shown to be higher in HCC and soluble CD54 is believed to play a role in the resistance of such tumours to immunotherapy. It can achieve this by blocking LFA-1 thus preventing attachment of CTLs and NK cells to tumour cells and therefore, helping to provide a suitable environment for tumour development and metastasis (Sun et al. 1999).

Overall the V $\delta$ 2 T cell/Hep3B co-culture experiments suggest that HCC-derived cells employ aggressive mechanisms of immunoregulation in order to evade destruction. The design of an effective immunotherapy must take these mechanisms into consideration. Neutralizing antibodies against IL-10 may restore IFN- $\gamma$  expression by V $\delta$ 2 T cells while metalloproteinase inhibitors are already being tested to inhibit MICA shedding. MICA conjugated mAbs specific for tumour-associated antigens are also being assessed for their ability to restore NKG2D-mediated cytotoxicity (Gonzalez *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, Wrobel *et al.* (2007) suggest that NKG2D suppression could be

overcome by therapies that induce 'forced' TCR-dependent tumour cell recognition which might be achieved by using both aminobiphosphonates and BrHPP. They also suggest that tumours whose recognition by V $\delta$ 2 T cells is solely mediated by NKG2D would not be suitable candidates for a V $\delta$ 2 T cell-based immunotherapy and our results support this belief. Previous research has also shown that TCR-dependent recognition of F1-ATPase is another means whereby V $\delta$ 2 T cells can recognise hepatocytes (Wrobel *et al.* 2007). This may be a preferable option for the treatment of HCC.

More work is warranted before this can be confirmed but the putative subversion strategies of HCC cells must be addressed before any effective and durable cell-based therapy can be developed. However, the treatment of HBV may be a better option which in turn, could limit disease progression and prevent the development of HCC.

Overall, this work has identified a novel mechanism of non-cytolytic control of HBV infection in which NT cells play a key role. It may be proposed that such cells are derived from an inefficient virus-specific CD8+ T cell response which could no longer control HBV replication due to antigenic drift. Such NT cells appear to reduce HBV replication to a level which is subsequently sustained with the help of V $\delta$ 2 and V $\delta$ 1 T cells and leads to an asymptomatic carrier condition in which little or no liver injury occurs. It is hypothesised that the identification of the potential of innate T cells to control HBV infection can be manipulated to treat patients in which HBV infection is not sufficiently controlled and in whom there is a high risk of liver disease.

## Chapter 8

## Bibliography

Abbas AK, Murphy KM and A Sher. Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature* 1996; 383: 787-793.

Abe Y, Muto M, Nieda M, Nakagawa Y, Nicol A, Kaneko T, Goto S, Yokokawa K and K Suzuki. Clinical and immunological evaluation of zoledronate-activated  $V\gamma9\gamma\delta$  T-cell-based immunotherapy for patients with multiple myeloma. *Exp Hematol* 2009; 37: 956-968

Aggarwal BB. Signaling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword. *Natl rev Immunol* 2003; 3: 745-756.

Agrati C, D'Offizi G, Narciso P, Abrignani S, IppolitoG, Colizzi V and F Poccia. V $\delta$ 1 T lymphocytes expressing a Th1 phenotype are the major  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subset infiltrating the liver of HCV-infected persons. *Mol Med* 2001; 7:11-19.

Agrati C, Cimini E, Sacchi A, Bordoni V, Gioia C, Casetti R, Turchi F, Tripodi M andFMartini.Activated $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ TcellstriggergranulocytefunctionsviaMCP-2release.JImmunol2009;182:522-529.

Albarran B, Goncalves L, Salmen S, Borges L, Fields H, Soyano A, Montes H and L Berrueta. Profiles of NK, NKT cell activation and cytokine production following vaccination against hepatitis B. *APMIS* 2005; 113: 526-535.

Alberti A, Diana S, Sculard GH, Eccleston AL and R Williams. Detection of a new antibody system reacting with Dane particles in hepatitis B virus infection. *Br Med J* 1978; 2: 1056-1058.

Alexiou D, Karayiannakis AJ, Syrigos KN, Zbar A, Kremmyda A, Bramis I and C Tsigris. Serum levels of E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in colorectal cancer patients: correlations with clinicopathological features, patient survival and tumor surgery. *Eur J Cancer* 2001; 37: 2392-2397. Allison TJ, Winter CC, Fournie JJ, Bonneville M and D Garboczi. Structure of human gammadelta T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature* 2001; 411: 820-824.

Angelini DF, Borsellino G, Poupot M, Diamantini A, Poupot R, Bernardi G, Poccia F, Fournie JJ and L Battistini L. FcgammaRIII discriminates between 2 subsets of Vgamma9Vdelta2 effector cells with different responses and activation pathways. *Blood* 2004; 104(6): 1801-1807.

Ansel KM, Lee DU and A Rao. An epigenetic view of helper t cell differentiation. *Nat Immunol* 2003; 4: 616-623.

Apostolou I, Takahama Y, Belmant C, Kawano T, Huerre M, Marchal G, Cui J, Taniguchi M, Nakauchi H, Fournie JJ, Kourilsky P and G Gachelin. Murne natural killer T(NKT) cells contribute to the granulomatous reaction caused by mycobacterial cell walls. *Proc. Natl.Acad. Sci. USA* 1999; 96: 5141–5146.

Arauz-Ruiz P, Norder H, Robertson BH and LO Magnius. Genotype H: a new Amerindian genotype of hepatitis B virus revealed in Central America. *J Gen Virol* 2002; 83(Pt 8): 2059-73.

Arreygue-Garcia N, Daneri-Navarro A, del Toro-Arreola A, Cid-Arregui A, Gonzalez-Ramella O, Jave-Suarez LF, Aguilar-Lemarroy A, Troyo-Sanroman A, Bravo-Cuellar A, Delgado-Rizo V, Garcia-Iglesias T, Hernandez-Flores G and S del Toro-Arreola. Augmented serum level of major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain A (MICA) protein and reduced NKG2D expression on NK and T cells in patients with cervical cancer and precursor lesions. *BMC Cancer* 2008; 8:16.

Bachmann MF and RM Zinkernagel. Neutralizing antiviral B cell responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1997; 15: 235-270.

Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B and K Palucka. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2000; 18: 767-811.

Bank I, Cohen L, Mouallem M, Farfel Z, Grossman E and A Ben-Nun. Gammadelta T cell subsets in patients with arthritis and chronic neutropenia. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2002; 61(5): 438-443.

Barboza L, Salmen S, Peterson DL, Montes H, Colmenares M, Hernandez M, Berrueta-Carrillo LE and L Berrueta. Altered T cell costimulation during chronic hepatitis B infection. *Cell Immunol* 2009; 257(1-2): 61-68.

Barnaba V, Franco A, Paroli M, Benvenuto R, De Petrillo G, Burgio VL, Santilio I, Balsano C, Bonavita MS, Cappelli G, Colizzi V, Cutrona G and M Ferrarini. Selective expansion of cytotoxic T lymphocytes with a CD4+CD56+ surface phenotype and a T helper type 1 profile of cytokine secretion in the liver of patients chronically infected with Hepatitis B virus. *J Immunol* 1994; 152: 3074

Baron JL, Gardiner L, Nishimura S, Shinkai K, Locksley R and D Ganem. Activation of nonclassical NKT Cell Subset in a transgenic mouse model of Hepatitis B Virus Infection. *Immunity* 2002; 16: 583-594.

Barry M and RC Bleackley. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes: all roads lead to death. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002; 2:401-409.

Battistini L, Borsellino G, Sawicki G, Poccia F, Salvetti M, Ristori G and CF Brosnan. Phenotypic an dcytokine analysis of human peripheral blood gamma delta T cells expressing NK cell receptors. *J Immunol* 1997; 159: 3723-3730.

Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lin CC and CS Chien. Hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus. A prospective study or 22 707 men in Taiwan. *Lancet* 1981; 22: 1129-1133.

Beasley RP. Hepatitis B virus. The major etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer* 1988; 61: 1942-1956.

Bendelac A, Rivera MN, Park SH and JH Roark. Mouse CD1-specific NK1 T cells: development, specificity, and function. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1997; 15: 535-562.

Bendelac A, Savage PB and L Teyton. The biology of NKT cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007; 25: 297–336.

Bennouna J, Bompas E, Neidhardt EM, Rolland F, Philip I, Glea C, Salot S, Saiagh S, Audrain M, Rimbe M, Lafaye DE, Micheaux S, Tiollier J and S Negrier. Phase-I study of Innacell gammadelta, an autologous cell-therapy product highly enriched in gamma9delta2 T lymphocytes, in combination with IL-2, in patients with metastatic renal clel carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 2008; 57: 1599-1609.

Bertoletti A and MK Maini. Protection or damage: a dual role for the virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response in hepatitis B and C infection? *Curr Opin Immunol* 2000; 12: 403-408.

<u>Bertoletti A</u>, <u>Costanzo A</u>, <u>Chisari FV</u>, <u>Levrero M</u>, <u>Artini M</u>, <u>Sette A</u>, <u>Penna A</u>, <u>Giuberti T</u>, <u>Fiaccadori F</u> and C <u>Ferrari</u>. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to a wild type hepatitis B virus epitope in patients chronically infected by variant viruses carrying substitutions within the epitope. *J Exp Med* 1994; 180: 933-943.

Bertoletti A, Ferrari C, Fiaccadori F, Penna A, Margolskee R, Schicht HJ, Fowler P, Guilhot S and FV Chisari. HLA class-1 restricted human cytotoxic T cells recognise endogenously synthesised hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1991; 88: 10445-10449.

Bhagat G, Naiyer A, Shah JG, Harper J, Jabri B, Wang TC, Green PHR and JS Manavalan. Small intestine CD8+TCR $\gamma\delta$ +NKG2A+ intraepithelial lymphocytes have attributes of regulatory cells in patients with celiac disease. *J Clin Invest* 2008; 118(1): 281-293.

Bi X, Suzuki Y, Gatanaga H and S Oka. High frequency and proliferation of CD4+FOXP3+ Treg in HIV-1-infected patients with low CD4 counts. *Eur J Immunol* 2009; 39:301-309.

Billerneck E, Kang YH, Walker L, Locksone H, Grafmueller S, Fleming V, Flint J, Willberg CB, Bengsch B, Seigel B, Rmamurthy N, Zitzmann N, Barnes EJ, Thevenayagam J, Bhagwanani A, Leslie A, Oo YH, Kollnberger S, Bowness P, Drognitz O, Adams DH, Blum HE, Thimme and P Klenerman. Analysis of CD161 expression on human CD8+ T cells defines a distinct functional subset with tissue-homing properties. *PNAS* 2010; 107(7): 3006-3011.

Biron CA, Byron KS and JL Sullivan. Severe herpesvirus infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells [see comments]. *N Engl J Med* 1989; 320: 1731–1735.

Biron CA, Nguyen KB, Pien GC, Cousens LP and TP Salaxer-Mather. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1999; 17: 189-220.

Blumberg BS, Gerstley BJS, Hungerford DA, London WT and AI Sutnick. A Serum Antigen (Australia) antigen in Down's syndrome, leukemia and hepatitis. *Ann Intern Med* 1967; 66: 924-931.

Blumberg BS (2003). Hepatitis B: The Hunt for a Killer Virus. *Princeton University Press*, 264pp.

Bonino F and MR Brunetto. Chronic hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) negative, anti-HBe positive hepatitis B: an overview. *J Hepatol* 2003; 39: 5160-5163.

Bonino. Outcome of anti-HBe positive chronic hepatitis B in Alpha-interferon treated and untreated patients: A long term cohort study. *J Hepatol* 2002; 36(2): 263-270.

Bouet-Toussaint F, Cabillic F, Toutirais O, Le Gallo M, Thomas de la Pintière C, Daniel P, Genetet N, Meunier B, Dupont-Bierre E, Boudjema K and V Catros. Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cell-mediated recognition of human solid tumors. Potential for immunotherapy of hepatocellular and colorectal carcinomas. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 2008; 57(4): 531-539. Brady MT, MacDonald AJ, Rowan AG and KHG Mills. Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein 4 suppresses Th1 responses by stimulating IL-10 production from monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 2003; 33: 3448-3457.

Brandes M, Willimann K and B Moser. Professional antigen-presentation function by human gammdelta T cells. *Science* 2005; 309: 264-268.

Brandes M, Willimann K, Bioley G, Levy N, Eberl M, Luo M, Tampe R, Levy F, Romero P and B Moser. Cross-presenting human gammadelta T cells induce robust CD8+ alphabeta T cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2009; 106: 2307-2312.

Brenner MB, McLean J, Dialynas DP, Strominger JL, Smith JA, Owen FL, Seidman JG, Ip S, Rosen F and MS Krangel. Identification of a putative second T-cell receptor. *Nature* 1986; 322: 145-149.

Brigl M and MB Brenner. CD1: antigen presentation and T cell function. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2004; 22: 817–890.

Bruix J and JM Llovet. Hepatitis B virus and hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 2003; 39(suppl 1): 559-63.

Brundler MA, Aichele P, Bachmann M, Kitamura D, Rajewsky K and RM Zinkernagel. *Immunity* to viruses in B cell–deficient mice: influence of antibodies on virus persistence and on T cell memory. *Eur J Immunol* 1996; 26: 2257–62

Brunetto MR, Oliveri F, Coco B, Leandro G, Colombatto P, Gorin JM and F Bukowski JF, Woda BA and RM Welsh. Pathogenesis of murine cytomegalovirus infection in natural killer cell-depleted mice. *J Virol* 1984; 52: 119–28

Buhling F, Ittenson A, Kaiser D, Tholert G, Hoffmann B, Reinhold D, Ansorge S and T Welte. MRP8/MRP14, CD11b and HLA-DR expression of alveolar macrophages in pneumonia. *Immunol Lett* 2000; 71(3): 185-190.

Bukowski JF, Morita CT, Band H, and MB Brenner. Crucial role of TCR gamma chain junctional region in prenyl pyrophosphate antigen recognition by gamma delta T cells. *J Immunol* 1998; 161: 286-293.

Bukowski JF, Woda BA, Habu S, Okumura K and RM Welsh. Natural killer cell depletion enhances virus synthesis and virus-induced hepatitis in vivo. *J Immunol* 1983; 131: 1531–1538.

Burton DR, Williamson RA and PW Parren. Antibody and virus: binding and neutralization. *Virology* 2000; 270: 1–3.

Buster EH and HL Janssen. Antiviral treatment for chronic hepatitis B virus infection – immune modulation or viral suppression. *J Med* 2006; 64(6): 175-185.

<u>Buti M, Cotrina M, Jardi R, de Castro EC, Rodriguez-Frias F, Sánchez-Avila F, Esteban</u> <u>R</u> and J Guardia. Two years of lamivdine therapy in anti-HBe-positive patients with chronic hepatitis B. *J Viral Hepat* 2001; 8(4): 270-275.

Battistini Caccamo N. L, Bonneville M. Poccia F. Fournié JJ. Meraviglia S, Borsellino G, Kroczek RA, La Mendola C, Scotet E, Dieli F and A CXCR5 of Salerno. identifies а subset  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$  T cells which secrete IL-4 and IL-10 and help B cells for antibody production. J Immunol 2006; 177: 5290-5295.

<u>Callan MF, Tan L, Annels N, Ogg GS, Wilson JD, O'Callaghan CA, Steven N,</u> <u>McMichael AJ</u> and AB <u>Rickinson</u>. Direct visualization of antigen-specific CD8<sup>(+)</sup> T cells during the primary immune response to Epstein Barr virus in vivo. *J Exp Med* 1998; 187: 1395-1402.

<u>Carnaud C</u>, <u>Lee D</u>, <u>Donnars O</u>, <u>Park SH</u>, <u>Beavis A</u>, <u>Koezuka Y</u> and A Bendelac.Cutting edge: cross-talk between cells of the innate immune system: NKT cells rapidly activate NK cells. *J Immunol* 1999; 163: 4647-4650.

Cavanaugh VJ, Guidotti LG and FV Chisari. Interleukin-12 inhibits hepatitis B virus

replication in HBV transgenic mice. J Virol 1997; 71: 3236-3243.

<u>Chan HL</u>, <u>Leung NW</u>, <u>Hui AY</u>, <u>Wong VW</u>, <u>Liew CT</u>, <u>Chim AM</u>, <u>Chan FK</u>, <u>Hung LC</u>, <u>Lee YT</u>, <u>Tam JS</u>, <u>Lam CW</u> and JJ Sung. A randomized, controlled trial of combination therapy for chronic hepatitis B: comparing pegylated interferon alpha-2b and lamivudine with lamivudine alone. *Ann Intern Med* 2005; 142(4): 240-250.

Chang DH, Osman K, Connolly J, Kukreja A, Krasovsky J, Pack M, Hutchinson A, Geller M, Liu N, Annable R, Shay J, Kirchhoff K, Nishi N, Ando Y, Hayashi K, Hassoun H, Steinman RM and MV Dhodapkar. Sustained expansion of NKT cells and antigen specific T cells after injection of a-galactosyl-ceramide loaded mature dendritic cells in cancer patients. *J Exp Med* 2005; 201: 1503-1517.

Chang JJ and SR Lewin. Immunopathogenesis of hepatitis B virus infection. *Immunol Cell Biol* 2006; 85(1): 16-23.

<u>Chang TT, Lai CL, Chien RN, Guan R, Lim SG, Lee CM, Ng KY, Nicholls GJ, Dent</u> <u>JC</u> and NW <u>Leung</u>. Four years of lamivudine treatment in Chinese patients with chronic hepatitis B. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 19(11): 1267-1282.

Chang TW, Celis E, Miller RW, Zurawski VR and PC Kung. In Vitro Response to HBsAg of Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes from Recipients of Hepatitis B Vaccine. *Hepatology* 1984; 4(5): 824-829.

Chedid MG, Deulofeut H, Yunis DE, Lara-Marquez ML, Salazar M, Deulofeut R, Awdeh Z, Alper CA and EJ Yunis. Defect in Th1-like cells of nonresponders to hepatitis B vaccine. *Hum Immunol* 1997; 58: 42-51.

Chemin I, Vermot-Desroches C, Baginski I, Saurin JC, Laurent F, Zoulim F, Bernaud J, Lamelin JP, Hantz O, Rigal D and C Trepo. Selective detection of human hepatitis B virus surface and core antigen in PBMC subsets by flow cytometry. *J Viral Hepat* 1994; 1(1): 39-44.

Chen Y, Cheng M and Z Tian. Hepatitis B virus down-regulates expressions of MHC class I molecules on hepatoplastoma cell line. *Cell Mol Immunol* 2006; 3(5): 373-378.

Chen CJ, Yang HI, Su J, Jen CL, You SL, Lu SN, Huang GT and UH Iloeje; REVEAL-HBV Study Group. Risk of hepatocellular carcinoma across a biological gradient of serum hepatitis B virus DNA level. *JAMA* 2006; 295(1): 65-73.

Chen M, Zhang S, Zhen W, Shi Q, Liu Y, Ling N, Peng M, Tang K, Hu P, Hu H and H Ren. Characteristics of circulating T cell receptor gamma-delta T cells from individuals chronically infected with hepatitis B viris (HBV): an association between V (delta) 2 subtype and chronic HBV infection. *J Infect Dis* 2008; 198(11): 1643-1640.

Chen N, McCarthy C, Drakesmith H, Li, D, Cerundolo V, McMichael AJ, Screaton, GR and XN Xu. HIV-1 down-regulates the expression of CD1d via Nef. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2006; 36; 278-286.

Chisari FV, Ferrari C. 1995. Hepatitis B virus immunopathogenesis. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1995; 13: 29–60.

Chisari FV, Ferrari C. Immunobiology and pathogenesis of viral hepatitis. In : Nathenson N, Ahmed R, Gonzalez–Scanaro F, Griffin D, Holmes K, Murphy FA and HL Robinson. (ed) *Viral pathogenesis*, In press. Raven press Ltd, New York.

Chisari FV. Cytotoxic T cells and viral hepatitis. J Clin Invest 1997; 99: 1472-1477.

Chisari FV. Unscrambling hepatitis C virus – host interactions. *Nature* 2005; 436: 930-932.

Christina M and JGR Page, Immunology of Hepatitis B infection. *Lancet* Infect Dis 2001; 2: 43-50.

Chu CJ, Hussain M and AS Lok. Hepatitis B virus genotype B is associated with earlier HBeAg seroconversion compared with hepatitis B virus genotype C. *Gastroenterology* 2002; 122(7): 1756-1762.

Cipriani B, Bosellino G, Poccia F, Placido R, Tramonti D, Bach S, Battistini L and CF Brosnan. Activation of C-C beta-chemokines in human peripheral blood gammadelta T cells by isopentenyl pyrophosphate and regulation by cytokines. *Blood* 2000; 95: 39-47.

Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Linnane S, Mason MD and Z Tabi. Human Tumor-Derived Exosomes Down-Modulate NKG2D Expression. *J Immunol* 2008; 180: 7249-7258.

Coates T, Wilson R, Patrick G, Andre F and V Watson. Hepatitis B vaccines: assessment of the seroprotective efficacy of two recombinant DNA vaccines. *Clin Ther* 2001; 23:392-403.

Constant P, Davodeau F, Peyrat MA, Poquet Y, Puzo G, Bonneville M and JJ Fournie. Stimulation of human gamma delta T cells by nonpeptidic mycobacterial ligands. *Science* 1994; 264: 267-270.

Conti L, Casetti R, Cardone M, Varano B, Martino A, Belardelli F, Poccia F and S Gessani. Reciprocal activatinginteraction between dendritic cells and pamidronatestimulated gammadelta T cells: role of CD86 and inflammatory cytokines. *J Immunol* 2005; 174: 252-260.

<u>Cooksley WG</u>, <u>Piratvisuth T</u>, <u>Lee SD</u>, <u>Mahachai V</u>, <u>Chao YC</u>, <u>Tanwandee T</u>, <u>Chutaputti</u> <u>A</u>, <u>Chang WY</u>, <u>Zahm FE</u> and N Pluck. Peginterferon alpha-2a (40 kDa): an advance in the treatment of hepatitis B e antigen-positive chronic hepatitis B. *J Viral Hepat*. 2003; 10(4): 298-305.

Cooper MA, Fehniger TA and MA Caligiuri. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol* 2001; 22: 633–640.

Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Ponnappan1 A, Mehta V, Wewers MD and MA Caligiuri. Interleukin-1 $\beta$  costimulates interferon- $\gamma$  production by human natural killer cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2001; 31: 792-801. Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Fuchs A, Colonna M and MA Caligiuri. NK cell and DC interactions. *Trends Immunol* 2004; 25: 47–52.

Cooper NR and GR Nemerow. Complement, viruses, and virus-infected cells. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 1983; 6: 327–347.

Cooper NR and GR Nemerow. The role of antibody and complement in the control of viral infections. *J Invest Dermatol* 1984; 83: 121s–127s.

Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, Houghton M, Prham P and CM Walker. Analysis of a Successful Immune Response against Hepatitis C Virus. *Immunity* 1999; 10: 439-449.

<u>Corvaisier M</u>, <u>Moreau-Aubry A</u>, <u>Diez E</u>, <u>Bennouna J</u>, <u>Mosnier JF</u>, <u>Scotet E</u>, <u>Bonneville</u> <u>M</u> and F <u>Jotereau</u>. Vγ9Vδ2 T Cell Response to Colon Carcinoma Cells. *J Immunol* 2005; 175: 5481-5488.

Craxi A and WC Cooksley. Pegylated interferons for chronic hepatitis B. *Antiviral Res* 2003; 60(2): 87-89.

Crotta S, Stilla A, Wack A, D'Andrea A, Nuti S, D'Oro U, Mosca M, Filliponi F, Brunetto RM, Bonino F, Abrignani S and NM Valiante. Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein. *J Exp Med* 2002; 195: 35–41.

Cui J, Shin T, Kawano T, Sato H, Kondo E, Toura I, Kaneko Y, Koseki H, Kanno M and M Taniguchi. Requirement for Valpha14 NKT cells in IL-12-mediated rejection of tumors. *Science* 1997; 278: 1623–1626.

Das A, Groh V, Kuijl C, Sujita M, Morita CT, Spies T and JF Bukowski. MICA engagement by human Vgamma9V delta2 T cells enhances their antigen-dependant effector function. *Immunity* 2001; 15(1): 83-93.

Das A, Hoare M, Davies N, Lopes AR, Dunn C, Kennedy PT, Alexander G, Finney H, Lawson A, Plunkett FJ, Bertoletti A, Akbar AN and MK Maini. Functional skewing of the global CD8 T cell population in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2008; 205(9): 2111-2124.

<u>Déchanet J, Merville P, Lim A, Retière C, Pitard V, Lafarge X, Michelson S, Méric C,</u> <u>Hallet MM, Kourilsky P, Potaux L, Bonneville M</u> and JF <u>Moreau</u>. Implication of gammadelta T cells in the human immune response to cytomegalovirus. *J Clin Invest* 1999; 103: 1437-1449.

<u>De Franchis R, Hadengue A, Lau G, Lavanchy D, Lok A, McIntyre N, Mele A,</u> <u>Paumgartner G, Pietrangelo A, Rodés J, Rosenberg W</u> and D <u>Valla.</u> Easl international consensus conference on Hepatitis B. 13th-14th of September 2002. Genova, Switzerland. Consensus statement. *J Hepatol* 2003; 39: 53-25.

Deignan T, Curry MP, Doherty DG, Golden-Mason L,Volkov Y, Norris S, Nolan N, Traynor O, McEntee G, Hegarty JE and C O'Farrelly. Decrease in hepatic CD56+ Tcells and V $\alpha$ 24+ natural killer T cells in chronic hepatitis C viral infection. *J Hepatol* 2002; 37: 101-108.

De Jongh FE, Janssen HL, De Man RA, Hop WC, Schalm SW and Van Blankenstein. Survival and prognostic indicators in hepatitis B surface antigen – positive cirrhosis of the liver. *Gastroenterology*. 1992; 103(5): 1630-1635.

De Lalla C, Galli G, Aldrighetti L, Romeo R, Mariani M, Monno A et al. Production of profibrotic cytokines by invariant NKT cells characterizes cirrhosis progression in chronic viral hepatitis. *J Immunol* 2004; 173: 1417-1425.

De Maria A, Fogli M, Mazza S, Basso M, Picciotto A, Costa P, Congia S, Mingari MC and L Moretta. Increased natural cytotoxicity receptor expression and relevant IL-10 production in NK cells from chronically infected viremic HCV patients. *Eur J Immunol* 2007; 37: 445-455.

Denkers EY, Scharton-Kersten T, BarbieriS, Caspar P and A Sher. A role for CD4C NK1.1C T lymphocytes as major histocompatibility complex class II independent helper cells in the generation of CD8C effector function against intracellular infection. *J Exp Med* 1996; 184: 131–139.

Deonarain R, Alcami A, Alexiou M, Dallman MJ, Gewert DR and AC Porter. Impaired antiviral response and alpha/betainterferon induction in mice lacking Beta interferon. *J Virol* 2000; 74: 3404–3409.

De Paoli P, Gennari D, Martelli P, Cvarzerani V, Comoretto R and G Santini. Gamma delta T cell receptor-bearing lymphocytes during Epstein-Barr virus infection. *J Infect Dis* 1990; 161: 1013-1016.

Devilder MC, Maillet S, Bouyge-Moreau I, Donnadieu E, Bonneville M and E Scotet. Potentiation of antigen-stimulated Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cell cytokine production by immature dendritic cells (DC) and reciprocal ffect on DC maturation. *J Immunol* 2006; 176: 1386-1393.

De Villa V and CM Lo. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma in Asia. *Oncologist.* 2007; 12(11): 1321-1331.

Dieli F, Poccia F, Lipp M, Sireci G, Caccamo N, Di Sano C and A Salerno. Differentiation of effector/memory Vdelta2 t cells and migratory routes in lymph nodes or inflammatory sites. *J Exp Med* 2003; 198: 391-397.

Dieli F, Caccamo N, Meraviglia S, Ivanyi J, Sireci G, Bonanno CT, Ferlazzo V et al. Reciprocal stimulation of gammadelta T-cells and dendritic cells during the antimycobacterial immune response. *Eur J Immunol* 2004; 34: 3227-3235.

Dieli F, Vermijlen D, Fulfaro F, Caccamo N, Meraviglia S, Cicero G, Roberts A, Buccheri S, D'Asaro M, Gebbia N, Salerno A, Eberl M and AC Hayday. Targeting human gammadelta T cells with zoledronate and interleukin-2 for immunotherapy of hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007; 67: 7450-7457.

<u>Dienstag JL</u>, <u>Schiff ER</u>, <u>Wright TL</u>, <u>Perrillo RP</u>, <u>Hann HW</u>, <u>Goodman Z</u>, <u>Crowther L</u>, <u>Condreay LD</u>, <u>Woessner M</u>, <u>Rubin M</u> and NA <u>Brown</u>. Lamvivudine as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis B in the United States. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 341(17): 1256-1263.

Dienstag JL, Cianciara J, Karayalcin S, Kowdley KV, Willems B, Plisek S, Woessner M, Gardner S and E Schiff. Durability of serologic response after lamivudine treatmemt of chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2003; 37(4): 748-755.

Dinarello CA. Interleukin 18. Methods 1999; 19: 121-132.

Duan XZ, He HX and H Zhuang. Restoration in vitro of impaired T cell responses in patients with chronic hepatitis B by autologous dendritic cells loaded with hepatitis B virus proteins (R2). *Hepatology* 2006; 21: 970-976.

Dudal S, Turriere C, Bessoles S, Fontes P, Sanchez E, Liautard J, Liautard JP ad V Lafont. Release of LL-37 by activated human Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cells: a microbicidal weapon against Brucella suis. *J Immunol* 2006; 177: 5533-5539.

Dunn C, Peppa D, Khanna P, Nebbia G, Jones M, Brendish N, Lascar RM, Brown D, Gilson RJ, Tedder RJ, Dusheiko GM, Jacons M, Klenerman P and MK Maini. Temporal analysis of early immune responses in patients with acute hepatitis B virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137(4): 128-300.

Dunne J, Lynch S, O'Farrelly C, Todryk S, Hegarty JE, Feighery C and DG Doherty. Selective expansion and partial activation of human NK cells and NK receptor-positive T cells by IL-2 and IL-15. *J Immunol* 2001; 167: 3129-3138.

Durantel D, Carrouée-Durantel S, Werle-Lapostolle S, Brunelle MN, Pichoud C, Trépo C and F Zoulim. A new strategy for studying in vitro drug susceptibility of clinical isolates of human hepatitis B virus. *Hepatology* 2004; 40(4): 855-864.

Dymicka-Piekarska V and H Kemona. Does colorectal cancer clinical advancement affect adhesion molecules (sP-selectin, sE-selectin and ICAM-1) concentration? *Thromb Res* 2009; 124: 80-83.

Eberl M, Altincicek B, Kollas AK, Sanderbrand S, Bahr U, Reichenberg A, Beck E, Foster D, Wiesner J, Hintz M and H Jomaa. Accumulation of potent gammadelta T-cell stimulator after deletion of the lytB gene in Escherichia coli. *Immunology* 2002; 106: 200-211.

Eberl M, Engel R, Beck E and H Jomaa. Differentiation of human  $\gamma\delta$  T cells towards distinct memory phenotypes *Cell Immunol* 2002; 218(1-2): 1-6.

Eberl M, Hintz M, Reichenberg A, Kollas AK, Wiesner J and H Jomaa. Microbial isoprenoid biosynthesis and human gammadelta T cell activation. *FEBS Lett*, 2003; 544: 4-10.

Eberl M, Roberts RW, Meuter S, Williams JD, Topley N and B Moser. A rapid crosstalk of human gamma delta T cells and monocytes drives the acute inflammation in bacterial infections. *PLoS Pathog* 2009; 5: e1000308.

Echevarria S, Casafont F, Miera M, Lozana JL, de La Cruz F, San Miguel G and F Pons Romero. Interleukin-2 and natural killer activity in acute type B hepatitis. *HepatoGastroenterology* 1991; 38(4): 307-310.

<u>Eisele G</u>, <u>Wischhusen J</u>, <u>Mittelbronn M</u>, <u>Meyermann R</u>, <u>Waldhauer I</u>, <u>Steinle A</u>, <u>Weller</u> <u>M</u> and MA <u>Friese</u>. TGF- $\beta$  and metalloproteinases differentially suppress NKG2D ligand surface expression of malignant glioma cells. *Brain* 2006; 129: 2416-2425.

Elliott RL and GC Blobe. Role of Transforming Growth Factor Beta in Human Cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; 23(9): 2078-2093.

<u>Erhardt A, Blondin D, Hauck K, Sagir A, Kohnle T, Heintges T</u> and D <u>Häussinger</u>. Response to interferon alfa is hepatitis B virus genotype dependent: genotype A is more sensitive to interferon than genotype D. Gut 2005; 54(7): 1009-1013.

Evans AA and WT Landon (1998) Epidemiology of Hepatitis B. In: Zucccckerman AJ and HC Thomas (ed). *Viral Hepatitis, Harcourt Brace & Co. Ltd, London*. pp 107-114.

Exley M, Garcia J, Balk SP and S Porcelli. Requirements for CD1d recognition by human invariant Va241 CD4–CD8-T cells. *J Exp Med* 1997; 186: 109–120.

Fagioli M Ciccone E, Bottino C, Falini B, Grignani F, Moretta A, Moretta L and PG Pelicci. The C gamma 1-encoded disulphide-linked and the C gamma 2-encoded nondisulphide-linked forms of the gamma/deta heterodimer use different gamma and delta variable regions. *Blood* 1990; 76: 279-284.

Farazi PA and RA DePinho. Hepatocellular carcinoma pathogenesis: from genes to environment. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2006; 6: 674-687.

Fattovich G, Giustina G, Schalm SW, Hadziyannis S, Sanchez-Tapias J, Almasio P, Christensen E, Krogsgaard K, Degos F, Carneiro de Moura M, *et al.* Occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma and decompensation in western European patients with cirrhosis type B. THE EUROHEP study Group on Hepatitis B Virus and Cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 1995; 21(1): 77-82.

Fattovich G, Stroffolini T, Zagni I and F Donato. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis: incidence and risk factors. *Gastroenterology* 2004; 127(5 suppl 1): 535: 550.

Fenoglio D, Poggi A, Catellani S, Battaglia F, Ferrera A, Setti M, Murdaca G and MR Zocchi. V $\delta$ 1 T lymphocytes producing IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17 are expanded in HIV-1-infected patients and respond to Candida albicans. *Blood* 2009; 113(26): 6611-8.

Fisicaro P, Valdatta C, Boni C, Massari M, Mori C, Zerbini A, Orlandini A, Sacchelli L, Missale G and C Ferrari. Early kinetics of innate and adaptive immune responses during hepatitis B virus infection *Gut* 2009; 58(7): 974-982.

Fong TL, Di Bisceglie AM, Biswas R, WaggonCer JG, Wilson L, Claggett J and JH

Hoofnagle. High levels of viral replication during acute hepatitis B infection predict progression to chronicity. *J Med* Virol 1994; 43: 155-158.

Franco A, Guidotti LG, Hobbs MV, Pasquetti V and FV Chisari. Pathogenic effector function of CD4 positive T-helper-1 cells in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice. *J Immunol* 1997; 159: 2001-2008.

<u>Fu J, Xu D, Liu Z, Shi M, Zhao P, Fu B, Zhang Z, Yang H, Zhang H, Zhou C, Yao J, Jin L, Wang H, Yang Y, Fu YX</u> and FS Wang. Increased regulatory T cells correlate with CD8 T-cell impairment and poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 132(7): 2328-2339.

Fung SK and AS Lok. Hepatitis B virus genotypes: do they play a role in the outcome of HBV infection? *Hepatology* 2004; 40(4): 790-792.

<u>Gaia S</u>, <u>Marzano A</u>, <u>Smedile A</u>, <u>Barbon V</u>, <u>Abate ML</u>, <u>Olivero A</u>, <u>Lagget M</u>, <u>Paganin S</u>, <u>Fadda M</u>, <u>Niro G</u> and M <u>Rizzetto</u>. Four years of treatment with lamivudine: clinical and virological evaluations in HBe antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2004; 20(3): 281-287.

Gao W and J Hu. Formation of Hepatitis B Covalently Closed Circular DNA: Removal of Genome-Linked Protein. *J Virol* 2007; 81(12): 6164-6174.

Gao QJ, Liu DW, Zhang SY, Jia M, Wang LM, Wu LH, Wang SY and LX Tong. Polymorphisms of some cytokines and chronic hepatitis B and c virus infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15(44): 5610-5619.

Ge J, Wang K, Meng QH, Qi ZX, Meng FL and YC Fan. Implication of Th17 and Th1 Cells in Patients with chronic Active Hepatitis B. *J Clin Immunol* 2009; (Epub ahead of print).

<u>Ghiringhelli F, Ménard C, Martin F</u> and L <u>Zitvogel</u>. The role of regulatory T cells in the control of natural killer cells: relevance during tumor progression. *Immunol Rev* 2006; 214: 229-238.

Gilles PN, Fey G and FV Chisari. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha negatively regulates hepatitis B virus gene expression in transgenic mice. *J Virol* 1992; 66: 3955–60

Gilmcher LH and KM Murphy. Lineage commitment in the immune system: the T helper lymphocyte grows up. *Genes Dev* 2000; 14: 1693-1711.

Godeny EK, Gauntt CJ. Murine natural killer cells limit coxsackievirus B3 replication. *J Immunol* 1987; 139: 913–918.

Golden-Mason L, Madrigal-Estebas, McGrath E, Conroy MJ, Ryan EJ, Hegarty JE, O'Farrelly C and DG Doherty. Altered natural killer cell subset distributions in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection following single source exposure. *Gut* 2008; 57: 1121-1128.

Gonzalez S, Lopez-Soto A, Suarez-Alvarez B, Lopez-Vazquez A and C Lopez-Larrea. NKG2D ligands: key targets of the immune response. *Cell* 2008; 29(8): 397-403.

<u>Grady GF, Lee VA, Prince AM, Gitnick GL, Fawaz KA, Vyas GN, Levitt MD, Senior</u> JR, <u>Galambos JT, Bynum TE, Singleton JW, Clowdus BF, Akdamar K, Aach RD,</u> <u>Winkelman EI, Schiff GM</u> and T Hersh. Hepatitis B immune globulin for accidental exposures among medical personnel: final report of a multicenter controlled trial. *J Infect Dis* 1978; 138: 626-638.

Grady JG, Alexander GJ, Hayllar KM and R Williams. Early indicators of prognosis in full hepatic failure. *Gastroenterology* 1991; 100: 1480-1481.

Groh V, Steinle A, Bauer S and T Spies. Recognition of Stress-Induced MHC Molecules by Intestinal Epithelial  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. *Science* 1998; 279: 1737-1740.

Gruener NH, Lechner F, Jung MC, Diepolder H, Gerlach T, Lauer G, Walker B, Sullivan J, Phillips R, Pape GR and P Klenerman. Sustained dysfunction of antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T Lymphocytes after infection with hepatitis C virus. *J Virol* 2001; 75: 5550-5558.

Gu XB, Yang XJ, Wang D, Hua Z, Wu HY, Chen XK, Xu YQ and Lu ZH. Comparison and significance of specific ad non-specific cellular *Immunity* in patients with chronic hepatitis B caused by infection with genotypes B or C of hepatitis B virus. *Sci China Ser C-Life Sci* 2009; 52(8): 719-723.

Gu XB, Yang XJ, Wang D, Hua Z, Wu HY, Chen XK, Yu YQ and ZH Lu. Comparison and significance of specific and non-specific cellular *Immunity* in patients with chronic hepatitis B caused by infection with genotype B or C of hepatitis B virus. *Sci China Ser C-life Sci* 2009; 52(8): 719-723.

Guidotti LG and FV Chisari. Cytokine induced viral purging–role in viral pathogenesis. Curr Opin Microbiol 1999; 2: 388–391.

Guidotti LG, Rochford R, Chung L, Shapiro M, Purcell R ad FV Chisari. Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection. *Science* 1999; 284: 825-829.

Guidotti LG and FV Chisari. Noncytolytic control of viral infections by the innate and adaptive immune response. *Immunol* 2001; 19: 65-91.

Guidotti LG, Ando K, Hobbs MV, Ishikawa T, Runkel RD, Schreiber RD, and FV Chisari. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes inhibit hepatitis B virus gene expression by a noncytolytic mechanism in transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1994; 91: 3764–3768.

Guidotti LG, Guilhot S, Chisari FV. Interleukin 2 and interferon alpha/beta downregulate hepatitis B virus gene expressionin vivo by tumor necrosis factor dependent and independent pathways. *J Virol* 1994; 68: 1265–70

Guidotti LG, Ishikawa T, Hobbs MV, Matzke B, Schreiber R and FV Chisari. Intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunity* 1996; 4: 25–36. Guidotti LG, Matzke B, Schaller H and FV Chisari. High level hepatitis B virus replication in transgenic mice. *J Virol* 1995; 69: 6158–69.

Guidotti LG, McClary H, Moorehead Loudis J and FV Chisari. Nitric oxide inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in the liver of transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* 2000; 191: 1247-1252.

Guidotti LG, Rochford R, Chung J, Shapiro M, Purcell R and FV Chisari. Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection. *Science* 1999; 284: 825-829.

Gumperz J E. The ins and outs of CD1 molecules: bringing lipids under immunological surveillance. *Traffic* 2006; 7: 2–13.

Gutkowski K and M Hartleb. Comment on "Hepatitis C virus-specific Th17 cells are suppressed by virus-induced TGF-beta". *J Immunol* 2009; 182(10): 588-589.

Hadziyannis SJ. Hepatitis delta: an overview. In: Rizzetto M, Purcell RH, Gerin JL, and Verme G, eds. *Viral Hepatitis and Liver Disease*, Turin, Edizioni Minerva Medica. 1997; 283-289.

<u>Hadziyannis SJ</u>, <u>Papatheodoridis GV</u>, <u>Dimou E</u>, <u>Laras A</u> and C <u>Papaioannou</u>. Efficacy of long-term lamivudine monotherapy in patients with hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2000; 32(4Pt 1): 847-851.

Haria M and P Benfield. Interferon-alpha-2a. A review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic use in the management of viral hepatitis. *Drugs* 1995; 50(5): 873-896.

Harty JT, Trinnereim AR and DW White. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector mechanisms in resistance to infection. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2000; 18: 275-308.

Hayday AC. γδ T CELLS: A Right Time and a Right Place for a Conserved Third way of Protection. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2000; 18: 975-1026.

Heermann KH, Goldmann U, Schwartz W, Seyffarth T, Baumgarten H and W H Gerlich. Large surface proteins of hepatitis B virus containing the pre-s sequence. *J Virol* 1984; 52: 396-402.

Hepworth MR and RK Grencis. Disruption of Th2 *Immunity* results in a gender-specific expansion of IL-13 producing accessory NK cells during helminth infection. *J Immunol* 2009; 183(6): 3906-3914.

Hintz M, Reichenberg A, Altincicek B, Bahr U, Gschwind RM, Kollas AK, Beck E, Wiesner J, Eberl M and H Jomaa. Identification of (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate as a major activator for human gammadelta T cells in Escherichia coli. *FEBS Lett* 2001; 509: 317-322.

<u>Höhn H, Neukirch C, Freitag K, Necker A, Hitzler W, Seliger B</u> and MJ Maeurer. Longitudinal analysis of the T-cell receptor (TCR)-VA and –VB repertoire in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from individuals immunized with recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2002; 129(2): 309-317.

Hong J, Li Y and ZJ Gong, Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells from patients with chronic hepatitis B induce the generation of CD4+CD25+ Treg in vitro. *Zhinghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi* 2009; 17(8): 574-579.

Hutin YJF, Pool V, Cramer EH, et al. A multistate foodborne outbreak of hepatitis A. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 340: 595-602.

Iloeje UH, Yang HI, Su J *et al.* Viral load is a strong predictor of hepatocellular carcinoma risk in people chronically infected with hepatitis B virus and with normal serum alanine aminotransaminase level. *J Viral Hepat* 2005; 42(suppl 2): 179.

Iloeje VH, Yang HI, Su J, Jen CL, You SL and CJ Chen. Predicting cirrhosis risk based

on the level of circulating hepatitis B viral laod. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130(3): 678-686.

Ing R and MM Stevenson. Dendritic cell and NK cell reciprocal cross talk promotes gamma interferon-dependent Immunity to blood-stage Plasmodium chabaudi AS infection in mice. *Infect Immun* 2009; 77: 770-782.

Inoue M, Kanto T, Miyatake H, Itose I, Miyakasi M, Ykushijin T, Mitsura Sakakibara M, Kuzushita N, Hiramatsu N, Takehara T, Kasahara A and N Hayashi. Enhanced ability of peripheral invariant natural killer T cells to produce IL-13 in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2006; 45(2): 1-7.

Ishihara S, Nieda M, Kitayama J, Osada T, Yabe T, Ishikawa Y, Nagawa H, Muto T and T Juji. CD8(+) NKRP1A(+) T cells preferentially accumulate in human liver. *Eur J Immunol* 1999; 29: 2406-2413.

Ismaili J, Olislagers V, Poupot R, Fournie JJ and M Goldman. Human gamma delta T cells induce dendritic cell maturation. *Clin Immunol* 2002; 103: 296-302.

Iwarson S, Wahl M, Ruttiman E, Snoy P, Seto B and RJ Gerety. Successful postexposure vaccination against hepatitis B in chimpanzees. *J Med Virol* 1988; 25: 433-439.

Jameson J & WL Havran. Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. *Immunol Rev* 2007; 215: 114-122.

Janssen HL, Berk L, Heijtink RA, ten Kate FJ and SW Schalm. Interferon –alpha and zidovudine combination therapy for chronic hepatitis B: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Hepatology* 1993; 17(3): 383-388.

Janssen HL, Berk L, Vermeulen M and SW Schalm. Seizures associated with low-dose alpha-interferon. *Lancet* 1990; 336(8730): 1580.

Janssen HL, Brouwer JT, Nevens F, Sanchez-Tapias JM, Craxi A and S Hadziyannis.

Fatal hepatic decompensation associated with interferon-alfa. *Eurohep.* BMJ 1993; 306(6870): 107-108.

Jilaveanu LB, Aziz SB and HM Kluger. Chemotherapy and biological therapies for melanoma: do they work? *Clin Dermatol* 2009; 27(6): 614-625.

Jilbert A, Wu T, England J, Hall P, Carp N, O'Connel A and W Mason. Rapid resolution of duck hepatitis B virus infections occurs after massive hepatocellular involvement. *J Virol* 1992; 66: 1377-1388.

Jin Y, Fuller L, Carreno M, Esquenazi V, Tzakis AG and J Miller. The regulation of phenotype and function of human liver CD3+/CD56+ lymphocytes, and cells that also co-express CD8 by IL-2, IL-12 and anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody. *Hum Immunol* 1998; 59: 352-362.

Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Groh V, Spies T, Suzuki T, Miyagi T and N Hayashi. Autocrine/paracrine IL-15 that is required for type 1 IFN-mediated dendritic cell expression of MHC class I-related chain A and B is impaired in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2003 171(10): 5723-5729.

Jinushi M, Takahara T, Tatsumi T, Hiramatsu N, Sakamori R, Yagamuchi S and N Hayashi. Impairment of natural killer cell and dendritic cell functions by the soluble form of MHC Class I-related chain A in advanced human hepatocellular carcinomas. *J Hepatol* 2005; 43: 1015-1020.

Jomaa H, Feurle J, Luhs K, Kunzmann V, Tony HP, Herderich M and M Wilhelm. Vgamma9/Vdelta2 T cell activation induced by bacterial low molecular mass compounds depends on the 1-deoxy-D-xylilose 5-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis. FEMS *Immunol Med Microbiol* 1999; 25: 371-378.

Jovanovic DC, Martel-Pelletier J, Di Battista JA, Mineau F, Jolicouer FC, Benderdour M and JP Pelletier. Stimulation 92-kd gelatinase (matrix metalloproteinase 9) production by interleukin-17 in human monocyte/macrophages: a possible role in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000; 43(5): 1134-1144.

Kajino K, Jilbert AR, Saputelli J, Aldrich CE, Cullen J and WS Mason. Woodchuck hepatitis virus infections: very rapid recovery after a prolonged and infection of virtually every hepatocyte. *J Virol* 1994; 68(9): 5792-5803.

Kakimi K, Guidotti LG, Koezuka Y and FV Chisari. Natural killer T cell activation inhibits HBV replication in vivo. *J Exp Med* 2000; 192: 921-930.

Kakimi K, Lane TE, Wieland S, Asensio VC, Campbell IL, Chisari FV, Guidotti LG. Blocking chemokine responsive to gamma-2/interferon (IFN)-gamma inducible protein and monokine induced by IFN-gamma activity in vivo reduces the pathogenetic but not the antiviral potential of hepatitis B virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 2001; 194(12): 1755-1766.

Kambayashi T, Assarsson E, Michaelsson J, Berglund P, Diehl AD, Chambers BJ and HG Ljunggren. Emergence of CD8\_T cells expressing NK cell receptors in influenza A virus-infected mice. *J Immunol* 2000; 165:4964.

Kamijo R, Shapiro D, Gerecitano J, Le J, Bosland M and J Vilcek. Biological functions of IFN-gamma and IFNalpha/beta: lessons from studies in gene knockout mice. *Hokkaido Igaku Zasshi* 1994; 69: 1332–1338.

Kao JH and DS Chen. Global control of hepatitis B virus infection. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2002; 2: 395-403.

Kao JH, Chen PJ, Lai MY and DS Chen. Hepatitis genotypes correlate with clinical outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 118(3): 554-559.

Kao JH, Liu CJ and DS Chan. Hepatitis B viral genotypes and lamivudine resistance. *J Hepatol* 2002; 36(2): 303-304.

Kawano T, Cui J, Koezuka Y, Toura I, Kaneko Y, Motoki K, Ueno H, Nakagawa R, Sato H, Kondo E, Koseki H and M Taniguchi. CD1d-restricted and TCR-mediated activation of Valpha14 NKT cells by glycosylceramides. *Science* 1997; 278: 1626-1629.

Kawarabayashi N, Seki S, Hatsuse K, Ohkawa K, Koike Y, Aihara T et al. Decrease of CD56+ T cells and natural killer cells in cirrhotic livers with hepatitis C may be involved in their susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 2000; 32: 962-969.

Kelly AM, Golden-Mason L, McEntee G, Traynor O, Doherty DG, Hegarty JE and C O'Farrelly. Interleukin 12 (IL-12) is increased in tumour bearing human liver and expands CD8+ and CD56+ T cells in vitro but not in vivo. *Cytokine* 2004; 25: 273-282.

Kelly-Rogers J, Madrigal-Estebas L, O'Connor T and DG Doherty. Activation-Induced Expression of CD56 by T cells is Associated With a Reprogramming of Cytolytic Activity and Cytokine Secretion Profile In vitro. *Hum Immunol* 2006; 67: 863-873

Kenna T, Golden-Mason L, Norris S, Hegarty JE, O'Farrelly C and DG Doherty. Distinct subpopulations of gamma delta T cells are present in normal and tumor-bearing human liver. *Clin Immunol* 2004; 113: 56-63.

<u>Kennedy PT</u>, <u>Gehring AJ</u>, <u>Nowbath A</u>, <u>Selden C</u>, <u>Quaglia A</u>, <u>Dhillon A</u>, <u>Dusheiko G</u> and A Bertoletti. The expression and function of NKG2D molecule on intrahepatic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in chronic viral hepatitis. *J Viral Hepatol* 2008; 15(12): 901-909.

Kim C and J Tilles. Purification and biophysical characterization of hepatitis B antigen. *J Clin Invest* 1973; 52: 1176-1186.

Kim KB, Eton O, East MJ, Hodges C, Papadopoulos NE, Grimm EA and AY Bedikian. Pilot study of high dose, concurrent biochemotherapy for advanced melanoma. *Cancer* 2004; 101(3): 596-603. Kimura K, Kakimi K, Wieland S, Guidotti LG and FV Chisari. Activated intrahepatic antigen-presenting cells inhibit hepatitis B virus replication in the liver of transgenic mice. *J Immunol* 2002; 169(9): 5188-5195.

Knowles BB, Howe CC and DP Aden. Human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines secrete the major plasma proteins and hepatitis B surface antigen. *Science* 1980; 209(4455): 497-499.

Kos FJ and EC Engleman. Requirement for natural killer cells in the induction of cytotoxic T Cells. *J Immunol* 1995; 155: 578-584.

Kos FJ, and EC Engleman. Role of natural killer cells in the generation of influenza virus-secific cytotoxic T cells. *Cell Immunol*. 1996; 173: 1-6.

Kotenko SV, Saccani S, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenk OV and S Pestka. Human cytomegalovirus harbors its own unique IL-10 homolog (cmvIL-10). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000; 97(4): 1695-1700.

Kunzmann V, Bauer E and M Wilhelm. Gamma/delta T-cell stimulation by pamidronate. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 340: 737-738.

Lafont V, Liautard J, Liautard JP and J Favero. Production of TNF- $\alpha$  by Human V $\gamma$ 9V $\delta$ 2 T cells Via Engegemet of F $\gamma$ cRIIIA, the Low Affinity Type 3 ecetor for the Fc portion of IgG, Expressed upon TCR Activation by Nonpeptidic Antigen. *J Immunol* 2001; 166: 7190-7199.

Lai CL, Chien RN, Leung NW, Chang TT, Guan R, Tai DI, Ng KY, Wu PC, Dent JC, Barber J, Stephenson SL and DF Gray. A one-year trial of lamivudine for chronic hepatitis B. Asia Hepatitis Lamivudine Study Group. *N Engl J Med* 1998; 339(2): 61-68.

Lanier LL. NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 1998; 16: 359-393.

Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 2005; 23: 225-274.

Laskin DL and KJ Pendino. Macrophages & inflammatory mediates in tissue injury. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1995; 35: 655-677.

Lau GK, Piratvisuth T, Luo KX, Marcellin P, Thongsawat S, Cooksley G, Gane E, Fried MW, Chow WC, Paik SW, Chang WY, Berg T, Flisiak R, McCloud P and N Pluck; Peginterferon Alfa-2a HBeAg-Positive Chronic Hepatitis B Study Group. Peginterferon Alfa-2a, lamivudine, and the combination for HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. *N Engl J Med* 2005; 352(26): 2682-2695.

Lauer AM and BD Walker. Hepatitis C virus infection. New Eng *J Med* 2001; 345: 41-52.

Lechner F, Wong DKH, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, Robbins G, Philips R, Klenerman P and BD Walker. Analysis of Successful Immune Responses in Persons Infected with Hepatitis C Virus. *J Exp Med* 2000; 191(9): 1499-1512.

Leemhuis T, Wells S, Scheffold C, Edinger M, and RS Negrin. A phase I trial of autologous cytokine-induced killer cells for the treatment of relapsed Hodgkin disease and non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 2005; 11: 181.

Lemon SM. Hepatitis A virus. Update on Viral Hepatitis. *Textbook for the annual meeting of the American Association for the Study of liver Diseases*. 2000: 48.

Leung NW, Lai CL, Chang TT, Guan R, Lee CM, Ng KY, Lim SG, Wu PC, Dent JC, Edmundson S, Condreay LD, and RN Chien; Asia Hepatitis Lamivudine Study Group. Extended lamivudine treatment in patients with chronic hepatitis B enhances hepatitis B e antigen seroconversion rates: results after 3 years of therapy. *Hepatology* 2001; 3(6): 1527-1532.

Li F, Cao Y, Townsend CM and TC Ko. TGF-β Signalling in Colon Cancer Cells. *World J Surg* 2005; 29: 306-311.

Linn YC and KM Hui. Cytokine-induced killer cells: NKlike T cells with cytotolytic specificity against leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2003; 44:1457.

Liu ZX, Govindarajan S, Okamoto S and G Dennert. NK cells cause liver injury and facilitate the induction of T cell-mediated Immunity to a viral liver infection. *J Immunol* 2000; 164: 6480-6486.

Liaw YF, Leung NW, Chang TT, Guan R, Tai DI, Ng KY, Chien RN, Dent J, Roman L, <u>Edmundson S</u> and CL <u>Lai</u>. Effects of extended lamivudine therapy in Asian patients with chronic hepatitis B. Asia Hepatitis Lamivudine Study Group. *Gastroenterology* 2000; 119(1): 172-180.

Liaw YF, Sung JJ, Chow WC, Farrell G, Lee CZ, Yuen H, Tanwandee T, Tao QM, Shue K, Keene ON, Dixon JS, Gray DF and J Sabbat; Cirrhosis Asian Lamivudine Multicentre Study Group. Lamivudine for patients with chronic hepatitis B and advanced liver disease. *N Engl J Med* 2004; 351(15): 1521-1531. Lok AS and BJ McMahon. Chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2001; 34: 1225-1241.

Loza MJ, Metelitsa LS and B Perussia. NKT and T cells: coordinate regulation of NKlike phenotype and cytokine production. *Eur J Immunol* 2002; 32:3453.

Lu PH and RS Negrin. A novel population of expanded human CD3\_ CD56\_ cells derived from T cells with potent in vivo antitumor activity in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. *J Immunol* 1994; 153: 1687-1696.

Lynch L, O'Shea D, Winter DC, Geoghegan J, Doherty DG and C O'Farrelly. Invariant NKT cells and CD1d+ cells amass in human omentum and are depleted in patients with cancer and obesity. *Eur J Immunol* 2009; 39: 1893-1901.

Maccario R, Comoli P, Percivalle E, Montagna D, Locatelli F and G Gerna. Herpes simplex virus-specific human cytotoxic T-cell colonies expressing either gamma delta or alpha beta T-cell receptor: role of accessory molecules on HLA-unrestricted killing of virus-infected targets. *Immunol* 1995; 85: 49-56.

Mahony FJ. Update on diagnosis, management, and prevention of hepatitis B virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 1999; 12: 351-366.

<u>Maini MK</u>, <u>Boni C</u>, <u>Lee CK</u>, <u>Larrubia JR</u>, <u>Reignat S</u>, <u>Ogg GS</u>, <u>King AS</u>, <u>Herberg J</u>, <u>Gilson R</u>, <u>Alisa A</u>, <u>Williams R</u>, <u>Vergani D</u>, <u>Naoumov NV</u>, <u>Ferrari C</u> and A Bertoletti. The role of virus specific CD8 <sup>+</sup> cells in liver damage and viral control during persistent hepatitis B virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2000; 191: 1269-1280.

Maini MK, Boni C, Ogg GS, King AS, Reignat S, Lee CK, Larrubia JR, Webster GJ, McMichael AJ, Ferrari C, Williams R, Vergani D and A Bertoletti. Direct ex vivo analysis of hepatitis B virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells associated with the control of infection. *Gastroenterology* 1999; 117: 1386-1396.

Manesis EK, Papatheodoridis GV, Sevastianos V, Cholongitas E, Papaiannou C and SJ Hadiyannis. Significance of hepatitis B viremia levels determined by a quantitative polymerase chain reaction assay in patients with hepatitis B e antigen-negative chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003; 98(10): 2261-2267.

Marcellin P, Lau K, Bonino F, Farci P, Hadziyannis S, Jin R, Lu ZM, Piratvisuth T, Germanidis G, Yurdaydin C, Diago M, Gurel S, Lai MY, Button P and N Pluck; <u>Peginterferon Alfa-2a HBeAg-Positive Chronic Hepatitis B Study Group</u>. Peginterferon alfa-2a alone, lamivudine alone, and the two in combination in patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. *N Engl J Med* 2004; 351(12): 1206-1217.

Martinet L, Fleury-Cappellesso S, Gadelorge M, Dietrich G, Bourin P, Fourme JJ and R Poupot. A regulatory cross-talk between Vγ9Vδ2 T lymphocytes and mesenchymal stem cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2009; 39: 1-11.

Martino A, Casetti R, D'Alessandri A, Sacchi A and F Poccia. Complementary function of gamma delta T-lymphocytes and dendritic cells in the response to isopentenyl-pyrophosphate and lipopolysaccharide antigens. *J Clin Immunol* 2005; 25: 230-237.

Mast EE et al. Evaluation of assays for antibody to hepatitis E virus by a serum panel. Hepatitis E Virus Antibody Serum Panel Evaluation Group. *Hepatology*, 1998, 27(3):857-861.

Matoba K, Iizuka N, Gondo T, Ishihara T, Yamada-Okabe H, Tamesa T, Takemoto N, Hashimoto K, Sakamoto, Miyamoto, Uchimura S, Hamamoto Y and M Oka. Tumor HLA-DR expression linked to early intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Cancer* 2005; 115(2): 231-240

Mathurin P, Moussalli J, Cadranel JF, Thibault V, Charlotte F, Dumouchel P, Cazier A, Huraux JM, Devergie B, Vidaud M, Opolon P and T Poynard. Slow progression rate of fibrosis in hepatitis C virus patients with persistently normal alanine transaminase activity. *Hepatology* 1998; 27(3): 868-872.

McClary H, Koch R, Chisari FV and LG Guidotti. Relative sensitivity of Hepatitis B virus and other hepatotropic viruses to the antiviral effects of cytokines. *J Virol* 2000; 74: 2255–2264.

McKinstry KK, Strutt TM, Buck A, Curtis JD, Dibble JP, Huston G, Tighw M, Hamada H, Sell S, Dutton RW and SL Swain. IL-10 deficiency unleashes an influenza-specific Th17 response and enhances survival against high-dose challenge. *J Immunol* 2009; 182(12): 7353-7363.

McQueen KL and P Parham. Variable receptors controlling activation and inhibition of NK cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2002; 14: 615–621.

Michalak TI, Pasquinelli C, Guilhot S and FV Chisari. Hepatitis B virus persistence after recovery from acute viral hepatitis. *J Clin Invest* 1994; 93: 230-239.

Milich D, Chen M, Hughes J and J Jones. The secreted hepatitis B precore antigen can modulate the immune response to the nucleocapsid: a mechanism for persistence. *J Immunol* 1998; 160: 2013-2021.

Milich DR, Schodel F, Hughes JL, Jones JE and DL Peterson. The hepatitis B virus

core and e antigens elicit different Th cell subsets: antigen structure can affect Th cell phenotype. *J Virol* 1997; 71: 2192-2201.

Mills KH. Induction, function and regulation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2008; 38(10): 2636-2649.

Millman I and BS Blumberg. Prospects for vaccination against hepatitis B. Rev Prat 1978; 35(25): 1943-1951

Millman I, Loeb LA, Bayer ME and BS Blumberg. Australia antigen (a hepatitisassociated antigen): purification and physical properties. *J Exp Med* 1970; 131(6): 1190-1199.

Missale G, Redeker A, Person J, Fowler P, Guilhot S, Schicht HJ, Ferrari C, FV Chisari. HLA-A31 and Aw68 restricted cytotoxic T cell responses to a single hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid epitope during acute viral hepatitis. *J Exp Med* 1993; 177: 751-762.

Mistry AR and CA O'Callaghan. Regulation of ligands for the activating receptor NKG2D. *Immunology* 2007; 121: 439-447.

Moingeon P, Ythier A, Goubin G, Faure F, Nowill A, Delmon L, Rainaud M, Forestier F, Daffos F, Bohuoin C and T Hercend. A unique T-cell receptor complex expressed on human fetal lymphocytes displaying natural-killer-like activity. *Nature* 1986; 323: 638-640.

Morishima C, Paschal DM, Wang CC, Yoshihara CS, Wood BL, Yeo AE, Emerson SS, Shuhart MC and DR Gretch. Decreased NK cell frequency in chronic hepatitis C does not affect ex vivo cytolytic killing. *Hepatology* 2006; 43: 573–580.

Morita CT, Beckman EM, Bukowski JF, Tanaka Y, Band H, Bloom BR, Golan DE and MB Brenner. Direct presentation of nonpeptide prenyl pyrophosphate antigens to human gamma delta T cells. *Immunity* 1995; 3: 495-507.
Morita CT, Lee HK, Wang HM Li H, Mariuzza RA and Y Tanaka. Structural features of nonpeptide prenyl pyrophosphates that determine their antigenicity for human gamma delta T cells. *J Immunol* 2001; 167: 36-41.

Morita CT, Jin C, Sarikonda G and H Wang. Nonpeptide antigens, presentation mechanisms, and immunological memory of human Vgamma2Vdelta2 T cells: discriminating friend from foe through the recognition of prenyl pyrophosphate antigens. *Immunol Rev* 2007; 215: 59-76.

Mosmann TR and RL Coffman. Th1 and Th2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1989; 7: 145-173.

Motohashi S, Nagato K, Kunii N, Yamamoto H, Yamasaki K, Okita K, Hanaoka H, Shimizu N, Suzuki M, Yoshino I, Taniguchi M, Fugisawa T and T Nakayama A phase I-II study of alpha-galactosylceramidepulsed IL-2/GM-CSF-cultured peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with advanced and recurrent non-small cell lung cancer. *J. Immunol.* 2009. 182: 2492–2501.

Nafa S, Ahmed S, Tavan D, Pichoud C, Berby F, Stuyver L, Johnson M, Merle P, Abidi H, Trepo C and F Zoulim. Early detection of viral resistance by determination of Hepatitis B virus polymerase mutations in patients treated with lamivudine for chronic Hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2000; 32(5): 1078-1088.

Nakamoto Y, Guidotti LG, Pasquetto V, Schreiber RD and FV Chisari. Differential target cell sensitivity to cytotoxic t lymphocyte-activated death pathways in vivo. *J Immunol* 1997; 158: 5692-5697.

Nattermann J, Nischalke HD, Hofmeister V, Kupfer B, Ahlenstiel G, Feldmann G, Rockstroh J, Weiss E, Sauerbruch T and U Spengle; BMBF, Kompetenznetz HIV/AIDS; Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections. Infection with HIV-1 Leads to Up-regulation of HLA-E Expression Resulting in Impaired Cytotoxic Function of Natural Killer Cells. *Program Abstr Conf Retrovir Oppor Infect 11th 2004 San Franc Calif.* 2004 Feb 8-11.

Nayersina R, Fowler P, Guilhot S, Missale G, Cerny A, Schicht HJ, Vitiello A, Chesnut R, Person JL, Redeker AG and FV Chisari. HLA A2 restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to multiple hepatitis B surface antigen epitopes during hepatitis B virus infection. *J Immunol* 1993; 150: 4659-4671.

Nikolopoulos V, Skoutelis A, Thomopoulos K, Salsaa B and N Zoumbos. An increased number of circulating  $\gamma/\delta$  TCR + T cells in patients with chronic viral hepatitis. FEMS *Imm Med Microbiol* 1995; 10: 115-118.

Nishimura TH, Kitamura K, Iwakabe T, Yahata A, Ohta M, Sato K, Takeda K, Okumura L, Van Kaer T, Kawano et al. *Int Immunol* 2000; 987-994.

Norris S, Doherty DG, Collins C, McEntee G, Traynor O, Hegarty JE and C O'Farrelly. Natural T cells in the human liver: cytotoxic lymphocytes with dual T cell and natural killer cell phenotype and function are phenotypically heterogenous and include V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ Q and  $\gamma\delta$  T cell receptor bearing cells. *Hum Immunol* 1999; 60: 20-31.

Northfield JW, Kasprowicz V, Lucas M, Kersting N, Bengsch B, Kim A, Phillips RE, Walker BD, Thime R, Lauer G and P Klenerman. CD161 expression on hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells suggests a distinct pathway of T cell differentiation. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 396-406.

Obeidy P and AF Sharland. NKG2D and its ligands. *Int J Biochem & Cell Biol* 2008; 41(12): 2364-2367.

Ogg GS, Jin X, Bonhoeffer S, Dunbar PR, Nowak MA, Monard S, Segal JP, Cao Y, Rowland-Jones SL, Cerundolo V, Hurley A, Markowitz M, Ho DD, Nixon DF and AJ McMichael. Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. *Science* 1998; 279: 2103-2106.

Omata M, Ehata T, Yokosuka O, Hosoda K and M Ohto. Mutations in the precore region of hepatitis B virus DNA in patients with fulminant and severe hepatitis. *N Engl and J Med.* 1991; 324: 1699-1704.

Orange JS and CA Biron. Characterization of early IL-12, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF effects on antiviral state and NK cell responses during murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J Immunol* 1996; 156: 4746–4756.

Orange JS, Wang B, Terhorst C and CA Biron. Requirement for natural killer cell produced interferon- $\gamma$  in defense against murine cytomegalovirus infection and enhancement of this defense pathway by interleukin 12 administration. *J Exp Med* 1995; 182: 1045–1056.

Ou JH, Laub O & WH Rutter. Hepatitis B virus gene function: The precore region targets the core antigen to cellular membranes and causes the secretion of the e antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1986; 83: 1578-1582.

Park SH and A Bendelac. CD1-restricted T-cell response and microbial infection. *Nature* 2000; 406: 788-792.

Pasquetto V, Guidotti LG, Kakinu K, Tsuji M and FV Chisari. Host-virus interactions during malaria infection in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* 2000; 192: 528-535.

Peng G, Li S, Wu W, SunZ, Chen Y and Z Chen. Circulating CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells correlate with chronic hepatitis B infection. *Immunology* 2007; 123: 57-65.

<u>Penna A, Artini M, Cavalli A, Levrero M, Bertoletti A, Pilli M, Chisari FV, Rehermann</u> <u>B, Del Prete G, Fiaccadori F</u> and C <u>Ferrari</u>. Long-lasting memory T cell responses following self-limited acute hepatitis B. *J Clin Invest* 1996; 98: 1185-94.

Penna A, Chisari FV, Bertoletti A, Missale G, Fowler P, Giuberti T and FJ Fiaccadori. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize an HLA-A2 restricted epitope within the hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid antigen. *Exp Med* 1991; 174: 1565-1570. <u>Perrillo RP, Lai CL, Liaw YF, Dienstag JL, Schiff ER, Schalm SW, Heathcote EJ,</u> <u>Brown NA, Atkins M, Woessner M</u> and SD <u>Gardner</u>. Predictors of HBeAg loss after lamivudine treatment for chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2002; 36(1): 186-194.

phenotype and a T helper type 1 profile of cytokine secretion in the liver of patients chronically infected with Hepatitis B virus. *J Immunol* 1994; 152: 3074

Picciolo D, Sbrana S, Melandri E and M Nicholas. Valiante contact-dependent stimulation and inhibition of dendritic cells by natural killer cells. *J Exp Med.* 2002; 195(3): 335-341.

Pichoud C, Seigneres B, Wang Z, Trepo C and F Zoulim. Transient selection of a hepatitis B virus polymerase gene mutant associated with a decreased replication capacity and famciclovir resistance. *Hepatology* 1999; 29: 230-237.

Pisani P, Parkin DM, Bray F and J Ferlay. Estimates of the worldwide mortality from 25 cancers in 1990. *Int J Cancer* 1999; 83: 18-29.

Poccia F, Battistini L, Cipriani B, Mancino G, Martini F, Gougeon ML & V Collizzi. Phosphoantigen-reactive Vgamma9Vdelta2 T lymphocytes suppress in vitro human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication cell-released antiviral factors including CC chemokines. *J Infect Dis* 1999; 180: 858-861.

Porcelli S, Segelke BW, Sugita M, Wilson IA and MB Brenner. The CD1 family of lipid antigen-presenting molecules. *Imm Rev* 1998; 19(8): 362-368.

Poynard T, Bedossa P and P Opolan. Natural history of liver fibrosis progression in patients with Chronic Hepatitis C. THE OBSVIRC, METAVIR, CLINIVIR AND DOSVIRC groups. *Lancet* 1997; 349 (9055): 825-832.

Purcell RH and JL Gerin. Hepatitis B subunit vaccine: a preliminary report of safety and efficacy tests in chimpanzees. *Am J Med Sci* 1975; 270: 395-399.

Purcell RH and Ticehurst JR. Enterically transmitted non-A, non-B hepatitis: epidemiology and clinical characteristics. In: Zuckerman A, eds. *Viral Hepatitis and Liver Disease, New York*, Alan R. Liss, 1988:131-137.

Purcell RH. Hepatitis E virus. In: Fields BN, Knipe DM, and Howley PM, eds. *Fields Virology*, 3rd ed. Philadelphia, Lippincott - Raven, 1996:2831-2843.

Purcell RH and Gerin JL. Hepatitis Delta virus. In: Fields BN, Knipe DM, and Howley PM, eds. *Fields Virology*, 3rd ed. Philadelphia, Lippincott - Raven, 1996, 2819-2829.

Quinnan GV Jr, Kirmani N, Rook AH, Manischewitz JF, Jackson L, Moreschi G, Santos GW, Saral R and WH Burns WH. Cytotoxic T cells in cytomegalovirus infection: HLA-restricted T-lymphocyte and non-T-lymphocyte cytotoxic responses correlate with recovery from cytomegalovirus infection in bone-marrow-transplant recipients. *N Engl J Med* 1982; 307: 7–13.

Realdi G, Fattovich G, Hadziyannis S, Schalm SW, Almasio P, Sanchez-Tapias J, Christensen E, Giustina G and F Noventa. Survival and prognostic factors in 366 patients with compensated cirrhosis type B: A multicenter study. The Investigators of the European Concerted Action on Viral Hepatitis (EUROHEP). *J Hepatol* 1994; 21(4): 656-666.

Rehermann B and M Nascimbeni. Immunology of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection. *Nat Rev Imm* 2006; 5: 215-229.

Rehermann B, Ferrari C, Pasquinelli C and FV Chisari. The hepatitis B virus persists for decades after patients recovery from acute viral hepatitis despite active maintenance of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response. *Nat Med* 1996; 2: 1004-1108.

Rehermann B, Fowler P, Sidney J, Person J, Redeker A, Brown M, Moss B, Sette A and FV Chisari. The cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to multiple hepatitis B virus polymerase epitopes during and after acute viral hepatitis. *J Exp Med* 1995; 181: 1047-1058.

Rehermann B, Lau D, Hoofnagle JH and FV Chisari. Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Responsiveness after Resolution of Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection. *J Clin Invest* 1996; 97(7): 1655-1665.

Rehermann B, Pasquinelli C, Mosier SM and FV Chisari. Hepatitis B virus (HBV) sequence variation of cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitopes is not common in patients with chronic HBV infection. *J Clin Invest* 1995; 96: 1527-1534.

Reignat S, Webster GJ, Brown D, Ogg GS, King A, Seneviratne SL, Dusheiko G, Williams R, Maini MK, and A Bertoletti. Escaping high viral load exhaustion: CD8 cells with altered tetramer binding in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2002; 195: 1089-1101.

<u>Rizzetto M, Tassopoulos NC, Goldin RD, Esteban R, Santantonio T, Heathcote EJ,</u> <u>Lagget M, Taak NK, Woessner MA</u> and SD <u>Gardner</u>. Extended lamivudine treatment in patients with HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis B. *J Hepatol* 2005; 42(2): 173-179.

Robertson, M. J. and J Ritz. Biology and clinical relevance of human natural killer cells. *Blood* 1990; 76: 2421–2438.

Roebuck KA and A Finnegan. Regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (CD54) gene expression. *J Leukoc Biol* 1999; 66: 876-888.

Roossinck MJ, Jameel S, Loukin SH and A Siddiqui. Expression of hepatitis B viral core region in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 1986; 6: 1393-1400.

Rossol R, Dobmeyer JM, Dobmeyer TS, Klein SA, Rossol S, Wesch D, Hoelzer D, Kabelitz D and EB Helm. Increase in Vdelta1<sup>+</sup> gamma delta T cells in the peripheral blood and bone marrow as a selective feature of HIV-1 but not other virus infections. *Br J Haematol* 1998; 100(4): 728-734.

Rowan AG, Fletcher JM, Ryan EJ, Moran B, Hegarty JE, O'Farrelly C and KHG Mills. Hepatitis C virus-specific Th17 cells are suppressed by virus-induced TGF-beta. *J Immunol* 2008; 181(7): 4485-4494.

Roy J, Audette M and MJ Tremblay. Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) Gene Expression in Human T Cells Is Regulated by Phosphotyrosyl Phosphatase Activity. *J Biol Chem* 2001; 276(18): 14553-14561.

Russano AM, Bassotti G, Agea E, Bistoni O, Mazzocchi A, Morelli A, Porcelli SA, Spinozzi F. CD1-restricted recognition of exogenous and self-lipid antigens by duodenal  $\gamma\delta$ + T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 2007; 178(6): 3620-6.

Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self. *Nat Immunol* 2005; 6: 345-352.

Salih HR, Goehlsdorf D and A Steinle. Release of MICB molecules by tumor cells: mechanism and soluble MICB in sera of cancer patients. *Hum Immunol* 2006; 67: 188-195.

Sallusto F and A Lanzavecchia. Mobilizing dendritic cells for tolerance, priming, and chronic inflammation. *J Exp Med* 1999; 189: 611-614.

Santana MA and Y Rosenstein. What it takes to become an effector T cell: the process, the cells involved, and the mechanisms. *J Cell Physiol* 2003; 195: 392-401.

Satoh M, Seki S, Hashimoto W, Ogasawara K, Kobayashi T, Kumagai K, Matsuno S and K Takeda. Cytotoxic  $\gamma\delta$  or  $\alpha\beta$  T cells with a natural killer cell marker, CD56, induced from human peripheral blood lymphocytes by a combination of IL-12 and IL-2. *J Immunol* 1996; 157: 3886-3892.

Schalm SW, Heathcote J, Cianciara J, Farrell G, Sherman M, Willems B, Dhillon A, Moorat A, Barber J and DF Gray. Lamivudine and alpha interferon combination treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B infection: a randomized trial. *Gut* 2000; 46(4): 562-568.

<u>Schiff ER, Dienstag JL, Karayalcin S, Grimm IS, Perrillo RP, Husa P, de Man RA,</u> <u>Goodman Z, Condreay LD, Crowther LM, Woessner MA, McPhillips PJ</u> and NA <u>Brown; International Lamivudine Investigator Group</u>. Lamivudine and 24 weeks of lamivudine/interferon combination therapy for hepatitis B e antigen-positive chronic hepatitis B in interferon nonresponders. *J Hepatol* 2003; 38(6): 818-826.

Schmidt RE, Murray C, Daley JF, Schlossman SF and J Ritz. A subset of natural killer cells in peripheral blood displays a mature T cell phenotype. *J Exp Med* 1986; 164: 351-356.

Schmidt-Wolf IG, Finke S, Trojaneck B, Denkena A, Lefterova P, Schwella N, Heuft HG, Prange G, Korte M, Takeya M, Dorbic T, Neubauer A, Wittig B and D Huhn. Phase I clinical study applying autologous immunologic effector cells transfected with the interleukin-2 gene in patients with metastatic renal cancer, colorectal cancer and lymphoma. *Br J Cancer* 1999; 81:1009.

Schofield L, McConville MJ, Hansen D, Campbell AS, Fraser-Reid B, Grusby MJ and SD Tachado. CD1d-restricted immunoglobulin G formation to GPI anchored antigens mediated by NKT cells. *Science* 1999; 283: 225–229.

Seeger C and WS Mason. Hepatitis B virus biology. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2000; 64: 51-68.

Schwada MG and T Daniel. Up-regulation of cell surface Toll-like receptors on circulating gammadelta T-cells following burn injury. *Cytokine* 2008; 44: 328-334.

Schwinn H, Vokhnimova D, Sucker A, Textor S, Striegel S, Moll I, Nausch N, Tuettenberg J, Steinle A, Cerwekna A, Schandendorf D and A Paschen. Interferongamma down-regulates NKG2D ligand expression and impairs the NKG2D-mediated cytolysis of MHC class I-deficient melanoma by natural killer cells. *Int J Cancer* 2009; 124(7): 1594-1604. Scotet E, Martinez LO, Grant E, Barbaras R, Jeno P, Guiraud M, Monsarrat B, Saulquin X, Maillet S, Esteve JP, Lopez F, Perret B, Collet X, Bonneville M and E Champagne. Tumor recognition following Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cell receptor interactions with a surface F1-ATPase-related structure and apoliprotein A-I. *Immunity* 2005; 22: 71-80.

Seigneres B, Pichoud C, Ahmed SS, Hantz O, Trepo C and F Zoulim. Evolution of hepatitis B virus polymerase gene sequence during famiciclovir therapy for chronic Hepatitis B. *J Infect Dis* 2000; 181(4): 1221-1233.

Seiler P, Kalinke U, Rulicke T, Bucher EM, Bose C, Zinkernagel RM and H Hengartner. Enhanced virus clearance by early inducible lymphocytic choriomeningitis virusneutralizing antibodies in immunoglobulin-transgenic mice. *J Virol* 1998; 72: 2253– 2258.

Sen GC. Viruses and Interferons. Annu Rev Microbiol 2001; 55: 251-288.

Serrone L and P Hersey. The chemoresistance of human malignant melanoma: an update. *Melanoma Res* 1999 9(1): 51-58.

Sheil JM, Gallimore PH, Zimmer SG and ML Sopori. Susceptibility of adenovirus 2transformed rat cell lines to natural killer (NK) cells: direct correlation between NK resistance and in vivo tumorigenesis. *J Immunol* 1984; 132: 1578–1582.

Shi M, Zhang B, Tang ZR, Lei ZY, Wang HF, Feng YY, Fan ZP, Xu DP and FS Wang. Autologous cytokine-induced killer cell therapy in clinical trial phase I is safe in patients with primary hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2004; 10:1146.

Shimizu Y, Guidotti LG, Fowler P and FV Chisari. Dendritic cell immunization breaks cytotoxic T lymphocyte tolerance in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice. *J Immunol* 1998; 161: 4520–29.

Sieling PA, Chatterjee D, Porcelli SA, Prigozy TI, Mazzaccaro RJ, Soriano T, Bloom BR, Brenner MB, Kronenberg M, Brennan PJ, *et al.* CD1-restricted T cell recognition of microbial lipoglycan antigens. *Science* 1995; 269: 227–230.

Sing G, Butterworth L, Chen X, Bryant A and G Cooksley. Composition of peripheral blood lymphocyte populations during different stages of chronic infections with hepatitis B virus. *J Viral Hepat* 1998; 5(2): 83-93.

Sitia G, Isogawa M, Kakimi K, Wieland SF, Chisari FV and LG Guidotti. Depletion of neutrophils blocks the recruitment of antigen-nonspecific cells into the liver without affecting the antiviral activity of hepatitis B virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2002; 99(21): 13717-13722.

Shaffer JP. Multiple Hypothesis Testing. Ann Rev Psych 1995 46: 561-584.

Shi M, Zhang B, Tang ZR, Lei ZY, Wang HF, Feng YY, Fan ZP, Xu DP and FS Wang. Autologous cytokine-induced killer cell therapy in clinical trial phase I is safe in patients with primary hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2004; 10(8):1146-1151.

Skold M and SM Behar. The role of group 1 and group 2 CD1-restricted T cells in microbial immunity. Microb Infect 2005; 7 544-551.

Smyth MJ, Kelly JM, Sutton VR, Davis JE, Browne KA, Sayers TJ and JA Trapani. Unlocking the secrets of cytotoxic granule proteins. *J Leukoc Biol* 2001; 70: 18-29.

<u>Sobao Y</u>, <u>Tomiyama H</u>, <u>Sugi K</u>, <u>Tokunaga M</u>, <u>Ueno T</u>, <u>Saito S</u>, <u>Fujiyama S</u>, <u>Morimoto M</u>, <u>Tanaka K</u> and M <u>Takiguchi</u>. The role of hepatitis B virus-specific memory CD8 T cells in the control of viral replication. <u>*J Hepatol*</u> 2002; 36(1): 105-115.

Sobao Y, Tomiyama H, Sugi K, Tokunaga M, Ueno T, Saito S, Fujiyama S, Morimoto M, Tanaka K and M Takiguchi. The role of hepatitis B virus-specific memory CD8 T cells in the control of viral replication. *J Hepatol* 2002; 36(1): 105-115.

<u>Song BC</u>, <u>Suh DJ</u>, <u>Lee HC</u>, <u>Chung YH</u> and YS <u>Lee</u>. Hepatitis B e antigen seroconversion after lamivudine therapy is not durable in patients with chronic hepatitis B in Korea. *Hepatology* 2000; 32(4Pt 1): 803-806.

Spada FM, Grant EP, Peters PJ, Sugita M, Melian A, Leslie DS, Lee HK, Van Donselaar E, Hanson DA, Krensky AM, Majdic O, Porcelli SA, Morita CT and MB Brenner. Self-recognition of CD1 by gamma/delta T cells: implications for innate immunity. *J Exp Med* 2000; 191: 937-948.

Stark GR, Kerr IM, Williams BR, Silverman RH and Schreiber RD. How cells respond to interferons. *Annu Rev Biochem* 1998; 67: 227-264.

Stefaniuk P, Cianciara J and A Wiercinska-Drapolo. Present and future possibilities for early diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16(4): 418-424.

Steinman RM & ZA Cohn. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. *J Exp Med* 1973; 137: 1142-1162.

Steinman RM. The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenecity. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1991; 9: 271-296.

Steinman RM, Inaba K, Turley S, Pierre P and I Mellman. Antigen capture, processing and presentation by dendritic cells: recent cell biological studies. *Hum Immunol* 1999; 60: 562-567.

Stein-Streilein J and J Guffee. In vivo treatment of mice and hamsters with antibodies to asialo GM1 increases morbidity and mortality to pulmonary influenza infection. *J Immunol* 1986; 136: 1435–1441.

Stevens C, Beasley R and J Tsu. Vertical transmission of hepatitis B antigen in Taiwan. *N Engl J Med* 1975; 292: 771-774. Stibbe W and WH Gerlich. Characterization of pre-s gene products in hepatitis B surface antigen. *Dev Biol Stand* 1983; 54: 33-43.

Stibbe W and WH Gerlich. Structural relationships between minor and major proteins of hepatitis B surface antigen. *J Virol* 1983; 46: 626-628.

Stockl J, Vetr H, Majdic O, Zlabinger G, Kuechler E and W Knapp. Human major group rhinoviruses downmodulate the accessory function of monocytes by inducing IL-10. *J Clin Invest* 1999; 104: 957-965.

Stordeur P, Poulin LF, Cracium L, Zhou L, Schandene L, de Lavareille A, Goriely S and M Goldman. Cytokine RNA quantification by real-time PCR. *J Immunol* Methods 2002; 259: 55-64.

Stuyver L, De Gendt S, Van Geyt C, Zoulim F, Fried M, Schinazi RF and R Rossau. A new genotype of hepatitis B virus: complete genome and phylogenetic relatedness. *J Gen Virol.* 2000; 81(1): 67-74.

<u>Sumi H, Yokosuka O, Seki N, Arai M, Imazeki F, Kurihara T, Kanda T, Fukai K, Kato</u> <u>M</u> and H <u>Saisho</u>. Influence of hepatitis B virus genotypes on the progression of chronic type B liver disease. *Hepatology* 2003; 37(1): 19-26.

Summers J and WS Mason. Replication of the genome of a hepatitis B-like virus by reverse transcription of an RNA intermediate. *Cell* 1982; 29: 403-415.

Super HJ, Brooks D, Hasenkrug K and B Chesebro. Requirement for CD4(C) T cells in the Friend murine retrovirusneutralizing antibody response: evidence for functional T cells in genetic low-recovery mice. *J Virol* 1998; 72: 9400–9403.

Sun JJ, Zhou XD, Zhou G and YK Liu. Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in liver cancer tissues and liver cancer metastasis. *World J Gastroenterol* 1998; 4(3): 202-205.

Sun JJ, Zhou XD Liu YK, Tang ZY, Feng JX, Zhou G, Xue Q and J Chen. Invasion and metastasis of liver cancer: expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1. J *Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 1999; 125: 28-34.

Takahashi T, Chiba S, Nieda M, Azuma T, Ishihara S, Shibara Y, et al. Cutting edge: analysis of human V alpha 24+CD8+ NK T cells activated by alphagalactosylceramide-pulsed monocytes-derived dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 2002; 168: 3140-3144.

Takano S, Yokosuka O, Imazeki F, Tagawa M and M OmaTa. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic Hepatitis B and C: prospective study of 251 patients. *Hepatology* 1995; 21: 650-655.

Tanaka Y, Morita C,T, Tanaka Y, Nieves E, Brenner MB and BR Bloom. Natural and synthetis non-peptide antigens recognized by human gamma delta T cells. *Nature* 1995; 375: 155-158.

Taoufik Y, Lantz O, Wallon C, Charles A, DUssaix E and JF Delfraissy. Human immunodeficiency virus gp120 inhibits interleukin-12 secretion by human monocytes: an indirect interleukin-10-mediated effect. *Blood* 1997; 89: 2842-2848.

Tavakioli S, Mederacke I, Herzog-Hauff S, Glebe D, Grun S, Strand D, Urban S, Gehring A, Gallo PR and WO Bocher. Peripheral blood dendritic cells are phenotypically and functionally intact in chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2007; 151: 61-70.

Tavakioli S, Schwerin W, Rohwer A, Hoffmann S, Weyer S, Weth R, Meisel H, Diepolder H, Geissler M, Galle PR, Lohr HF and WO Bocher. Phenotype and function of monocytes derived dendritic cells in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Gen Virol* 2004; 85: 2829-2836.

Thimme R, Wieland S, Steiger C, Ghrayeb J, Reimann KA, Purcell RH and FV Chisari. CD8<sup>(+)</sup> T cells mediate viral clearance and disease pathogenesis during acute hepatitis B virus infection. *J Virol* 2003; 77: 68-76.

Thompson K, Rojas-Navea J and MJ Rogers. Alkylamines cause Vgamma9Vdelta2 Tcell activation and proliferation by inhibiting the mevalonate pathway. *Blood* 2006; 107: 651-654.

Thomson A (1998). The cytokine handbook. Academic press, San Diego.Tiollais P, Pourcel C and A Dejean. The hepatitis B virus. *Nature* (London) 1985; 317: 489-495.

Tortorella D, Gewurz BE, Furman MH, Schust DJ and HL Ploegh. Viral subversion of the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2000; 18: 861-926.

Tough DF, San S, Zhang X and J Sprent. Stimulation of naive and memory T cells by cytokines. *Immunol Rev* 1999; 170: 39-47.

Toutirais O, Cabillic F, Le Friec G, Salot S, Loyer P, Le Gallo M, Desille M, De La Pintiere CT, Daniel P, Bouet F and V Catros. DNAX accessory molecule-1 (CD226) promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lysis by Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2009; 39: 1361-1368.

Tseng CT and GR Klimpel. Binding of the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 to CD81 inhibits natural killer cell functions. *J Exp Med* 2002; 195: 43–49.

Tseng CT, Miskovsky E, Houghton M and GR Klimpel. Characterization of Liver T-Cell Receptor  $\gamma\delta^+$  T Cells Obtained from Individuals Chronically Infected with Hepatitis C Virus (HCV): Evidence for These T Cells Playing a Role in the Liver Pathology Associated With HCV Infection. *Hepatology* 2001; 33: 1312-1320.

Tsui LV, Guidotti LG, Ishikawa T and FV Chisari. Post-transcriptional clearance of hepatitis B virus RNA by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-activated hepatocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1995; 92: 12398-12402.

Urbani S, Boni C, Missale G, Elia G, Cavallo C, Massari M, Raimondo G and C Ferrari. Virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes share the same effector-memory phenotypes but exhibit functional differences in acute hepatitis B and C. *J Virol* 2002; 76(24): 12423-12434.

Van der Vliet HJ, von Blomberg BM, Hazenberg MD, Nishi N, Otto SA, van Benthem BM, Prins M, Claessen FA, van den Eertwegh AJ, Giaccone G, Miedema F, Scheper RJ and HM Pinedo. Selective decrease in circulating  $V\alpha 24^+V\beta 11^+$  NKT cells suring HIV type 1 infection. *J Immunol* 2002; 168: 1490-1495.

<u>Van Nunen AB, Hansen BE, Suh DJ, Löhr HF, Chemello L, Fontaine H, Heathcote J,</u> <u>Song BC, Janssen HL, de Man RA</u> and SW <u>Schalm</u>. Durability of HBeAg seroconersion following antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis B: relation to type of therapy and pretreatment serum hepatitis B virus DNA and alanine aminotransferase. *Gut* 2003; 52(3): 420-424.

<u>Van Zonneveld M, Flink HJ, Verhey E, Senturk H, Zeuzem S, Akarca US, Cakaloglu Y,</u> <u>Simon C, So TM, Gerken G, de Man RA, Hansen BE, Schalm SW</u> and HL Janssen. The safety of pegylated interferon alpha-2b in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B: predictive factors for dose reduction and treatment discontinuation. Aliment *Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 21(9): 1163-1171.

Vilcek J and GC Sen (1996). Interferons and other cytokines. In: Fields BN, Knipe DM and PM Howley (ed) Virology. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, pp 375-399.

Vincent MS, Leslie DS, Gumperz JE, Xiong X, Grant EP and MB Brenner. CD1dependent dendritic cell instruction. *Nat Immunol* 2002; 3: 1163-1168.

Von Lilienfeld-Toal M, Nattermann J, Feldmann G, Sievers E, Frank S, Strehl J and IG Schmidt-Wolf. Activated gammadelta t cells express the natural cytotoxicity receptor natural kiler p44 and show cytotoxic activity against myeloma cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2006; 144: 528-533.

Ward SM, Phalora P, Bradshaw D, Leyendeckers H and P Klenerman. Direct ex vivo evaluation of long-lived protective antiviral memory B cell responses against hepatitis B virus. *J Infect Dis* 2008; 198(6): 813-817.

Wai CT, Chu CJ, Hussain M and AS Lok. HBV genotype B is associated with better response to interferon therapy in HBeAg (<sup>+</sup>) chronic hepatitis than genotype C. *Hepatology* 2002; 36(6): 1425-1430.

Wang FS, Xing LH, Liu MX, Zhu CL, Liu HG, Wang HF and ZY Lei. Dysfunction of peripheral blood dendritic celsl from patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2001; 7: 537-541.

Webster GJ, Reignat S, Maini MK, Whalley SA, Ogg GS, King A, Brown D, Amlot PL, Williams R, Vergani D, Dusheiko GM and A Bertoletti. Incubation phase of acute hepatitis B in man: dynamic of cellular immune mechanisms. *Hepatology* 2000; 32: 1117-1124.

Wedemeyer H, He XS, Nascimbeni M, Davis AR, Greenberg HB, Hoofnagle JH, Liang TJ, Alter H, and B Rehermann. Impaired effector function of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2002; 169: 3447-3458.

Wei H, Huang D, Lai X, Chen M, Zhong W, Wang R and ZW Chen. Definition of APC presentation of phosphoantigen (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate to Vgamma2Vdelta2 TCR. *J Immunol* 181: 4798-4806.

Weiss A, Newron M and D Crommie. Expression of T3 in association with a molecule distinct from the T-cell antigen receptor heterodimer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1986; 83: 6998-7002.

Weng HL, Liu Y, Chen JL, Huang T, Xu LJ, Godoy P, Hu JH, Zhou C, Stickel F, Marx A, Bohle RM, Zimmer V, Lammert F, Mueller S, Gigou M, Samuel D, Mertns PR, Singer MV, Seitz HK and S Dooley. The etiology of liver damage imparts cytokines transforming growth factor beta1 or interleukin-13 as driving forces in fibrogenesis. *Hepatology* 2009; 50(1):230-243.

Weninger W, Manjunath N and UH von Andrian. Migration and differentiation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. *Immunol Rev* 2002; 186: 221-233.

Westland C, Delaney WE, Yang H, Chen SS, Marcellin P, Hadziyannis S, Gish R, Fry J, Brosgart C, Gibbs C, Miller M and S Xiong. Hepatitis B virus genotypes and virologic response in 694 patients in phase III studies of adefovir dipivoxil. *Gastroenterology* 2003; 125(1): 107-116.

Wieland SF, Guidotti LG and FV Chisari. Intrahepatic induction of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  eliminates viral RNA-containing capsids in HBV transgenic mice. *J Virol* 2000; 74: 4165-4173.

Workalemahu G, Foerster M and C Kroegel. Expression and synthesis of fibroblast growth factor-9 in human gammadelta T-lymphocytes. Response to isopentenyl pyrophosphate and TGF-beta1/IL-15. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004; 75:657-667.

Wrobel P, Shojaei H, Schittek B, Gieseler F, Wolenberg B, Kalthoff H, Kabelitz D and D Wesch. Lysis of a Broad Range of Epithelial Tumour Cells by Human γδ T Cells: Involvement of NKG2D ligands and T-cell Receptor-versus NKG2D-dependent Recognition. Scandinavian *J Immunol* 2007; 66: 320-328.

Wu JF, Wu TC, Chen CH, Ni YH, Chen HL, Hsu HY and MH Chang. Serum levels of Interleukin-10 and Interleukin-12 Predict Early, Spontaneous Hepatitis B Virus e Antigen Seroconversion. *Gastroenterology* 2009; Epub ahead of print.

Xu Y, Du WJ, Qin LY, Xing ZZ, Qin XH and SJ Chen. Expression of interleukin-17 in hepatitis B related liver fibrosis (article in chinese). *Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi* 2009; 25(2): 133-135.

Yang H, Westland C, Xiong S and WE Delaney. In vitro antiviral susceptibility of fulllength clinical hepatitis B virus isolates cloned with a novel expression vector. *Antiviral* 2004; 61(1): 27-36.

Yang HI, Lu SN, Liaw YF, You SL, Sun CA, Wang LY, Hsiao CK, Chen PJ, Chen DS and CJ Chen; Taiwan Community-Based Cancer Screening Project Group. Hepatitis B e antigen and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 2002; 347(3): 168-174. <u>Yang X, Hao Y, Liu Z, Chen L, Ding H, Zhao X, Lu M</u> and D <u>Yang</u>. Frequencies and characterization of HBV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in self-limited and chronic hepatitis B viral infection in China. <u>J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci.</u> 2009; 29(5): 567-574.

Yu YS, Tang ZH, Han JC, Xi M, Feng J and GQ Zang. Expression of ICAM-1, HLA-DR and CD80 on peripheral circulating CD1α DCs induced in vivo by IFN-α in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006; 12(9): 1447-1451.

Yuan W, Dasgupta A and P Cresswell. Herpes simplex virus evades natural killer T cell rcognition by suppressing CD1d recycling. *Nature Immunology*. 2006; 7 ;835-842.

Yuen MF, Sablen E, Hui CK, Yuan HJ, Decraemer H and C Lai. Factors associated with HBV virus DNA breakthrough in patients receiving prolonged lamivudine therapy. *Hepatology* 2001; 34(4 Pt1): 785-791.

Zeng XH, Sha WH, Li YY, Nie YQ, Li QN and PN Liang. Expression of NK cells receptor NKG2D from peripheral blood in patients wit primary hepatic carcinoma and it's clinical significance. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 2009; 89(18): 1272-1274.

Zhang JY, Zhang Z, Lin F, Zou ZS, Xu RN, Jin L, Fu JL, Shi F, Shi M, Wang HF and FS Wang. Interleukin-17-producing CD4(+) T cells increase with severity of liver damage in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 2010; 51(1): 81-91.

Zhang LJ and L Wang. Blocking intrauterine infection by telbivudine in pregnant chronic hepatitis B patients. *Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi* 2009; 17(8): 561-563.

Zoll B, Lefterova P, Csipai M, Finke S, Trojaneck B, Ebert O, Micka B, Roigk K, Fehlinger M, Schmidt-Wolf GD, Huhn D and IG Schmidt-Wolf. Generation of cytokine induced killer cells using exogenous interleukin-2, -7 or -12. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 1998; 47: 221-226.

Zou Y, Chen T, Han M, Wang H, Yan W, Sang G, Wu Z, Wang X, Zhu C and Q Ning. Increased killing of liver NK cells by Fas/Fas ligand and NKG2D/NKG2D ligand contributes to hepatocytes necrosis in virus-induced liver failure. *J Immunol* 2010; 184: 466-475.

Zoulim F. Mechanism of viral persistence and resistance to nucleoside and nucleotide analogs in chronic Hepatitis B virus infection. *Antiviral Res* 2004; 64:1-15.

www.who.int www.lgcstandards-atcc.org